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In this Annual Report on Form 20-F (thisnAial Report"), references to "Yandex," the "conygatwe," "us," or similar terms are to
Yandex N.V. and, as the context requires, its whollned subsidiaries.

Our consolidated financial statements aepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and are egpres Russian rubles. In this Annual
Report, references to "rubles" or "RUR" are to Rarssubles, and references to "U.S. dollars" ordf&' to United States dollars.

Our fiscal year ends on December 31 of gaeln. References to any specific fiscal year reféhe year ended December 31 of the
calendar year specified.

This Annual Report includes market dataortgd by comScore (December 2014), LiveinternéMarch 2015), Public Opinion
Foundation of Russia (FOM) (January 2015), Zenitif®gdia (March 2015), Genius (December 2014), TR&gember 2014), and the Rus:
Federal State Statistics Service (Rosstat) (JarGk$). Our search market share in Turkey is basesbmScore gqSearch data (December
2014).
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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report contains forward-lookistgtements that involve risks and uncertaintiestd&/ such as "project,” "believe,"
"anticipate,” "plan," "expect," "estimate," "intefidshould," "would," "could," "will," "may" or otler words that convey judgments about future
events or outcomes indicate such forward-lookiagesbhents. Forward-looking statements in this AnfReport may include statements about:

. the impact of macroeconomic and geopoliticalalegments in our markets;

. the expected growth of the internet search alveriising markets and the number of internet aoddiband users in the
countries in which we operate;

. competition in the internet search market in thentoes in which we operate;

. our anticipated growth and investment strategies;

. our future business development, results of opmratand financial condition;

. expected changes in our margins and certain castpgnse items in absolute terms or as a perceafage revenues;
. our ability to attract and retain users, adversisard partners; and

. future advertising supply and demand dynamics.

The forward-looking statements includedhis Annual Report are subject to risks, uncertagnand assumptions. Our actual results of
operations may differ materially from those statedr implied by such forward-looking statementsaagsult of a variety of factors, including
those described under Part |, Item 3.D. "Risk Rattand elsewhere in this Annual Report.

We operate in an evolving environment. Nisks emerge from time to time, and it is not pbkesfor our management to predict all risks,
nor can we assess the effect of all factors orbaainess or the extent to which any factor, or doatiobn of factors, may cause actual resuli
differ materially from those contained in any forddooking statements.

You should not rely upon forward-lookingte&iments as predictions of future events. We uakienio obligation to update or revise any
forward-looking statements, whether as a resuttest information, future events or otherwise.

2
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PART I.
Item 3. Key Information.
A. Selected Consolidated Financial and Statistd Data

The selected consolidated statements ohiecdata for the years ended December 31, 2013, &@d 2014 and the selected consolidated
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2013 anda28Xrived from our audited consolidated findrgti@ements appearing elsewhere in thi:
Annual Report. The selected consolidated balaneetstata as of December 31, 2011 and 2012 andl@atsd statements of income data for
the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2011 akeeddrom our audited consolidated financial statet:i¢hat are not included in this Annual
Report. The selected consolidated balance sheetadaif December 31, 2010 are derived from ourditetliconsolidated balance sheet as re-
presented for the reclassification of Yandex.Moséglances into assets held for sale and lialsiliééated to assets held for sale to reflect
current period presentation. When we representeddhsolidated balance sheet as of December 30, 2@ldid not have it re-audited.

Ruble amounts have been translated into dbffars at a rate of RUR 56.2584 to $1.00, tHieiaf exchange rate quoted as of
December 31, 2014 by the Central Bank of the Raods@leration. Such U.S. dollar amounts are notgseciy indicative of the amounts of
U.S. dollars that could actually have been purathagp®n exchange of Russian rubles at the datesaitedi, and have been provided solely for
the convenience of the reader. On April 28, 2046 exchange rate was RUR 51.4690 to $1.00. Sek FRistors—The depreciation of the
Russian ruble has and may continue to material@etly affect our business, financial conditiod agsults of operations."

The following selected consolidated finahciata should be read in conjunction with our "@gag and Financial Review and Prospects”
and our consolidated financial statements andelaed notes appearing elsewhere in this AnnuabRePur financial statements are prepare
in
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accordance with U.S. GAAP. These historic finanoégllts are not necessarily indicative of theltesa be expected in any future period.

Year ended December 31
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
RUR RUR RUR RUR RUR $
(in millions, except share and per share date

Consolidated
statements o
income data:
Revenues 12,50¢( 20,03: 28,767 39,50: 50,767 902.<
Operating cost:
and expense
Cost of
revenues(] 2,58t 4,707 7,18¢ 10,60¢ 14,33¢ 254.¢
Product
developme
() 2,07: 3,12¢ 4,272 5,821 8,84: 157.2
Sales, gener:
and
administrat
(1) 1,83¢ 3,29¢ 4,90( 6,537 7,782 138.%
Depreciation
and
amortizatio 1,181 1,87¢ 2,951 3,69 4,48¢ 79.7
Total operating
costs and
expense: 7,67 12,99¢ 19,31 26,66¢ 35,44 630.(
Income from
operations 4,82: 7,03¢ 9,45/ 12,837 15,32 272.2
Interest
income 15€ 222 1,00z 1,715 85¢€ 15.2
Other income
net(2) 24 62 11¢€ 2,15¢ 6,29¢ 111.¢
Net income
before
income taxe: 5,00z 7,31¢ 10,57« 16,71 22,47 399t
Provision for
income taxe! 1,18¢ 1,54t 2,351 3,23¢ 5,45¢ 97.C
Net income 3,817 5,77¢ 8,22: 13,47 17,02( 302.t
Net income pe
Class A and
Class B shar
Basic 12.5¢ 18.3( 25.21 41.2¢ 53.3( 0.9t
Diluted 12.3i 17.5¢ 24.5( 40.27 52.2] 0.9z
Weighted
average
number of
Class A and
Class B
shares
outstanding
Basic 303,817,38 315,541,63 326,210,94 326,657,77 319,336,78 319,336,78
Diluted 308,580,60 328,155,08 335,690,59 334,571,21 325,610,27 325,610,27

(1) These amounts exclude depreciation and amatidizexpense, which is presented separately,rahade share-based
compensation expense

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
RUR RUR RUR RUR RUR $
Cost of
revenues 16 26 33 61 101 1.8
Product
developme 87 152 221 43E 78C 13.¢

Sales, gener:



and
administrat 57 15C 122 25¢€ 32¢ 5.8

(2) A major component of other income, net is foreignhange gains and losses generally resulting fioamges in the
value of the U.S. dollar compared with the Russidnie. Because the functional currency of our ojrgasubsidiaries in
Russia is the Russian ruble, changes in the ruiee\of these subsidiaries’ monetary assets apititiess that are

denominated in other currencies (primarily U.Slatetlenominated cash, cash equivalents and teriws@tspnaintained
in Russia) due to exchange r
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fluctuations are recognized as foreign exchangesgai losses in our income statement. For exarmpk)14, other
income includes RUR 6,518 million of foreign exchargains arising from the appreciation of the d@lar compared 1
the Russian ruble in that year. Although the U@lad value of our U.S. dollar-denominated caslshcaquivalents and
term deposits was not impacted by this appreciatioasulted in an upward re-valuation of the eubtjuivalent of these
U.S. dollar-denominated monetary assets. Similamlperiods where the U.S. dollar depreciates coatpto the Russian
ruble, we incur foreign exchange losses resultingmfthe downward revaluation of these assets. Gtleeme also
includes other nowperating gains and losses. In 2013, other incacleaded a RUR 2,035 million gain from our sale
75% (less one ruble) interest in Yandex.Money terSank.

As of December 3:
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
RUR RUR RUR RUR RUR $
(in millions)

Consolidatec

balance

sheet data

(2):
Cash and

cash

equivalent 3,02t 5,93( 7,42¢ 33,39« 17,64¢ 313.¢
Term

deposits

(current

and non-

current) 3,28¢ 7,13¢ 14,95¢ 15,18( 31,52¢ 560.<
Total asset 12,61° 34,07¢ 44,28" 71,31 94,92 1,687.:
Total current

liabilities 2,937 4,711 6,682 6,91¢ 9,79¢ 174.1
Total non-

current

liabilities

(2) 65 412 55€ 17,79¢ 29,39: 522.t
Total

shareholde¢

equity 9,61°F 28,95! 37,04° 46,597 55,73¢ 990.7

Q) Prior periods have been reclassified to reflectemirperiod presentation. Balances related to sibsdd for sale (note 4 to
our consolidated financial statements) are redlagsirom their historical presentation to assetkitior sale and liabilitie
related to assets held for sale.

(2) The total non-current liabilities as of Decembey 2013 and December 31, 2014, mainly result froenctinvertible bond
offering. Please refer to note 11 to our consodiddinancial statement

Exchange Rate Information

Our business is primarily conducted in Russid almost all of our revenues are denominatétlissian rubles. We have presented our
most recent annual results of operations in U.8adofor the convenience of the reader. Unlessmitse noted, all conversions from RUR to
U.S. dollars and from U.S. dollars to RUR in thisnyal Report were made at a rate of RUR 56.25&4 100, the official exchange rate quotec
by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation d&egkember 31, 2014. On April 28, 2015, the exchaagewas RUR 51.4690 to $1.00. Such
U.S. dollar amounts are not necessarily indicativihe amounts of U.S. dollars that could actuhflye been purchased upon exchange of
Russian rubles at the dates indicated.
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The following table presents informationtbe exchange rates between RUR and the U.S. dofléine periods indicated as quoted by the
Central Bank of the Russian Federation:

RUR per U.S. dollar

Period Period-end Average Low High

2010 30.4¢ 30.37 31.7¢ 28.9¢
2011 32.2( 29.3¢ 32.6¢ 27.2¢
2012 30.3i 31.0¢ 34.0¢ 28.9¢
2013 32.7: 31.88 3347 29.9¢
2014 56.2¢ 38.4: 67.7¢ 32.6¢
October 201+« 43.3¢ 40.77 43.3¢  39.3¢
November 201- 49.3: 45,91 49.32 41.9¢
December 201 56.2¢ 55.5¢ 67.7¢ 49.3:
January 201! 68.9% 61.8¢ 68.9¢ 56.2¢
February 201! 61.2; 64.6¢ 69.6€ 60.71
March 201& 58.4¢ 60.2¢ 62.6¢ 56.4:

See "Risk Factors—The depreciation of thedian ruble has and may continue to materiallyessly affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations" for a disoussif the foreign currency exchange rate riskswarnzertainties our business faces.

6
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B. Risk Factors

Investing in our Class A sharesinvolves a high degree of risk. The risks and uncertainties described below and elsewhere in this Annual
Report, including in the section headed " Operating and Financial Review and Prospects’, could materially adversely affect our business. These
are not the only risks that we face; additional risks and uncertainties of which we are unaware, or that we currently deem immaterial, may also
become important factors that affect us. Any of these risks could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In
such case, the trading price of our Class A shares could decline.

Risks Related to the Russian Economy

Geopolitical and macroeconomic events have adversdflected and created uncertainty and instabilitythe Russian economy, which cou
harm our business, financial condition and resulté operations.

In 2014 and early 2015, Russia has expegigian economic downturn that has been charaaldsizsubstantial depreciation of its
currency, sharp fluctuations of interest rategradasted decline in the gross domestic produ2®ib, a steep decline in the value of shares
traded on its stock exchanges, and a materialasera the inflation rate. The Russian economwitiqularly sensitive to the price of oil, and
recent substantial decreases in oil prices haveradly affected and may continue to adversely aifeeconomy. In addition, international
sanctions have been imposed on identified partidsbasiness sectors in Russia in connection wétgtopolitical situation in Ukraine, as
described below. See "—The current geopoliticaflaxinin Ukraine and related international econorsénctions may continue to adversely
affect the Russian economy and the value of investsnin Russia, and could harm our business, fiahogndition and results of operations."

In 2014, the Russian ruble depreciatedrasgsine US dollar by 42%. During the period fromulay 1, 2015 to April 28, 2015, the valut
the Russian ruble appreciated against the US dojflapproximately 9% to RUR 51.5 to $1.00. See "-e-@lapreciation of the Russian ruble
has and may continue to materially adversely affectbusiness, financial condition and resultspérations."

On December 11, 2014, the Central Bankusfdia raised its key rate to 10.5%, followed buyréhier sharp increase on December 16, .
to 17%. The rate was reduced by 2 percentage poifsbruary 2015, and a further 1 percentage poiktarch 2015, and remains at 14% as
of April 28, 2015. Further volatility of interesates may also adversely affect our ability to barfonds if necessary or desirable.

On January 26, 2015, the global credingtiagency Standard & Poor's (S&P) downgraded Ressivereign debt to "junk” status. S&P
lowered its long- and short-term foreign currengyeseign credit ratings on the Russian Federataroh-investment grade BB+ from
investment grade BBB-On February 20, 2015, Moody's Investor Service dpaded Russia's government bond and local curnexiirygs one
notch to Bal, from Baa3, and retained a negatitieaki Fitch Ratings, the only remaining large éredting agency to do so, still rates Russia
in the investment grade category, albeit at theekiypossible level in this rating and with a negatiutlook. The outlook for long-term ratings
is considered negative. Further declines in theride or other deterioration of the geopolitictiation may lead to further depreciation of the
ruble and may lead to the Russia's sovereign craiility being further downgraded by credit agencies

The slowdown of the Russian economy inmeperiods has adversely affected our results efatmpns. The medium-term outlook for the
Russian economy is unsettled, and continued dedtion of the economic situation would likely fuethadversely affect the profitability of our
business. As a result of the current economic lniiaand any further potential deterioration metRussian economy, total advertising
spending in Russia may decrease which, in turnidaoaterially adversely affect our operating resuiee "—We generate almost all of our
revenues from advertising,
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which is cyclical in nature, and any reduction reisding by or loss of advertisers would materiatlyersely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations."

The current geopolitical conflict in Ukraine and fated international economic sanctions may continteeadversely affect the Russian
economy and the value of investments in Russia, aodld harm our business, financial condition anesults of operations.

Significant uncertainty exists surroundthg current geopolitical situation in Ukraine. Tlieited States, the European Union and certain
other countries have imposed economic sanctiortedain Russian government officials, private imdliials and Russian companies, as we
"sectoral" sanctions affecting specified typesrahsactions with named participants in certain stdless, including named Russian financial
institutions, and sanctions that prohibit most caroial activities of U.S. and E.U. persons in Crnaad Sevastopol. There is significant
uncertainty regarding the extent or timing of anyemtial further economic or trade sanctions, eruftimate outcome of the Ukrainian crisis.
Political and economic sanctions may affect thditghof our international customers to operate imsBia, which could negatively impact our
revenue and profitability. Sanctions could also éa our ability to effectively manage our legalitee® and operations in and outside of
Russia. We are domiciled in the Netherlands, winilewholly owned primary operating subsidiary igamized under the laws of the Russian
Federation, and several of our other subsidiaresneorporated in other countries that have imgamnomic sanctions. Although neither our
parent company nor our operating subsidiariesaagets of sanctions, our business has been adyaféetted by the impact of sanctions on
the broader economy in Russia.

Political, civil or military conflicts betaen Russia and other countries could also negataffdct economies in the region, including the
Russian economy. This, in turn, may result in aegailack of confidence among international investo the region's economic and political
stability and in Russian investments generally nglavith potential official government sanctionsRussia, U.S. and foreign investors may be
pressured to reduce or withdraw their investmentRussia. Such circumstances may result in tradtatility, reduced liquidity and
significant declines in the price of listed sedestof companies with significant operations in asincluding our Class A shares.

The depreciation of the Russian ruble has and mantinue to materially adversely affect our busine$imancial condition and results of
operations.

The value of the Russian ruble has declinaterially against the U.S. dollar in recent pasioThe exchange rate quoted by the Central
Bank of Russia as of December 31, 2014 was RUR6653.00. During the period from January 1, 261 8pril 28, 2015, the value of the
Russian ruble appreciated to RUR 51.5 to $1.00.

Although our revenues and expenses arefottarily denominated in Russian rubles, the nigjaf our rent expenses, including the
lease for our Moscow headquarters, are denominiatdds. dollars. Additionally, a major portion ofiocapital expenditures, primarily for
servers and networking equipment, although payiahiebles, are for imported goods and thereforelmamaterially affected by changes in the
value of the ruble. Moreover, the considerationhaee paid in connection with a number of our adtjoiss of other businesses to date has
been, and future acquisition consideration maylbapminated and paid in U.S. dollars. If the Russidble were to experience a prolonged
significant decline in value against foreign cumies, we could face material foreign currency ergeaexposure, which may materially
adversely affect our business, financial conditiod results of operations. See "Operating and EiaBReview and Prospects—Quantitative
and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk."
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Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We face significant competition from major globahd Russian internet companies, including Google akil.ru, which could negatively
affect our business, financial condition and resalbf operations.

We face strong competition in various aspe€our business from global and Russian comgahit provide internet search and other
online services and content. Currently, we considerprincipal competitors to be Google and Mail.ru

Of the large global internet companies,camsider Google to be our principal competitothia imarket for desktop and mobile internet
search, and for text-based advertising, online didueg network, advertising intermediary servicgistribution arrangements and other
services. According to Liveinternet.ru Google'srehaf the Russian search market, based on seaftib generated, was 33.6% for March
2015 and 29.3% for the full year 2014, compareth wiir market share of 58.0% and 60.9%, respectig@ipgle launched its Russian-
language search engine in 2001, and opened itffise in Russia and introduced Russian-languagephology-based search capabilities in
2006. It conducts extensive online and offline atisimg campaigns in Russia. In recent periods,gi®bas also aggressively marketed its
Chrome browser in Russia, and has taken stepteimgitto ensure that its search engine is the tefaarch function on its browser, which has
created increased competition.

With Android, its popular mobile platfori®oogle exerts significant influence over the insiegly important market for mobile and
location-based search and advertising, includinguih its global arrangements with manufacturemnolbile devices and network operators tc
preinstall on an exclusive basis a set of Googhebile applications. See also "—The competitionapture market share on mobile devices is
intense and if we are not successful in offerimdjji@ving substantial reach among users and mongtsgarch and other services on mobile
devices, our business, financial condition andltesi operations could be adversely affected."”&¥pect that Google will continue to use its
brand recognition and global financial and engiimgeresources to compete aggressively with usdtit@an to Google, we also face
competition, albeit less intense, from the Russaiadh international websites of Microsoft and Yahoo!.

On the domestic side, our principal contpeis Mail.ru. Although we power paid search onilMa properties, we also compete with
Mail.ru in the market for display advertising arttier services. Mail.ru offers a wide range of in&rservices, including the most popular
Russian web mail service, and many other servitasare comparable to ours. Mail.ru's search matkate was 8.6% and 7.3% in the full
years 2013 and 2014 respectively. We also compigeRussian online advertising networks, such aguBewhich serve advertising tc
number of popular Russian websites.

Although we have partnerships with a numddesocial networking sites, such as Facebook, téwivkontakte, Odnoklassniki and My
World, and serve ads on some of these sites, wevads them as increasingly significant competit@sch sites provide users with a wide
range of information and services similar to thageoffer, including search, real-time news and fiorabased information and updates. These
sites derive a substantial portion of their revaniuem online advertising and are experimentindiwinovative ways of monetizing user traf
In light of their large audiences and the significamount of information they can access and aralygarding their users' needs, interests an
habits, we believe that they may be able to offghlly targeted advertising that could create insesbcompetition for us. The popularity of
such sites may also reflect a growing shift inway in which people find information, get answensl &uy products, which may create
additional competition to attract users. We alsmpete with other destination websites, which aesghat users access primarily for content
rather than search, that seek to increase thailsealated traffic, as well as established comgaaind start-ups that are developing search
technologies and other internet services.

We cannot guarantee that we will be ableotatinue to compete effectively with current antiife internet companies that may have
greater ability to attract and retain users, grezaene
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recognition, more personnel and greater financidl@her resources. If our competitors are sucakssproviding similar or better search
results and other internet services compared \vitbe we offer, we could experience a significamtide in user traffic. Any such decline in
traffic could negatively affect our business, fin@h condition and results of operations.

The competition to capture market share on mobikevites is intense and if we are not successfulfieng, achieving substantial reach
among users and monetizing search and other servioe mobile devices, our business, financial coratfitand results of operations could
be adversely affected.

Users are increasingly accessing the inatahmough mobile and other devices rather thaktdpsand laptop personal computers, inclut
through mobile phones, smartphones, and handhelgui@rs such as netbooks and tablets, as welt@sgh video game consoles, and
television set-top devices. Such devices haverefffiecharacteristics than desktop and laptop patsmmputers (including screen size,
operating system, user interface and use patteragdring our products and services to such devieguires particular expertise and the
expenditure of significant resources. The versmfinsur products and services developed for thesiesg including the advertising solutions
we offer, may be less attractive to users, adw@gjsnanufacturers or distributors of devices thase offered by our competitors or than our
desktop offerings. The percentage of our totaldeaaffic that was generated from mobile deviceseased from approximately 16% in the
fourth quarter of 2013 to approximately 24% in therth quarter of 2014, while the percentage oftotal revenues generated from mobile
devices increased from approximately 12% to appnakely 18% between those periods.

Each manufacturer or distributor may essahlinique technical standards for its devices,ad result our products and services may nc
work or be viewable on these devices. Some manufarst may also elect not to include our producttheir devices, or may be prohibited
from doing so pursuant to their agreements witleioffarties. In February 2015, we made a formalastio the Russian Federal Antimonog
Service ("FAS") to open an investigation into wheetlboogle is using its dominant position to pronitdesearch and other services bundled
into a single package imposed for pmstallation by device manufacturers, as well apleging exclusive dealing and other restrictiveqgpices
to increase its search market share and ensuraitybaj its other services on Android-operated desi Our share of searches on the Android
platform in Russia decreased from approximately %2%e fourth quarter of 2013 to approximately 4ifthe fourth quarter of 2014. The
FAS has opened an investigation based on our redifeere is no assurance as to the outcome ofntbéstigation. Moreover, even if the
outcome of this investigation is favorable, we may succeed in maintaining or materially increasing market share on mobile devices.

In addition, consumers are increasinglyeasing content directly via "apps" tailored to jaitr mobile devices or in closed social media
platforms, which could affect our share of the shanarket over time. As new devices and platforrescantinually being released, it is
difficult to predict the challenges we may encouimeadapting our products and services and deugopompetitive new products and
services. See also "—As the internet evolves, areasing amount of online content may be heldased social networks or stored in
proprietary document formats, which may limit theetiveness of our search technology, which caddersely affect our brand, business,
financial condition and results of operations."

We expect to continue to devote signifia@sburces to the creation, support and maintenafinmo®bile products and services. If we are
unable to attract and retain a substantial numbdewice manufacturers, distributors and userautgpooducts and services, or if we are slow t
develop products and technologies that are morgoatible with such devices and platforms, we will fa capture the opportunities available
as consumers and advertisers transition to a dynamilti-screen environment. Furthermore, givenithgortance of distribution and
application pre-installation arrangements withittast popular device manufacturers for successfeltaijon of our business,
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failure to reach such arrangements may adverstdgtajur business, financial condition and resoftsperations.

We generate almost all of our revenues from advartg, which is cyclical in nature, and any reductidn spending by or loss of advertisers
would materially adversely affect our business,dircial condition and results of operations.

In the past three years, we generated erage more than 98% of our revenues from advegti§iRpenditures by advertisers tend to be
cyclical, reflecting overall economic conditionsddmudgeting and buying patterns, and can therdliacuate significantly. During the
2008/2009 global economic crisis, total advertisspgnding in Russia declined by 28% in ruble teifrasn 2008 to 2009, while the growth in
online advertising expenditures slowed, accordinthé Association of Russian Communication Agen(6AR). As a result of the current
economic slowdown, the rate of growth in online extiging expenditures slowed materially in 2014yddrom a growth rate of 27% from
2012 to 2013 to 18% from 2013 to 2014. In 2015, ithe@ptimedia forecasts online advertising expamei to grow 5%. The table below
provides annual online and total advertising exjganes in Russia from 2007 to 2014:

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
(RUR in billion)
Online
advertising
expenditure! 127 17.€ 19.1 26.7 41.¢ 56.5 71.7 84.¢
Growth rate 105 % 39% 9% 0% 57 % 35% 27 % 18%

Total advertising
expenditure: 235.t 295.¢ 215.*  250.C* 263. 297.¢ 327.¢ 340.1
Growth rate 28 % 26% (27)% 16% 5% 13% 10% 4%

* AKAR's revised estimates of the advertising expemds for historical period:

Although forecasts for online advertisipgsding in Russia indicate sustained annual grolvtiugh 2017, we anticipate that the rate of
such growth will decelerate. Any decreases or deilapnline advertising spending due to economiwimns, or otherwise, would materially
adversely impact our business, financial conditiad results of operations. Additionally, recentrdases in international oil prices may
continue to adversely affect the Russian econorhg.clurrent economic slowdown in Russia, and arthéumpotential deterioration, may
adversely affect total advertising spending in Rysshich, in turn, would materially adversely aff@ur operating results for 2015 and in the
medium-term. See also "Geopolitical and macroeconomic events have adweedtdcted and created uncertainty and instaliititthe Russia
economy, which could harm our business, finan@aldition and results of operations."

Distribution arrangements with third parties are aimportant avenue for expanding our user base, aauly failure to obtain or maintair
such relationships on reasonable terms could haveaaverse effect on our business, financial conditiand results of operation:

To expand our user base and increasedtaffour sites and mobile applications, we entr amrangements with leading software
companies and device manufacturers for the digtabwf our services and technology. In particulee, have agreements, on a co-marketing
basis, with certain internet browsers. In additeeyeral mobile device manufacturers include Yarafethe default search engine on certain
Windows-based models of handsets in Russia. Asmetliods for accessing the internet become avajlatdieiding through new digital
platforms and devices, we may need to enter intoareamended distribution agreements. See also 'e-€bimpetition to capture market share
on mobile devices is intense and if we are notassful in offering, achieving substantial reach agiosers and monetizing search and other
services on mobile devices, our business, finardadition and results of operations could be ashlgraffected.”
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Our largest distribution partners in 201drevOpera, which offers mobile and desktop browserd Mozilla, which includes our search as
the default in its Firefox browser. If we are ureatdl continue our arrangements with Opera or Mazdl enter into comparable arrangements
with new distribution partners, particularly foretdistribution of our search and other servicemobile devices, this would likely have a
negative effect on our search market share over. imthe future, existing and potential distribatpartners may not offer or renew
distribution arrangements on reasonable termsdpowat all, which could limit our ability to maain and expand our user base, and could
have a material adverse effect on our businesadial condition and results of operations.

Our users can switch at any time to our competitatsno cost. If we do not continue to innovate aptbvide services that are useful and
attractive to our users, we may be unable to retiem and may become less attractive to our adsers, which could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of opeiats.

Our success depends on providing searclotined services that make using the internet a meeéul and enjoyable experience for our
users. Our competitors continuously develop innownatin search and other services, as well as ®alitvertising services. As search
technology continues to develop, our competitorg bwable to offer search capabilities that ar¢hat are seen to be, substantially similar to
or better than ours. This may force us to competifferent ways and expend significant resourca®main competitive.

If we are unable to continue to develop pravide our users with quality, up-to-date sersjand to appropriately time them with market
opportunities, or if we are unable to maintain gli@lity of such services, our user base may natgoo may decline. Further, if we are unable
to attract and retain a substantial share of ietenaffic generated by mobile and other digitatides, or if we are slow to develop services anc
technologies that are compatible with such devicesuser base may not grow or may decline.

If our users move to our competitors, wi &lso become less attractive to advertisers batefore to Yandex ad network partners. This
could adversely affect our business, financial dord and results of operations.

We expect the rate of growth of our revenues tdda&er in the future and we may experience downwamssure on our operating margin.

The effectiveness of telsssed advertising as a medium has contributecktoaghid growth of our business since our inceptialvertising
spending continues to shift from offline to onliag the internet evolves and we expect that ounbasiwill continue to grow and further
benefit from that shift. However, we expect that mvenue growth rate will continue to decline otiere as a result of a number of factors,
including continuing macroeconomic challenges is$a, challenges in maintaining our growth ratewrsrevenues increase to higher levels,
increasing competition, changes in the nature efigs, the evolution of the overall online advémtismarket and the declining rate of growth
in the number of internet users in Russia as ovietarnet penetration increases.

Other factors which may cause our operatiaggin to fluctuate or decline are:

. changes in the proportion of our advertising reesnihat we derive from the Yandex ad network coegbarith our own
websites. In periods in which our Yandex ad netweslenues grow more rapidly than those from our eites, our operating
margin generally declines because the operatingimare realize on revenues generated from partedsites is significantly
lower than the operating margin generated fromoour websites. The margin we earn on revenue gextefaim the Yandex ¢
network could also decrease in the future if weragmired to share with our partners a greatergmtage of the advertising fees
generated through their websites;
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. increased depreciation and amortization expenagegkto recent capital expenditures for many aspefatur business,
particularly the expansion of our data centeraufgpsrt growth in both our current and new markets;

. relatively higher spending on advertising and miankgeto further enhance our brand and promote erriges in Russia, to build
and expand brand awareness in Turkey and othetr@giwvhere we operate and to respond to compefitiressures, if these
efforts do not drive revenue growth in the manneranticipate;

. expenses in connection with the launch of new prtedand related advertising and marketing effevtich may not result in tt
anticipated increase in revenues or market share;

. the possibility of higher fees or revenue sharimgragements with our distribution partners thatritiste our products or
services or otherwise direct search queries tovalnsite. We expect to continue to expand the nurmbeur distribution
relationships in order to increase our user badg@make it easier for our existing users to a&ces services;

. costs incurred in our international expansion é$fontil we succeed in building the user base rszeggo begin generating
sufficient revenues in these markets to earn deereperating margins there; and

. increased costs associated with the creation, stippd maintenance of mobile products and sent@saintain and expand @
offering and competitive market position, which nret result in anticipated increases in revenuanarket share.

See "Operating and Financial Review andgpeots—Key Trends Impacting Our Results of Openatio

As the Russian internet market matures, our futuegpansion will increasingly depend on our abilitg generate revenues from ne
business models or in other markets.

As internet usage has spread in Russiaateeof growth has been declining. The numbersefsiincreased by 17% from the fall of 2010
to the fall of 2011, 12% from the fall of 2011 teetfall of 2012, 9% from the fall of 2012 to thdl faf 2013, and 9% from the fall of 2013 to t
fall of 2014, according to the Public Opinion Foatidn of Russia, or FOM. As our core market matungswill need to provide new services,
further exploit new business models, such as e-canmmen or expand into new geographic markets inrdadeontinue to grow our revenues at
previously achieved levels. For example, we hagently launched our Yandex.Data Factory and Yafdei.services to expand our revenue
base. Our efforts in this regard may not be suégksshich would adversely affect our businessafinial condition and results of operations.

We rely on our Yandex ad network partners for a reaal portion of our revenues and benefit from ouwelationships with them. If we lose
these partners, or the quality of these partnersdmses, it would adversely affect our businessaficial condition and results of operatior

Revenues from advertising on our ad netvpatner websites represented 23.7% of our texéeband display advertising revenues in
2014 and 20.8% in 2013. This increase reflectaam ghe impact of our agreement to power paid $eggsults on Mail.ru, which we entered
into in July 2013. We consider our ad partner nekwo be important for the continued growth of buisiness. Our agreements with our
network partners, other than our agreement to ppaiel search results on Mail.ru, are generally teaivie at any time without cause. Our
competitors could offer more favorable terms to @unrent or potential network partners, includinianteed minimum revenues or other
more advantageous revenue-sharing arrangemerats gffort to take market share away from us. Adddilly, some of our partners in the
Yandex ad network, such as Mail.ru and Microsofi@Bicompete with us in one or more areas and nraynate their agreements with us in
order to
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develop their own businesses. If our network pastdecide to use a competitor's advertising sesyioer revenues would decline.

Many of our key network partners operatghhprofile websites, and we derive tangible and inillegoenefits from this affiliation, such
increased numbers of users, extended brand awarandgreater audience reach for our advertidessr lagreements with any of these
partners are terminated or not renewed and we ticeptace those agreements with comparable agreéepoem business, financial condition
and results of operations would be adversely affbct

The number of paid clicks and amount oerayes that we derive from our partners in the Yamdenetwork depends on, among other
factors, the quality of their websites and theiraativeness to users and advertisers. Althoughameen new applicants, favor websites with
high-quality content and stable audiences, andestd monitor the quality of the network partnerbsiges on an ongoing basis, these websites
are operated by independent third parties thataveod control. If our network partners' websitetederate in quality or otherwise fail to
provide interesting and relevant content and sesvio their users, this may result in reduced@tt@ness to their users and our advertisers,
which may adversely impact our business, finargmaldition and results of operations.

Our business depends on a strong brand, and faillegmaintain and enhance our brand would harm oubdity to expand our base of use!
advertisers and network partners and would matelfadversely affect our business, financial conditi and results of operations.

We believe that the brand identity thathvege developed through the strength of our teclyyodmd our user focus has significantly
contributed to the success of our business. Wehabeve that maintaining and enhancing the Yarward, including through continued
significant marketing efforts, is critical to expghng our base of users, advertisers, advertisibgark partners, and other business partners.
Maintaining and enhancing our brand, especiallielation to mobile services, will depend largelyaur ability to continue to be a technology
leader and a provider of high-quality, reliablevésgs, which we may not continue to do successfully

Our Yandex.Money business now operatesititra joint venture with Sberbank. Although we haweght to implement appropriate
controls and protections, as the minority partnethis legal entity we may have limited abilityg¢nsure that the business is always operate
manner that is consistent with the broader Yandard

If we or our partner fail to maintain anthance the Yandex brand, or if we incur excessiperses in our efforts to do so, our business,
financial condition and results of operations wolsddmaterially adversely affected.

We spend significant resources expanding and enhagmur service offerings, and if these new or enfeed services are not widely adop
by users, our business, financial condition and tdts of operations could be adversely affected.

We continuously work to develop new andaerded services to broaden and improve the ovarallty of our service offerings. The cost
we incur in these efforts, both in terms of prodietelopment expenses and advertising and markedistg, can be significant. For instance,
we incurred considerable development and marketipgnses in connection with launching our YandeouBer in the second half of 2012 :
throughout 2013. Our Yandex.Browser has been gaimarket share and, in March 2015 had a 7.9% siahe desktop browser market in
terms of visitors (unique cookies) and 12.9% ofrtiwbile browser market in terms of traffic in R@ssiccording to Liveinternet.ru. There is
strong competition in the browser market and wenoaguarantee that our browser's market sharecwiiitinue to grow or maintain its current
position. If our new or enhanced services are ridéky adopted by users, our business, financiatlitimm and results of operations could be
adversely affected.
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If we fail to manage effectively the growth of owperations, our business, financial condition andsults of operations could be advers
affected.

We have experienced, and continue to egpee, continuous growth in our operations, whichlaced, and will continue to place,
significant demands on our management and our tipeahand financial infrastructure. In addition,the current macroeconomic environm
we have made reductions in our staff and may farbd@uce or limit the expansion of our staff, whigbuld require us to manage our
operational growth with fewer people. We have ledibperational, administrative and financial resesr which may be inadequate to sustain
the growth we seek to achieve. If we do not effetyi manage our growth, the quality of our servicesld suffer, which could adversely affi
our brand, business, financial condition and resofitoperations.

As our user and advertiser bases expanavilveeed to continue to increase our investmariechnology, infrastructure, facilities and
other areas of operations, in particular produgetigoment, sales and marketing. As a result of gmotvth, we will also need to continue
improving our operational and financial systems arahagerial control and procedures. We will havmé#intain close coordination among our
technical, accounting, finance, marketing and spégsonnel. If the improvements are not implemestaxtessfully, our ability to manage our
growth will be impaired and we may have to makaidicant additional expenditures, which could harar business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Our corporate culture has contributed to our sucegsind if we cannot maintain the focus on teamwakd innovation fostered by this
environment, our business, financial condition andsults of operations would be adversely affected.

We believe that a critical contributor tar success has been our corporate culture, whiclesand fosters teamwork and innovation. As
our business matures, and we are required to ingslemore complex organizational management stregfuve may find it increasingly
difficult to maintain the beneficial aspects of @arporate culture. This would adversely affect lousiness, financial condition and results of
operations.

The loss of any of our key personnel or a failure attract, retain and motivate qualified personnehay have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of emtions.

Our success depends in large part upondhtnued service of key members of our manageteam and technical personnel, as well as
our continued ability to attract, retain and mot#vather highly qualified engineering, programmiteghnical, sales, customer support, finar
and managerial personnel.

Although we attempt to structure employempensation packages in a manner consistent watbvblving standards of the markets in
which we operate and to provide incentives to remth Yandex, including equity awards under oupéagee incentive plan, we cannot
guarantee that we will be able to retain our kepleyees. A number of our senior employees exeragbage options in connection with our
initial public offering and made significant gainghile a significant portion of our outstanding d@guwawards held by key employees have
become, or will soon become, substantially vestdithough we grant additional equity awards to mamagnt personnel and other key
employees from time to time, employees may be Hikety to leave us after their initial award fuliests, especially if our shares have
significantly appreciated in value relative to theercise price. If any member of our senior managerteam or other key personnel should
leave our group, our ability to successfully opematir business and execute our business stratedyy loe impaired. We may also have to incut
significant costs in identifying, hiring, trainirand retaining replacements for departing employees.
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The competition for software engineers qudlified personnel who are familiar with the imter industry in Russia is intense. We may
encounter difficulty in hiring and/or retaining hig talented software engineers to develop and fa@imour services. There is also significant
competition for personnel who are knowledgeablauabiee accounting and legal requirements relatedNASDAQ listing, and we may
encounter particular difficulty in hiring and/ortaeing appropriate financial staff needed to eeald to continue to comply with the internal
control requirements under the Sarbanes-Oxley Adtralated regulations.

Any inability to successfully retain key ployees and manage our personnel needs may hastedahadverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Growth in our operations internationally may creatacreased risks that could adversely affect oursiness, financial condition and results
of operations.

We have limited experience with operationtside Russia, and in 2014 derived only approxéa@% of our revenues from advertisers
outside Russia. Part of our future growth strategp expand our operations geographically on grodpnistic basis. Our geographic
expansion efforts generally require the expenditifirgignificant costs in the new geography prioathieving the market share necessary to
support the commercialization of our services, Wwtallows us to begin generating revenues in the gewgraphy. For example, in 2011 we
launched operations in Turkey. In December 2014 share of the internet search market in Turkey &va%o according to comScore gSearch,
and we have generated only nominal revenues thatate. Our ability to manage our business andwttralr operations across a broader
range of geographies will require considerable rganmeent attention and resources and is subjechtordoer of risks relating to international
markets, including the following:

. challenges caused by distance, language andgaldtifferences;

. managing our relationships with local partners &thate choose to adopt a joint venture approachuimirternational expansion
efforts;

. credit risk and higher levels of payment fraud éntain countries;

. pressure on our operating margins as we investgpa@t our expansion;

. currency exchange rate fluctuations and our alititnanage our currency exposure;

. foreign exchange controls that might prevenfras repatriating cash earned in certain countries;

. legal risks, including potential of claims farfiingement of intellectual property and uncertairggarding liability for online

services and content;

. adoption of new legislation and regulations, whichly adversely impact our operations or may be ag@pi an unpredictable
manner;

. potentially adverse tax consequences;

. deleterious changes in political environment; and

. higher costs and greater management time assoeiittedoing business internationally.

In addition, compliance with complex andgrdially conflicting foreign and Russian laws aedulations that apply to our international
operations may increase our cost of doing busiaedsnay interfere with our ability to offer, or pemt us from offering, our services in one or
more countries. These numerous laws and regulaitichsde import and export requirements, contequirements, trade restrictions, tax laws,
economic sanctions, internal and disclosure comntlek, data protection, data retention, privaay fltering requirements, labor relations laws,
U.S. laws, such as the Foreign Corrupt Practicesaia local laws prohibiting corrupt payments twgrnmental officials. Violations
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of these laws and regulations may result in figesinal sanctions against us, our officers, or @mployees; prohibitions on the conduct of
business; and damage to our reputation. Althoughave implemented policies and procedures designedsure compliance with these laws,
we cannot assure you that our employees, contsaotagents will not violate our policies. Any sugblations may result in prohibitions on
our ability to offer our services in one or moreintries, and may also materially adversely affectreputation, our brand, our international
expansion efforts, our ability to attract and netamployees, and our business, financial condéimhresults of operations.

Financial results for any particular period are natecessarily indicative of results for future peds.

Our historical results of operations may @ useful in predicting our future results. Cesults of operations may fluctuate from period tc
period as a result of any of the risk factors deecrin this Annual Report and, in particular, doe

. economic conditions generally and those specifibéointernet and online advertising, both in Raissid globally;

. geopolitical developments;

. fluctuations in the exchange rate between the Rogssible and the U.S. dollar;

. the level of use of internet search engines to ififiormation;

. the amount of advertising purchased and markeégfficr online advertising;

. the volume of searches conducted, the amountsybédiertisers or the number of advertisers thatrblr advertising system;
. our ability to compete effectively for usersyadisers, partner websites and content;

. the proportion of our revenues generated omalosites relative to those generated through theldaad network or through

distribution partners, as a result of the reverhariag arrangements we enter into and the oveodlime of advertising we
provide to our partners; and

. the legal framework applicable to regulation ofiealbusinesses in Russia and globally.

Due to the seasonal nature of advertising spendifigure results of our operations may fluctuate fno period to period and from quarter 1
quarter, which may cause our share price to decline

Advertising spending and user traffic témdbe seasonal, with internet usage, online spegratial traffic historically slowing down during
January, May and June and increasing significanttiie fourth quarter of each year. For these mssmomparing our results of operations
period-to-period basis may not be meaningful, amst pesults should not be relied upon as an inditaftf future performance. Quarterly and
annual expenses as a percentage of revenues nsynifecantly different from historical or projeateates and may fall below market
expectations in a given period, which may causesbare price to decline.

Any decline in the internet as a significant advising platform in the countries in which we operat®uld have a material adverse effect
our business, financial condition and results of emtions.

We generate almost all our revenues froerstie of online advertising in Russia. Although tise of the internet as a marketing chant
Russia is maturing, the level of overall spendingadvertising in Russia remains relatively low camngal to that in other developed countries
Broadband penetration rates in Russia are alstivedlalow compared to those in some other devalopmuntries. The internet competes with
traditional advertising media, such as televisfimmt, radio and outdoor advertising. Although adigers have become more familiar with
online advertising in recent years, some of ourentrand potential customers have limited expedemith online advertising, and have not
historically devoted a significant portion of theiarketing budgets to online marketing and pronmotés a result, they may be less inclined to
consider the internet effective in promoting th@inducts and services compared with traditionaliened
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Any decline in the appeal of the internengrally in Russia or the other countries in whighoperate, whether as a result of increasing
governmental regulation of the internet, the groimthopularity of other forms of media, a declinethe attractiveness of the internet as an
advertising medium or any other factor, could haweaterial adverse effect on our business, finaooiadition and results of operations.

Index spammers could harm the integrity of our sehrresults, which may adversely affect our busine

So-called "index spammers" seek to develaps to manipulate internet search results. Fomgka, because our search technology rank:
a webpage's relevance based in part on the impertfithe websites that link to it, people haveratited to link groups of websites togethe
manipulate search results. Although we constantipvate to develop our search technologies to dirgers to relevant information, we may
unable to counter such disruptive activity. If efforts to combat these and other types of indexrsping are unsuccessful, our reputation for
delivering relevant results could be harmed. Thigld result in a decline in user traffic, which megversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Malicious applications that interfere with or explbsecurity flaws in our services could materialadversely affect our business, financi
condition and results of operation.

Third parties have in the past attempted, may in the future attempt, to use malicious i@ptibns to interfere with our users' internet
experience, including hijacking queries to our seangine, altering or replacing Yandex searchligsur otherwise disrupting our ability to
connect with our users. Such interference oftemi@cwithout disclosure to or consent from usersyltang in a negative experience that users
may associate with Yandex.

In addition, we offer applications and seeg that our users download to their computetbatrthey rely on to store information and
transmit information to others over the interndie3e services are subject to attack by virusesnsand other malicious software programs,
which could jeopardize the security of informat&tored in a user's computer or in our computeresystand networks. If our efforts to combat
these malicious applications are unsuccessfuf,auriservices have actual or perceived vulneriadsli our reputation may be harmed, our use
traffic could decline, and our communications wathrtain users could be impaired, which could adblgraffect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

As with any other internet company, Yandgat risk of becoming a target of cracking (effadd defeat security or encryption protectio
a distributed denial-of-service attack, or othanpater attack, which could result in a temporansitig of the Yandex sites or some of its
services. Such an attack could also lead to thieuddi®n or theft of information, potentially inaling confidential or proprietary information
relating to Yandex's intellectual property, contendtl users. For example, if a third party wereackhinto our network, they could obtain acc
to our search code. This information could potéiytize valuable to our competitors or to searchiemgptimizers who are looking to improve
their clients' site rankings within our search tespages. We are not presently aware of a situativere our code has been used in a way tha
would harm us, but we may be faced with such a8dn in the future.

Certain technologies could block our ads, which magiversely affect our business, financial conditiamd results of operations.

Third parties have in the past, and mahéfuture, employ technologies to block the digmhads on webpages. Ad-blocking
technology, if used effectively, would reduce tiecaint of revenue generated by the ads we servdeardase the confidence of our
advertisers and Yandex ad network
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partners in our advertising technology, which mdyeasely affect our business, financial conditiod aesults of operations.

If we fail to detect click fraud or other invalidlicks, we may face litigation and may lose the caol@ince of our advertisers, which m:
adversely affect our business, financial conditiamd results of operations.

We are exposed to the risk of fraudulemnt imvalid clicks on our ads from a variety of pdtahsources. Invalid clicks are clicks that we
have determined are not intended by the user tesadbe underlying content, including clicks raaglfrom click fraud. Click fraud usually
occurs when an automated script or computer proggarsed to imitate a legitimate web browser uiekiag on an ad. We monitor our own
websites and those of our partners for click frand proactively seek to prevent click fraud anfibut fraudulent clicks. To the extent that
we are unsuccessful in doing so, we credit our didegs for clicks that are later attributed taklfraud. If we are unable to stop these invalid
clicks, these credits to our advertisers may irggeH we find new evidence of past invalid click& may retroactively issue credits to
advertisers of amounts previously paid to our nétvpartners. This negatively affects our profitapjland these invalid clicks may harm our
brand.

As the internet evolves, an increasing amount ofioe content may be held in closed social netwodtsstored in proprietary documer
formats, which may limit the effectiveness of owragch technology, which could adversely affect dureand, business, financial conditio
and results of operations.

Social networks are becoming increasingigartant players in the internet market, and hasiguaificant degree of control over the
manner and extent to which information on their sitds can be accessed through third-party seagihes For example, in early 2013 we
launched our Wonder mobile application in the Uthi&ates, which enabled personalized search afnraftion available to users through their
accounts with various social networks and services ding Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and FouasquFacebook subsequently blocked
access to its platform Application Programming tif#iee and launched a graph search service of its ow

In addition, a large amount of informatimm the internet is provided in proprietary docunfentats such as Microsoft Word and Adobe
Acrobat. The providers of the software applicatioaed to create these documents could enginedothenent format to prevent or interfere
with our ability to access the document contentd wur search technology.

If social networks or software providerkdateps to prevent their content or documentseir formats from being searchable, such
content would not be included in our search resn if the content was directly relevant to adeaequest. These parties may also seek to
require us to pay them royalties in exchange feingius the ability to search content on theirssie documents in their format and provide
links thereto in our search results. If these paréilso compete with us in the search businessnthg give their search technology a
preferential ability to search their content or wiments in their proprietary format. Any of thessulés could adversely affect our brand,
business, financial condition and results of openast

We may not be able to prevent others from unautlzed use of our intellectual property rights, whichay adversely affect our competitive
position, our business, financial condition and nels of operations

We rely on a combination of patents, tradeks, trade secrets and copyrights, as well asisdodure agreements, to protect our
intellectual property rights. Our patent departnisemesponsible for developing and implementing gnaup-wide patent protection strategy in
selected jurisdictions, and to date we have filedenthan 150 patent applications, some of whicletsready resulted in issued patents. The
protection and enforcement of intellectual propeigits in Russia and other markets in which werajge however, may not be as effective as
that in the United States or Western Europe. Alse efforts we have taken to protect our propnetayhts may not be sufficient
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or effective. Any significant infringement of ountellectual property rights could harm our business brand and/or our ability to compete, all
of which could adversely affect our competitive iios, our business, financial condition and resolt operations.

We may be subject to intellectual property infringent claims, which are costly to defend, could rksn significant damage awards, and
could limit our ability to provide certain conterdr use certain technologies in the future.

A number of internet, technology, media patent-holding companies own or are actively dayielg patents covering search, indexing,
electronic commerce and other internet-relatedrteldyies, as well as a variety of online businessl@s and methods. We believe that these
parties will continue to take steps to protect ¢hieshnologies, including, but not limited to, Sagkpatent protection in certain jurisdictions.

a result, disputes regarding the ownership of teldgies and rights associated with online actisitiee likely to arise in the future. In addition,
use of open-source software is often subject toptiamce with certain license terms, which we madwvertently breach.

With respect to any intellectual propeithts claim, we may have to pay damages or compiensand/or stop using technology found to
be in violation of a third party's rights. We magvie to seek a license for the technology, which matybe available on commercially
reasonable terms or at all, and may significamtyeéase our operating expenses. We may be reqoidzl/elop an alternative non-infringing
technology, which may require significant effortpense and time to develop. If we cannot licensgeoelop technology for any potentially
infringing aspects of our business, we may be fibtodimit our service offerings and may be unableompete effectively. We may also incur
substantial expenses in defending against thirtl/pafringement claims regardless of the meritwéts claims.

Our ability to offer our services may be adversaf§ected by laws and regulations or user conceregarding privacy and the protection of
user data, any of which could materially adversaiffect our business, financial condition and resalbf operations.

Applicable Russian and foreign laws andif&iions govern the collection, use, sharing amdisgy of data that we receive from our users
and partners. Although we believe that we comphlall current requirements, these laws could énfthure be interpreted and applied in a
manner that is inconsistent with current practiea. instance, in May 2014 the Court of Justicehef European Union established that an
operator of a search engine can be obligated toverfiom the list of search results links to welgggcontaining inaccurate or outdated
information related to an individual. If personailta legislation is interpreted and applied in a meamot consistent with current practice, we
could face fines or orders requiring that we chamgreoperating practices, which in turn could haveaterial adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Relyeadopted amendments to the personal data l&Rugsia will require that companies store
all personal data of Russian users only in datablasated inside Russia, starting September 1,.201fough our principal data centers are
currently located in Russia, this law could limitrdlexibility in managing our operations globally.

Increasing public awareness of these issoelsl lead to further restrictions on the useusthsdata, which could in turn affect our search
performance and therefore our ability to generdtesgtising revenue. In addition, it is our polioygrotect the privacy of our users and to keep
confidential the data they provide to us, and essalt we may choose not to exploit certain opputies to maximize revenues in ways that
could jeopardize our users' trust in us in thisardg

Furthermore, we use cookies and other wigesl technologies that assist us in improvinguger experience and personalization of our
products and services and ultimately benefit bathusers and advertisers through behavioral targetvhich makes our advertising more
relevant. There is no
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clarity as to whether our practices are compliaitth the requirements of applicable data protectagsislation in Russia and abroad, and such
laws could be interpreted and applied in a martmagris not consistent with our current data pradecpractices.

Additionally, as our business grows in fgrejurisdictions beyond Russia and our servicesodfiered to foreign users, we may encounter
increased pressure from foreign state authoritiés n@spect to production of information relatedhe users in circumvention of the
international legal framework regulating the prémisof such information. Any non-compliance wittchuequests may lead to liability and
other adverse consequences.

We may be held liable for information or contentgtlilayed on, retrieved by or linked to our websitesdistributed by our users, or we may
be required to block certain content, which coulétm our reputation and business.

The law and enforcement practice relatmthe liability of providers of online services fitre activities of their users is currently not
settled in Russia and certain other countries iithvtve operate. Claims may be brought against uddtamation, libel, negligence, copyright,
patent or trademark infringement, tort (includireygonal injury), fraud, other unlawful activity other theories and claims based on the natur
and content of information to which we link or tma&y be posted online via blogs and message bagedsrated by our users or delivered or
shared through our services such as email, chatgpoypertext links to third-party websites, oraddimage and file storage services,
including if appropriate licenses and/or rightsdasls consents have not been obtained. For examelbave previously been involved in
litigation regarding alleged copyright infringemeanthe United States. We are also regularly reglto remove content uploaded by users on
grounds of alleged copyright infringement, and friamme to time we receive requests from individual® do not want their names or websites
to appear in our search results. Third parties aisy seek to assert claims against us allegingrisdmpetition, data misappropriation,
violations of privacy rights or failure to maintaime confidentiality of user data. Our defenseryf such actions could be costly and involve
significant time and attention of our managemett @ther resources. If any of these complaints tegulliability to us, the judgment or
settlement could potentially be costly, encourdgelar lawsuits, and harm our reputation and pdgsilorr business.

The governments of the countries in whigoperate are increasingly developing legislatiomed at regulation of the internet. For
example, in August 2013, new amendments to Rusaies including to the Russian Civil Code, came ieffect aimed at the enhancement of
intellectual property rights enforcement on theinget. Certain provisions aimed at the liabilityirdfbrmation intermediaries could be constr
to establish liability for actions not previouslgtimnable, such as linking to allegedly infringimgterials. Also, in October 2014, new
amendments to the Russian Civil Code came int@&iffiéroducing strict liability for infringement aftellectual property rights if such
infringement is committed in connection with busisactivities. New legislation and regulations hsas these, may impose new requirements
on us and our operations and lead to material legdglity, which can be difficult to foresee omiit.

Additional recent legislation in Russia lratsoduced a system of information and websitekilog measures both to prevent and stop
copyright and related rights infringements (othert infringements of copyright in photographs) emgrevent dissemination of illegal
information, such as child pornography, contenpenaging suicides, drug use, information on miriang by illegal actions and extremist
information. The regulations generally require ficdition to be sent by governmental authoritietheadministrator of the website or hosting
provider, requesting that they take down the atlgimfringing or illegal information prior to blddéng access to the website. However, in si
cases, such as dissemination of extremist infoonaticcess to such information can be blocked wtthotification or prior judicial scrutiny.
The categories of illegal information to which aggean be restricted may be interpreted broadbhe@xpanded. For example, in July 2014
Russian authorities
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ordered that access to several websites be blamkéte basis of the violation of personal data lagns. The most recent amendment to this
legislation, which comes into force on May 1, 208as introduced the possibility to require the parent blocking of websites for violation of
copyright and related rights. There is no clargyt@how this measure will be applied in practBased on these considerations and the
uncertainties in the application of these lawsmay be subject to unpredictable blocking measumgsctions or court decisions that may
require us to block or remove content and may ahlpmaffect our services and operations. In adualitio ensure compliance with such laws we
may be required to commit greater resources, imibfunctionality of our services, which may adsely affect the appeal of our services to
our customers.

In February 2014, new Turkish legislatiop@nded the liability of and requirements for in&trservice providers. In particular, the
amended law increases the period of time for whitdrnet service providers must retain traffic imfation, expands their obligation to resp
to information requests from government officiatsl@reates new grounds for taking down contentdmeking of websites on the internet.
Another law adopted in October 2014 introduced legnn of electronic commerce and impacts onlinessscommercial messages and the
protection of personal data. The Turkish Parliam€onstitutional Court and Supreme Court activatyaduce, interpret and implement new
rules to regulate the liability of, and may creadsv obligations for, internet service providersoftion of new rules, as well as interpretation
and implementation of existing legislation regulgtactivities of internet service providers, mayauot our operations in Turkey.

We rely on third-party providers for our principahternet connections and equipment critical to ointernet properties and services, and
any errors, failures or disruption in the productnd services provided by these third parties mayarially adversely affect our brand,
business, financial condition and results of opeiats.

Any disruption in the network access predady third parties or any failure by them to hanclirrent or higher volumes of use may
significantly harm our business. We exercise litthatrol over these third parties, which increamasvulnerability to problems with the
services they provide. We have experienced andcexpeontinue to experience interruptions andydeia service. Furthermore, we depenc
hardware and software suppliers for prompt deliverstallation and service of servers and otheigent to deliver our services. Any errors,
failures, interruptions or delays experienced inregrtion with these third-party products and se@wvimay negatively impact our relationship
with users and materially adversely affect our Hrdusiness, financial condition and results ofrapens.

We may have difficulty scaling and adapting our sting technology architecture to accommodate incsed traffic and technology advanc
or new requirements of our users and advertisersieh could adversely affect our business, financ@dndition and results of operations.

With some of the most highly visited websitn Russia, we deliver a growing number of ses/&nd page views to an increasing numbe
of users. In addition, the services we offer haygaaded and changed significantly and are expdotedntinue to do so in the future to
accommodate bandwidihtensive technologies and means of content dglj\serch as interactive multimedia and video. Oturiei success w
depend on our ability to adapt to rapidly changi#chnologies, to adjust our services to evolvirdusiry standards and to maintain the
performance and reliability of our services. Rapitteases in the levels or types of use of oumendiervices could result in delays or
interruptions in our services.

As we expand our services, we will needdntinue to invest in new technology infrastructumeluding data centers. For example, we
recently completed the first phase of constructiba data center in Finland. We may have difficittgxpanding our infrastructure to meet
rising demand for our services, including difficett in obtaining suitable facilities or accessuffisient electricity supplies. A failure to expa
our infrastructure could materially and adversdfga our ability to
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maintain and increase our revenues and profitglgitid could adversely affect our business, findmziadition and results of operations.

A systems failure or human error could prevent usin providing search results or ads, which couldtéto a loss of users and advertist
and damage our reputation and materially adversafject our business, financial condition and resalbf operations.

Although we have implemented network sdgurieasures, our systems are potentially vulnerabiamage or interruption from terrorist
attacks, denial-of-service attacks, computer vsuseother cyber-attacks or attempts to harm ostesy, power losses, telecommunications
failures, floods, fires, extreme weather conditisgesthquakes and similar events. Our data centbish we maintain ourselves, are also
potentially subject to break-ins, sabotage andhtidaal acts of vandalism, and to potential disium. The occurrence of a natural disaster or
other unanticipated problems at our data centargl@esult in lengthy interruptions in our servieghich could reduce our revenues and prc
and our brand could be damaged if people believesenices are unreliable.

From time to time, we have experienced paywages that have interrupted access to ourcgsnand impacted the functioning of our
internal systems. Although we have installed baglgenerators, these may not operate properly ghraumajor sustained power outage or-
fuel supply could be inadequate. Any unschedulégtiaption in our service places a burden on otireenrganization and would result in an
immediate loss of revenue. If we experience fretjoepersistent system failures on our websitesyeputation and brand could be
permanently harmed. The steps we have taken tedrerthe reliability and redundancy of our systaraexpensive, reduce our operating
margin and may be insufficient to reduce the fremyeor duration of unscheduled downtime.

In addition to physical damage and powedages, our systems are also vulnerable to human &or example, in 2011 we experienced a
network outage resulting from human error, whickuted in more than two hours of system down time:\&hich had a temporary negative
effect on our search market share. We experienedhorter periods of downtime in 2012 and 2013tdusnding errors, which had less
serious impacts on our search share. There wes@gnificant downtime periods in 2014. Although westtupdates before implementation,
errors made by our employees in maintaining or edjyey our systems may damage our brand and m&yeathlersely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Our business depends on the continued developmentm@aintenance of the internet infrastructure in ghcountries in which we operate.

Our future success will depend on the cweidl development and maintenance of the interfratsimucture globally and particularly in the
countries in which we operate. This includes maiatee of a reliable network backbone with the nesmgsspeed, data capacity and security
for providing reliable internet services. The imetrinfrastructure may be unable to support theatets placed on it by growing numbers of
users and time spent online or increased bandwédghirements. Any outages or delays resulting fimedequate internet infrastructure could
reduce the level of internet usage as well as bilityato provide our services to users, adversand network partners, which could materially
adversely affect our business, financial conditiod results of operations.
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We may seek to acquire complementary businessasyseand technologies in the future, and may failittentify suitable targets, acquire
them on acceptable terms or successfully integratem, which may limit our ability to implement owgrowth strategy. Acquisition of new
businesses may also lead to increased legal risié @her negative consequences which could haveadwuerse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operation:

From time to time we acquire other busiesstechnologies and teams. For example, in 201&wwpleted the acquisition of
KinoPoisk LLC, a website dedicated to movies, teliewm programs and celebrities. In 2014 we compl¢te acquisitions of KitLocate Ltd., a
developer of an energy efficient geolocation tedbgy for mobile devices, Auto.ru, a Russian onkngo classifieds site, the ADFOX
advertising technology platform, and several othéfs continue to evaluate selected potential adouis and, from time to time, may engage
in discussions regarding potential acquisitionse &bquisition and integration of new businessdearnologies pose significant risks to our
existing operations, including:

. additional demands placed on our management,amalso responsible for managing our existingatjms;

. increased overall operating complexity of our basa) requiring greater personnel and other ressurce

. difficulties in expanding beyond our core expertise

. significant initial cash expenditures or share titiln in connection with acquiring and integratinganbusinesses; and

. legal risks (including potential claims of the ctenparty or of third parties), which may resultrfr@ur lack of expertise in the

field of the target's business, an incomplete qroper due diligence, misrepresentations by copatées, and/or other causes.

The integration of new businesses presaningber of challenges, including differing cultumrsmanagement styles, poor financial rect
or internal controls on the part of the acquirethpanies, and an inability to establish control asash flows. Furthermore, even if we are
successful in integrating new businesses, expeasidand operating efficiencies may not materialize financial benefits from the acquisiti
may be less than anticipated, and we could be redjto record impairment changes in respect of updgorming assets.

Moreover, our growth may suffer if we failidentify suitable acquisition targets or arebiditoy competing bidders. As a NASDAI@ted
company, we are subject to securities laws anda#guos that, in certain circumstances, require Wefile with the SEC audited historical
financial statements for businesses we acquiresttied certain materiality thresholds. Given faialhreporting practices in Russia and other
countries in which we operate, such financial statets and documented systems of internal contk@s financial reporting are often not
readily available or not capable of being auditethe standards required by U.S. securities reignlatAs a result, we may be prevented from
or delayed in pursuing acquisition opportunitiegt thur competitors and other financial and strat@giestors are able to pursue, which may
limit our ability to implement our growth strategy.

If we are unable to license, acquire or create cagling content at reasonable costs, the number e&ts of our services may not grow
anticipated or may decline, which would adverseffeat our business, financial condition and resultf operations.

Our future success depends in part uporabllity to offer compelling content. We licenserin third parties much of the content of our
services, such as music, news items, weather seepod TV program schedules. If we are unable totaiai and build relationships with third-
party content providers this would likely resultarioss of user traffic. In addition, we may beuiegd to make
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substantial payments to third parties from whomlisense or acquire such content. An increase iptlees charged to us by third-party
content providers would adversely affect our bussnéinancial condition and results of operations.

Further, many of our content licenses whihd parties are non-exclusive. Accordingly, othabsites and other media such as radio or
television may be able to offer similar or identicantent. This increases the importance of ouitpltdo aggregate compelling content in order
to differentiate Yandex from other businessesthito companies make available competitive conteetnumber of users of our services may
not grow as anticipated, or may decline.

Our Yandex.Money joint venture may be used for fidulent, illegal or improper purposes, which couldaterially adversely affect our
brand, reputation, business, financial condition drresults of operations.

The electronic payments system of our Yarideney joint venture with Sberbank is suscepttbléraud and to potentially illegal or
improper uses, and we have on occasion identifidmben informed of such uses in the past. Theseimehyde:

. illegal online gambling;

. fraudulent sales of goods or services or other haaricfraud,;

. illicit sales of prescription medications, conteallsubstances, alcoholic beverages or tobacco gidu
. software and other intellectual property piracy;

. bank or securities fraud, identity theft or monayridering;

. improper use of the service for business-to{tess transactions;

. child pornography or trafficking; and

. other illegal or improper purposes.

Our ability to control the day-to-day op@ras of Yandex.Money following completion of thant venture transaction in July 2013 is
more limited than was the case while we were the @a@ner of this business. If Yandex.Money is updbl prevent, detect or otherwise
adequately address fraud or other improper us#s sérvices, users may lose confidence in thgiitjeand security of its services, which may
result in a reduction in the number of users aadgdactions. Any negative publicity associated WithYandex name in connection with such
activities, including criminal proceedings agaiastser who conducts illegal activities using itv&es, could result in damage to our brand or
reputation. If we are unable to manage these raksbrand, reputation, business, financial condiind results of operations could be
materially adversely affected.

Failure to maintain effective customer service megsult in customer complaints and negative publicand may adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of opeiats.

Customer complaints or negative publicttpat our services or those offered by us or ourdéarMoney joint venture with Sherbank, or
breaches of customers' privacy or of our securigasares, could diminish consumer confidence inusedof our services. Measures we
implement to combat risks of fraud and breachgwiohicy and security may be viewed as onerous Ibyestomers or those of our joint
venture and damage relations with them. Alternatpuld breaches of customers' privacy or of sgrcomeasures occur, we could be subject
to investigations and claims from the governmebtalies, as well as from our customers. These mes$iighten the need for prompt and
accurate customer service to resolve irregulargies disputes. Effective customer service requigsificant personnel expense, and such
expense, if not managed properly, may impact oofitability or that of our Yandex.Money joint vem&u Any inability by us or our
Yandex.Money joint venture to
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manage or train our or their customer service wprEtives properly could compromise our or thkilitg to handle customer complaints
effectively. If we or Yandex.Money fail to maintagffective customer service, our reputation mayeswgnd we may lose our customers'
confidence, which may adversely affect our busintsancial condition and results of operations.

The inherent limitations of the available data regding internet usage and online advertising may nek difficult to assess our markets a
our market position.

We rely on and refer to information andistecs from various third-party sources, as wslbar own internal estimates, regarding interne
usage and penetration and the online advertisirrgetsin the countries in which we operate. Thermfation and statistics used in our indu
are subject to inherent limitations reflecting thiering metrics and measurement methods utilaed applied by different sources; for
example, data derived from computer usage conttastehat derived from user surveys. In additiohjlevwe believe that the available data
research on the Russian market is of comparabléygtmthat available in most developed countribg, data for Ukraine, Kazakhstan and
Belarus are generally less consistent and relidibdéeto more limited third party measurements irs¢hcountries.

We may be subject to claims from our current or fioer employees as well as contractors for copyrigrade secret and patent-related
matters, which are costly to defend and if lostuoy could adversely affect our business, financialndition and results of operation.

The software, databases, algorithms, imagesgell as patentable results and trade secnetsvthow) that we use for the operation of our
services were generally developed, invented ortedday our former or current employees or contractinring the course of their employment
with us within the scope of their job functionsumder the relevant contractor's agreement, asatbe may be. As a matter of Russian law, we
are deemed to have acquired copyright, relatedsrig$ well as rights to file patent applicationghwespect to such products, and have the
intellectual property rights to their further usedalisposal subject to compliance with certain megpents set in the Civil Code of Russia. We
believe that we have appropriately followed suaduneements, but they are defined in a broad andguolbis manner and their precise
application has never been definitively determibgdhe Russian courts. Therefore, former or cureemployees or contractors could either
challenge the transfer of intellectual properthtggover the products developed by them or witir tantribution or claim the right to
additional compensation for their works for hirelr patentable results, in addition to their ergpient compensation. We may not prevail in
any such action and any successful claim couldradiyeaffect our business, financial condition aesllts of operation. Although the exact
amount of compensation is not currently regulatge@®bssian law, the Russian government has previqusposed establishingde minimis
amount of required compensation for works and pab#e results created by employees, which, if agtbpihay affect the amount and structure
of payments to our employees.

Risks Related to Doing Business and Investing in Reia and Other Countries in which We Operate

Emerging markets, such as Russia, are generallyjeabto greater financial, economic, legal and pidial risks than more develope
markets. Such risks may have a material adverse&fbn our business, financial condition and ressilbf operations.

Emerging markets such as Russia are suiojgreater risks than more developed marketsydieg in some cases, financial, economic,
legal and political risks. Such risks or an inceeasthe perceived risks associated with investingmerging economies could dampen foreign
investment and adversely affect the economieseo€ttuntries in which we operate. For example, threeot geopolitical situation in Ukraine
may have deleterious macroeconomic and other sftecthe regions in which we operate, includingoagiother things, increased volatility
currency values and a weaker
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overall business environment. In addition, suchuitstances may harm or encourage volatility instare price and in equity markets in
general. These emerging market and economiessoeabject to rapid change. For these reasonfusimess, financial condition and results
of operations may be materially adversely affettg@ny crises in Russia or other emerging marketghich we operate. See also "Risks
Related to the Russian Economy."

Inflation may increase our costs and exert downwastkessure on our operating margit

The Russian economy has generally beeracteized by high rates of inflation in recent ywedccording to the Russian Federal State
Statistics Service, Rosstat, the annual inflatete in Russia was 6.6% in 2012, 6.5% in 2013 ardP41In 2014, and is forecast to be between
12% and 14% for 2015, as measured by the consunceripdex. Because substantially all of our ogeres are in Russia, our costs are
sensitive to increases in prices in Russia. Asaltehigh rates of inflation increase our costg] these increases in cost could negatively
impact our operating margin.

The legal system in Russia and other countries ihigh we operate can create an uncertain environméat investment and business
activity that could have a material adverse effect the value of our Class A shares, our businessafcial condition and results of
operations.

The legal framework supporting a marketneroy remains new and in flux in Russia and theratbentries in which we operate and, as ¢
result, the relevant legal systems can be charaeteby:

. rapid or unexpected changes in the legislative éaok;
. inconsistencies between and among laws and regusati
. gaps in the regulatory structure resulting fromdk&y in adoption or absence of implementing raguhs and a subordinate

legal framework;

. selective and inconsistent enforcement of laggulations, sometimes in ways that have beeceperd as being motivated by
political or financial considerations;

. scarce judicial and administrative guidancerdarpreting legislation;

. relatively limited experience of judges and coumtmterpreting recent commercial legislation asdlwe in understanding
specifics of business operations and internatibeat practices in the sphere of information teabgywlnd other areas;

. a perceived lack of judicial and prosecutorial ipgledence from political, social and commercial éstc
. inadequate court system resources;

. a high degree of discretion on the part of thediady and governmental authorities; and

. poorly developed bankruptcy procedures thanaténfrequently abused.

Furthermore, a range of civil legislationRussia is currently under review or has recdmtign adopted. For example, recent legislative
changes have addressed intellectual property riégia including regulation of the use of intellgadt property rights in the internet and
regulation of patents. Further changes set ouirgt Part of Russian Civil Code containing gen@ralvisions on obligations and contracts are
expected to come into effect in June 2015. Suclhdments may significantly affect existing businpsactices and result in additional legal
risks related to compliance with newly adoptedldagislation.

In addition, as is true of civil law systeigenerally, judicial precedents generally havéinding effect on subsequent court decisions. In
2014, the HigheArbitrazh Court was disbanded and cases formerly withiruiisgliction were transferred to the Supreme ColRussia,
while the system of
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lower arbitrazh courts remained unchanged. The Supreme Court cfi@ughich through a separate division now hancbesmercial disputes
after the judicial reorganization, and the entiystem of courts of common jurisdiction, are knowrbe more rigid and conservative than the
system ofarbitrazh courts. This may result in reconsideration of thevipus practices and rulings favorable to busiresisity and a
significant change in the judicial climate in Rassi

Not all legislation and court decisions eradily available to the public or organized imanner that facilitates understanding.
Enforcement of Russian court rulings as well asgeadion and enforcement of foreign state courtrawanay prove to be substantially
problematic. All of these factors make judicial dé&ns difficult to predict and effective proteatiof rights and interests uncertain.
Additionally, court claims and governmental progems may be used in furtherance of what some perde be political aims.

In other countries in which we operatetéd and inconsistent enforcement with respecettain laws and the rapid evolution of their
legal systems may result in ambiguities, inconaigts and anomalies in the application and intéaiom of laws and regulations. Any of the
factors may result in our being subject to unpridile fines or requirements, affect our abilityetdforce our rights under our contracts or to
defend ourselves against claims by others, ortr@solur being subject to unpredictable requireragand could have a material adverse effect
on our Class A shares and our business, finangralition and results of operations. The fact thatare a high-profile company may heighten
this risk. See "—Businesses in Russia, have onsamtdeen subject to actions by public authorifies some have characterized as
unpredictable or politically motivated" and "—Risksother countries."

The legal framework governing internet services aegcommerce in Russia and the other countries inigthwe operate is in the process of
development, and we may be required to have addéidicenses, permits or registrations, or to talidditional actions in order to conduct
our business, which may be costly or may limit dlexibility to run our business.

Although we believe that we currently hallematerial licenses and permits required to cahdur business, court interpretations and the
applicability of Russian commercial legislation aedulations in relation to our business can beigndus or contradictory and it is possible
that the authorities may determine that we areireduo have additional licenses, permits or regigins. For example, we could fall within 1
following regulations that require receipt of lis&s/permits or compliance with certain mandatoogedures:

. Currently, Russian law requires acquisition dfedematics" license by a company if it providey &elecommunications services
for a fee. We generally do not charge for the @nfervices we provide to our users and therefdievieewe are not required to
hold a telematics license; we do, however, geneeatenue from ads directed to our users. It isiptesthat a Russian court or a
government agency may construe our advertisingmeyas an indirect "fee" and determine that weegaired to hold a
telematics license. Additionally, as we may furtbewvelop certain user services that would be pealidr a fee in the future, v
cannot assure you that such services, if developedld not trigger the licensing requirements refeed above.

. Russian law requires that "mass media" businessesdistered with the applicable governmental aitthAlthough Russian
law does not specifically include internet entesesi in the list of mass media businesses, seveeahet businesses that publish
news have been required to obtain an electronic maslia registration. Current law also permitstedgic network publication
(websites) to register on a voluntary basis as mestia under the procedures established by theQanvprincipal operating
subsidiary, which operates our search and mostiobtiner user services and online properties, doekold a mass media
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registration. In 2014, a member of the Russiangadnt submitted an official inquiry to the GendPabsecutor's Office asking
whether our Yandex.News service should be regidtasemass media in accordance with Russian lawGEmeral Prosecutor's
Office responded that Yandex.News is not a massareadl is not required to be registered as suchh&Ve determined that we
are not required to register as a mass media I8ssihewever, we cannot assure you that we wilbeatequired to register as a
mass media business in the future, especiallyeittirrent law changes. Obtaining and maintainir sagistration may be
burdensome, time-consuming and costly, and mayraelyeaffect our business, financial conditions eesllts of operations.
Moreover, amendments to the Mass Media Law adadpt&ttober 2014 will limit non-Russian ownershigaontrol, direct or
indirect, of Russian mass media to no more than, 288ting in 2016. Accordingly, if our core busisaevere to be required to
register as a mass media, it would have a mafer@ct on the ownership structure of our businesscauld materially
adversely affect the value of our Class A shares.d@so "—If the Russian government were to impiosiéations on foreign
ownership of internet businesses in Russia, itccoudterially adversely affect our group and theigadf our Class A shares."

. In 2014, the Russian government introduced legisiaegulating popular bloggers. The legislatiodiafted in general terms
and can potentially apply to any owner of a websitevebpage which contains publicly available infiation and is visited by
more than 3,000 internet users daily, whether sitehis owned and/or operated by an individual legal entity. Popular
bloggers have to register with the Russian autlesréand bear responsibilities in respect of thaerravailable on their websit
or webpages which are substantially similar toahkgations of mass media in Russia (includingquieement to ensure the
accuracy of the information made available). Siteescope of this legislation is uncertain, itmelear whether the new
legislation applies to any of the companies of gnaup.

. Businesses that use certain encryption technolagigir products and services may be requirezbtain a license from the
Russian Federal Security Service. We use standergion protection measures in some of our ses/guch as Yandex.Mail,
and although we believe that such use of encrypgi@xcluded from these licensing requirementscarenot assure that the
regulator may not take a different view.

We may have to apply for additional licesyggermits or registrations, or provide notificaspto comply with new or existing legal
requirements, which may be costly or may limit exibility to run our business. If we fail to oliteand maintain required licenses, permits ol
registrations, or fail to comply with other applita legal requirements, we may face fines, persatiiesanctions. These may include a
requirement that we permanently or temporarily eeastain of our business activities, administepenalties or criminal prosecution of our
officers. In addition, we might be unable to imnadly comply with new regulations upon their impkatation.

We may be subject to laws that impose restrictionshe processing of certain types of personal artler data, which may affect our ability
to flexibly manage our business or make it more tp$0 do so, or subject us to fines or other peties.

Collection and handling of personal datahy entity or person in Russia is subject to @erequirements and restrictions, including
obtaining written consent from the relevant indiwadland using technical and encryption means ®iptiotection of personal data. In addition,
subject to several exemptions, a notification ningsinade to the appropriate Russian governmentgl, Bamscomnadzor, to process personal
data. We do not collect or perform any operatiomgar users' personal data, except when such tiolkear processing is in accordance with
our terms of services and privacy policies whigh @railable on our websites. Due to the absenestablished court practice and official
guidelines on the application of exemptions, howewe cannot assure you that

29




Table of Contents

the regulator may not take a view that we neveetf'ehave to file a notification or comply with athequirements. If we are ultimately requi
to file such a notification or otherwise are detieraal to be subject to the rules regarding the ctitla and handling of personal data, we ma
required to use special technical facilities andiggent and to adopt extensive internal compliamites for the protection of personal data,
which may adversely affect our ability to flexiblyanage our business or make it more costly to do so

Recently adopted amendments to the persatallaw in Russia will require that companiesestdl personal data of Russian users on
databases located inside Russia, starting SeptelmB6d5. In accordance with the amended legisiaticdata operator, when collecting
personal data of Russian citizens including onititernet, must ensure that the personal data @ded, systemized, accumulated, stored,
updated and gathered by using databases thatwaaiesi in Russia. Non-compliance with this requeatrmay lead to legal liability and
potentially to restriction of the availability dié service in Russia. At the time of its adoptioa hew legislation was supposed to come into
force on September 1, 2016, but recently the coneamaent date was moved to September 1, 2015. Sireckegislation is drafted in very
general terms, it is uncertain whether it applaesur operations or, if it does apply, to what ext€ompliance with the requirements provided
in this legislation may be practically difficulgquire significant efforts and resources, could leealegal liability in other jurisdictions and litr
functionality of our services. Compliance with tleguirements contained in the new legislation mag Bmit our ability to compete with other
companies located in other jurisdictions that dorequire mandatory local storage of personal datding to their users.

Due to the nature of services we offer tiredfact that we have presence in a number of desntve may also be subject to personal date
laws of other jurisdictions, especially laws regdin@ to cross-border transfer of personal datactvimay require significant compliance efforts
and could result in liability for violations in ahjurisdictions.

Further, current law imposes restrictionghee distribution of satellite images of certainas in Russia and the other countries in whic
operate and imposes requirements with respecetmfbrmation provided by the traffic monitoringrgiee we offer. If we were found to be in
violation of any such restrictions, we may be forte suspend such services or may potentially bgestito fines or other penalties.

We may be subject to data retention regulationsttheguire us to collect, store and produce to thate authorities certain types of data
related to the activity of our users, which may rére us to acquire additional storage, make amendrtseto our services and products, or
harm our reputation with users.

In 2014, the Russian government adopteidli@n to regulate the "organizers of informatatistribution”. The legislation is drafted in
general terms and can potentially apply to anygredeveloping software that may receive, transfeliver or process electronic messages of
internet users. Organizers of information distributmust notify the relevant Russian authority gtthe commencement of their operations.
Organizers of information distribution must alstaie a broad range of data relating to and gengtatehe users (including the facts of rece
transfer, delivery and processing of informatioma&$l as information about the users) for a penbdix months and provide such data to
security and investigation authorities at theiruest. If an organizer of information distributiaailé to comply with the above requirements, the
Russian authorities can prescribe the blockingcoéss to the services of such organizer of infaonatistribution.

Although the scope of this legislation recartain, our main subsidiary operating in Russis totified the relevant Russian authority th
acts as an organizer of information distributiothwespect to some of the services it provides. @liamce with the legislative requirements
may require significant expenditures by us sucbxg&nditures on additional data centers, servatotrer
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infrastructure or software development. Data réd@nay also harm our reputation with users andeyak services less competitive in
comparison with the services provided by compaloieated in other jurisdictions that do not require mandatory retention of data relating to
their users. Failure to comply with the requirensesftthe new legislation may lead to our serviogigdp unavailable for our users in Russia.

We may be subject to existing or new advertisingjséation that could restrict the types and relevanof the ads we serve, which would
result in a loss of advertisers and therefore a vetion in our revenues.

Russian law prohibits the sale and advadisf certain products, such as illegal drugsaddition, advertising for certain regulated
products and services may only be conducted byndrehalf of, advertisers who possess the licemggspvals and certificates required to
market and sell such products and services. Adseidain products and services, such as finanefaices, as well as ads aimed at minors and
some others, must comply with specific rules andtitucertain cases contain required disclaimarghérmore, a July 2012 amendment to
Russian advertising legislation outlawed advergsihalcohol on the internet as well as in periaticSimilar regulations were adopted in
November 2013 with respect to the advertising gargttes, tobacco products and smoking accessbriearly 2014, new regulations were ¢
adopted to limit or in certain cases to prohibé #uvertising of medical services; these restristivere loosened to some degree in June 201
Further amendments to legislation regulating adsiag may impact our ability to provide some of @ervices or limit the type of advertising
we may offer. The application of these laws toipartsuch as Yandex, that merely serve or disgibuth ads and do not market or sell the
product or service, however, can be unclear. Patdoaour terms of service, we require that oureatisers have all required licenses or
authorizations. If our advertisers do not complyhvthese requirements, and these laws were toteieted to apply to us, or if our adrving
system failed to include necessary disclaimersmag be exposed to administrative fines or othectsams, and may have to limit the types of
advertisers we serve.

The regulatory framework in Russia govegrtime use of behavioral targeting in online adgarg is unclear. If new legislation were to be
adopted, or current legislation were to be integateto restrict the use of behavioral targetingrifine advertising, our ability to enhance the
targeting of our advertising could be significaritiyited, which could result in a loss of advertser a reduction in the relevance of the ads w
serve, which would reduce the number of clickstenads and therefore our revenues.

Our need to comply with applicable Russian laws anregulations could hamper our ability to offer sapes that compete effectively with
those of our foreign competitors and may adversaffect our business, financial condition and resalbf operations.

Many of our global competitors, such as @epMicrosoft and Yahoo!, have their principal cgt@ons outside of Russia, putting them
generally outside of the jurisdiction of Russiamite and government agencies, even though sontewf have offices in Russia. Our systems
and operations are located principally in Russissdfan laws and regulations that are applicables tdout not to our foreign competitors, may
impede our ability to develop and offer servicest tompete effectively on a global scale as welhdussia with those offered by our foreign-
based competitors and generally available worldwikr the internet. For example, our foreign contqest may be able to offer certain cont
that is now, or may in the future be, restrictedRussian law. Any inability on our part to offemgees that are competitive with those offered
by our foreign competitors may adversely affect lnusiness, financial condition and results of opena.
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Russian authorities could determine that we holdlaminant position in one or more of our markets, drrould impose limitations on oL
operational flexibility that may adversely affectiobusiness, financial condition and results of ofaions.

Russian anti-monopoly legislation imposestrictions on companies that occupy a dominaritipnsn a given market. We believe that
the authorities have not to date addressed intadhadrtising in Russia to any significant extefth@gh we are aware of public statements by
government officials suggesting that the authaitieay analyze the business of online social netwgrkn addition, in February 2015, we
made a formal request to the Russian Federal Amiimoly Service (FAS) to open an investigation wwttether Google is using its dominant
position to promote its search and other serviceglled into a single package imposed for pre-ifetah by device manufacturers, as well as
employing exclusive dealing and other restrictivactices to increase its search market share. WerRussian authorities to investigate the
broader internet or online advertising industréesa result of the Android investigation or otheewiit is possible that they may conclude that,
given our market share, we hold a dominant positiamne or more of the markets in which we operakés could result in limitations on our
future acquisitions and a requirement that we pearavith the authorities any changes to our stahdgreements with advertisers and Yande:
ad network partners, as well as any specially nagat agreements with business partners. In addifieve were to decline to conclude a
contract with a third party or terminate an exigtagreement without sufficient substantiation timald, in certain circumstances, be regarded
as abuse of a dominant market position.

As a general rule, actions or omissiona dbminant company are prohibited if they lead aytead to prevention, restriction or
elimination of competition or infringement of thigdrties' interests, resulting in the impositiordisfadvantageous contractual terms to the
counterparty or terms not related to the subjethefcontract; fixing different prices on the sacoenmodity, where it is not economically or
technologically justifiable; creating discriminagazonditions or barriers to enter the market; tveotconsequences. Any abuse of a dominant
market position could lead to administrative paaalaind the imposition of fines of up to 15% of pupr year annual revenues in the relevant
market. These limitations may reduce our operatiand commercial flexibility and responsivenessjchtmay adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Businesses in Russia, have on occasion been sultjeattions by public authorities that some haveacacterized as unpredictable «
politically motivated.

Many commercial laws and regulations in Sasre relatively new and have been subject tiddrinterpretation. As a result, their
application can be unpredictable. In addition, gouweent authorities have a tendency to follow a ¥ergnal approach in certain cases, are
entrusted with a high degree of discretion and feenes exercised their discretion in ways thayibe perceived as selective or
unpredictable, and sometimes in a manner thaeis as being influenced by political or commerc@isiderations. Such actions have includet
the termination or invalidation of contracts, witagial of licenses, sudden and unexpected tax awdiitsinal prosecutions, administrative
investigations and civil actions. Federal and lggalernment entities have also used common defediscumentation as pretexts for court
claims and other demands to invalidate and/or td fransactions, apparently for political purpod#&/® cannot assure you that regulators,
judicial authorities or third parties will not clethge our compliance with applicable laws, decerebregulations

The Russian government has taken variolisnacin recent years against business people amganies operating in Russia that have
been perceived as having been politically motivairecluding actions for technical violations of lawviolations of laws that have been app
retroactively, such as violations of tax laws, mterpretations of widely used practices in spedaifises as impermissible. In 2008, for example,
government officials publicly criticized transferiging arrangements used by a Russian-based contpanig publicly traded in the United
States, claiming that such arrangements
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constituted tax evasion. These claims resultedsite@p decline in that company's stock price. 428 high-ranking Russian official made
public statements about Yandex that were percdiyezsbme to be negative, following which the pri€¢®ar Class A shares dropped
significantly.

High-profile businesses in Russia, sucbus, can be particularly vulnerable to politicaitptivated actions. Some Russian television
broadcasters, for example, have experienced wihae seould characterize as politically motivated @usi, including efforts to facilitate change
of control. Although we believe that our commitmémtontent neutrality principles lessens the askolitically motivated actions against us,
we cannot guarantee that we will not be affecte@dditically motivated actions that could materyadldversely affect our operations. Moreo
although our Yandex.News service aggregates cohteatitomatic algorithm, without regard to viewgpisther parties may perceive our
Yandex.News service as reflecting a political viewyp or agenda, which could subject us to politicalotivated actions. See also Fhe lega
framework governing internet services and e commardussia and the other countries in which weaipds in the process of development,
and we may be required to have additional licens&snits or registrations, or to take additiondlats in order to conduct our business, whict
may be costly or may limit our flexibility to ruruobusiness."

The Russian parliament may adopt and gorent officials may apply unpredictable, contradigtor ambiguous laws or regulations in
ways that have a material adverse effect on ounbss, financial condition and results of operatidsuch actions have on occasion resulted i
significant fluctuations in the market prices of thecurities of businesses operating in Russiaak@&ning of investor confidence in Russia an
doubts about the progress of market and politiefairms in Russia. Businesses operating in Russialsa be significantly affected by the re
and unpredictable adoption of legislation, which oastrict or prohibit business practices that weeviously permitted. For example, in 2013
the stock prices of a Russian bank focused onrdisthanking services and a company offering ingapment services dropped sharply after
the news about possible introduction of new laves tould impact their operations. Following the ptitm in 2014 of amendments to the
Russian Mass Media Law restricting foreign owngrsdnd control of mass media, the stock price efevision broadcaster operating in Ru
and listed on a foreign stock exchange droppedfiigntly.

If the Russian government were to impose limitat®an foreign ownership of internet businesses indRia, it could materially adverse
affect our group and the value of our Class A share

In October 2014, an amendment to the Radaia "On Mass Media" was adopted that will redtieepermitted level of foreign ownersl
in companies that hold Russian mass media redisigatThe law will come into force on January 11@0by which time each Russian mass
media entity must comply with the requirement than-Russian entities and individuals in the aggeeghall beneficially own or control,
directly or indirectly, no greater than 20% of tiedevant mass media entity. Yandex's principalfiesses in Russia are not currently requir
register as mass media, and therefore this nevislamt applicable to our business. Were a new l&Ww svsimilar regulation to be adopted that
imposed a limitation on foreign ownership of interbusinesses such as ours, or were the mass laedia be amended to require that our
businesses register as mass media or implemeptsase registration for online services, this caelguire a significant change in our opera
or ownership structure, which could materially adedy affect our operations and/or the value of @lass A shares.

Our Yandex.Traffic service is currently istgred as an information agency. We are evaluairegtructuring of this part of our busines
comply with the requirements of the mass media &vd, do not expect that these requirements wilkesbly affect our core business.

33




Table of Contents
Existing restrictions on foreign ownership may prent a takeover of our company by a r-Russian party.

The Russian Federal Law "On the Procedur&dreign Investments in Companies which are &giahlly Important for the State Defense
and National Security" (the "Strategic Companies/')aestricts foreign ownership of companies invaxhin certain strategically important
activities in Russia. The relevant activities ird#uactivities connected with the use of encryptemhnologies that are subject to licensing. The
internet and online advertising are not curremtiyustries specifically covered by the Strategic @anies Law, but there have previously been
draft amendments under consideration by the Ru&tiae Duma, which, if adopted, would include dartaternet companies that have large
audiences within the scope of this law. Amendmeffective as of December 2014 further extendedtiope of the Strategic Companies Law
to include transactions on stock markets and aituns of fixed assets of strategically importaatrgpanies equaling or exceeding 25% of suc
entity's book value as reported in its latest frahstatements.

The Strategic Companies Law requires tler ppproval of a Russian Governmental Commisstaired by the Prime Minister of Russia
or post-transaction notification to the RussiandfatlAnti-Monopoly Service (as the case may be)mdigtaining control over a strategically
important company. For example, under the provisioithe Strategic Companies Law, the direct oir@udl acquisition of more than 25% of
the voting power of a strategically important compar other ability to block decisions of the maeamgnt bodies of a strategically important
company by a foreign state, international orgaioradr entity controlled by a foreign governmentjrgernational organization, or the direct
indirect acquisition of more than 50% of the votpmwver of such a company by any foreign investaryr of its controlled companies,
requires the prior approval of the Russian GoventadléCommission chaired by the Prime Minister. &&lto obtain the required governmel
approval prior to an acquisition would render thguasition null and void. If it is impossible to gy the consequences of invalidity to a void
transaction, the state court may upon the lawsguhleRussian Federal Anti-Monopoly Service adogeaision:

. depriving the foreign investor of its right tote at the shareholders' (participant's) meetirg sifategically important company;
or
. invalidating the decisions of the managemenidmdf a strategically important company adopteerahe establishment of

control in breach of the Strategic Companies Law.

Post-transaction natification to the Rusdtaderal Anti-Monopoly Service is required in ttase of acquisition of 5% or more of the
shares of a strategically important company. Intaad foreign investors or their group companieattare controlled by a foreign state or
international organization are prohibited from omgnimore than 50% of the voting power of a straidmportant company, including join
with other unrelated foreign investors controllgdabforeign state or international organization.

We believe that our Yandex.Money joint weratis covered by the Strategic Companies Law dileg fact that PS Yandex.Money LLC
currently holds encryption licenses which fall visitithe scope of the Strategic Companies Law. Sineeonclusion of our joint venture in
respect of the Yandex.Money business in July 20ll8\fing the sale by Yandex N.V. to Sberbank of 78éss one ruble) of the total
participation interest in PS Yandex.Money LLC , badieve that the applicable restrictions in respégrivate non-Russian persons no longer
apply to Yandex N.V., but that the requirement liéatn prior approval from the Russian Governmenn@ission chaired by the Russian
Prime Minister continue to be applicable to non-$tas state, international organizations or entit@strolled by a non-Russian government or
international organization that would seek to aczgighares of Yandex N.V. or enter into an agreernfeaitwould establish direct or indirect
control over Yandex N.V. and, therefore, triggeplagation of the Strategic Companies Law discusssalve. There is also a risk that some of
the rights granted to Yandex N.V. under the joiemture agreement with Sberbank could be interpigyddussian authorities as establishing
control by Yandex N.V. over
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PS Yandex.Money LLC, which would require the Russgovernmental Commission's preliminary consenafbroader number of
transactions, including by private non-Russian @ess

These restrictions on ownership of our ebavould be in addition to the restrictions on osh# of our shares provided for in our articles
of association. See "—Risks Related to OwnershipuofClass A Shares—Our Board of Directors andpoiarity shareholder have the right to
approve accumulations of stakes in our companhi@sale of our principal Russian operating subsidiahich may prevent or delay change-
of-control transactions," "—Risks Related to owhgrf our Class A Shares—Anti-takeover provisionsur articles of association and the
shareholders agreement among our principal shatetsoinay prevent or delay change-of-control trainwas."

Moreover, because Yandex N.V. holds 25%gjgine ruble) in PS Yandex.Money LLC, there isk that a change of control in respec
Yandex N.V. would still require preliminary consexitthe Central Bank of Russia, as Yandex N.V. ddd considered to indirectly hold more
than 10% of the voting power of a non-banking dredjanization.

Businesses in Russia can be subject to effortsibgricial groups seeking to obtain control throughe exercise of economic or politic
influence or government connections.

Well-funded, well-connected financial greugnd so-called "oligarchs" have, from time to tis@ught to obtain operational control and/ol
controlling or minority interests in attractive lnssses in Russia by means that have been perasvwedying on economic or political
influence or government connections. We may beesiiltp such efforts in the future and, dependingherpolitical influence of the parties
involved, our ability to thwart such efforts may lbaited.

The Russian banking and financial system remainsdeadeveloped than those in some more developed etsrknd a banking crisis could
place liquidity constraints on our business and reatlly adversely affect our business, financialmtition and results of operation:

Russia's banking and other financial systam less well developed and regulated than thioseme more developed markets, and
Russian legislation relating to banks and bank aetsois subject to varying interpretations and irsistent application. Russian banks gene
do not meet international banking standards, aedrinsparency of the Russian banking sector lagmd international norms. In addition, the
United States and European Union have imposeddisd¢tand related sanctions on named Russian hardannection with developments in
Ukraine. See "—The current geopolitical conflictUikraine and related international economic sanstimay continue to adversely affect the
Russian economy and the value of investments isiRuand could harm our business, financial comdliéind results of operations.”

As a result, the banking sector remaingesuilto periodic instability. In 2013 the Centradiik of Russia conducted review of activities
operations of Russian banks, which in certain clsbt withdrawal of banking licenses. Another kiag crisis, or the bankruptcy or
insolvency of banks through which we receive ohwithich we hold funds, may result in the loss of deposits or adversely affect our ability
to complete banking transactions in Russia, whalicchave a material adverse effect on our busjriEggsicial condition and results of
operations.

Some of our counterparties provide limited transparcy in their operations, which could subject usdeeater scrutiny and potential clairr
from government authorities

We do business with a number of compaggecially small companies that do not always dpénaa fully transparent manner and that
may engage in unpredictable or otherwise questienatactices with respect to tax obligations or pbamce with other legal requirements. "
have on occasion been approached by governmertdraigh regarding potential tax claims or other pdiamce matters in connection with st
transactions. As a larger and more transparent anynwith greater

35




Table of Contents

resources than such counterparties, governmerttabigties may seek to collect taxes and/or persafti@n us in relation to such transaction:
the basis that we had knowledge of or aided suattiges even when we did not.

Changes in the Russian tax system or unpredictatieinforeseen application of existing rules may really adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operation:

Russian tax, currency, and customs lawsr@galations are subject to varying interpretatiand changes, which may be frequently
revised and reviewed by the authorities. As a tesut interpretation of such tax legislation maydhallenged by the relevant authorities. For
example, recent major legislative developmentiiénRussian tax regime, such as implementationeoh#w transfer pricing rules, which came
into effect in 2012, anti-offshore and CFC rulebjah came into effect in 2015, to a large extesemsble the OECD approach but may be
implemented in a way which is not in line with imtational practice or our interpretation. Moreowerder the current conditions of weak
economic growth and reduced tax revenue, the atitteoare taking more assertive position in theieipretation of the tax legislation and, as ¢
result, it is possible that transactions and atitivithat have not been challenged in the pastmaybe put under question by the authorities.
High-profile companies such as ours can be pastitul/ulnerable to such assertive position of théharities.

Although we believe that our interpretatadirelevant legislation is appropriate and isée@dance with existing court practice, if the
authorities were successful in enforcing differinggrpretations, our tax liability may become gesdhan the estimated amount that we have
expensed to date and paid or accrued on our basdeet.

Generally, Russian taxpayers are subjeictsfpection of their activities for a period ofeékrcalendar years immediately preceding the ye:
in which an audit is carried out, with a tax auddstinely undertaken at least every two years. [ketax audit of our principal Russian
operating subsidiary covering 2010, 2011 and 2042 eompleted in 2014, which means that activities po December 31, 2012 are
effectively closed to a tax audit. However, a higiaex authority may conduct an audit for the finahgear ending December 31, 2012.

Taxes payable on dividends from our Russian opargtsubsidiaries to our parent company might not lefih from relief under the
Netherland-Russia tax treaty.

In 2014, our principal Russian operatingssdiary distributed limited dividends to our parenmpany (Yandex N.V.) and applied
withholding tax at a 5% rate in reliance on thevisions of the Netherlands-Russia tax treaty.

Yandex N.V. is incorporated in the Netheda and our principal operating subsidiaries atenmorated in Russia. Our management seek
to ensure that we conduct our affairs in such ameathat our parent company is not regarded agetddent in any jurisdiction other than the
Netherlands and, in particular, is not deemed ta tax resident of, or to have a permanent estabést in, Russia. Thus, dividends paid fr
our Russian operating subsidiaries to our paremipemy should generally be subject to Russian withihg tax at a 5% rate. If our parent
company were not treated as a Dutch resident xopugposes or if it were deemed to have a permagstablishment in Russia, or if the
Russian tax authorities were to determine thatratbeditions for the application of the 5% rate ao¢ met, dividends paid from our Russian
operating subsidiaries to our parent company wbeldubject to Russian withholding tax at the r&t&586.

Moreover, one of the requirements for apyywithholding tax at a rate of 5% of dividend-denthe Russian-Dutch Double Tax Treaty i
that the income recipient should be the benefmiater of the income. Effective from January 20h%, definition of "beneficial owner" of
income for the purposes of application of doubjettaaties was introduced into the Russian Tax CAdeording to the introduced definition
company is considered a beneficial owner of incifreach person, by virtue of
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direct and/or indirect participation in an entity,control over an entity, or other circumstandess the right to use and/or dispose of this
income, or for the benefit of which another persoantitled to use the income received. In otherdspthis is a company that actually benefits
from the income paid and determines its furtheneatc destiny. In this case, all the functions ieaiout by such persons as well as the
existing powers and the risks taken in respedi@fiicome paid should be taken into considerafioRussian entity is entitled to request a
confirmation from a foreign entity that the lattexs the beneficial right to receive the correspagdicome. If beneficial ownership
requirements are not met, application of the 5%atding tax rate may be challenged by the taxaittas.

Russian tax rules are characterized hyifiggnt ambiguities and limited interpretive guid&nand are subject to change, and we can
provide no assurance that dividend withholdingridief may not be challenged by the Russian takarittes based on the grounds mentioned
above. Furthermore, Russian tax rules regardiridersy and beneficial ownership which were receimisoduced, may change or
interpretation may change, thus triggering chargésxation of dividends from our Russian subsiésto our parent company in the future.

The recently adopted anti-offshore and madleid foreign corporation (CFC) rules that cami ieffect in 2015 are generally ambiguous
and lacking sufficient interpretive guidance. Basadhe current state of the law, we do not argiggecognition of Russian tax residence as
Yandex N.V. does not have any artificial and nohssantive structures without assets and qualifexdgnnel, and is managed by a Board of
Directors consisting principally of non-Russianidesits. Also, based on the presently availablepnétation, we believe that Yandex N.V. and
our material subsidiaries should not be recogn&e@FCs in 2015. However, there are risks thatlaese rules may be interpreted or applied
in a manner that may have an adverse effect onesults of operations.

We may be required to record a significant deferrex liability if we are unable to reinvest our eaings in Russia.

Our principal Russian operating subsidizayg significant accumulated earnings that havdeen distributed to the Dutch parent
company. Our current policy is to retain substdiytel our earnings at the level of our princigaibsidiary for investment in Russia.

We did not provide for dividend withholditaxes on the unremitted earnings of our non-Datdfsidiaries in 2013 or earlier years
because we considered them to be permanently stat/eutside of the Netherlands. In the first qerast 2014, we began to accrue for a 5%
dividend withholding tax on the portion of the anit year profit of our principal Russian operatiudpsidiary that we considered not to be
permanently reinvested in Russia. As of Decembef@14, we had an accrual of RUR 460 million ($®iftion) for dividend withholding tax.
If circumstances change and we are unable to rsiveéhat subsidiary's current operations or aegsiiitable businesses in Russia, U.S. G.
would require us to record a deferred tax liabitgpresenting the dividend withholding taxes thatwould be required to pay if this subsidiary
were to pay these unremitted accumulated earningartDutch parent company as a dividend, eveudh slividends were not actually
declared and paid. As of December 31, 2014, theutatime amount of unremitted earnings in respecattoith dividend withholding taxes ha
not been provided is RUR 44,787 million. The amdlie withholding tax rate is 5% and the amounhefunrecognized deferred tax liability
related to these unremitted earnings was RUR 2y@B®n as of December 31, 2014. We expect the athofiunremitted earnings to grow as
our principal Russian operating subsidiary continieegenerate net income. If we were required¢onga deferred tax liability on an amount
subsequently made available for distribution it rhaye a material adverse effect on our resultpefations.
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Ambiguities in Russian law regarding payments talimiduals who are Yandex ad network partners magate employmerrelated tax
obligations or require us to limit network partneng and may adversely affect our business, finara@andition and results of operations.

Ambiguities in Russian law make it diffictib structure payments to third-party individus Russian tax purposes. Many of our Yande:
ad network partners are individuals who own andateeheir own websites. We have contractual miatiips with third parties, including
advertising agencies, who act as aggregators atarihike payments to individual Yandex ad networkneas for fees to which they are
entitled in connection with the ads we serve oir thebsites. In the event that an aggregator failmake any required tax withholding or
otherwise comply with applicable laws in respecswth payments, the authorities might seek to tsliable for personal and social taxes or
VAT, and may not accept our deduction of these Bg@s, as the tax authorities claimed in our taxtdodthe years 2010-2012. In 2014, we
stopped our cooperation with aggregators butpbissible that the tax authorities may make claimngtfe prior open years 2013 and 2014.

Risks in other countries

In addition to Russia, we currently havemions in other countries in the CIS, includingréine, Belarus and Kazakhstan. We may
acquire or establish additional operations in adid#l countries of the CIS. In many respects, tblesrinherent in conducting business in these
countries are similar to those in Russia set oavab

Risks Related to Ownership of our Class A Shares

The price of our Class A shares has been and mangtice to be volatile. Market fluctuations specifio Russia or developing markets or to
high-growth technology companies generally may aff¢he performance of our Class A shares and coalpose us to potential securities
litigation, which could result in substantial costsnd a diversion of our management's attention aresources.

Macroeconomic events in Russia in receribgde have adversely affected the value of tradedrities of companies with significant
operations in Russia, including our Class A shdreaddition, the market for technology and othewgh companies has generally experier
severe price and volume fluctuations that havendfieen disproportionate to the operating performaritchose companies. These broad
macroeconomic, market and industry factors may chife market price of our Class A shares regasddésur actual operating performance.

The trading price of our Class A sharesbeen and may continue to be volatile and subgeatide fluctuations in price in response to
various factors, some of which are beyond our cbntthese factors include:

. macroeconomic and geopolitical developments;

. quarterly variations in our results of operationshmse of our competitors;

. fluctuations in our share of the internet searchkeia

. announcements of technological innovations or newises and media properties by us or our compsfito
. the emergence of new advertising channels in wivielare unable to compete effectively;

. changes in governmental regulations;

. disruption to our operations or those of our pagne

. our ability to develop and launch new and enbdraervices on a timely basis;

. commencement of, or our involvement in, litigati
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. any major change in our directors or management;

. changes in earnings estimates or recommendatiossdwyities analysts;

. the operating and stock price performance of atberpanies that investors may deem comparable torus;

. general global or Russian economic conditions & er negative growth or forecast growth of rethtearkets.

Additionally, volatility or a lack of posite performance in the price of our Class A shanay adversely affect our ability to retain key
employees, some of whom have been granted equéydaw

In the past, following periods of volatjliin the overall market and the market price ocbmpany's securities, securities class action
litigation has often been instituted against thesapanies. Such litigation, if instituted against could result in substantial costs and a
diversion of our management's attention and regsurc

This volatility may affect the price at whiholders of Class A shares may sell such shageghe sale of substantial amounts of our
Class A shares could adversely affect the pricauofClass A shares.

The concentration of voting power with our principahareholders, including our founders, directorsid senior management, limit your
ability to influence corporate matters.

Our Class B shares have ten votes per simareur Class A shares have one vote per shamef. March 15, 2015, our founders, directors
and senior management (and their affiliates) tagredfvn 80.77% of our outstanding Class B shareslaé2fibo of our outstanding Class A
shares, representing in the aggregate 57.17% ofotiitey power of our outstanding shares. In paldicwour founder, Mr. Volozh, directly or
indirectly controls 56.62% of our outstanding Cl8sshares representing 39.81% of the voting poWweupoutstanding shares. For the
foreseeable future, therefore, our founder, dimscteenior management and their affiliates willdnaignificant influence over the management
and affairs of our company and over all mattersimirng shareholder approval, including the electidlirectors, the amendment of our artic
of association and significant corporate transastisuch as a sale of our company or its assetswBe of this multiple class structure, these
persons will continue to exert significant influenaver all matters submitted to our shareholderafproval even if they come to own fewer
than 50% of our outstanding shares by number.

In addition, our principal shareholders pagties to a shareholders agreement that, amadieg thtings, requires them to vote to elect those
directors nominated by our Board of Directors flecéon or re-election, and limits their ability vote in favor of amendments of the anti-
takeover provisions of our articles of associatibimis concentrated control limits your ability tifluence decisions on corporate matters. We
may take actions that our public shareholders dwiewv as beneficial or as maximizing value forrthés a result, the market price of our
Class A shares may be adversely affected.

Our Board of Directors and our priority shareholddrave the right to approve accumulations of stake®ur company or the sale of our
principal Russian operating subsidiary, which maygwvent or delay chanc-of-control transactions.

Our Board of Directors has the right, agtioy simple majority, to approve the accumulatigratparty, group of related parties or parties
acting in concert of the legal or beneficial owmgpsof shares representing 25% or more, in numbgoting power, of our outstanding Clas:
and Class B shares (taken together). If our boeadtg its approval of such share accumulationpthter is then submitted to the holder of out
priority share, which has a further right of apmbef such
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accumulation of shares. In addition, any decisipolr Board of Directors to transfer all or subsly all of our assets to one or more third
parties, including the sale of our principal Russi@erating subsidiary, is subject to the priorrapal of the priority shareholder.

Any holding, transfer or acquisition by arfy, group of related parties or parties actingancert of the legal or beneficial ownership of
Class B shares representing 25% or more, in nuotiay voting power, of our outstanding Class A &idss B shares (taken together), witt
the prior approval of our Board of Directors, firahd then the priority shareholder, will be nuitlasoid. The acquisition of shares in excess of
the thresholds permitted by our articles of assmriawill be subject to certain naotification regaiments set forth in our articles of association.
Failure to comply with those terms would rendertti@sfer of such shares null and void. In addjttbe holders of such shares would not be
entitled to the dividend or voting rights attachedheir excess shares. The rights of our Boaidifctors and our priority shareholder to
approve accumulations of stakes in our company pnayent or delay change-of-control transactions.

Anti-takeover provisions in our articles of associatiand the shareholders agreement among our princighbreholders may prevent or
delay change-of-control transactions.

In addition to the rights of our board aridhe priority shareholder to approve the accutiuteof stakes of 25% or more, as described
above, our multiple class share structure may disge others from initiating any potential mergakeover or other change-of-control
transaction that our public shareholders may visweneficial. Our articles of association also aonadditional provisions that may have the
effect of making a takeover of our company morédlift or less attractive, including:

. the staggered three-year terms of our directora,rasult of which only one-third of our directe@r® subject to election in any
one year;
. a provision that our directors may only be regby a two-thirds majority of votes cast repreisgnat least 50% of our

outstanding share capital;

. the authorization of a class of preference shdwa@snay be issued by our Board of Directors in suatanner as to dilute the
interest of any potential acquirer;

. requirements that certain matters, including anradme=nt of our articles of association, may onlbheught to our shareholders
for a vote upon a proposal by our Board of Dirextor

. minimum shareholding thresholds, based on plareydor shareholders to call general meetingsunfshareholders or to add
items to the agenda for those meetings, whichheilvery difficult for Class A shareholders to mgieen our multiple class
share structure; and

. supermajority requirements for shareholder approfakrtain significant corporate actions, incluglthe legal merger or
demerger of our company and the amendment of digtesr of association.

In addition, the provisions of the sharelens agreement described above could have tha effpreventing or delaying a takeover of our
company.

The Dutch public offer rules, which impaséstantive and procedural requirements in conmeetith the attempted takeover of a Dutch
public company, only apply in the case of Dutcly¢éharcompanies that have shares listed on a reguiadeket within the European Union. We
have not listed our shares, and do not expecstolir shares, on a regulated market within thean Union, and therefore these rules dc
apply to any public offer for our Class A shares.
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We rely on NASDAQ Stock Market rules that permit tescomply with applicable Dutch corporate goverr@anpractices, rather than the
corresponding domestic U.S. corporate governancagtices, and therefore your rights as a shareholdkffer from the rights you would
have as a shareholder of a domestic U.S. issuer.

As a foreign private issuer whose sharedisted on the NASDAQ Global Select Market, we peemitted in certain cases to follow Du
corporate governance practices instead of the smorading requirements of the NASDAQ MarketplaceeRuWe follow Dutch corporate
governance practices with regard to the quorumireopents applicable to meetings of shareholdergtlamgrovision of proxy statements for
general meetings of shareholders. In accordand¢eitch law and generally accepted business pesgtaur articles of association do not
provide quorum requirements generally applicablgeioeral meetings of shareholders. Although werdeige shareholders with an agenda
and other relevant documents for the general mgefishareholders, Dutch law does not have a regylaegime for the solicitation of proxi
and the solicitation of proxies is not a generaltgepted business practice in the Netherlands.rdoaly, our shareholders may not be
afforded the same protection as provided under NAQB corporate governance rules.

We do not comply with all the provisions of the RhtCorporate Governance Code. This may affect yaghts as a shareholder.

As a Dutch company we are subject to theeCorporate Governance Code, or DCGC. The DCGfaaws both principles and best
practice provisions for management boards, supmsvisoards, shareholders and general meetingsapésblders, financial reporting, auditors,
disclosure, compliance and enforcement standalis DICGC applies to all Dutch companies listed gowernment-recognized stock
exchange, whether in the Netherlands or elsewharielding the NASDAQ Global Select Market. The miples and best practice provisions
apply to the board (in relation to role and composj conflicts of interest and independency regmients, board committees and
remuneration), shareholders and the general meetisigareholders (for example, regarding anti-takeprotection and obligations of the
company to provide information to its shareholders) financial reporting (such as external auditad internal audit requirements). The
DCGC requires that companies either "comply or @&xplany noncompliance and, in light of our comptia with NASDAQ requirements and
as permitted by the DCGC, we have elected not naptp with all of the provisions of the DCGC. Thisagnaffect your rights as a shareholder
and you may not have the same level of protectioa shareholder in a Dutch company that fully caasplith the DCGC.

Because of the secondary listing of our Class A ison the Moscow Stock Exchange, we are subjeetdditional disclosure ant
compliance requirements that may conflict with themémposed by the SEC and NASDAQ, and we may expeedrade fluctuations based
on arbitrage activities.

In June 2014, we established a secondstipdiof our Class A shares on the Moscow Stockirge. Pursuant to that listing, we and ou
insiders must comply with certain disclosure arfteobbligations that may differ in timing and swste from those applicable to our
NASDAQ listing. In addition, many of the obligatisimposed by the Moscow Stock Exchange are forti@alisnature, and that exchange |
limited experience in the application of its reguirents to companies incorporated outside Russia.rAsult, we may not be able to comply
with all formal obligations in a manner that is stmtent with the requirements or interpretationthat exchange.

In addition, this secondary listing mayateeopportunities for trading arbitrage, particiylam connection with currency fluctuations
between the trading in U.S. dollars on NASDAQ amdubles on the Moscow Stock Exchange, which caufghct the trading price of our
Class A shares.
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Risks for U.S. Holders

We cannot assure you that we will not be classifeesia passive foreign investment company for aryatale year, which may result in
adverse U.S. federal income tax consequence to bdBlers.

Based on certain management estimatesresghect to our gross income and average valuerafross assets and on the nature of our
business, we believe that we were not a "passiggio investment company,” or PFIC, for U.S. fetlareome tax purposes for the 2014 tax
year, and do not expect to be a PFIC in the foeddeduture. However, because our PFIC statusrfptaxable year will depend on t
composition of our income and assets and the \afloer assets in such year, and because thisistaal determination made annually after
end of each taxable year and there are uncertsintighe application of the rules, there can basgurance that we will not be considered a
PFIC for the current taxable year or any futuratd& year. In particular, the value of our assety be determined in large part by reference t
the market price of our Class A shares, which Haatuated, and may continue to fluctuate, sigaifitty. If we were to be treated as a PFIC
any taxable year during which a U.S. holder held@ass A shares, certain adverse U.S. federahiedax consequences could apply to the
U.S. holder. See "Taxation—Taxation in the Unit¢at&—U.S. federal income tax consequences toHdl8ers—Passive foreign investment
company considerations."

Any U.S. or other foreign judgments you may obtaigainst us may be difficult to enforce against usRussia or the Netherland:

We have only very limited operations in theited States, most of our assets are locatedigsiR, our company is incorporated in the
Netherlands, and most of our directors and senaragement are located outside the United Statea.rédsult, it may be difficult to sen
process on us or these persons within the Unitak&tAlthough arbitration awards are generallperdable in Russia and the Netherlands,
and Russian courts may elect to enforce foreigmtgodgments as a matter of international recigyoand judicial comity, you should note tt
judgments obtained in the United States or in oftwegign courts, including those with respect t&Ufederal securities law claims, may not
enforceable in Russia or the Netherlands. Theme imiutual recognition treaty between the UnitedeStand the Russian Federation or the
Netherlands, and no Russian federal law or Dutehplieovides for the recognition and enforcementooéfgn court judgments. Therefore
may be difficult to enforce any U.S. or other fgmeicourt judgment obtained against our company,cdyr operating subsidiaries or any of
our directors in Russia or the Netherlands.

The rights and responsibilities of our shareholdesise governed by Dutch law and differ in some impsomt respects from the rights and
responsibilities of shareholders under U.S. law.

Our corporate affairs are governed by aticlas of association and by the laws governingiganies incorporated in the Netherlands. Th
responsibilities of members of our Board of Direstander Dutch law are different than under theslafvsome U.S. jurisdictions. In the
performance of its duties, our Board of Directarsdquired by Dutch law to consider the intere§tgamdex, its shareholders, its employees
and other stakeholders and not only those of carestolders. Also, as a Dutch company, we are rpfined to solicit proxies or prepare proxy
statements for general meetings of shareholders.

In addition, the rights of our shareholdans governed by Dutch law and our articles of eiasion, and differ from the rights of
shareholders under U.S. law. For example, Dutchdag@s not grant appraisal rights to a company'seelbéders who wish to challenge the
consideration to be paid upon a merger or congididaf the company.
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Item 4. Information on the Company.
History and Development of the Company; Organizat# Structure.

Our founders began the development of earch technology in 1989, and launched the yandevebsite in 1997. Our principal Russian
operating subsidiary, Yandex LLC, was formed in@0s a wholly owned subsidiary of our former Cgpparent company. In 2007, we
undertook a corporate restructuring, as a resultti€h Yandex N.V. became the parent company ofgooup. Yandex N.V. is a Dutch public
company with limited liability. Its registered afé is at Schiphol Boulevard 165, 1118 BG, Schiptia,Netherlands (tel: +31-20-206-6970).
The executive offices of our principal operatingpsidiary are located at 16, Leo Tolstoy Street, 8d#s119021, Russian Federation (tel. +7-
495-739-7000).

For a discussion of our principal acquisi and disposals in 2014, see "Operating and Ei@aReview and Prospects—Recent
Acquisitions—Recent Disposals."

Business Overvie\
Our Business

Yandex is one of the largest European im@ecompanies and the leading search provider gsi@uYandex's mission is to help users s
their everyday problems by building people-cenpricducts and services. Based on innovative teclgiespwe provide the most relevant,
locally tailored experience on all digital platfasrand devices. Yandex also serves Turkey, Ukr&akrus and Kazakhstan. We generated
60.9% of all search traffic in Russia in 2014 aB8dS6 in March 2015, according to Liveinternet.and in December 2014 our Yandex sites
attracted 67.8 million unique visitors in Russiagd 3.3 million in Turkey, according to comScore MMn December 2014, Yandex websites
attracted 9.8 million unique visitors in Ukraineda5 million in Belarus, according to Gemius, &2 million in Kazakhstan, according to
TNS.

We utilize our capabilities in applied matatics and data analysis and our in-depth knowledghe languages, cultures and preference
of internet users in our markets to develop advdsearch technology and information retrieval smwi We also aggregate and organize
extensive local, national and international contert offer a broad range of additional services. $@arch and many of our services are
location-based and are available in apps and brovessions tailored for mobile and other digitafbrms and devices.

Benefiting from Russia's long-standing ediomal focus on mathematics and engineering, we deawn upon the considerable local
talent pool to create a leading technology compgoy.over 20 years, our founding team has beenloleing and optimizing search
technology, which has formed the core of our bussrend helped Yandex become one of the best knamil®in Russia. Our users are our
first priority, and we are committed to advancing technology to continuously improve their interagperience.

Our search engine uses our proprietaryridifgos to provide relevant results, which we stouetand present in an editorially neutral and
user-friendly manner. With a focus on our princigabgraphic markets, our search technology allasw® provide local search results in more
than 1,500 cities. We also feature "parallel" seawnhich presents on a single page the results brotm our main web index and our special
information resources, including news, shoppinggbl images and videos. We offer convenient adoessr search engine through personal
computers, mobile phones, tablets, and navigatoinogher digital devices. We also offer a wide enfspecialized search, personalized and
location-based services, including Yandex.News,déarMarket, Yandex.Mail, Yandex.Maps and YandexoAut
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Our homepage provides a gateway to thetlvedinformation available online. Users can famtswers to their explicit questions through
our search box, as well as their implicit questitmeugh current news, weather and road traffioresp TV and movie schedules, personal
email and other services. Our homepage can easitystomized by users to address their indivichtalrésts.

We derive substantially all of our revenéresn online advertising. We enable advertiserdefiver targeted, cost-effective ads that are
relevant to our users' needs, interests and latatMost of our revenues are derived from text-hashvertising, which uses keywords selectec
by our advertisers to deliver ads based on a péaticiser query, the content of a website or webming viewed, or user behavior or
characteristics. We derive a smaller portion of mwenues from display advertising, which prindipabnsists of graphical ads that appear on
specific webpages. Our ads are clearly marked emdeparate from our organic search results amd fihe content of the webpages on which
they may also appear. We do not serve intrusivesagth as "pop-ups,” that might detract from owrsisexperience.

In addition to serving ads on our own skassults and other webpages, we deliver ads tththesands of third-party websites that make
up our Yandex ad network. Through our ad netwoik generate revenue for both our network partnetsuiarand extend the audience reach c
our advertisers. Our Yandex.Direct service, thgdat automated, auction-based system for the pkaeof text-based advertising in Russia,
makes it easy for advertisers to bid for desireghards and to obtain the best price for their &ds.served ads for 317,000 advertisers in the
fourth quarter of 2014 and 558,000 in the full y2@t4, compared with 277,000 in the fourth quasfe2013 and 460,000 in the full year 2013.

Our Services for Users

We offer a broad range of search, locatiased, personalized and mobile services that eegtdrour users and that enable them to find
relevant and objective information quickly and 8aand to communicate and connect over the intefran both their desktops and mobile
devices.

Yandex Search

Our search engine offers almost instantas@acess to the vast range of information avalabline. We utilize linguistics, mathematics
and statistical analysis to develop proprietaryatgms that efficiently extract, compile, systeiratand present relevant information to users.
Our organic search results are ranked by complgeritnms based exclusively on relevance, and wart} segregate organic results from
results to avoid confusing our users. Our advedisiervices do not affect the way we generaterde oarr organic search results because we ¢
not accept payment for rankings or for inclusiomim organic search results, or allow parties §tpanclude additional pages in our web
indexes. Our anti-spam protection detects and doadsg pages with low informational content, madeafivertising and "doorway" sites,
pages with pop-under banners, content farms amgbedrcontent pages. We do not manipulate or imtevfigh our search algorithms in order
to favor paid or affiliated sites or services, udihg those of our Yandex ad network partners,dmdot adjust for political censorship. We
supplement the results from our main web index weults from our "parallel" search system, whit#nds listings from all available Yandex
specialized and vertical searches according to thkitive relevance, such as Yandex.News, Yandark®t, Yandex.Maps, Yandex.Auto,
Yandex.Realty, Yandex.Music, Yandex.Images and ¥anddeo. Yandex search is responsive to real-tjoeries, recognizing when a query
requires the most current information, such askinganews or the most recent post on Twitter omsigular topic, and presenting these res
graphically separated from other search results.

We are also increasingly focusing on sawglvorking search, and have enhanced the soaigba@oent of search by integrating data from
the largest Russian social networks, including Vi&ate,
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LiveJournal and Odnoklassniki, as well as thefldid of all public posts on Twitter. In 2014, wenaonced our agreement with Facebook,
which provides us with full access to the socidalvaek's "fire hose" of public data. Public contémm Facebook users in Russia, Ukraine,
Belarus, Kazakhstan, other CIS countries and Tuikeyailable for indexing by Yandex as soon dm# been published.

We also offer personalized search thatiges/search suggestions as well as search resaitare highly aligned with individual interests
of our users. Our Spectrum search technology igded to capture the entire range of possible nmgmnibased on query statistics. We seek t
enhance our search capabilities by regularly exipgnolur algorithms to process additional languageduding most European languages, and
our index of international webpages. We continupstiive to develop innovative new concepts for seairch engine, in addition to existing
programs and concepts, such as Dublin, Island#\éord. Dublin offers users better personalized dessdased on both their short-term and
longterm interests. Islands allows our users to intesdth websites directly from the search enginestsgpage where answers are present
the forms of blocks accommodating various kindsffrmation including texts, videos, pictures, antractive information. Atom allows any
web resource to be personalized, even if a usendiagsited the web resource before but has akdustory at Yandex.

Mobile Search and Applications

We offer our search and many other seniit@sobile browser versions and apps designedrfapdimal user experience on mobile
devices. We support mobile phones, tablet devinésrnet-connected TVs and navigation devices. ¥arnis currently included as the default
search engine on certain mobile handsets sold &siRuand as one of the search options in thei®atawser on Apple devices running iOS7
and iOS8. Our services and applications are altalolited by a number of OEMs, retailers, browseakens, and telecom operators in Russia.
We believe that these efforts are an importantgfastir overall marketing strategy and serve toease our user base.

We offer a number of apps for mobile desingnning iOS, Android and Windows Phone operagiyggems. The largest of them are
Yandex.Browser and Yandex.Search, Yandex.Maps, &ahhvigator, Yandex.Metro, Kinopoisk, Yandex.M3kndex.Store,
Yandex.Transport, Yandex.Weather, Yandex.MarketAand.ru. Other popular apps include Yandex.Diskn¥ex.Music, Yandex.Timetabl
Yandex.Translate, Yandex.Taxi and Yandex.Kinoafishla are continuing to expand the scope of our raalfering with respect to both apps
and platforms and offer a number of popular appagéa. Transport, Auto.ru and Yandex.Taxi being ammmgmost rapidly growing apps in
terms of number of monthly users in 2014.

Yandex.Transport.  Our mobile application that provides publiowport schedules, with real-time information ane farrival times. We
launched it in 13 Russian cities in spring 2014} added Moscow in early 2015. After the launch ioslgbw, the number of monthly active
users more than tripled, and Yandex.Transport edttite Top-20 list of the mobile apps we offer.

Auto.ru.  We completed the acquisition of Auto.ru in 2624 and have continued to improve its mobile gmes and monetization, mi
than doubling mobile usage of this service. Weargithed mobile apps for iOS and Android in 2014.

Yandex.Taxi. Our online taxi service processed several omlbbrders in 2014; approximately 90% of them wedered through the
mobile app.

The percentage of our total search traffat was generated from mobile devices increased &pproximately 16% in the further quarter
of 2013 to approximately 24% in the fourth quad&R014, while the percentage of our total revergergerated from mobile devices increasec
from approximately 12% to approximately 18% betwterse periods.
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Yandex Homepage

Our homepage provides a gateway to thettwedinformation available online. Users can femtswers to their explicit questions through
our search box, as well as to their implicit quassithrough current news, weather and road tregfiorts, TV and movie schedules, and other
services. We also offer localized homepages focifipgeographic markets. We launched our Ukraifiamepage yandex.ua in 2005, our
Kazakh homepage yandex.kz in 2009, our Belarusiameipage yandex.by in 2010 and our Turkish homepagédex.com.tr in 2011. Yandex
automatically detects users' locations based anlthe@ddresses and defaults to the relevant logadepage. We are focused on providing an
increasing amount of content in the local languaue believe that we provide better support forlliteraguage search in these markets than ot
competitors.

Specialized Search Services
In addition to our core search engine, fierdhe following specialized search services:

. Yandex.News. Our news aggregation and information service ptost visited online news aggregation service issy
providing a comprehensive media overview for ous$tan, Ukrainian and Turkish audiences. We aggeegad present local,
national and international news, currently from entiran 6,600 news sources worldwide. The selecfiorews is fully
automated and neutral from an editorial perspective

. Kinopoisk.ru. The largest Russian language website dedicatewtaes, television programs and celebrities. Tdeise
allows users to read expert and ugenerated film reviews, discover the most populavies, watch trailers, get movie news
personalized recommendations, as well as show @medickets.

. Yandex.Musicis our music streaming service, which is offerethath a web service and an app for all three najabile
platforms. It offers millions of tracks from bothajor global publishers and indie groups. In 20h#a recommendation tool
was implemented to help users navigate the vasbeuof songs and albums as well as to discovermasic. The web version
can be enjoyed for free, while the mobile app afteaisic "radio” functionality free of charge anHestfunctions, including
music downloads, for a monthly fee after a triaiiqe

. Yandex.Master. A new service through which users can quickly effi¢iently find local professionals to do workoand their
homes including cleaning, renovations, plumbing athetr handiwork.

. Auto.ru. One of the most popular automobile-related webdit Russia, operating the largest and most ddtalbssifieds
catalog for new and used cars in Russia.

. Other Specialized Search We provide numerous other targeted and seaseaadtsservices, including for images, video,
music, television, weather, jobs, transportati@rs@nd real estate.

Personal Services

Yandex.Mail. Yandex.Mail provides users with fast and easeas to their email accounts, featuring a dynarsés interface and
social authentication via their accounts on VKotgakdnoklassniki, Facebook, Google, Mail.ru or fievi A number of features are available
to enhance users' experience, including threadeédiatihreaded views; direct access to Yandex.Digkdéx.Money, and other Yandex'
services; auto-tagging, which automatically recagaiand tags certain types of emails (for exantiptese from social networks, e-tickets and
calendar events); smart first lines, which allows wsers to see the first line of any email inttl@ox without having to open it; and Address
Book, which recognizes both Latin and Cyrillic tstiterations of names, and
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aggregates all emails from the same sender regardfahe language used. Yandex.Mail also feammasmsubscribe button allowing users to
opt out from mailing lists in a single click.

Our Yandex.Mail app is available to Andraigd iPhone users. We introduced a new versioneo¥andex.Mail app for Android in
September 2014 and for iOS in April 2015. It allawe®rs to work with multiple email accounts, fileard sort emails using Marker, our
machine-learning technology that can recognizenaaildype, and compose emails offline, and offemumber of other features. Our mobile
"push-email" technology allows for the instantaredelivery of new emails to mobile inboxes. Yandeil also offers users the ability to
create personal domain email accounts, with alféa&ures available to users of Yandex.Mail.

We seek to offer email free of spam andsass, and our users can choose not to view adgservice. Our users' accounts are protecte
by our proprietary server-side spam filtering siolut which performs comprehensive analysis of thods of email properties, measuring their
significance and ensuring precise filtering of sparmile distinguishing legitimate emails includitegitimate automated or list mails. Our sg
filter also adaptively "learns" a user's persomafgrences so that it can effectively include tieffiout emails based on their individual history.
Our proprietary Marker technology recognizes ddfdrtypes of correspondence such as notificatiam ocial networks and internet stores,
electronic tickets or notices about discounts, @fifiers the user appropriate tools to work with thiéems.

Yandex.Disk. Our Yandex.Disk service is a cloud-based s®smgvice that allows users to upload, store, agadshare files in various
formats and sizes. Users can store photos, videdsouments online so that they can be accessatyanoment from any device—PC, laptop,
tablet or smartphone. Yandex.Disk provides usetis tobls such as editing screenshots, addingdil@photos, listening to music files and
watching videos via its platform. The Yandex.Diskbile app is available for iOS, Android-based antd@ws Phone smartphones. With the
Yandex.Disk app, working with files and folders @lso be managed offline. The app's interface @lsws users to post photos from social
networks and store photo albums in Yandex.Disk.déarDisk also serves as a basis for our YandexeRdr@r Move) service which helps
users transfer all their data when changing theipita devices.

Maps and Location-based Services

Yandex.Maps. Our Yandex.Maps provide high-quality, detaifedps of more than 1,100 cities and towns in Rumsiamore than 240
cities in Ukraine, Kazakhstan and Belarus, as a&k detailed map of Turkey. In addition to graphitaps, we offer satellite images and
hybrid maps (an amalgamation of satellite imagesgaphic maps), panoramic views, public transpioraoutes and driving directions in
browsers and mobile device applications.

Our mobile version of Yandex.Maps allowsnssto determine their location, find nearby busaes, monitor traffic conditions along
particular routes and determine the best routeschas real-time traffic updates. Mobile Yandex.Mapavailable on a variety of mobile
platforms. We believe that Yandex.Maps is amongnbst popular mobile applications in Russia.

Yandex.Maps is also available via applmagrogramming interfaces, or APIs, which allow vaglyelopers to embed and use interactive
maps in third-party websites for free, togetheihvtite ability to add extra layers of information—+&xample, to offer a map showing the
location of a restaurant or a hotel.

We have partnerships with local directotlest allow us to integrate local business listilgsommendations and user reviews in our
maps. Our Geo-Direct Business Directory servicdlsaadvertisers to pay for premium placement @depto enable users to find them more
easily.
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We use our technology and licenses to eraatl edit maps from raw data, including sateiliiteges, GPS tracks and live user feedback.
Our in-house team of skilled cartographers allos/soukeep our maps fresh and up-to-date and to loifation-based services to our users.
This service also integrates our Public Map, a dreaurced service that presents user-generateldnhaqes and data.

We also offer real-time traffic congestimonitoring in key cities through Yandex.Trafficetmost popular service of its kind in Russia,
featuring detailed maps supporting the route plagnféature for the majority of large cities in therld on both desktop and mobile. We were
the first service of this kind in Russia, and wéeye one of the first in the world, to use GPSadadm users' mobile devices (in anonymous
form and with user consent) in assembling our tiead- congestion information.

Yandex.Navigator. Yandex.Navigator is our free standalone maodjiplication providing turn by turn navigation amd¢arporating our
real-time traffic information.

Yandex.Taxi. Yandex.Taxiis one of the most popular onli@weé booking services in Moscow and is available imumber of other
cities across Russia. Today the service works st 100 Russian taxi companies. The number ofrsrfdlem mobile devices is continuously
growing and now represents more than 90% of akisraithin the service.

Yandex.City. In 2014, we launched Yandex.City, an app, mhoy info on businesses and organizations in Ru¥siadex.City
currently has one of the largest databases ofras@ws of companies and organizations in Russ@vigeed by both partner companies and
individual users. With its own fact-extraction tadhogy, Yandex.City analyzes users' comments add #de most valuable information on the
service.

Yandex.Transport. In March 2014 we launched our Yandex.Transpatile app providing users with real-time data ablc
transport in a number of Russian cities. With Yan@ieansport users can check when a bus, tram keytbus they are waiting for will arrive at
their stop and where it is now. Early in 2015 Mosamas added to the list of supported cities.

Yandex.Browser

Our browser makes surfing the internet safid convenient. It is based on the Chromium opence license, Yandex's own technologies
and cloud-based services. The WebKit engine, stipgdry many browser developers, is supplementedgsra Software's Turbo technology,
which we license, speeding up the download of pages with slow connections. It also features Yatedproprietary anti-virus protection as
well as built-in Kaspersky Labs's secure systent.lfdowser also provides our proprietary translatiapabilities. Yandex.Browser is also able
to re-establish broken file loading, has an autarally compiled tableau menu, synchronization bemvdesktop and mobile versions, and
"quick call" capability, among other things. Weatsfer mobile versions of Yandex.Browser for iO®laAndroid smartphones and tablets.

In November 2014 we introduced a new, stitgged alpha version of our browser. It reflects turrent trend in web user experience
putting an emphasis on interaction and person#izalt is designed to respond to all the curresgds of a web user, which are no longer
limited to mere browsing, but now also include ghiog, reading websites in a foreign language, aukimg flights, trains, taxis, hotel rooms
and restaurant tables.

Yandex.Browser also serves as an instéminration source providing answers to some of tlestrpopular queries. After typing a search
in the browser's smartbox, the user can see aardgout what they are searching for—a thing, @y a person or an eventwithout having
to look at the search results page.
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The share of searches processed througtexaBrowser in Russia reached 12.9% in March 2848,our browser's share in terms of the
number of visitors (cookies) on the Russian browsarket was 7.9% in March, according to Liveintémoe

Our Monetization and Advertiser Services

We offer advertisers both text-based adsiag and display advertising. We also offer Yantiéarket, our e-commerce gateway service,
which provides another platform for retailers taale consumers in a highly targeted manner.

Text-based ads are principally targetetthéoparticular user query, the content of a padicwebsite or webpage being viewed or user
behavior or characteristics and are generally tsge&nerate specific sales. Such ads are cleanlyetias paid advertising and are separate
from our organic search results. Display ads, wipighcipally consist of graphical ads that appeaspecific pages, are generally used to
increase brand awareness or generate demand fmufzarproducts or services. Most of our reveraiesgenerated from tekiased advertisin
on a pay-per-click basis, with a smaller portiongrated from display advertising, based on the rarrmabimpressions delivered. We now offer
some of the merchants participating in Yandex.Maakeopportunity to sell goods and services usi@dPA model. In addition to targeting ads
on the basis of user queries and website contengrevalso able to target ads on the basis of useregraphics as well as behavioral patterns
characteristics and locations, and have develojgedithms that can predict with a high degree afumacy the age and gender of a user basec
on behavior, as well as a probability of click.

We actively monitor the ads we serve, tmttomatically and manually, in order to help engsheerelevance of the ads as well as
compliance with applicable laws.

Yandex.Direct

Yandex.Direct is our auction-based adviegiplacement service, which uses the most advaagetibn theory and relies on our
distributed infrastructure to process millions attons every day. Yandex.Direct lets advertiset-effectively deliver relevant tekiased ad
targeted at particular search queries or conteitaordex websites or third-party websites in the d&anad network. Yandex.Direct enables
advertisers to present ads to users at the prewseent they are looking for information relatedtte advertiser's product or service.
Advertisers may use our automated tools, often litite or no assistance from us, to create texdelsads, bid on keywords that are likely to
trigger the display of their ads, and set totahsiieg budgets. Yandex.Direct features an automadedcost online signup process that enab
advertisers to create and quickly launch their athing campaigns. Advertisers may access YandeadDthrough interfaces in Russian,
Ukrainian, English and Turkish. Advertisers mayalork with our sales staff to design and implenrante specialized or sophisticated
advertising campaigns. We also offer a Yandex.Dineabile app to better facilitate advertisers' asd® our service to manage their adverti
campaigns.

Text-based ads on the search engine rgzmdts (SERP) appear in one of several generalarédsgtop placement (appearing above the
organic search results and featuring up to thréglpeks), southern block (appearing below the oigaearch results and featuring up to four
paid links), or guaranteed placement and rotatimth(appearing to the right of the organic seaeshlts, up to nine paid links in total).
Placement in a particular category is determinethbyrevenue generation potential of the ad—it$-pesthousand-SERPs (CPT), which is a
product of the click-through-rate (CTR) and thetguar-click (CPC). Within a given category, ads ameked based on their CPC. To get into
the top placement, ads must have the highest CBast exceed a defined CPT threshold.

Our technology allows us to identify mosam ads, which are usually placed in large numibgis single advertiser and have a very low
CTR. In order to discourage spamming behavior weraatically increase the minimum bid for such ads.
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In addition, Yandex.Direct identifies atiatt contain information that is subject to mandategal licensing or disclaimer requirements,
such as ads for pharmaceuticals, and places th@eddegal disclaimers next to them.

Yandex.Direct offers advertisers the foliogvadditional benefits:

Access to the Yandex ad networkYandex.Direct provides advertisers with an ed&l reach, beyond Yandex's own sites, to thousanc
of partner websites, including paid search on Remiling and Mail.ru search engine results.

Effective advertising campaign managementYandex.Direct gives advertisers hands-on cbotrer most elements of their online ad
campaigns. For example, advertisers can specifielbgant keywords for each of their ads or mareageenditures by setting a maximum
budget and determining how much they are willingag per click. We also offer a number of featuheg make it easy to set up, manage and
monitor the effectiveness of advertising campaigmduding:

. Professional and Easy Interfaces We offer both Professional Interface, which akoadvertisers to control and customize
every element of their campaign, and Easy Interfacaovice advertisers. All settings in the Easietface are set automatically
to maximize campaign efficiency.

. AutoFocus and Additional Relevant Keywords Our automated AutoFocus system refines keywosdsa@ated with specific
ads based on usage statistics to increase ads'TCildsystem is used only if the ad is close tafpsiuspended from appearing
on the SERP as a result of a low CTR. Our AdditiG®®elevant Keywords feature, on the other handeigned to automatical
expand keyword phrases to increase the chancead appearing on the SERP.

. AutoBroker. Our AutoBroker auction feature automatically atupricing so that our advertisers never pay rtfae one unit
over the next highest bid for a given keyword. Tyistem saves advertisers money by minimizing ttoe phey pay per click,
while relieving them of the need to constantly nionand adjust their CPCs

. Metrica. Yandex.Metrica, the most popular web analyticsteay in Russia, allows advertisers in near rea¢-tionanalyze the
"post-click" behavior of users to evaluate the k#ficiency parameters of their advertising campaidfor example, they can
analyze the conversion rate (the proportion oft@isiwho make a purchase or another desired aatibaf the total number of
visitors to the website), and the cost of attragtiisitors who perform the required action. Basedtos data, our advertising
customers are able to choose the most efficieid sral settings for their advertising campaign20t4 we launched beta-
testing of our new Metrica 2.0 which offers wideyging possibilities to analyze the data. This \@rsiffers more than 50
parameters that can be manipulated by users asvibbyallowing site owners to create custom repaith any sets of
parameters in just a few clicks.

. Virtual Business Cards. Virtual Business Cards allow businesses thatatdave their own websites to quickly prepare ats
web description of their products or services, thgewith contact information, which will be servas ads where relevant. This
feature is important in the countries in which vpeate, where many small businesses do not havsitegb

Display advertising

In addition to auction-based sales of teaded ads, we offer display ads, generally desitmbdild brand awareness and promote
products and/or points of sale. We allow advertiseplace display ads on our homepage as wethasa other services, including
Yandex.Mail, Yandex.News and Yandex.Music. Morenthalf of our revenues from display advertising geeerated from our homepage
banner. Display ads are generally priced on a CB$ikb
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We also offer a media-contextual bannetisplay product that is only shown to users whade#or certain topics on Yandex.Search or
visit sites of the Yandex ad network dedicated padicular area of interest.

Our Crypta technology, which is rooted ur proprietary machine learning mechanism Matrix#ows us to differentiate users
according to their social-demographic charactessdind use this data to better target display &idieg.

Through our Real Time Bidding platform, afer a technological platform that accommodatésraction between advertising placement
systems that have different interfaces, algorithmg terms of displaying ads. Our Real Time Biddgitagform allows these systems to
participate in a single auction among participaf@rement systems, including Yandex's own adwegtisystem, Yandex.Direct and AWAPS.

We are constantly experimenting with neweatising offerings. In February 2014, we announgedadvertising partnership for Real
Time Bidding with DoubleClick Bid Manager, Googlésmand-side platform, which will be connected tn¥ex's Real Time Bidding system,
while Yandex's demand-side platform, AWAPS, willdmnected to Google's real time bidding marketgl@oubleClick AdExchange.
Integration of the platforms is underway.

In September 2014 we acquired the ADFOXeatiking technology platform, providing services fitanning, managing and analyzing
advertising campaigns on the internet, and allovitmglients to place banners, mobile ads, vidembather popular formats.

Yandex Ad Network

Our Yandex ad network partners includedearebsites, for which we provide search capaéditas well as contextual network partners,
where we serve ads based on user behavior or ¢tbastics or website content. Among our partneessame of the largest websites on the
Russian internet, including Mail.ru, Rambler, Bihgyejournal, Avito.ru and others.

We help third-party website owners monetirgr content while extending the reach of oureatisers. Through the Yandex ad network,
our partners can deliver text-based and displayoadbeir search results pages or websites. Obntdogy delivers relevant ads by analyzing
the search results or content of partner websitdgpages, as well as the search history, behapattdrns and location of users. Our
advertising algorithms use our proprietary Matrixiézhnology, which optimizes CTR on our netwoniotigh improved click prediction. In
order to provide the best user experience, we atlormusers to opt out of personalized ad targaimgetwork partner sites by changing the
settings through our homepage.

We screen applicants for the Yandex ad odtand favor websites with higiuality content and stable audiences. We belieaewvie will
continue to attract high-quality websites to outwrtgk due to our solid relationships with adventsseour track record in monetizing internet
traffic and content, and our attractive revenuerislygpropositions.

We monitor the conversion rate from ourtpar websites, seeking to maintain it at an apfatgpievel, comparable to the conversion rate
from our search engine results page. If convensites are lower than such level, we proportionatuce the CPC for clicks from such sites t
protect our advertisers from low-quality traffic.

We share a significant portion of the raxengenerated from ads displayed on the sites mdé&aad network partners with those partner:
To date, we have not guaranteed any minimum resetaueur network partners but may consider doingrsa selective basis in the future.

We believe that the key benefit we offecémtent owners in the Yandex ad network is corareee and cost-effective access to
advertisers. Many small website operators and abnte
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providers do not have the time or resources toldpwffective programs for generating revenues famiine advertising. Even larger websites
with dedicated sales teams, may find it difficoligenerate revenues from pages with a disparate rfrcontent and to attract a broad and
diverse range of advertisers. The Yandex ad netwmkides effective revenue generation by providiagners, including very small websit
with access to our large base of advertisers agidbhoad collection of ads.

Yandex e-Commerce Services

Yandex.Market. Our Yandex.Market e commerce gateway servicesgietailers an additional platform to reach am&tis seeking
specific retailer, product or price information.t&kers submit their product catalogues and piigts to us in a structured online format,
enabling us to provide detailed information in i@sge to relevant user queries, either through earcé engine or our Yandex.Market service.
Yandex.Market is priced on a CPC basis, simila¥aodex.Direct. Yandex.Market also operates a CPAehoffering participants a single
shopping basket for the service.

Launched in 2000, Yandex.Market is the npagtular such service in Russia, providing prodhfcirmation, price comparisons and
consumer generated reviews of products and onditaélers. We aggregate price, product and avaitgliiformation from thousands of active
online and "brick and mortar" retailers, and cutisefeature more than 70 million offerings in mahan 160 product categories from over
16,000 participating retailers. The service aldersfa cost per action (CPA) model and a unifiegskbafor purchases on various partnering
shops.

Yandex.Market, aims to accommodate the seéchternational retailers wishing to sell thgioducts to Russian customers by utilising
the benefits of a technologically advanced platforiandex.Market offers international web store®pportunity to showcase their offers and
to target those customers who look to buy prodsjeeifically outside of Russia. Product search andéx.Market is designed to deliver the
most relevant results with the best combinationusttomer service criteria, including time of defiwer specific payment options, giving
domestic retailers an edge over international conigsavho are often limited in their customer seswapportunities in Russia. Any online store
anywhere in the world can join Yandex.Market byyiling customers with a landing page in Russiam@wortunity to have their purchase
delivered to a Russian address, as well as an ypityrto pay for purchases in Russia via a barkearelectronic money. Dozens of retailers,
including China's LightinTheBox and DHGate, German$idsroom.de and Witt International, a US webBiolveClothing, and Italian
Yoox, are already offering their products to Russiansumers via Yandex.Market, and we are devejopiw functionality that would
facilitate increased access to international rextsil

In December 2014 Yandex acquired SovemRussian start-up offering an e-commerce browsdension. It allows users to check prices
for goods and products in any browser by suggesgtiitg comparison for the same product in Yandexkieta

We are currently developing an online tochggregate logistic operators, which will be mesgible for offline work, such as assortmen
goods, pick up of orders from e-shops and distidmamong delivery services.

Yandex Location-Based Priority Placement

Through partnerships with dozens of reditmainess directories, we compile and update aur ¥andex.Spravochnik—a business
directory covering the whole of Russia and othégimgoring countries. We supplement the businegtiiry with data mined from the web, as
well as with direct submissions from participatimgsinesses. Yandex.Spravochnik data appear betlr isearch results and on our maps,
including our mobile application, in response tarsé queries within the specified area.
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Our Geo-Direct Business Directory servilleves businesses to pay for a premium placememusmmaps, including maps returned in our
search results, highlighting their address andaaitig users to access their contact details witimgle click. This advertising product is
designed first and foremost for small and localifesses—for example, hairdressing salons and auto repapstas well as restaurants or b
branches. We offer this service for a fixed priceadfixed-term basis, and it can be ordered thraugiregional partners and advertising
agencies, as well as directly through our onlirierface.

Yandex for Businesses
We offer a number of services and toolsgiesi for businesses, including:

. Yandex Data Factory In December 2014, we launched Yandex Data Factiomgd at developing big data solutions for
businesses and research institutions. Yandex'siemgopprietary technologies applied in its own picid are now available to
help businesses turn large volumes of data theygsssnto business insights, thereby increasims salitting costs, optimizing
processes, preventing losses, forecasting demamd|aping new or improving existing methods of audie targeting.

. Yandex.Webmaste Our service allowing webmasters to control hoeirtkvebsite is "seen" by our search engine. Thaé to
enables webmasters to tag certain information ein thebsites to facilitate the extraction and gnted presentation of relevant
information by our search engine through our enbdranippets and fast links features.

. Yandex.Metrica. In addition to helping advertisers, our powerfigb statistics analysis tool allows website owrers
webmasters to measure traffic to their sites, deerevthe traffic is coming from, track visitor beha, record time spent by
visitors on a webpage.

. Yandex Site Searct A search tool we offer to webmasters and welasiteers, which allows them to provide their userthwi
search functionality on their own websites.

. Yandex.Mail for Domain Owners. Our service allowing users to create email actowith their own domain names. The
owner of one domain can have up to one hundreduatse-enough to serve a small business or thedadtafschool.

. Yandex APIs. Our APIs enable developers to use Yandex techiesan their own businesses. For example, devedagsn
embed our Yandex.Maps service and use its funditgriar free. In addition to Yandex.Maps, we off&PIs of
Yandex.Elements, Yandex.Direct and Yandex.Translate

. SpeechKit Cloud. SpeechKit Cloud, our voice recognition softwaee@opment kit, understands Russian and Turkishsand
aimed at developers of both web services and mabibs. It is used in hundreds of mobile apps angeses a basis for our o
Yandex.Diktovka (Dictation) mobile application, whiis able to recognize users' speech, turn thaidsvinto a transcription
and then voice them over, if needed.

. Yandex.Money Yandex.Money, the secure online payment systdiersoan easy way to pay for goods and services@nl
Launched in 2002, Yandex.Money currently has mioa@ 20.0 million registered users and is useds/ment solution by
more than 76,000 online stores. According to TN&ndex.Money is Russia's most well-known and widslgd payment
service: 87% of Russians are familiar with it, 2236 regularly use Yandex.Money to make paymentad¥a advertisers can
also use Yandex.Money to pay for advertising plabeough Yandex.Direct. In July 2013, we sold goébcent (less 1 ruble)
interest in our Yandex.Money business to Sberbawkesmtered into a joint venture arrangement witbrBénk in respect of the
operation of Yandex.Money.
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Our Technology

We have achieved our leading position emRussian search and internet markets principgligrbploying world-class talent in the
development of our key technologies. Although weehimom time to time acquired businesses with tetdgies that we have integrated into
our service offerings, all of our key technologiesre been created and developed in-house. Tog#ikeg technologies constitute state-of-the
art internet search, user services and advertatfprm.

Internet search technologies

Our search technologies allow us to sardubh a vast and growing amount of informationum online indexes to deliver relevant and
useful search results in response to user qudieskey components of our internet search techieddgclude the following:

Language understanding. We believe that the continuing success of YanddRussia is built on our longerm emphasis on the linguis
analysis of both webpages and user queries. Ini&yssword may have dozens of different morphalalgiorms with basically the same
meaning. Yandex was one of the first web searcinesdo pioneer the incorporation of linguistictisearch technology in Russia.

We have expanded our original languageyaisatapabilities from an understanding of morppgl@relating to word stems) into an
advanced understanding and analysis of word clea8dn, synonyms, acronyms, abbreviations, ortApgic variants, cross-language
transliteration and query translation. By combinlinguistic knowledge with statistics from largetalgets and from query and click-through
logs, we have built our spelling suggestion andemiion algorithms, as well as Spectrum, our quatggorization technology. Our
Autocomplete feature aims to predict the meaningsefrs' queries, maximizing their satisfaction wlith search results. The wide spectrum of
search results returned are intended to matchreliffaiser intents and are based on the frequenayesfsearches of particular terms. Another
Yandex technology feature based on language urahelisg is our fact extraction feature, which we wsdely throughout our services. For
example, in web searches, this feature extractesarhpersons and companies and scans geograptitraisses to tag pages and sites
geographically. The fact extraction feature is @smre component of our data provision used wittelyughout our specialized search
services.

To make our search more personalized, I 2@e introduced Reykjavik, our search platformialng search results based on user
language preferences. We built on this foundatiointroduce our latest search platform, Kaliningriadate 2012. This platform offers
personalized search, which returns search resudtse@arch suggestions based on the individuakisteand preferences of users, determined
by analyzing their search history, clicks on resalid language preferences. In 2013, we enrichedessionalized search with implementation
of Dublin technology that takes into account imnageliuser interest.

We continue to innovate and improve ouglage analysis technologies both through a deeprstashding of Russian-language
semantics, syntax and morphology and by enhancingpaguage understanding of other languages,dimuUkrainian, Kazakh, Tatar,
Belarusian and Turkish.

Machine-Learned Ranking.  Ranking is the process of finding the webpagest relevant to a user query and presenting thetmei
order most convenient for user consumption. Ourcketchnologies use hundreds of different factoot) query-dependent and query-
independent, to determine the relevance of a webtiag particular search query. Our ranking teahmptelies heavily on statistical machine
learning techniques. In addition, our team analydiek-through data to monitor relevance, and also maistaidatabase of tens of thousant
examples rated by human assessors which allowsaproximate human intuition without the needdatetailed understanding of all the
concepts involved in semantic analysis.
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Our MatrixNet machine learning technologps on hundreds of computers simultaneously angvalbur search service to take into
account tens of thousands of factors when consigéhie relevance of search results, which enaldés fine-tune our ranking algorithm.
MatrixNet significantly improves the relevance bétsearch results we deliver.

Our ranking features are numeric parameiertsdefine both the general quality of a webpagg how well it matches a search query. The
ranking features also take into account the gedigand temporal circumstances and propertieseofiier, the site and the query. We work
hard to discover new and high-quality featurestangse them effectively to increase user satisfacttach ranking feature is the result of
significant research and analysis. Our efficiert antomated machine-learned ranking technologyshadpto keep our ranking algorithms up-
to-date, as both the web and user interests rapidiijve.

Web crawling technology.  We believe that having the most thorough armdpiete website databases in the Russian and Cliéetaas
an important competitive strength. Our search indebudes billions of webpages, many of which ar&nglish and other major European
languages other than Russian.

To find pages relevant to user queries,déarbuilds a map of the internet (a web-graph)ciidescribes how different webpages are
connected to each other. By continuously evaluahigyweb-graph as new pages are added, Yandé&keisaachoose high-quality pages even
before it "crawls" them. Our intelligent contenusting system measures page quality in real tinh@yang Yandex to discover pages with
breaking news within minutes of their upload onweb and return them as results to related usaiegpue

Content-Based Image Retrieval.  Our content-based image retrieval and imagegmition technologies allow us to process billiofs
images in our image search. One of the key featsresr face-detection algorithms, which can idgritidividual and group facial portraits in
the face-filter feature of our image search. Ouhtwlogies are able to detect and/or search fogéndauplicates and serdisplicates on the we

Advertising technology

Our advertising platform supports both estial and behavioral ad targeting. It places adls bn Yandex pages and on partner sites
through the Yandex ad network. Our advertisingfptat operates on a 24/7 basis, relying on senomatéd at data centers in multiple locat
that provide redundancy and the ability to comptn&a system faults. Our advertising platform pdes advertisers with powerful interactive
tools, enabling them to control their campaigneei@l time, as each event (ad display or user chekpmes known to the advertiser within
minutes of the event.

Our ad platform also supports the ad sgraimd auction features for Yandex.Market listiragswell as serving display ads, which can be
accessed as separate products as well as in a commtion with Yandex.Direct. Our ad platform alkdisplay advertisers to analyze search
behavior and user demographics to target ad camgp#igvards specific groups of web users and tipeicific needs.

Our click-fraud prevention technology désesituations in which malicious parties simulatalfuser behavior and produce fraudulent
clicks. There are generally two types of click fitaln the first, a party, usually an advertisedmpetitor, repeatedly clicks on an ad in the
search results to run up the advertiser's exparditln the second, a member of the Yandex ad metvepeatedly clicks on an ad served by
Yandex.Direct on that member's website. Click fratglvention is critical in providing a healthy adurketplace and in maintaining the
confidence of our advertisers. We analyze our inggder to understand typical patterns of botluratand artificial click behavior, and use
these patterns to detect and filter fraudulenkslicoth in real time and after the fact. We contdimly update these algorithms to detect new
patterns of fraud.
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Our Real Time Bidding, or RTB technologgables interaction between ad placement servidisdifferent interfaces, impression
algorithms and placement conditions. It allowseatint services to take part in auctions togethértias the RTB system that organizes an
auction together with websites selling ad impressias well as with ad placement systems, knowbeasand Side Platforms or DSPs, which
buy ad impressions for advertisers, while each B@&l have any number of advertisers placing adsigirdts service. During a short time
period after a user opens a website participatimur RTB system, several actions takes place dlsimsiltaneously: the site informs the
system that it is ready to display an ad, it traitsimformation about certain technical paramefadsformat, site address and so on) as well as
the user's identification number to the RTB systeMmch transmits this information to auction papants. DSP systems analyze the
attractiveness of the impression and submit thds,bbased upon two factors: advertisers' demamget audience, price ceiling, and so on),
and information about the user whose ID nhumbehdsw. Once the bids have been placed, the RTBraystédects the winner, who receives
right to display an ad. Several ad placement sesvigke part in Yandex's auctions, including Yamsxices—Yandex.Direct and AWAPS.

Yandex distributed infrastructure

We seek to ensure the speed and reliabilipur services regardless of the user's locdtjoaperating our own network of data centers in
major cities throughout Russia and the other coestn which we operate. This network allows usupport reliable 24/7 operations, includ
server-based computations, research and developmoekit and user and advertiser services. We ugeriptary computer architecture to link
these clusters of servers, as well as proprietamypeitational software that operates across thesehdited servers, including software that
enables us to deploy and monitor software acrossyatems. This allows us to use relatively inexpanoff-theshelf servers as the foundat
of our robust and effective systems for redunddistributed data storage, retrieval and distribwaidulations.

We operate data centers in Moscow and afggons of Russia. We also rent space in co-lonatenters in Amsterdam, the Netherlands,
and in Ashburn, Virginia. We have received pernoisgb operate the first phase of our new data cémtéinland, while other phases are
currently under construction at that site. We haeiats-of-presence in a number of cities in Ruasid elsewhere. The geographic distribution
of our servers decreases the cost of internet Usageir users, increases the access speed faeotices and increases the stability and
dependability of our service offerings. This sturetprovides redundant fail-safe capacity suchttimfailure of a single facility would not
cause our websites to stop functioning.

Sales and Advertiser Support

We have an extensive sales and suppoasimircture, with sales offices in a number of sitreRussia and Ukraine, as well as Lucerne,
Switzerland, and Newburyport, Massachusetts, tha.Wge attract advertising customers through botinerand offline sales channels.

The substantial majority of our advertisese our automated Yandex.Direct service to estabiccounts, create ads, target users and
launch and manage their advertising campaigns. Wéde email and telephone support for these custen©ur sales team focuses on
attracting and supporting companies in Russia thighlargest advertising budgets. These companigg@gaest strategic support services,
which include a dedicated accounts team, to he@mthet up and manage their campaigns. Our salessigecialists are able to help advertiser
with tasks such as selecting relevant keywordsticrg effective ads and audience targeting, thussoméng and improving advertisers' return
on investment.

The Yandex ad network program follows ailsimmodel. Most of the websites in the networkrmitttheir applications through
Yandex.Direct's automated partner interface. Owgctlisales force
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focuses on building relationships with major wedssitOur support team concentrates on helping Yaadeaetwork partners get the most oL
their relationship with us.

We also have relationships with differedertising sales agencies placing text-based asplayi advertising.
Marketing

We engage in significant marketing effatit®cted first and foremost at internet users, al$ & advertising agencies, advertisers and
webmasters.

Our marketing efforts are focused abovemltielivering the optimal user experience withrgwéandex product and service. We believe
that satisfied users are the best and most crediblecates for our services. In order to imprower gatisfaction and loyalty and to continue to
use our products and services as marketing to@sonstantly experiment with and improve the dedigehnology and interface of these
products and services. We use in-depth marketisegreh methods to better understand and measuge elsgices and preferences. We utilize
traditional marketing surveys and online panelwel as detailed analysis of user behavior on Yanebsites by means of our own
innovative technologies and analytical tools. Eelchnge in our products or services is implementeyl after extensive tests and
demonstration of improvement in user experience béleve our strength lies in the diversity of tesm, where mathematicians and engin
work side by side with creative marketing staff.

Although we believe that word of mouthtie best advertising strategy, we also view advegisampaigns in online and traditional me
as an important element of our efforts to promatelwand, as well as key services, such as ourdenvn Russia and the other CIS countries
where we are present, as well as in Turkey. Welsmote our brand at various social events. Oomkedge of the national and local culture
allows us to communicate our message more effigi@amd to promote our brand values more effectivelyich we believe, in turn, results in a
long-lasting increase in our brand awareness irsiaugVe also organize and sponsor a wide rang&ainational seminars, including events
for professionals, such as seminars on Yandex.Dioe@advertisers and on API's for web developasswell as educational seminars for
university students, as we consider them to bealdducurrent and future partners and public opiteawlers.

Educational and Start-Up Support

We actively contribute to the advancemémioonputer science, mathematics, and informati@nckeand retrieval in Russia. Our initiati
include the Yandex School of Data Analysis, whiaghfaunded in 2007 and from which we recruit devetsp

In April 2014, we announced the openinghef Computer Science Faculty at the Higher SchbBonomics to educate students in two
principal areas-applied mathematics and software engineering. &beltly offers bachelor's, master's and doctorateses, and started cour
in September 2014. We believe it is important test in talent as it is the main asset of any imtige company.

Our Tolstoy Summer Camp, launched in 2@8jmed to support up-and-coming projects andrmaigdeas in IT. It is a boot-camp for
future ideas and projects. During the two montlesptogram participants are able to benefit fromeeigmce and expertise of the Yandex
specialists who work with participants as mentasswell as from international guest lecturers gitel technology, mobile, marketing and
communications.
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Advertisers

We served ads for 317,000 advertisersarfahrth quarter of 2014 and for more than 558ja08e full year 2014, compared with 277,
in the fourth quarter of 2013 and more than 460j606e full year 2013. Our advertisers includeiwidlals and small, medium and large
businesses throughout the countries in which wead@peas well as large multinationals. Small andioma-size enterprises purchase the bul
our text-based advertising. No particular advertisgounted for more than 1.5% of our total revering2012, 2013 or 2014.

Employees and Workplace Culture

We place a high value on technological imtmn and compete aggressively for talent. Weetid hire the best computer scientists and
engineers, as well as talented sales, marketingndial and administrative staff. We seek to craadgnamic, fulfilling work environment with
the best features of a "start-up" atmosphere, eaging equal participation, creativity, the exchand ideas and teamwork.

Our total headcount increased from 3,7@atember 31, 2012, to 4,902 at December 31, 20d%#16 at December 31, 2014. As of
December 31, 2014, we had 3,329 employees in ptatwelopment, 1,826 in sales, general and admatiish, and 461 in cost of sales.

Intellectual Property

We rely principally on a combination ofdeamark, copyright, related rights, patent and tisetzet laws in Russia and other jurisdictions
as well as confidentiality procedures and cont@gbuovisions to protect our proprietary technolagy our brand. We enter into
confidentiality and patent assignment agreemertts ouir employees and consultants and confidemtiaiiteements with other third parties,
and we rigorously control access to our proprietachnology.

Our patent department is responsible ferettgping and implementing our group-wide IP prat@tistrategy in selected jurisdictions. We
have filed more than 150 patent applications te ds@me of which have already resulted in issu¢ehps We also have internal procedures
invention disclosures, patent filings, patent asiiions, freedom-to-operate analyses and pateityaséarches.

Yandex is a registered well-known trademarRussia for certain services (classes 35 angh8@r the International Classification of
Goods and Services) among relevant consumers dragie of intensive use. Under Russian law, theeption granted to well-known
trademarks is extended to non-homogenous goodseamites if customers associate specific use ofi¢isegnation by third parties with the
rights holder and the rights holder's legitimateiasts are infringed. Yandex is also a registeatbmark in Ukraine, the United States, the
European Union and other countries under the Madlgicement and Protocol. We have other registesetbiarks in Russia. We continue to
file applications to register new trademarks andemithe country coverage of our existing trademaviast of the software used by our
services or distributed by Yandex to our userstieee developed by our employees or by independentractors who transfer all rights to
Yandex.

We enter into written license and use ayeaments with providers of a significant portiortleé content we offer. Our agreements with
most of the news content providers in Russia ar&ontent-for-traffic” terms, pursuant to which wtain access to news content for free in
consideration of the user traffic that accessesdmeent providers' websites through our searcinenyVe license or purchase other additional
content. We do not knowingly include content on websites that we do not have the legal right ttuithe.

We do not own the content generated orgablsy users on our websites. As with all websttes host user-generated content, we are
potentially liable for any intellectual propertyfiimgement committed by the creator of that contéfrwe receive a complaint from a party that
user-generated
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content on our websites infringes that party's cigiw or related rights, we examine the conterguestion. If we are unable to confirm the
violation independently, we request a formal lettecomplaint from the notifying party. We then tact the party that has posted the content,
and give that person two options: either removectitgent, or allow us to provide his or her persolesails to the notifying party so that that
party may defend its rights. In the event of anyrtdecision in the matter, we comply with the demi. If the potentially offending party does
not respond, we remove the content.

Competition

We operate in a market characterized bidrapmmercial and technological change, and we $agmificant competition in many aspects
of our business. We currently operate principailjRussia, Ukraine, Belarus, Kazakhstan and TuMéyface competition from global players
such as Google and local players such as Mailath, df which offer proprietary search and otheviges.

Globally, we consider Google to be our mniyncompetitor. Google launched its Russian-langussgrch engine, google.ru, in 2001 and
established its first office in Russia in 2006atidition to its search solutions, Google offerdgranhdvertising and information and other sei
services similar to ours, including services simitaYandex.Direct and Yandex.Maps. We expect @magle will continue to use its brand
recognition and financial and engineering resoutce®mpete with us.

In terms of domestic players, our principampetitor is Mail.ru. In early 2010, Mail.ru lachred its own search platform, and in July 2013
announced that it fully switched to its proprietagarch technology in organic search results. We batered into a partnership with Mail.ru
pursuant to which Mail.ru uses the Yandex.Direateatising system to power paid search resultspribperties. Mail.ru offers many
communication services, including Russia's mosufaypvebmail social networking and messenger sesvic

The following table presents a comparisbRwssian search market share, according to Lieaiet.ru, based on search traffic generated:

March

2012 2013 2014 2015
Yandex 60.2% 61.8% 60.€% 58.(%
Google 26.2% 26.2% 29.2% 33.t%
Mail.ru 85% 8.6% 7.2% 6.4%

We also face competition from the Russiadh iaternational websites of Microsoft and Yahas,well as other established companies an
start-ups that are developing search and onlinertiding technologies. In certain vertical areas,compete with niche services, including e-
commerce, video search, online news aggregatorsliatidnaries, real estate and automobile servimed,specialized search apps for mobile
devices. We also compete with online advertisingvoeks, such as Google and Begun, which directlesied advertising on a number of
popular Russian websites.

We anticipate that social networking sigs;h as Facebook, Twitter, and Mail.ru's Vkontaténoklassniki and My World services, r
become significant competitors for online ad budg&hese sites derive a growing portion of therereies from online advertising, and are
experimenting with innovative ways of monetizingusaffic. In light of their very large audiencasd the significant amount of proprietary
information they can access and analyze regartigig tisers' needs, interests and habits, we betaigehey may be well positioned to offer
highly targeted advertising which could create ewlea competition for us. The popularity of sucksinay also reflect a growing shift in the
way in which people find information, get answensl d#uy products, which may result in increased cgtitipn for users.
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We also face competition from other seanoth service providers in establishing relationskijtk device manufacturers, such as mobile
and tablet computer makers, and access providers,as internet service providers. Such comparaes h significant degree of control over
the distribution of products and services, inclgdiy offering or establishing exclusive arrangeradat "default” search features or other
services and bundling them with their offeringsr @sers typically have direct relationships wited¢a companies, and may be influenced by
economic or other factors in deciding which seanchther services to use. In February 2015, we ragdemal request to the Russian Federal
Anti-Monopoly Service to open an investigation imtbether Google is using its dominant position iobife operating systems to promote its
search and services through its requirement thatelenanufacturers bundle Google's Android opegatiystem with Google applications and
services.

We compete to attract and retain relatigpsstvith users, advertisers, Yandex ad networkngastand business partners in different ways:

. Users. Most of the services we offer to users are fseaye do not compete on price. Instead, we conmethe basis of the
relevance, usefulness and accessibility of ourcke@sults and the features and ease of use @eovrces.

. Advertisers. We compete for advertisers principally on theiba$the return on investment they can achievethadreadth of
audience we offer, as well as the features andafasee of our advertising solutions and the qualftour customer service.

. Yandex ad network partners. We compete to attract and retain network parthased on the size and quality of our advertiser
base, our ability to help partners generate rev&froen advertising through our targeted ad-sertéegpnology, and the
commercial terms we offer our partners.

. Business partners. We compete for relationships with content proxsgéistribution partners, online merchants aneioth
business partners on a variety of bases, inclutiegiser traffic we are able to direct to them tredcommercial terms we offer.

Facilities

Our principal operating subsidiary currgiéases a total of approximately 48,000 squareradt a single location in central Moscow
serves as our group's headquarters. We or ourtogesabsidiaries also lease or own office spaaennmber of cities in Russia and Ukraine.
We also lease offices in San Jose, California asabNiryport, Massachusetts; Istanbul, Turkey; LueeBwitzerland; Minsk, Belarus; Berlin,
Germany; and Schiphol, The Netherlands. We opelatte centers in Moscow and other regions of Rug$&also rent space in colocation
centers in Amsterdam, the Netherlands, and in Ashiirginia. We have received permission to opethe first phase of our new data center
in Finland, while other phases are currently urogrstruction at that site. We continue to evaltiaeneed for and location of our data centers
We have points-of-presence in a number of citidRussia and elsewhere. We believe that all of easéds and co-location agreements are on
competitive market terms. Taking into account thijgerted demand for our services, we continuousfuate the capacity and locations of
data centers to determine the most cost effectmener to deliver reliable service to our users.

Government Regulation

We are subject to an extensive and congtdaveloping legal framework resulting in a numbélaws and regulations in Russia and o
jurisdictions applicable to the internet busindssexplained in more detail below, there are alsmaificant number of additional laws a
regulations currently being debated and considimeddoption in Russia and other countries wher@pearate which, in the event of adoption,
might require us to make substantial adjustmentaitdusiness practices.
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Advertising Regulatior

The principal Russian law governing adwémg, including online advertising, is the Fedéralv No. 38-FZ "On Advertising," dated
March 13, 2006 (as amended) (the "Russian Advedisaw"). The Russian Advertising Law renders inmpissible advertisements for certain
regulated products and services without the redugegtification, licensing or approval. Advertisemt&for products such as tobacco,
pharmaceuticals and medical equipment, food supgisrand infant food, financial instruments or siies and financial services as well as
incentive sweepstakes and advertisements aimethatsrand some other products and services musplgomith specific requirements and
must in certain cases be accompanied by certainreshdisclaimers. The amendments to the Russiae’iding Law which came into force
July 2012 outlawed the advertising of alcohol amititernet as well as in periodicals, among othetfgrms. In addition, the distribution of
advertisements over the internet (for example,rbgig may require the prior express consent ofpieaits. In some cases, violation of the
Russian Advertising Law can lead to civil actiontbird parties who suffered damages, or adminisggienalties imposed by the Federal
Antimonopoly Service of Russia (the "FAS"). In a2D14, new regulations were also adopted to limih certain cases to prohibit the
advertising of medical services; these restrictiwase loosened to some degree in June 2014. Futhendments to legislation regulating
advertising may impact our ability to provide soaf@ur services or limit the type of advertising may offer.

We seek to comply with all advertising laavgl regulations. At the same time, the applicadiotihe advertising laws, in particular in
relation to products or services requiring cerdfion, licensing or approval, can be ambiguousiaoonsistent. The application of these law
an unanticipated manner, or the failure of our ciienpe efforts, may expose us to substantial lighéls distributors of advertising and may
restrict our ability to provide some of our sengce

Other laws or interpretations of laws, utthg those of foreign jurisdictions, may also restdvertising and negatively impact our
business. For example, some French courts hawpigted French trademark laws in ways that woultt fihe ability of competitors to
advertise in connection with generic keywords. Aswpof similar interpretations by Russian or othational courts may adversely affect our
business. In addition, Russian law does not spatlfi regulate behavioral targeting in relatiorativertising, which is a standard tool widely
used in the online business. Any future interpietedf Russian law affecting the regulation of bébeal targeting could have a negative
impact on our business.

Furthermore, there is no clarity regardimg approach Russian law and court practice wk taith respect to the use of third parties'
trademarks in keywords for the purposes of seandhcantextual advertising. There is a practiceoafdr courts recognizing that the use of
trademarks in keywords should not be considere@ach of exclusive trademark rights and that therator of the advertising platform
allowing the use of keywords for ad targeting sbdaudt be held liable for such use. However, incgtesit decisions among different courts anc
in different regions are not uncommon in Russiaer&fore, our operations might be adversely affedeggending upon the approach the
Russian courts take in this respect.

Intellectual Property Regulatior

Part IV of the Civil Code of Russia (as ahed), which came into force in 2008, is the mbjody of Russian law providing the legal
framework for intellectual property regulation, linding with respect to the acquisition, maintenameetection and enforcement of exclusive
rights. Additionally, Russia acceded to the Wortdde Organization in the summer of 2012 and alsoine a party to the 1994 WTO TRIPS
Agreement governing the principal aspects of thellectual property protection afforded to the merthereto.
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In principle, the acquisition, protectiomdeenforcement of intellectual property rights insRia are addressed in line with international
standards. In particular, literary, artistic andkatific works are subject to copyright protectieithout any registration and enjoy legal
protection simply by virtue of being created inadijective form perceivable by third parties. Altlghuthe registration of software and datab
with the Federal Service for Intellectual Propdffgospatent™) is possible, the procedure is volynsad is not commonly performed. We take
the approach that registration with Rospatent efsiftware and databases we develop is excesane e believe that we are adequately
protected by the existing legal framework as thieldroof all copyrights and related rights to ouftware and databases.

Mandatory registration with Rospatent iguieed for "hard IP" such as trademarks and pai@viilable in Russia for inventions, utility
models and industrial designs) in order for thétsdgholder to acquire exclusive rights. Trademagkgstered abroad under the Madrid
Agreement Concerning the International Registratibirademarks dated April 14, 1891 and/or the ¢uoltto the Agreement, dated June 27,
1989, have the same legal protection in Russiacly registered trademarks. Our main brand aadding materials for our key services h
trademark protection in the jurisdictions whereaperate, either through national trademarks ormat#onal registrations; however, until
recently we did not register figurative logos thet use on our websites on the basis that theytameged and upgraded from time to time and
we also hold copyrights in these logos. We areeriily intensifying our efforts to obtain broadeademark protection.

Under Russian law, we are entitled to nezeixclusive rights to trade secrets (know howy dinlve have complied with a legal
requirement to introduce an internal commerciates@cregime, which may be burdensome and formalistimplement. As we rely
extensively in our operations on the protectiomm@éd to trade secrets, we implemented a set afunesrequired by the Federal Law No. 98-
FZ of July 29, 2004 "On Commercial Secrecy" in ordeprotect these trade secrets (know how). Howehere is a risk that our measures
be deemed insufficient and, as a result, we willttéaacquire rights to these trade secrets undessiRn law.

One of the known problems and risks in Rusbusiness practice relates to acquiring exctushts to works for hire and patentable
results from employees as well as third-party aotors. By operation of Russian law, the exclusigkts to works for hire and patentable
results are assigned to the employer if the intall@ property is created by an employee duringcthese of his ordinary job duties (or, in the
case of patents, pursuant to a specific requesitdbgmployer). A similar rule is applicable in tentext of agreements specifically providing
for the creation of software. Uncertainties anghdtes might arise with respect to whether exclusiylets have actually been transferred to the
employer or contractor on the basis of an employroenther agreement if intellectual property hasrbcreated outside the scope of the
employee or contractor's employment (in the caseaoks for hire), or a legal entity has failed t@perly document its relations with its own
employees and subcontractors and, as a resultaldeito transfer any rights to its customer. Rarssburts of common jurisdiction (as oppo
to arbitrazh commercial state courts) may be macknied to follow an overly formalistic approachdamay take a premployee position in tt
event of uncertainty in a dispute of this nature.

Nonetheless, under Russian law, subjeitteaisks outlined above, we are deemed to haveimchcopyrights and rights to file patent
applications with respect to works for hire andepédble results created by our employees duringdhbese of their employment with us and
within the scope of their job duties, and havedkelusive rights to their further use and dispasdiject to compliance with the requirements o
the Civil Code of Russia.
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Liability of Online Service Provider.

Laws relating to the liability of onlinerséce providers for the activities of their userglather third parties are still being developed in
Russia and certain other countries in which we ajpeBefore August 2013, there were certain jutlmi@cedents outlining liability of hosting
service providers and website owners in Russiduigust 2013, new amendments to Russian laws, imdud the Russian Civil Code, came
into effect aimed at the enhancement of intelldgbuaperty rights enforcement on the internet.

The amendments of the Part IV of the GBade of the Russian Federation introduced provis@med at establishing a framework for
limitation of liability of online service providers$n particular, the law currently contains a riflat service providers transmitting informatior
communication networks will not be held liable iretevent the provider has neither initiated trassian nor selected recipients and performs
no modification of the transmitted material. A hiogtprovider, on the other hand, may be exempt fliability in the event it possesses no
actual or constructive knowledge of the infringetemd timely undertakes necessary and sufficierasmes to cease infringement following
receipt of written notification identifying the tigs holder and the location of the allegedly irdifrg material. Although adoption of these
provisions may be a step forward in terms of ¢jami the limitations of online service providerbikity, substantial ambiguity still remains
particularly because these provisions contain ridagice as to what would constitute "necessary affitient measures"” in this regard (for
example, whether they include a requirement to tooné-uploading of the same work by the same loetisers) and provide no clarity on the
limitation of liability with respect to other types online service providers (such as those perfogmaching or providing information location
tools). In light of this, our exposure to liabilityill significantly depend on interpretation of #eenew provisions by the courts and officials.

Also, in October 2014, new amendments ¢oRhssian Civil Code became effective that intredustrict liability for infringement of
intellectual property rights if such infringemesatdgommitted in connection with business activitless unclear how these amendments will
apply to online service providers.

Implementation of this legislation, as waladoption of similar regulations may impose neguirements on us and our operations and
lead to material legal liability, which can be dfflt to foresee or limit. See "Risk Factors—We nhayheld liable for information or content
displayed on, retrieved by or linked to our welssitar distributed by our users, or we may be reglio block certain content, which could
harm our reputation and business."

Regulation of Electronic Payment

Federal Law No.161-FZ "On the National PaptrSystem," dated June 26, 2011, entered inte fancSeptember 29, 2011 and provides:
legal definition of the term "electronic money" (aligital money"). Under these regulations, payreemith digital money fall into the sphere
banking activities and such payments are regardedspecial transaction entered into without thedlrte open an account. Such transactions,
however, have to be performed by a credit orgaiwaaupervised by the Central Bank of Russia. Ty with this law, the Yandex.Money
joint venture established a new, --banking credit organization subsidiary, which olai the license required from the Central Bank uddi
for the performance of non-banking credit operatiand assumed operation of the Yandex.Money busineéSeptember 2012. Most of the
contractual obligations of PS Yandex.Money LLC hbeen transferred to its non-banking credit orgaion subsidiary. However, if not all
contractual obligations were successfully transfiéfrom PS Yandex.Money, there is a risk that ¢émiity may be found not to be in
compliance with all applicable legal requirements.

As PS Yandex.Money LLC is the holder ofaatigipation interest constituting more than 20%twf charter capital of a ndranking credi
organization, the preliminary consent of the Cdrigank of
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Russia is required for any establishment of dicgéhdirect control in respect of PS Yandex.Mon&yCL Accordingly, any change of control
respect of Yandex N.V. may be considered a chahgelwect control in respect of PS Yandex.Moneyd ghere is a risk that the Central Bank
of Russia may not grant the required consent fiintdirect change of control and, consequentlyhipibor restrict the transaction giving rise
to such indirect change of control.

In July 2013, we formed our Yandex.Monepfoenture with Sberbank, upon the completion loéi®ank's acquisition from us of a 75%
(less one ruble) interest in PS Yandex.Money LL@lldwing this transaction, however, there is a tiskt a change of control in respect of
Yandex N.V. would still require preliminary conseritthe Central Bank of Russia, as Yandex N.V. ddag considered to indirectly hold more
than 20% of the voting power of the non-bankinglitrerganization.

Mass Media Regulatiot

Dissemination of news and similar inforroatto a wide audience in Russia is regulated byRrilgsian Federation Law No. 2124-1 "On
Mass Media", dated December 27, 1991 (as amentterl)Nlass Media Law"). This law requires certaintiga that disseminate news and
similar mass communications and information todgggstered with the appropriate Russian governmdoidy, Roscomnadzor, and to comply
with restrictions regarding the content of the mfation they distribute. In November 2011 an amegwinto the Mass Media Law came into
force to permit electronic network publications bs#es) to register as mass media under the proegéstablished by the law. As registration
under this amendment is voluntary, we elected méltow the registration procedures establishedheyMass Media Law for our online
properties. See "Risk Factors—The legal framewankegning internet services and e commerce in Rasglahe other countries in which we
operate is in the process of development, and welbmaequired to have additional licenses, permitegistrations, or to take additional
actions in order to conduct our business, which beagostly or may limit our flexibility to run otlnusiness."

In 2014, the Russian government introduegilation regulating popular bloggers. The legisi is drafted in general terms and can
potentially apply to any owner of a website or wadp which contains publicly available informatiordas visited by more than 3,000 internet
users daily, whether such site is owned and/oraipdrby an individual or a legal entity. Populardgers have to register with the Russian
authorities and bear responsibilities in respethefcontent available on their websites or webpagtch are substantially similar to the
obligations of mass media in Russia (includingguieement to ensure the accuracy of the informatiale available). Since the scope of this
legislation is uncertain, it is unclear whether tiesv legislation applies to any of the companieswfgroup.

Moreover, amendments to the Mass Media &dopted in October 2014 will limit non-Russian oveép and control, direct or indirect,
of Russian mass media to no more than 20%, startig§16. Accordingly, if our core business werdéorequired to register as a mass media
it would have a material impact on the ownershipdtire of our business and could materially adalgraffect the value of our Class A shares
See also "Risk Factors—If the Russian governmeng weimpose limitations on foreign ownership deimet businesses in Russia, it could
materially adversely affect our group and the valfieur Class A shares."Encryption Activity License

The licensing of encryption activity is goxed by Federal Law No. 99-FZ "On Licensing of @jpe Types of Activities", dated May 4,
2011 (as amended). Under the law, a variety obities related encryption require a special pe(titense) granted by the Federal Security
Service (the "FSS") subject to the applicant's ioortd compliance with a number of licensing requieats, including the requirement to use
only certified encryption means and equipment anehisure timely extension of such certification wkte terms expires.
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Our Yandex.Money joint venture with Sberbamnhich uses encryption algorithms for the pratecof transfers performed by its
customers, received four licenses from the FSScitlizr 2010 in relation to its encryption actiwsti@ hese licenses are valid until October
2015 and were obtained by PS Yandex.Money LLC erbtsis of an earlier legal framework. The requéets for the grant and maintenance
of licenses as set out in these earlier laws akasedurrent laws are very broad and unclear, tepthie regulator with much discretion in
applying and enforcing these laws.

As discussed above, following the introdtutbf electronic payments regulation in Russiaungng participants of the market to obtain a
license from the Central Bank of Russia, Yandex.&johas been required to establish a non-bankirditaryanization subsidiary for these
purposes. As the subsidiary obtained no encrypitemses and has no intention of applying for diggmses, PS Yandex.Money LLC
continues to maintain encryption licenses and nowides encryption and information protection seegito its subsidiary.

Strategic Companies La

In accordance with the Strategic Compah#es, there are restrictions with respect to theugition of voting shares or participation
interests and establishment of control by foreggal entities, individuals as well as states, im#onal organizations and entities controlled by
them, with respect to business entities with sgiiatamportance. The internet and online advertisirg not currently industries specifically
covered by the Strategic Companies Law, but thave previously been draft amendments under coraiderby the Russian State Duma,
which, if adopted, would include certain internetpanies that have large audiences within the sabfigs law. In addition, entities holding
licenses to use encryption technologies are coveydtis law. As discussed above, Yandex.Moneyt joemture holds encryption licenses and
is thus subject to the Strategic Companies Law.

Under the provisions of the Strategic ConigsiLaw, the direct or indirect acquisition in egs of 25% of the voting power of a
strategically important entity by a foreign stdteeign governmental organization, internationagjasrization or entity controlled by a foreign
government or international organization, or thguésition of shares representing in excess of 50#%evoting power of such a company by
any other foreign investor or any of its affiliatedmpanies, requires the prior approval of a RusGiavernment Committee chaired by the
Prime Minister. In addition, foreign investors beir group of companies that are controlled byreaifm state or a foreign government or
international organization are prohibited from omgshares representing more than 50% of voting poie strategically important company,
including jointly with other unrelated foreign irsters controlled by a foreign state or internatiamganization.Amendments into the Strategic
Companies Law effective as of December 2014 haweng other things, specifically stated that tratieas on stock markets are subject to
restrictions of the aforesaid law.

Moreover, the acquisition of 5% or moretw shares of a strategically important compamgéis a requirement to submit naotification to
the FAS. Failure to obtain the required governmieagt@roval prior to an acquisition would render #oguisition invalid. The Strategic
Companies Law also applies to entirely foreigndeanions entered into by foreign entities abroad{her words, the law applies on the basis
of the effects of such transactions in Russiajhénevent invalidation of the transaction is natgible in the specific circumstances the court is
entitled to deprive the foreign investor of itsimgtrights with respect to the acquired sharesastigipation interest.

Because our parent company held its inténeg®S Yandex.Money LLC at the time that Yandexidp became a strategically important
company, we believe that our ownership of Yandex&jowas in compliance with the Strategic Compah&s. Additionally, in July 2013,
we disposed 75 percent (less 1 ruble) of our ppdiion interest in Yandex.Money in a sale to Shak
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Upon completion of the transaction, we entered &joint venture agreement with Sberbank in respgttte future operation of this business.

Upon the completion of the Yandex.Monetipgration interest acquisition by Sberbank YandeY. in July 2013, which reduced our
participation to 25% plus 1 ruble of charter cdpitan-Russian persons may be permitted to acghaees in Yandex N.V. without previously
applicable limitations since it will no longer cooit Yandex.Money. Nonetheless, it is likely that thecessity to obtain preliminary approval
from the Russian Government Committee would beaijlicable to a non-Russian state, governmemggrozation, international organization
or entity controlled by a noRussian government or international organizati@t Would seek to acquire shares of Yandex N.Vnterento ar
agreement that would establish direct or indirecttiol over Yandex N.V. (in other words, such avesstor would be considered to hold an
indirect blocking stake of Yandex.Money under that@gic Companies Law). There is also a risk seate of the rights granted to
Yandex N.V. under the joint venture agreement \Bitierbank could be interpreted by Russian authsrétieestablishing control by
Yandex N.V. over Yandex.Money, which would requite Governmental Committee's preliminary consenaforoader number of
transactions as specified above, including by peiveon-Russian persons.

In December 2011, a set of amendmentset&thategic Companies Law came into force, whisérhlized the regime of investments in
strategic companies by narrowing the list of sgaténdustries and types of activities and provigdan exemption for certain categories of
international financial institutions establishedtba basis of the international treaty to which faiss a party (the list is to be approved by the
Russian Government), as well as strategic entilimately controlled by the Russian FederatioiRassian citizens who are simultaneously
Russian tax residents, provided that they do ne¢ naultiple citizenship.

In particular, according to the above anmaudis, the following activities have been remowedifthe list of strategically important
activities: distribution and maintenance of encigpptequipment and encryption services so long esglactivities are performed by banks
which have no Russian state-owned shares. Thesedameats were enacted for the benefit of, and @ilrto, banks without providing a
definition of what is to be considered a bank fase purposes. In the absence of a definitionptioigision is likely to be interpreted narrowly
as not applying to non-banking credit organizatiavisich are likely still considered strategicaligportant.

Amendments effective as of December 20ithéu expanded the scope of the Strategic Compaaiwso apply to acquisition of fixed
assets of strategically important company equat exceeding 25% of its book value as per the tiditesncial statements.

Privacy and Personal Data Protection Regulati

We are subject to Russian and foreign lagarding privacy and the protection of our uggessonal data. We publish on our websites
privacy policies and practices concerning the psagessing, storage and disclosure of user datafailure by us to comply with our privacy
policies as well as Russian or other applicablesland regulations relating to privacy and the mtide of user data may result in proceedings
against us by governmental authorities, individwalsther third parties, which may adversely impagat business. In addition, the
interpretation of data protection laws, and thpjplecation to internet operations, is often unclead is in a constant state of development and
although we believe that we comply with all curresquirements, these laws could in the future terpmeted and applied in a manner that is
inconsistent with current practice. For instanodylay 2014 the Court of Justice of the Europearobm@stablished that an operator of a searcl
engine can be obligated to remove from the lisgeafrch results links to web-pages containing inatewor outdated information related to an
individual.
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As another example, Russian data prote¢dis provide that an individual must consent @ phoduction of her/his personal data in a
free manner, at her/his own discretion and inte®sth consent must be concrete, informed and sarssand may be provided in any form
evidencing the fact that consent has been provid@dss otherwise established by federal law, whagjuires that it be made in writing, signed
by digital electronic signature or evidenced irnailar manner prescribed by laws and regulations.

We, like our peers, seek this consent foumusers by asking them to click on a button égctea check-box in appropriate circumstances
prior to commencement of the account registratimtgss indicating the user's consent to our cablectise, storage and processing of pers
data. Furthermore, most of our services do notiredhe creation of an account prior to their usé we collect only limited information in
these circumstances. In particular, we performepteent of cookies and use other wide-spread tecmsldhat assist us in improving user
experience of our products and services and uléiindenefit both our users and advertisers to xtené that we use a certain part of this
collected information for behavioral targeting dfvartising. No clear legislative guidelines havemerovided addressing whether our prac
are compliant with the requirements of the datdqution legislation in Russia and abroad. Theeerisk that such laws may be interpreted an
applied in a manner that is not consistent withaurent data protection practices. Complying wilhious regulations in this area may cause
us to incur additional costs or to change our lssmractices. Further, any failure by us to ptatacusers' privacy and data may result in a
decrease of user confidence in our services, arydultimmately result in a loss of users, which woaltlersely affect our business.

In 2014, the Russian government adopteidlign to regulate the "organizers of informatitistribution”. Organizers of information
distribution must retain a broad range of datatiredeto and generated by the users (including dleésfof receipt, transfer, delivery and
processing of information as well as informatiomatithe users) for a period of six months and mlewuch data to security and investigation
authorities at their request. If an organizer édimation distribution fails to comply with the almrequirements, the Russian authorities can
prescribe the blocking of access to the servicesiofi organizer of information distribution.

Recently adopted amendments to the perstaallaw in Russia will also require that comparsi®re all personal data of Russian users
only in databases located inside Russia, startagge®nber 1, 2015. Although our principal data enare currently located in Russia, this law
could limit our flexibility in managing our operatis globally.

Licenses for the Provision of Communication Servi

Pursuant to the Federal Law No. 126-FZ Gammunication”, dated July 7, 2003 (as amendedifjesnthat provide certain
telecommunication services for a fee are requinaabtain a "telematics” licenses from the RoscomaadNe generally do not charge a fee fol
the online services we provide to our users anckfbee, we believe that we are not required to laoldlematics license. We do, however,
generate revenue from ads directed to our usera.rAsult, it is possible that a Russian courtasegnment agency may construe our
advertising revenue as a fee and determine thatr@eequired to hold a telematics license, whichildioequire us to apply for and comply w
the terms of any such license.

Additionally, as we might further develogrtain user services that would be provided fareathis might trigger the risk that such
operations could be considered as violating thenking requirements described above.
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Protection of Minors from Harmful Information

The Federal Law No. 436-FZ "On ProtectibiMinors from the Information Harmful to their Héfaland Development", dated
December 29, 2010 (the "Minors Protection Law")jakicame into effect as of September 1, 2012, ictstrirculation of certain identified
categories of publicly available and distributefbimation that may be harmful for minors. In pautar, there is a requirement to take
administrative and technical measures to prevessednination of restricted information. In addititime circulation of information products
designated for specific age categories of minorstra accompanied by a relevant mark identifyiregae restriction category of information.
Advertising of information products must also be@uopanied by a category identification mark.

Prior to the Minors Protection Law becoméftective, significant amendments were approveghdrticular, the requirement for age
category identification for information made avhimon the internet was abolished (except for tebsites registered as mass media) and is
now voluntary.

Furthermore, administrators of websitessteged as mass media have been expressly relimadhe responsibility for age category
identification with respect to commentaries and sages posted by users of the websites at thenetiisa.

Blacklist of Websites Containing lllegal Informatio

The amendments introduced to the Minorsetmn Law referenced above have been accompéaygiadset of rules included in Federal
Law No. 149-FZ "On Information, Information Techogles and Protection of Information”, dated July 2006 (as amended), establishing a
system for the blocking of websites on the intethat make available specific categories of illdgédrmation related to child pornography,
encouraging suicide or drug use as well as otlstriceed information. The uniform register of domaames, website page locators and
network addresses enabling identification of wedss@in the internet commenced operation as of Nogehl2012. Roscomnadzor is
responsible for maintaining and operating the tegis

This register is intended to operate adgvd: after the inclusion of a specific websiten@bpage in the registry at the decision of the
relevant state authority (in the event of childrmamgraphy, information related to suicides and drsg) or on the basis of a court ruling (any
other restricted information), Roscomnadzor ndaitiee website hosting provider within 24 hours,ckhinust, in turn, notify within 24 hours
the administrator of the website in question. Ifdaing notification the website administrator fato take down the information, the hosting
provider must restrict the access to such informmatProvided that the information is still acceksiithin 3 days after notice is given to the
hosting provider, Roscomnadzor will include theatRiress of the website in the registry, which nbasblocked by all Russian internet service
providers and telecommunication service operatdéesertheless, it is possible to request exclusich@|P address from the registry in the
event the information in question has been takemnday the website administrator or hosting provider

The legal framework related to this blaskdf websites is controversial, and the procedestsblished by this law have been heavily
criticized by the general public, industry playersl legal scholars, and may well be revised. Roseodor issued a clarification on
November 30, 2012 specifying that search engir@gsraggregators and cached information used indhese of their operation will not |
included in the registry because they fall outsidescope of the law. At the same time, the regdaapproach may change and our operation
could face intervention by inappropriate applicatiad the websites blacklist legislation.

Further legislation is currently in placeRussia and utilized by authorities that allowscklng of websites that contain extremist
information (including containing calls for masstiing, extremist activity and participation in massemblies conducted in violation of
established procedure) at the
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request of certain governmental authorities witharigr notification. Only a subsequent post-blogkimotification to relevant website owner or
hosting provider is required.

The categories of illegal information toialhaccess can be restricted may be interpreteatlhyror be expanded. For example, in July
2014 Russian authorities ordered that access twalewvebsites be blocked on the basis of the vaolaif personal data regulations. The most
recent amendment to this legislation, which comésfiorce on May 1, 2015, has introduced the pdggibo require the permanent blocking
websites for violation of copyright and relatedhtigy There is no clarity as to how this measuréheilapplied in practice. Based on these
considerations and the uncertainties in the apjicaf these laws, we may be subject to arbittdogking measures, injunctions or court
decisions that may require us to block or removea@tt and may adversely affect our services andatipas. See "Risk Factors—We may be
held liable for information or content displayed oetrieved by or linked to our websites, or distited by our users, or we may be required to
block certain content, which could harm our regatand business."

Securities Regulatiot

The Federal Law No. 39-FZ "On the Secuwsitarket", dated April 22, 1996 (as amended) (Becurities Law"), contains the principal
regulations governing the issuance and circulatfogecurities and certain financial instrumentRirssia and outside Russia (when issued by
Russian issuer), and sets forth the rules for thegnent and circulation of foreign securities &indncial instruments in Russia. The Securitie:
Law requires Russian companies that intend to pladeitiate trading of their securities abroadfitain a preliminary approval from the
Central Bank.

Our Class A ordinary shares are currefighgdl on the NASDAQ Global Select Market and ineJ2614 were admitted to trading on
Moscow Exchange, therefore we are now requireatopdy with specific Russian regulation concerninfpimation disclosure, insider trading
and certain other requirements as may be appliéatéign issuers in Russia.

Antimonopoly Regulatior

The Federal Law No. 135-FZ "On Protectib@ompetition”, dated of July 26, 2006 (as amendgdints to the FAS as the antimonopoly
regulator wide powers and authorities to maintaimpetition in the market, including approval or ritoring of mergers and acquisitions,
establishment of rules of conduct for market playscupying dominant positions, prosecution of @ngngful abuse of a dominant position,
and the prevention of cartels and other antiapetitive agreements or practices. The regulator impose significant administrative fines (u
15% of the annual revenue derived in the marketavttee violation occurred) on market players thtse their dominant position or otherw
restrict competition, and is entitled to challemgatracts, agreements or transactions that arerpeetl in violation of the antimonopoly
regulation. We have a substantial market sharedarohline advertising market, however, we are acbgnized by the regulator as occupying &
dominant position in any market. However, we untderd that the regulator from time to time focusesnternet services and could in the
future recognize online advertising as a separatdan, and could identify dominant players and isgpoonduct limitations and other
restrictions. In addition, in February 2015, we madormal request to the Russian Federal Antimolyopervice (FAS) to open an
investigation into whether Google is using its doamit position to promote its search and other sesvibundled into a single package imposec
for pre-installation by device manufacturers, a#l agemploying exclusive dealing and other restrécpractices to increase its search market
share.
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Taxation Regulation

Taxation of legal entities and individuadRussia is regulated primarily by the Tax Codéhef Russian Federation. The scope and
application of the Tax Code is elaborated by numeregulations and clarifications from the MinistfyFinance of Russia and by the Federal
Tax Service, which enforces the tax laws. Russaanaw and procedures are still not sufficientlyeleped and local divisions of the Federal
Tax Service have considerable autonomy in tax faerpretation and often interpret tax rules incstesitly. Also, there is extensive court
practice on the construction of the Code's prowmssjevhich can sometimes be unpredictable or evetradictory. Both the substantive
provisions of the Russian tax law and the integifeh and application of those provisions by the$an tax authorities and by Russian courts
may be subject to rapid and unpredictable change."Bisk Factors—Changes in the Russian tax systampredictable or unforeseen
application of existing rules may materially adwdysaffect our business, financial condition ansutes of operations."

Applicability of Other Regulation:

Because our services are accessible tadussiguage speakers worldwide and are becomargasingly available to other users
globally, certain foreign jurisdictions, includinigose in which we have not established a locateffemployees or infrastructure, may require
us to comply with their local laws.

Item 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
ltem 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prosgcts.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with the " Selected
Consolidated Financial Information” section of this Annual Report and our consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing
elsewhere in this Annual Report. In addition to historical information, this discussion contains forward-looking statements based on our current
expectations that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-
looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth in the "Risk Factors' and "Forward-Looking Statements” sections and
elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Overview
We are one of the largest European intazogipanies and the leading search provider in Ruggir principal constituencies are:

. Users. We provide our users with advanced search capabiand an extensive range of online servicesghable them to fin
relevant, objective information quickly and easdg, well as communicate, connect and shop oveantamet.

. Advertisers. Our online advertising platform allows advertsty reach a large audience of users in their nseed deliver
cost-effective text-based and display advertisilgh Yandex.Direct, our auction-based advertisitagfprm, advertisers can
promote their products and services through releads targeted to a particular user query, theecardf a website or webpage
being viewed, or user behavior or characteris@us. Yandex.Market service allows merchants to athestheir goods and
services either using a traditional CPC advertisiglel or using a CPA model that charges advestisely when it delivers a
paying customer.
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. Yandex ad network partners. We have relationships with a large number oftimiarty websites, which we refer to as the
Yandex ad network. In addition to serving ads onawn websites, we also serve ads on our netwatk@as' websites and
share the fees generated by these ads with ourepsrproviding an important revenue stream fomthe

Our yandex.ru website first began genegatavenue in 1998. We became profitable in 2003heave been profitable every year since
then.

Advertising revenues accounted for 97.7863% and 98.8% of our total revenues in 2012, 20482014, respectively. Our advertising
revenues consist of fees charged to advertisersefoing text-based and display ads on our webaitdghose of our partners in the Yandex ac
network. Most of our revenues are generated froaliased advertising, with a smaller portion geteztdrom display advertising. We place
the significant majority of our text-based ads tlgb Yandex.Direct and the remainder through Yaridaret, our e-commerce gateway
service. We generally sell our text-based ads prepaid basis. Our Yandex.Direct advertisers payrua CPC basis, which means that we
recognize revenue only when a user clicks on ormupfdvertisers' ads. Our display advertisingeisegally sold on a cost-péreusand (CPM
impressions basis. An "impression" is a singleainse of sending an ad for display on a web browsether connected internet application.
For these ads, we recognize as revenue the feggecht advertisers when their ads are displayed.Yandex.Market service is priced on a
CPC basis, like Yandex.Direct, and also offers-pestaction, or CPA advertising, introduced in NaMr 2013, which recognizes revenue
from these ads only when the desired action hagroexat.

We recognize our advertising revenues healne added tax (currently 18.0% in Russia),satemmissions and customer credits.
Although the major part of our revenues is generatedirect sales to our advertisers, a signifigaotion of our advertising sales are sold
through media agencies. We recognize revenuesthiose advertising sales net of the commissionstpdigdese agencies.

We benefit from a large and diverse basadetrtisers. We had more than 460,000 advertise813 and more than 550,000 in 2014.
advertisers include individuals and small, mediurd krge enterprises across Russia and the othetras in which we operate, as well as
large multinational corporations. No particular adiser accounted for more than 1.5% of our t@aénues in 2012, 2013 or 2014. On a
geographical basis, we generated more than 93%rdbtal revenues in each of 2012 and 2013, ane ith@n 91% of our total revenues in
2014, from advertisers and other customers wilingibddresses in Russia, including the Russiainesffof large multinational advertisers.

We serve ads both on our own websites artti@websites of our partners in the Yandex adiort For text-based ads served on the
websites of our partners in the Yandex ad netwwekyecognize as revenue the fees paid to us bytébrs each time a user clicks on one of
their text-based ads or, for those advertisersnuglgr display ads on a cost-per-thousand imprasdiasis, as their ads are displayed. We pay
our partners in the Yandex ad network fees foringrour advertisers' ads on their websites. Thess ére primarily based on revenue-sharing
arrangements. As such, the fees paid to our paringéhe Yandex ad network are calculated as aptage of the revenues we earn by serving
ads on partners' websites. We account for theviegsay to our partners in the Yandex ad networtkadBic acquisition costs, a component of
cost of revenues. Since we launched our Yandexetdank in 2006, these costs annually have, in agges amounted to more than one-half o
the revenues we have earned from serving ads oriaghéex ad network and we expect them to contiouwdtso in the foreseeable future.
Yandex ad network partners do not pay us any fesscéaated with our serving ads on their websites.

Our agreements with our partners in thedéarad network generally have an indefinite termrbay be terminated by either party at will
with no termination fees. Agreements with largentipars in the Yandex ad network are individuallgoiated and vary in duration but
typically renew automatically. Our agreement withiMu, for which we began providing paid searciduty 2013, is
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subject to mutual, material early termination pgaalunder specified circumstances. In 2012, 2a48,2014, none of our ad network partners
accounted for more than 10% of our total reventne2014, Mail.ru continued to be our most signifitad network partner.

We believe the most significant factors thlluence our ability to continue to increase adwertising revenues include the following:

. the level of internet penetration and usage in Rumsd the other markets in which we operate;

. the absolute and relative level of traffic on oumowebsites and those of our partners in the Yamdiexetwork;

. the relevance, objectivity and quality of our séaresults and the quality of our other servicesdaittie Yandex ad network;

. our search market share, with a larger market shlboeing us to better monetize our users' seactikity and attract and retain

advertisers, as well as partners in our Yandexeagark;

. the demand for online advertising in Russia #redother markets in which we operate, particularhong small and medium-
size businesses;

. our ability to effectively monetize traffic genegdtby our websites and those of the Yandex ad nktpartners, including
through improvements to our advanced auction amdréiding placement system, while maintaining draative return on
investment for our advertisers; and

. our ability to effectively monetize mobile selanwhere the number of search queries is growingemaickly than desktop
queries.

Segments

Prior to 2014, we operated as a singleatpgy segment. During 2014, we revised our orgaioizal structure, separating several focus
areas into product lines and geographies. As dtresu Russian businesses are organized in fiegating segments:

. Russian Search and Portal, which includes all sesvbffered in Russia, Belarus and Kazakhstany tithe those described
below;

. Russian E-commerce (including the Yandex.Masketice);

. Media Services (including Yandex.Music, Kinogois, Yandex.TV program and Yandex.Kinoafisha);

. Taxi (including the Yandex.Taxi service);

. Classified Aggregators (including Yandex.Auto, Autp Yandex.Realty and Yandex.Job).

Additionally, our international operatioase organized in three operating segments:

. Turkish Search and Portal;
. Ukrainian Search and Portal; and
. Data Factory (including the Yandex.Data Factoryisej.

The Russian Search and Portal and Russ@minerce segments represent our two reportabieesgg. The additional operating
segments described above do not meet the quardithtiesholds for separate reporting and are ireclun the Other category. Please refer for
additional information to note 15 to our auditesisolidated financial statements included elsewhretkis Annual Report.
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Key Trends Impacting Our Results of Operations

Our results of operations are currentlyngéimpacted by the current macroeconomic envirorinmeRussia. This environment is
negatively impacting our rate of revenue growth andoperating margins. The depreciation of thesRunsruble has increased our U.S. dollar-
denominated expenses, including the rent on oucMedieadquarters and the acquisition of serversiatwlorking equipment, and generally
increased the rate of inflation in Russia. In addito the impact caused by the current macroecanenvironment, the trends described belov
are key drivers of our results of operations.

Our business and revenues have grown gagidte inception. The effectiveness of text-baegxekrtising as a medium has contributed to
the rapid growth of our business. Advertising spegaontinues to shift from offline to online agtimternet evolves and we expect that our
business will continue to grow. However, we exghat our revenue growth rate will continue to deelover time as a result of a number of
factors, including challenges in maintaining ourwth rate as our revenues increase to higher lewmelseasing competition, changes in the
nature of queries, the evolution of the overalimmkdvertising market and the declining rate ofigh in internet users in Russia as overall
internet penetration increases.

Our operating margins, representing ouotine from operations as a percentage of revenuesflutduate in the future depending on the
percentage of our advertising revenues that wereléom the Yandex ad network compared with our evesites. The operating margin we
realize on revenues generated from the websiteargbartners in the Yandex ad network is signifigatower than the operating margin
generated from our own websites. This lower opegathargin arises because of the cost of revenuésonegiven that we pay to our partners,
on average, more than one-half of the advertisteg fve earn from serving ads on Yandex ad netwelisites. The percentage of our
advertising revenues derived from the Yandex adowtincreased from 17.4% in 2012 to 20.8% in 28048 to 23.7% in 2014 and contribu
to the overall decline in our operating margin. Réerently expect that the portion of our advertisiavenues derived from the Yandex ad
network will remain stable in 2015. The principaiver of this is our agreement to power paid searciMail.ru, which began in July 2013.
Furthermore, the margin we earn, on average, ceniey generated from the Yandex ad network coultedse in the future if we are required
to share with our partners a greater percentagfeecddvertising fees generated through their wedsit

Growth in mobile search may also have gpaich on our operating margins. The number of seguehies from mobile telephones,
including both smartphones and feature phonestaidt devices is growing more quickly than desldapries. Queries from mobile phones
and tablet devices still, however, represented 88kt of our total search queries and slightly mbes 15% of texbased advertising revent
for the year ended December 31, 2014. To date,thrimamobile usage has not had a material impaauwrpricing, revenues or operating
margins; however, we have seen some evidencehiBagrowth may exert modest downward pressure omperating margins in the future.

Recent and future capital expenditures alsg put pressure on our operating margins. Outata@xpenditures increased from RUR
3,984 million in 2012 to RUR 4,936 million in 201&7d then increased to RUR 9,679 million in 2014 $@ent approximately 78% of our t
capital expenditures in 2014 on servers and datgecexpansion to support growth in our currentrafiens and potential international
expansion. Our depreciation and amortization expéias been gradually declining as a percentagevefites from 10.3% in 2012 to 9.4% in
2013 and to 8.8% in 2014. We currently expect aital expenditures in 2015 to increase as a p&rgerof revenues in comparison to 2014
due to the acquisition of additional servers, prilpdo increase the size of our search index whth goal of further enhancing the general
quality of our search and growing our search shisseour capital expenditures are to a significatt¢rt denominated in U.S. dollars and euro,
the recent depreciation
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of the Russian ruble will result in a material ie&se in capital expenditures and depreciation amattzation both as in absolute terms and as
percentage of revenues.

To support further brand enhancement asplared to competitive pressures, we spent largeuatadn 2013 and 2014 on advertising and
marketing than we have spent historically, bothlisolute terms and as a percentage of revenugniisant portion of our advertising and
marketing expense in 2013 and 2014 relates toffant®to build our brand and expand market shar€urkey, as well as to promote our
Yandex.Market and Yandex.Browser and to supporboand in Russia and the other markets in whicloperate. We expect to continue to
invest significantly in advertising and marketifdnis spending could negatively impact our operativaggin if it does not drive revenue gro\
in the manner that we anticipate.

Our operating margin may also decline essalt of entering into more arrangements withnpag that distribute our Yandex.Elements
collection of services or that otherwise directrebajueries to our website. We generally compermatalistribution partners on either a
revenuesharing basis or on the basis of the number oboawser toolbars or search bars installed. We déxpemontinue to expand the num
of our distribution relationships in order to inase our user base and to make it easier to aceessmwices.

One of our strategic objectives is to exparternationally. For example, in Turkey we oféevariety of services and apps for both deskto
and mobile platforms localized for that market liling search, mail, news, maps, traffic, weathmrsic, browser and mobile shell. As we
seek to increase our Turkish user base, we willicoa to incur costs to tailor our site to addrémspreferences and needs of users in Turkey
and to acquire local content and services. Internat expansion also requires the development wfteehnologies, such as technology for
storing web documents in different languages araiah@nt prioritization technology. Our internatioeapansion efforts will continue to
require us to incur additional costs that may dbate to a decline in our operating margins ungl succeed in building the user base necessa
to begin generating sufficient revenues in these jneisdictions to earn accretive operating mardireze. In addition, in certain countries we
may choose to pursue joint venture arrangemerdasasans of developing our local offerings. Suchragements may entail additional
financial commitments and risks.

Our revenues are impacted by seasonalfitions in internet usage and seasonality in adiggtexpenditures. Internet usage and
advertising expenditures generally slow down dutimgmonths of January, May, June and July, wheretare extended Russian public
holidays and vacations, and are significantly highahe fourth quarter of each year. Moreover,enditures by advertisers tend to be cyclical,
reflecting overall economic conditions, retail patis and advertising budgeting and buying patterns.

Inflation in Russia has also impacted @suits of operations and may continue to do soo/ling to Rosstat, the consumer price inde
Russia increased by 6.6%, 6.5% and 11.4% in 20023,2and 2014, respectively. The annual rate ddtioh increased in 2014 due to
depreciation of the Russian ruble. We can provisassurance that the annual rate of inflation mall appreciate further in 2015. Higher rates
of inflation may accelerate increases in our ofegaéxpenses and capital expenditures and redeceattie and purchasing power of our ruble
denominated assets, such as cash, cash equivahehtsrm deposits.

Changes in the value of the U.S. dollar parad with the Russian ruble can also negativégcabur results of operations. See
"Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About kitrRisk—Foreign Currency Exchange Risk."
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Recent Acquisitions
Seismotech

In July 2012, we completed the acquisitiba 25% ownership interest in Seismotech LLC, adfan-based geophysical data processing
company, for RUR 27 million. We also have a 3-yaation to buy another 25% interest in that compatng fixed price.

KinoPoisk

In October 2013, we completed the acquoisitf a 100% ownership interest in KinoPoisk LLGl atis subsidiary, the operator of the
largest and most comprehensive Russian-languagsiteetedicated to movies, television programs ateleities. In connection with this
acquisition, we paid cash consideration of $80.ianiin full upon the closing of the deal, includj $3.0 million paid into an escrow account.
The amount in escrow will be paid to the sellersl@nsecond anniversary of the closing assumingaroanty claims. A further description of
the acquisition and its accounting implications barfound in note 4 of our audited consolidatedritial statements included elsewhere in thi
Annual Report.

KitLocate

In March 2014, we completed the acquisititba 100% ownership interest in KitLocate Ltde theveloper of an energy-efficient
geolocation technology for mobile devices, for caghsideration of up to $10.2 million. The compasesf the consideration include
$4.0 million paid in full upon closing of the de&B.9 million paid into an escrow account that Ww#l released periodically during the four yt
following the completion date to the KitLocate fal@ms subject to their continued employment withamg] $2.3 million (RUR 84 million at the
exchange rate as of the acquisition date) of eatmpayments to be paid on the achievement of cediatribution milestones.

Auto.ru

In August 2014, we completed the acquisitd Auto.ru group ("Auto.ru™), one of the leadingline auto classifieds businesses in Russic
for cash consideration of $178.4 million paid il fupon closing of the deal, including $14.0 milipaid into an escrow account. The amount
in escrow will be paid to the sellers in two ingtahts, 50% on the date falling 18 months aftecctirapletion date and the remaining 50% on
the date falling 43 months after the completioredassuming no warranty claims.

ADFOX

In September 2014, we bought the assetassumed the liabilities of ADFOX LLC ("ADFOX") bumess, which, operates an advertising
technology platform that provides services for plag, managing and analyzing advertising campaignthe internet. We paid cash
consideration of $11.3, $8.5 million (RUR 336 nailliat the exchange rate as of the acquisition @@tehich was paid upon closing of the d
and $2.8 million of which will be paid to the sefien two tranches on the first and the secondwansary of the completion closing assuming
no warranty claims.

Other

During the year ended December 31, 2014;amepleted other acquisitions and purchases ofgilide assets for total consideration of
approximately RUR 347 million.

A further description of the acquisitiomsaheir accounting implications can be found itert of our audited consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report
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RosTaxi

In January 2015, we bought the assets ssuhzed the liabilities of the RosTaxi ("RosTaxiljsimess, which operates a taxi fleet
management application. We paid cash considerafiop to RUR 500 million, including a deferred pagmhof up to RUR 380 million, subje
to successful technical integration and client hesgsition, and contingent payment for post adtjarsservices of the founders of up to RUR
500 million payable in our Class A ordinary shasaghe third anniversary of the closing, dependindhe number of qualifying taxi trips.

Recent Dispositions
Face.com

In July 2012, we completed the sale ofmmunership interest in Face.com, Inc. (formerly Miformation Labs Ltd.) to a subsidiary of
Facebook, Inc. for cash consideration of $5.7 omlland 142,479 shares of Facebook, of which we3®@l71 shares in 2013 and 48,508
shares in 2014.

Yandex.Money

In July 2013, we completed the sale of @ {Ess one ruble) interest in Yandex.Money to Baek for $59.1 million in cash. Concurrent
with the sale of our interest in Yandex.Money, wmied a joint venture with Sberbank in respechif business, which continues under the
Yandex.Money brand. As a result of this sale, weodsolidated Yandex.Money and no longer show itnempayment commissions as
revenue. Since July 2013, we have accounted fod&aMoney using the equity method, and, therefeeerecord our share of the results of
operations of the joint venture within the othesdme, net, line on our consolidated statementsafme.

Results of Operations
The following table presents our historicahsolidated results of operations as a percemtbigyenues for the periods indicated:

Year ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
Revenue! 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Operating costs and expens
Cost of revenue 25.C 26.& 28.2
Product developmel 14.¢ 14.¢ 17.t
Sales, general and administrat 17.C 16.5 15.2
Depreciation and amortizatic 10.: 9.4 8.8
Total operating costs and expen 67.1 67.5 69.€
Income from operatior 32.¢ 32.t 30.2
Interest incomt 3.5 4.3 1.7
Other income, ne 0.4 5.5 12.4
Net income before income tax 36.€ 42.¢ 44.:
Provision for income taxe 8.2 8.2 10.€
Net income 28.6% 34.1% 33.%%
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Our consolidated operating margin has dese each year under review from 32.9% in 2012169 in 2013 and 30.2% in 2014. This
decrease was primarily due to increases in traffiquisition costs paid to our partners in the Yaratbnetwork each year as a percentage ¢
total revenues and to increases in rent expensésudble to additional office space we beganitens Moscow in May 2014 and to the fact
that rent for our Moscow headquarters is U.S. dallenominated.

The following table presents our historiggults of operations by reportable segment ferpriods indicated:

Year ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
Revenue:
Russian Search and Por 25,82¢ 35,29« 45,81«
Russian -commerce 2,081 2,907 3,13(
Other 1,15(C 1,68¢ 2,33¢
Eliminations (292) (38¢) (5117)
Total revenue 28,767 39,50: 50,767
Operating costs and expen:
Russian Search and Por 17,25( 22,94: 29,42(
Russian -commerce 41F 633 1,192
Other 1,56¢ 2,72¢ 4,137
Eliminations (292) (38¢) (5117)
Total operating costs and expen 18,937 25,917 34,23:
Adjusted operating inconr
Russian Search and Por 8,57¢ 12,35 16,39
Russian -commerce 1,66¢ 2,274 1,93¢
Other (4149 (1,039 (1,799
Eliminations — — —
Total adjusted operating incor 9,83( 13,59 16,53

Eliminations represent the eliminationmafnisaction results between the reporting unitspaily related to advertising. Operating costs
and expenses of reporting units excludes sharedliasapensation expense.
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Revenues

The following table presents our consokdatevenues, by source, in absolute terms anghascantage of total revenues for the periods

presented:

Advertising
revenues(l1)
Text-based

advertising:
Yandex
websites
Yandex ad
network
websites
Total text-
based
advertisin
Display
advertising:
Yandex
websites
Yandex ad
network
websites
Total display
advertising

Total advertising
revenue:

Online payment
commissions(2

Other revenue

Total revenue

Year ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
RUR % of Revenues RUR % of Revenues RUR % of Revenues
(in millions of RUR, except percentages
20,61( 71.6% 27,58¢ 69.8% 35,22¢ 69.4%
4,89¢ 17.1 7,88t 20.C 11,41( 22.F
25,50¢ 88.7 35,46¢ 89.6  46,63¢ 91.€
2,581 9.C 3,18¢ 8.1 3,034 6.0
11 — 194 0.4 47¢ 0.9
2,59: 9.C 3,37¢ 8.t 3,50¢ 6.9
28,10( 97.7  38,84¢ 98.2 50,147 98.¢
552 1.¢ 394 1.C — —
11F 0.4 26( 0.7 62( 1.2
28,76 100.% 39,50: 100.% 50,76 100.(%

(1)  We record revenue net of VAT, commissions and diet® Because it is impractical to track commissiand discounts
for advertising revenues generated on our own webaind on those of our partners in the Yandexeatark separately,
we have allocated commissions and discounts betageawn websites and those of our partners irYdredex ad
network proportionally to their respective revemoatributions.

(2) In connection with our sale of a 75% (less onea@biterest in Yandex.Money to Sberbank, we ceasearding online
payment commissions as revenues as of July 2018@mdccount for Yandex.Money using the equity rodttsee
"Recent Dispositions.

Advertising revenues.  Total advertising revenues increased by RURIA million, or 29.1%, from 2013 to 2014 and by RUR
10,748 million, or 38.2%, from 2012 to 2013. Advsrtg revenue growth over the periods under reviesulted primarily from growth in sales
of text-based ads, driven by an increase in thebaurof paid clicks and fluctuations in average -qmstclick paid by our advertisers. As a
result of current macroeconomic environment in Rysse currently expect the rate of advertisingerae growth in 2015, as compared to

2014, to decrease materially.

Paid clicks on our own websites togethaéhwhose of our Yandex ad network partners incré2886 from 2013 to 2014 and 38% from
2012 to 2013. The average cost-per-click on our eshsites together with those of our partners éthndex ad network increased 2% from
2013 to 2014 and 1% from 2012 to 2013, reflectungpdy and demand dynamics.
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During the periods under review, the yeagreyear rates of change in paid clicks and avecageper-click on a quarterly basis were as
follows:

Year-over-year Year-over-year

growth in paid growth in
Quarter clicks, % cos-per-click, %
First Quarter 201 61 (5)
Second Quarter 201 62 @)
Third Quarter 201. 35 5
Fourth Quarter 201 26 11
First Quarter 201. 18 14
Second Quarter 201 29 5
Third Quarter 201. 50 5)
Fourth Quarter 201 52 @)
First Quarter 201 49 (5)
Second Quarter 201 36 2
Third Quarter 201 19 8
Fourth Quarter 201 18 3

The fluctuations in paid clicks and in aage cost-peclick during the periods under review were driveimarily by the following factors

. Growth in the number of internet usersin Russia. The number of internet users in Russia grewcatnapound annual growth
rate of 12% from fall 2010 to fall 2014, reachir@yJ million, according to FOM. As internet usages karead, the rate of grov
has been declining, with the number of users insRLiscreasing by 12% from fall 2011 to fall 2092 from fall 2012 to fall
2013, and 9% from fall 2013 to fall 2014, accordiad-OM.

. Increased traffic and search market share; growth in mobile search queries. Our share of the Russian internet search market
increased from 60% in 2012 to 62% in 2013, prinidypas a result of improvements in our search emgilgorithms and more
traffic being delivered through new and existingtdbution partners. In 2014 our share decreas€d96. For the first quarter of
2015, our share was 59%. Mobile search traffic psraentage of our overall search traffic has lmeerinually growing and in
the full year 2014 comprised 22% of all search msgicompared with 14% in 2013, 10% in 2012 and®2011.

. Growth in the size of the Russian online advertising market. The total Russian online advertising market ghemn RUR
56.3 hillion in 2012, to RUR 71.7 billion in 2018&to RUR 84.6 billion in 2014, according to thesBian Association of
Communication Agencies ("AKAR"). According to ountérnal calculations (based on AKAR data), our sludrthe Russian
online advertising market was 59% in 2014.

The rate of change in paid clicks and ayerost-per-click, and their correlation with tlagerof increase in our revenues, may fluctuate
from period to period based on the factors desdrdimve, as well as other factors such as seaggraalivertiser competition for keywords, our
ability to launch enhanced advertising products seak to deliver increasingly targeted ads, tle talvertisers are willing to pay based on
they manage their advertising costs, and geneaalauic conditions.

Display advertising revenues.  Display advertising revenues accounted for axiprately 6.9% of total revenues in 2014, compavéh
8.5% in 2013 and 9.0% in 2012. The decrease in E)fpdmarily due to the macroeconomic environmiarRussia. We expect display
advertising revenues to be impacted more signifigahan text-based ad revenues by the current@oanenvironment.

Online payment commissions  Online payment commissions decreased from hbgdtal revenues for 2012 to 1.0% of total revenios
2013, reflecting our sale of a 75% (less one ruiblEyest in
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Yandex.Money to Sherbank in July 2013, followingiethwe no longer record Yandex.Money's online payneemmissions as revenue. We
concurrently formed a joint venture with Sberbanthwespect to the Yandex.Money business and n@ewt for Yandex.Money using the
equity method of accounting.

Other revenues.  Other revenues principally represent paid ses/and sublease revenues. Other revenues douwlded the
development of paid non-advertising services sgobua Yandex.Taxi service.

Revenues by reportable segment.  Our revenues attributable to Russian SearchPaniél segment increased by RUR 10,520 million, or
29.8%, from 2013 to 2014 and by RUR 9,466 million36.7%, from 2012 to 2013. The growth in thisreegt's revenues is in line with
growth in our advertising revenues. Russian SeanchPortal revenues accounted for approximate99®f total revenues in 2014, comparec
with 89.3% in 2013 and 89.8% in 2012.

Our revenues attributable to Russian E-ceramsegment increased by RUR 223 million, or 7frétn 2013 to 2014 and by RUR
826 million, or 39.7%, from 2012 to 2013. Russiandinmerce revenues accounted for approximately @Pital revenues in 2014,
compared with 7.4% in 2013 and 7.2% in 2012. Theralese of this segment's share in total revenu28li4 is primarily due to impact of the
macroeconomic environment in Russia following tlymi§icant depreciation of the Russian ruble andéasing competition in the industry.

Our revenues attributable to the other afirey segments increased by RUR 645 million, 02%8.from 2013 to 2014 and by RUR
539 million, or 46.9%, from 2012 to 2013. Theseamyes accounted for approximately 4.6% of totaémeres in 2014, compared with 4.3% in
2013 and 4.0% in 2012.

Operating Costs and Expenses

Our operating costs and expenses consisifof revenues; product development expenskes, ggeneral and administrative expenses;
and depreciation and amortization expense. In imthdid the reasons discussed below with respesat¢h category, we generally expect our
total operating costs and expenses to increadesiniete terms and as a percentage of revenues imetlr term; see "—Key Trends Impacting
Our Results of Operations".

Cost of revenues.  Cost of revenues consists primarily of traffaqjuisition costs. Traffic acquisition costs are éimounts paid to our
partners in the Yandex ad network for serving ewt-based and display ads on their websites andrtpartners who distribute our
Yandex.Elements collection of services or otherwdisect search queries to our websites. These atmawa primarily based on revenue-
sharing arrangements. Some of our distributionngastare compensated on the basis of the numbnafex browser toolbars or search bars
installed.

The agreements with our distribution padrovide for payment of fees to them on a nonndéble basis following the period in which
the distribution fees are earned. We do not hastarsdard term or termination provision that appieeagreements with our distribution
partners. Our largest distribution partner sincéZ@pera, accounted in aggregate for 23.7% otimtribution costs in 2014, 28% in 2013 ¢
37% in 2012. The Opera agreement also provides i&-month "revenue tail" period should that agresinbe terminated.

Cost of revenues also includes the expessssciated with the operation of our data cenieefjding related personnel costs, rent,
utilities and telecommunications bandwidth cosssyall as content acquisition costs.
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The following table presents the primarypmnents of our cost of revenues in absolute tammdsas a percentage of revenues for the
periods presented:

Year ended December 31
2012 2013 2014
(in millions of RUR,

except percentages)

Traffic acquisition costs
Traffic acquisition costs related to the Yande

network 3,12¢ 5,37 7,52(
Traffic acquisition costs related to distributior
partners 1,652 2,47: 3,55¢€
Total traffic acquisition cosi 4,78( 7,85C  11,07¢
as a percentage of revenues 166% 199% 21.8%
Other cost of revenu 2,40¢ 2,75¢ 3,26(
as a percentage of revenues 84% 7.0% 6.4 %
Total cost of revenue 7,18¢ 10,60¢ 14,33¢
as a percentage of revenues 250% 268% 282%

Cost of revenues increased by RUR 3,730amjlor 35.2%, from 2013 to 2014, primarily dueat®UR 3,226 million increase in traffic
acquisition costs, and by RUR 3,418 million, or6%8, from 2012 to 2013, primarily due to an increaSRUR 3,070 million in traffic
acquisition costs. The majority of our traffic aggjtion costs relate to the Yandex ad network, wittmaller portion relating to distribution
relationships. Traffic acquisition costs relatinghe Yandex ad network, both for our text-basetl@um display advertising, increased by
RUR 2,143 million from 2013 to 2014 and by RUR & Million from 2012 to 2013, representing our Yaxde network partners' share in an
increased amount of Yandex ad network revenuehfoperiod, with the principal driver of this incseabeing our agreement to power paid
search on Mail.ru starting from July 1, 2013. lnliéidn, the amounts paid to our distribution pargn@creased by RUR 1,083 million from
2013 to 2014 and by RUR 821 million from 2012 td 2@ue to growth in our existing distribution réatships, as well as the addition of new
distribution partners. As a percentage of totaknees, traffic acquisition costs increased fron6%6in 2012 to 19.9% in 2013 and 21.8% in
2014, representing the increase in our Yandex aalank revenues as a share of total revenues. Vititée traffic acquisition costs increased,
network partner traffic acquisition costs as a patage of network partner revenues remained brdkad)yat 63% in 2014 compared with 66%
in 2013 and 64% in 2012, and distribution traffoaisition costs as a percentage of text-basedumaefrom our own sites remained flat, at
8% of text-based revenue in 2012, 9% in 2013 arid% of text-based revenue in 2014.

Other cost of revenues decreased as anageeof total revenues from 7.0% in 2013 to 6.4%014, but increased by RUR 504 million
in absolute terms mainly due to an increase of R@Rmillion in personnel costs, RUR 254 millionciontent acquisition and costs for
outsourced services, RUR 119 million of rent arilities costs related mainly to our Moscow premiaad RUR 40 million in additional share-
based compensation expense. The increases welieqigaet by the absence of the cost of online paytrtommissions and other cost of
revenues related to Yandex.Money of RUR 136 milltarting from July 2013. The increase in persocnsts over those periods was driven
primarily by growth in our headcount that is alltezhto cost of revenues, from 380 as of Decembg2@12, including 67 employees of
Yandex.Money, to 387 as of December 31, 2013 addioas of December 31, 2014.

In 2013, other cost of revenues increageB R 348 million compared to 2012, primarily deean increase of RUR 168 million in
personnel costs, RUR 170 million in rent and ugi$itcosts related mainly to our data centers, RRIRiHlion in additional costs for outsourced
services and RUR 28 million in additional sharedashsompensation expense, partly offset by RUR 3@omidecrease in costs of sales relatec
to Yandex.Money.

81




Table of Contents

We anticipate that cost of revenues wilitimue to increase in absolute terms primarily assalt of increases in traffic acquisition, cor
and data center costs, but will remain flat asragrgage of revenues in the near term. The primdawgrs of increases in our future traffic
acquisition costs are the increase of revenueseatefrom the websites of our partners in the Yaraxetwork, as well as the extent to which
we use distribution partners to direct search @sei our website, partly offset by the changdéix of Yandex ad network partners to
partners with more favourable terms. In additiau, toaffic acquisition costs as a percentage okdibing revenues may fluctuate in the future
based on whether we are successful in negotiatorg Mandex ad network and distribution arrangemtrasprovide for lower revenue-
sharing obligations or, alternatively, in less fealle revenue-sharing arrangements as result ifased competition for these arrangements
with existing and potential new partners results.

Product development.  Product development expenses consist primafipersonnel costs incurred for the developmeritarnement
and maintenance of our search engine and othere%asetvices and technology platforms. We also oeltent and utilities attributable to
office space occupied by development staff in pobdievelopment expenses. We expense product deweltprosts as they are incurred.

The following table presents our productalepment expenses in absolute terms and as arpageeof revenues for the periods presel

Year ended December 31
2012 2013 2014
(in millions of RUR,
except percentages)

Product development expen: 4,27¢ 5,82 8,84:
as a percentage of revenues 149% 14.8% 175%

Product development expenses increased W 8015 million, or 51.7%, from 2013 to 2014 arydRUR 1,553 million, or 36.3%, from
2012 to 2013. These increases were primarily duecteases in personnel expenses, office rentés éosour Moscow headquarters, which
U.S. dollar denominated, and share-based compengasulting from increases in headcount and saleey the periods. Development
personnel headcount increased from 2,027 as ofrileee31, 2012, including 71 employees of Yandex.&fomo 2,924 as of December 31,
2013 and to 3,329 as of December 31, 2014. As@eptage of revenues, product development expensesased from 2013 to 2014 reflecting
more rapid growth in personnel costs. As a pergentd revenues, product development expenses dectstightly from 2012 to 2013
reflecting more rapid growth in revenues from trendlex ad network compared with revenues from YamgEhsites. Because product
development expenses are primarily attributabMandex websites and services development, expaps$iiie Yandex ad network does not
require proportionate increases in this expensgoay.

In light of the current macroeconomic enuiment, we anticipate that product development esge will increase in absolute terms and a
a percentage of revenues in 2015.

Sales, general and administrative.  Sales, general and administrative expensesstaisompensation and office rent expenses for
personnel engaged in customer service, sales,sggort, finance, human resources, facilitiegrimfation technology and legal functions; 1
for professional services; and advertising and etarg expenditures.
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The following table presents our salesegainand administrative expenses in absolute tamdsas a percentage of revenues for the
periods presented:

Year ended December 31
2012 2013 2014

(in millions of RUR,
except percentages)

Sales, general and administrative expel 4,90( 6,531 7,78
as a percentage of revenues 17.0% 165% 153%

Sales, general and administrative expeimsesased by RUR 1,245 million, or 19.0%, from 2662014 and by RUR 1,637 million, or
33.4%, from 2012 to 2013, but decreased as a pageif revenues from 2013 to 2014. The increasbsolute terms was due to increases ir
personnel expenses of RUR 547 million in 2014 caexgbéo 2013 and of RUR 210 million in 2013 compai@e@012. The increase in
personnel expenses resulted from a rise in sad@rgl and administrative headcount from 1,354 &eoember 31, 2012, including 137
employees of Yandex.Money, to 1,591 as of Decer@beP013 and to 1,826 as of December 31, 2014dditian, increased headcount and
depreciation of the Russian ruble resulted in gpoading increases in allocable office rent anlities of RUR 340 million in 2014 compared
to 2013 and of RUR 99 million in 2013 compared @2 The increase in headcount across all fundtemess from 2014 to 2013 also resultec
in increases in general and administrative expemselsiding an increase of RUR 105 million in buess travel expenses partially driven by the
geographical expansion of our business, and RURIBi®n in recruiting and training expenses.

With respect to 2014 compared to 2013, tamdil factors contributing to the overall increagere an increase of RUR 71 million in share:
based compensation expense, and an increase ofiRRJRiillion in bank commission expenses as weeddad record commissions for online
payments processing by Yandex.Money since July 2048 respect to 2013 compared to 2012, an addititactor contributing to the overall
increase was an increase of RUR 808 million in athirg and marketing expenses driven primarilyirgreased advertising and marketing
expenses in Russia and in Turkey, RUR 143 milliokegal, audit and consulting expenses, RUR 13Bamiin share-based compensation
expense, RUR 122 million in business travel expgnR&R 52 million in recruiting and training expeasand RUR 83 miillion in bank
commission expenses related to Yandex.Money.

While sales, general and administrativeeeiges increased in absolute terms, the corresppddirease of sales, general and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revém2€44 compared to 2013 reflects a more robusithr in revenues than in these types of
expenses.

We anticipate that our sales, general @miristrative expenses will continue to increasahsolute terms and as a percentage of rev:
in 2015 as we continue to invest in our businebese increases will relate primarily to increasespnnel and office rent expenses, as well a
anticipated increases in advertising and marketkpgenses.

Depreciation and amortization.  Depreciation and amortization expense relatéld depreciation of our property and equipmentiniy
servers and networking equipment, leasehold impneves, data center equipment and office furnitang, the amortization of our intangible
assets with definite lives.
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The following table presents our depreoiatind amortization expense in absolute terms ardpgrcentage of revenues for the periods
presented:

Year ended December 31
2012 2013 2014
(in millions of RUR,
except percentages)
Depreciation and amortization expel 2,951 3,69¢ 4,48¢

as a percentage of revenues 10.3% 9.4% 8.8%

Depreciation and amortization expense ased by RUR 789 million, or 21.4%, from 2013 to 2@hd by RUR 744 million, or 25.2%,
from 2012 to 2013. The increases in absolute téom8014 as compared to 2013 and for 2013 as cadgar2012 were primarily due to RUR
313 million and RUR 539 million increases, respesdii, in depreciation expense related to serverratdork equipment and infrastructure
systems, RUR 310 million and RUR 138 million inces, respectively, in amortization expense relaiguirchased technologies and licenses
and RUR 48 million and RUR 57 million increasespectively, in depreciation expense related taeffurniture and equipment. In 2014
compared to 2013, the increase in absolute termsalga attributable to a RUR 131 million increaseaiinortization expense related to
intangible assets. The increases in depreciatidraarortization expense for these categories waethdt of capital expenditures in 2012, 2
and 2014 and the acquisitions of new businesselsidimg SPB Software in November 2011, Kinopoisiictober 2013 and Auto.ru in August
2014.

We anticipate that depreciation and amatitin expense will increase in absolute terms @nal gercentage of revenues in the near term
we continue to invest in our technology infrastumetand in business acquisitions. The recent digtiee of the Russian ruble will also result
in material increase in our capital expenditured @spective depreciation and amortization.

Share-based compensation.  In our consolidated statements of income, shased compensation expense is recorded in the same
functional area as the expense for the recipieash compensation. As a result, share-based coatpenexpense is allocated among our cos
of revenues, product development expenses and gelesral and administrative expenses.

The following table presents our aggregagre-based compensation expense in absolute a@dres a percentage of revenues for the
periods presented:

Year ended December 31
2012 2013 2014
(in millions of RUR,

except percentages)

Share-based compensation expel 37¢€ 754  1,21(
Share-based compensation expense as a percentage of
revenues 13% 19% 24%

Share-based compensation expense incregdRdR 456 million, or 60.5%, from 2013 to 2014caese of new equity-based awards
granted in 2013 and 2014 and material depreciatidghe Russian ruble, as share-based compensafi@mse is denominated in U.S. dollars.

Share-based compensation expense incregfRdR 378 million, or 100.5%, from 2012 to 2018narily because of new equity-based
awards granted in 2012 and 2013.

We anticipate that share-based compensexipanse will increase in absolute terms and a&s@eptage of revenues in near term becaus
of new equity-based awards and recent depreciafitiee Russian ruble.
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Operating Costs and Expenses by reportable segments.  Our operating costs and expenses attributaltleet Russian Search and Portal
segment increased by RUR 6,477 million, or 28.2&mf2013 to 2014 and by RUR 5,693 million, or 33,@8m 2012 to 2013. These
increases were primarily due to increases in tratiquisition costs, depreciation and amortizagigpense, and personnel expenses and
allocable office rent and utilities resulting frantreases in headcount and salary over the peNgidb.respect to 2013 compared to 2012, an
additional factor contributing to the overall inase was an increase of RUR 486 million in advexdisind marketing expenses.

Our operating costs and expenses attrilutalihe Russian E-commerce segment increasedUi®/369 million, or 88.3%, from 2013 to
2014 and by RUR 218 million, or 52.5%, from 20126€1.3. These increases were primarily due to iserea personnel expenses and
allocable office rent and utilities resulting frantreases in headcount and salary over the peamage continue to invest in the developmel
the service. With respect to 2014 compared to 28a&dditional factor contributing to the overaltiease was an increase of RUR 209 milliol
in advertising and marketing expenses.

Our operating costs and expenses attrilritalihe other operating segments increased by RYR) million, or 51.8%, from 2013 to
2014 and by RUR 1,159 million, or 74.1%, from 2@&2013. These increases were primarily due teceames in personnel expenses and
allocable office rent and utilities resulting frantreases in headcount and salary over the peNgib.respect to 2013 compared to 2012, an
additional factor contributing to the overall inase was an increase of RUR 306 million in advexdisind marketing expenses.

Interest Income, Net

Interest income, net consists of interashed on our cash, cash equivalents, term defositinvestments in debt securities, partially
offset by interest expense representing couporaarattization of debt discount and issuance coisekto our convertible notes issued in
December 2013. We derive a considerable portiayuointerest income from ruble term deposits helthajor Russian banks. Investments in
term deposits, money market funds and debt seesititeld in the Netherlands generally yield consildigriower returns.

Interest income, net decreased from RUR7Lillion in 2013 to RUR 856 million in 2014, asesult of recording interest expense of
RUR 1,091 representing coupon and amortizatiorebf discount and issuance costs related to ourectble notes issued in December 2013.

Interest income, net increased from RURZ @illion in 2012 to RUR 1,717 million in 2013,ipcipally as a result of investing more of
our cash from operating activities in Russia, whareinvestments earn significantly higher returns.

Other Income, Net

Our other income net primarily consist§argign exchange gains and losses generally raguitbom changes in the value of the U.S.
dollar compared with the Russian ruble, and otloeroperating gains and losses, including gains fiteersale of equity securities/subsidiaries.
gain from repurchases of convertible notes ancekasd impairment of investments in equity se@giti
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The following table presents the componentsur other income, net in absolute terms ana psrcentage of revenues, for the periods
presented:

Year ended
December 31,
2012 2013 2014
(in millions of RUR,
except percentages

Foreign exchange (losses)/ga (57) 13¢ 6,55
Gain from sale of equity securities/subsidia 234 2,137 —
Gain from repurchases of convertible d — — 54¢
Impairment of investments in equity securil — — (700
Other (59 (117) (10%)
Total other income, nt¢ 118 2,15¢  6,29¢
Total other income, net, as a percentage of revenues 04% 55% 124%

Because the functional currency of our aperg subsidiaries in Russia is the Russian rudblanges in the ruble value of these subsidi:
monetary assets and liabilities that are denomihiatether currencies (primarily the U.S. dollabedo exchange rate fluctuations are
recognized as foreign exchange gains or lossesrimoome statement. In 2012 and 2013, we recardedr primary Russian subsidiary as
other income, net a RUR 57 million loss and a RZR tillion gain in 2012 and 2013, respectivelysig from changes in the value of the
U.S. dollar compared with the Russian ruble duthmgyear. In 2014, because of the material degieniaf the ruble, we recorded foreign
exchange gain of RUR 6,524 million. Although th&Udollar value of our U.S. dollar-denominated ¢asish equivalents and term deposits
are not impacted by these currency fluctuationsy tlesult in upward and downward re-valuationshefruble equivalent of these U.S. dollar-
denominated monetary assets.

In 2012, gain from the sale of equity séms/subsidiaries represents the gain from the shbur ownership interest in Face.com Inc. In
2013, gain from the sale of equity securities/sdibsies primarily consisted of a RUR 2,035 milligain from our sale of a 75% (less one ru
interest in Yandex.Money to Sberbank in July 200832014, we repurchased $150 million in principalcaint of our outstanding convertible
notes for $131.1 million resulting in a gain of RBR&8 million. Also in 2014, we recorded an impainhen our minority equity investment in
Blekko Inc. of RUR 700 million.

Items recognised as "Other" in "Other inepmet" includes equity income from securities/aliesies changes in the fair value of
derivative instruments and other non-operating gaimd losses.

Provision for Income Taxes
The following table presents our provisionincome taxes and effective tax rate for thequer presented:

Year ended December 31
2012 2013 2014
(in millions of RUR,
except percentages)
Provision for income taxe 2,351 3,23¢ 5,45
Effective tax rate 22.2% 19.4% 24.2%

Our provision for income taxes increasedtyR 2,216 million from 2013 to 2014 and by RUR 88#@lion from 2012 to 2013, primarily
as a result of an increase in taxable income.
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Our effective tax rate increased by 4.&pertage points from 2013 to 2014. Our effectivertd® was higher in 2014 than in 2013 becaus
in the first quarter of 2014 we began to accrueaféf6 dividend withholding tax on the portion o tturrent year profit of our principal
Russian operating subsidiary that we consideredonioé permanently reinvested in Russia. AdjustedHiis tax, our effective tax rate for 2014
would have been 22.2%.

Our effective tax rate decreased by 2.8qretage points from 2012 to 2013 primarily reflegta significant notaxable gain from the s¢
of Yandex.Money in July 2013. Adjusted for thismadur effective tax rate for 2013 would have b22ri%.

See "Critical Accounting Policies, Estimsassnd Assumptions—Tax Provisions" for addition&bimation about our provision for income
taxes.

A reconciliation of our statutory income tate to our effective tax rate is set forth inen0 of our audited consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report

Quarterly Results of Operations

The following tables present our unauddedrterly results of operations in rubles and psraentage of revenue for the eight consecutiv
quarters ended December 31, 2014. You should heafbliowing tables together with our consolidatiéncial statements and related notes
contained elsewhere in this Annual Report. We tprepared the unaudited quarterly information onstirae basis as our audited consolidate
financial statements. These tables include norewirring adjustments that we consider necessary fair presentation of our results of
operations for the quarters presented.

Both seasonal fluctuations in internet @sagd seasonality in advertising expenditures hffeeted, and are likely to continue to affect,
our business. Internet usage and advertising exjpeesl generally slow down during the summer moatig increase significantly in the fou
quarter of each year. Moreover, expenditures bydibers tend to be cyclical, reflecting overalbeamic conditions and budgeting and buy
patterns.

Because the functional currency of our apeg subsidiaries in Russia is the Russian rudblanges in the ruble value of these subsidit
monetary assets and liabilities that are denomihiatether currencies (primarily the U.S. dolladedo exchange rate fluctuations are
recognized as foreign exchange gains or lossesrimoome statement. As a result, our quarterlylte®f operations have been and will likely
continue to be affected by the impact of foreigmency fluctuations on our reported results of atiens, particularly changes in the value of
the U.S. dollar as compared to the Russian ruble.
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Our operating results for any quarter arenecessarily indicative of results for any futqrerters or for a full year.

Quarter ended
Mar 31, Jun 30, Sep 30, Dec 31, Mar 31, Jun 30, Sep 30, Dec 31,
2013 2013 2013 2013 2014 2014 2014 2014

(in millions of RUR)

Consolidated
statements of
income data:
Revenue:! 7,99¢ 9,19¢ 10,21¢ 12,08¢ 10,88: 12,15¢ 13,057 14,66
Operating costs
and expense!

Cost of

revenues(1l 1,97¢ 2,15¢ 2,931 3,541 3,332 3,427 3,57( 4,007
Product

developmen

Q) 1,32¢ 1,381 1,467 1,651 2,00¢ 2,07¢ 2,08¢ 2,67¢
Sales, general

and

administrati

(1) 1,36° 1,53( 1,661 1,98: 1,76z 1,907 1,81C 2,30:
Depreciation

and

amortization 87¢ 912 914 99C 1,06¢ 1,11« 1,09t 1,20¢
Total operating

costs and

expense: 5,54¢ 5,981 6,97° 8,16¢ 8,167 8,527 8,561 10,18¢
Income from

operations 2,45¢ 3,21¢ 3,24¢ 3,921 2,71¢ 3,631 4,49¢ 4.47¢
Interest income,

net 36¢ 452 482 414 172 20z 224 257
Other

(expense)/incc

net 26 17 2,022 94 66¢& (617) 1,07C 5,17¢
Income before

income taxe: 2,847 3,687 5,75(C 4,42¢ 3,55¢ 3,217 5,79(C 9,91(
Provision for

income taxe! 601 772 78< 1,08: 87¢ 821 1,41¢ 2,33¢
Net income 2,24¢ 2,91°F 4,967 3,34¢ 2,68( 2,39¢ 4,372 7,572

(1) These amounts exclude depreciation and amortizatipense, which is presented separately, and iedhbdre-based
compensation expens

Quarter ended
Mar 31, Jun 30, Sep 30, Dec 31, Mar 31, Jun 30, Sep 30. Dec 31,
2013 2013 2013 2013 2014 2014 2014 2014

As a percentage

of revenues:
Revenue: 100.% 100.% 100.(% 100.% 100.(% 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Operating costs

and expense:

Cost of

revenues(1l 24.7 23.t 28.7 29.2 30.€ 28.2 27.2 27.2
Product

developmen

(1) 16.€ 15.C 14.4 13.7 18.4 17.C 16.C 18.:
Sales, general

and

administrativ

Q) 17.C 16.€ 16.2 16.4 16.Z 15.7 13.¢ 15.7
Depreciation

and

amortization 11.C 9.9 8.9 8.2 9.8 9.2 8.4 8.2

Total operating



costs and

expense: 69.2 65.C 68.2 67.€ 75.C 70.1 65.€ 69.5
Income from

operations 30.7 35.C 31.7 324 25.C 29.¢ 34.4 30.t
Interest incomt 4.€ 4.9 4.8 34 1.€ 1.7 1.7 1.8
Other

(expense)/inca

net 0.3 0.2 19.€ 0.8 6.1 (5.1) 8.2 35.2
Income before

income taxe: 35.¢ 40.1 56.2 36.€ 32.7 26.E 44 ¢ 67.€
Provision for

income taxe: 7.5 8.4 7.7 8.9 8.1 6.8 10.& 16.C
Net income 28.1% 31.% 48.6% 27.1% 24.% 19.% 33.5% 51.6%

(1) These amounts exclude depreciation and amortizatipense, which is presented separately, and iadhdre-based
compensation expens
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2014, we had RUR 49rhiltlon in cash, cash equivalents, and term depo€iash equivalents consist of bank
deposits with original maturities of three montidess, current term deposits consist of bank depadth original maturities of more than
three months but no more than one year, and naestuierm deposits are bank deposits with origimafurities of more than one year. Our
current treasury policy permits us to hold up t&56f our total cash, cash equivalents, term depasitl debt securities in U.S. dollars and,
additionally, to accumulate U.S. dollars for repayrnof our convertible debt in 2018. In order tbiage this split of our currency holdings, we
currently convert a portion of the rubles receifrein operations, as well as from maturing deposits, U.S. dollars. We maintain our U.S.
dollar-denominated accounts principally in the Mefd@inds and in Russia. Our U.S. dollar-denominht#dings as of December 31, 2014
accounted for approximately 54.7% of our cash, eaghvalents and term deposits.

The net proceeds to us in December 2018 the sale of our 1.125% convertible senior notesdecember 15, 2018, were approxims
$593.9 million; we also received net proceeds & 3$8nillion related to the exercise of the undetevg' overallotment option in January 201
From time to time, we repurchase and retire outstannotes. During 2014, we repurchased and retiredggregate of $150.0 million face
amount of the outstanding notes for $131.3 millibhe notes are convertible into cash, our Claskakes or a combination of cash and Cla
shares, at our election, under certain circumstrised on an initial conversion rate of 19.44€k shares per $1,000 principal amount of
notes (which represents an initial conversion poicapproximately $51.45 per share), subject tastdjent on the occurrence of certain event:
A further description of the accounting treatmeatated to the notes can be found in note 11 ohadited consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Thosegeds were received by our parent company, a Ddltling company that generates no
operating cash flow itself.

Other than the proceeds from our convertitdte offering, our principal source of liquiditgs been cash flow generated from the
operations of our Russian subsidiaries. Under ouReissian legislation, there are no restrictiom®wor ability to distribute dividends from our
Russian operating subsidiaries to our parent dtfger a requirement that dividends be limited todimaulative net profits of our Russian
operating subsidiaries, calculated in accordandle Riissian accounting principles. The cumulativiepnefit of our Russian subsidiaries
calculated in accordance with Russian accountimgimles differs from the cumulative net profit calated in accordance with U.S. GAAP
primarily due to the treatment of accrued expefisash as rent, sales agency commissions, unusetiocdeferred tax and bad debt reser
and differences arising from the capitalization degreciation of property and equipment. In additibhese dividends cannot result in negative
net assets at our Russian subsidiaries or render itsolvent. Pursuant to applicable Russian statutiles, the amount that our Russian
operating subsidiary would be permitted to pay di/@lend to our parent company as of DecembeRB14 was approximately RUR
53,980 million ($959.5 million).

We are required to pay 5% withholding taxadl dividends paid from our Russian operatingsgdiaries to our parent company. We did
not provide for dividend withholding taxes on theemitted earnings of our foreign subsidiaries@d2 and earlier years because they were
considered permanently reinvested outside of thbéMiands. Starting in 2014, we have began to acitnua 5% dividend withholding tax on
the portion of the current year profit of our piipad Russian operating subsidiary that is considle to be permanently reinvested in Russia
As of December 31, 2014, the cumulative amountoémitted earnings upon which dividend withholdiages have not been provided is
approximately RUR 44,787 million ($796.1 million)le estimate that the amount of the unrecognizeerdzf tax liability related to these
earnings is approximately RUR 2,239 million ($39m#lion). See "Risk Factors—Taxes payable on dividls from our Russian operating
subsidiaries to our parent company might not béfreiin relief under the Netherlands-Russia taxtyréaVe do not have any current plan to
pay cash dividends on our shares in the near term.
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As of December 31, 2014, we had no outstaniddebtedness other than the convertible nates2618. We do not currently maintain :
line of credit or other similar source of liquidity

Cash Flows
In summary, our cash flows were:

Year ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
(in millions of RUR)
Net cash provided by operating activit 11,52¢ 14,70¢ 15,54¢
Net cash used in investing activiti (20,190 (710) (28,589
Net cash provided by/(used in) financi
activities 361 11,46. (11,707
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ (205) 513 9,001

Cash provided by operating activities.  Cash provided by operating activities congsi$tset income adjusted for certain non-cash items,
including depreciation and amortization expensaresthased compensation expense, deferred tax tiexdinse, foreign exchange gains and
losses, gain from repurchase of convertible natelstiae effect of changes in working capital.

Cash provided by operating activities iased by RUR 841 million from 2013 to 2014. Thisr@ase was primarily due to an increase of
RUR 3,546 million in net income, offset by a deseaf RUR 1,715 million in non-cash adjustmentsdbincome and a decrease of RUR
990 million in cash provided by changes in workaagital. The change in adjustments for non-cashsteras primarily due to fluctuations in
foreign exchange gains of RUR 6,414 million. Castvjaled by working capital decreased between th®ge primarily due to significant
increases in prepaid expenses and other asseisipatly arising from an increase in interest reable accrued.

From 2012 to 2013, cash provided by opegadictivities increased by RUR 3,176 million. Timsrease was primarily due to an increase
of RUR 5,251 million in net income, offset by a de=se of RUR 1,301 million in non-cash adjustmémtset income, and a decrease of RUR
774 million in cash provided by changes in workaagital. The change in adjustments for non-cashsteas primarily due to gain of RUR
1,903 million from the sale of equity securitiesflecting our sale of a 75% (less one ruble) irgkire Yandex.Money in July 2013.

We believe that our existing cash, cashvadgnts and cash generated from operations wiiusficient to satisfy our currently anticipated
cash requirements through at least the next 12hmomb the extent that our cash, cash equivalentsash from operating activities are
insufficient to fund our future activities, we mbg required to raise additional funds through gguiitdebt financings, including bank credit
arrangements. Additional financing may not be add on terms favorable to us or at all.

Cash used in investing activities.

Cash used in investing activities in 20deréased by RUR 27,879 million compared to 2018 msult of an increase of investments in
term deposits (net of proceeds) of RUR 9,763 nmillincreases in capital expenditures of RUR 4,74f3om and of investments in debt
securities of RUR 2,546 million, offset by decresseproceeds from maturities of debt securitieROR 4,394 million, in proceeds from sale
of non-marketable equity securities of RUR 1,908iam, in the amount of cash paid for the acquisitbf new businesses of RUR
3,922 million, and cash placed in escrow of RUR GBon related to contingent compensation paydblthe sellers of Auto.ru and Kitlocate.
Cash paid for acquisitions of businesses in 20&#dphcash acquired, primarily consists of casli @i Auto.Ru in August 2014. Investments
in debt securities consist of cash paid for Russ@porate bonds and Russian government bonds.
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Cash used in investing activities in 20&8réased by RUR 9,480 million compared to 2012ras@t of increases in RUR 3,448 million
in proceeds from maturing debt securities and RUE 4 million in proceeds from the sale of non-m#akée equity securities, and by a
decrease of investments in term deposits (netaxfgads) of RUR 7,913 million, partly offset by R@R38 million paid for the acquisition of
KinoPoisk LLC.

Our total capital expenditures were RUR79,illion in 2014 and RUR 4,936 million in 2013uxapital expenditures have historically
consisted primarily of the purchase of serversratad/orking equipment. We also incurred significeapital expenditures in 2013 and 2014
related to the construction of one of our largdadznters. To manage enhancements in our seatutotegy, expected increases in internet
traffic, advertising transactions and new serviess] to support our overall business expansionyileontinue to invest heavily in data center
operations, technology, corporate facilities arfdrimation technology infrastructure in 2015 and-tadter. Moreover, we may spend a
significant amount of cash on acquisitions andngieg transactions from time to time.

Cash used in/provided by financing activities.

For 2014, cash outflow from financing aitids was RUR 11,707 million, reflecting RUR 8,4@8lion used to fund our open market
share repurchase program and RUR 6,414 millioepanchase our outstanding convertible notes, fpafttet by RUR 2,981 of proceeds fr
the additional issuance of our outstanding conblertiotes in January 2014), RUR 42 million usedfierpayment of convertible debt issuance
costs along with proceeds of RUR 191 million fronaue option exercises.

In 2013, financing activities provided RUR,461 million in cash, reflecting RUR 19,719 nailliin proceeds from the issuance of our
convertible notes and RUR 439 million in proceadsf share option exercises, offset by RUR 8,518anilused to fund our open market
share repurchase program and RUR 179 million paiddnvertible debt issuance costs.

Off-Balance Sheet Items

We do not currently engage in off-balanees financing arrangements, and do not have deseist in entities referred to as variable
interest entities, which include special purposegies and other structured finance entities.

Contractual Obligations
The following table sets forth our contradtobligations as of December 31, 2014:

Payments due by perioc

2016 2018
Through through through
Total 2015 2017 2019 Thereafter
(in millions of RUR)
Long-term principal debt obligatior 30,38( — — 30,38( —
Interest paymeni 1,36¢ 34z 684 34z —
Long-term operating lease obligatio 25,35 4,05¢ 7,86( 8,34¢ 5,09z
Data centers related purchase obligati 2,40t 2,357 48 — —
Other purchase obligatiol 7,09¢ 2,02t 2,18¢ 1,63t 1,24¢
Payments related to business acquisit 1,20( 24¢ 55¢ 394 —
Total contractual obligatior 67,80 9,02¢ 11,33¢ 41,09¢ 6,341

The table above presents our long-termabligations for our office and data center fai@Bt contractual purchase obligations related to
data center operations and facility build-outsyai as other purchase obligations primarily redate fixed utilities fees, technology licenses
and other services
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and obligations related to repayment of our corlviernotes due 2018. For agreements denominatddindollars, the amounts shown in the
table above are based on the U.S. dollar/Russkida axchange rate prevailing on December 31, 28ll4mounts shown include value added
tax.

Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and Assumpbns

Our accounting policies affecting our fisa condition and results of operations are matky described in our consolidated financial
statements for the years ended December 31, 2013,dhd 2014, included elsewhere in this AnnualdRef he preparation of these
consolidated financial statements requires us temadgments in selecting appropriate assumptionsdlculating financial estimates, which
inherently contain some degree of uncertainty. \A&elour estimates on historical experience andadous other assumptions that we believe
to be reasonable under the circumstances, thasegulhich form the basis of making judgments aliba carrying values of assets and
liabilities and the reported amounts of revenuesexpenses that are not readily apparent from aitietces. Actual results may differ from
these estimates under different assumptions orittonsl We believe our critical accounting policibat affect the more significant judgments
and estimates used in the preparation of our cataget! financial statements are as follows:

Share-Based Compensation Expense

We estimate the fair value of share optiemd share appreciation rights (together, "Shase8#&wards") that are expected to vest using
the Black-Scholes-Merton (BSM) pricing model andagnize the fair value ratably over the requiséevie period using the straight-line
method. We used the following assumptions in odiooppricing model when valuing Share-Based Awards:

Year ended December 31

2012 2013 2014
Expected life of the awards (yea 5.51-7.0z 5.44-7.0¢ 5.52-7.0¢
Expected annual volatilit 54% 49% 38%
Risk-free interest rat 0.7¢% 1.71% 1.85%

Expected dividend yiel — — —

To determine the expected option term, sethe "simplified method" as allowed under the SE€counting guidance, which represents
the weighted- average period during which our awaré expected to be outstanding.

With respect to price volatility, for 2082d 2013 grants we used historical volatility of publicly reported share price, after December
2013 we use future volatility of our share priceglied by our convertible debt prices cratsecked with the historical volatility of our puddly
reported share price.

We base the risk-free interest rate orlit& Treasury yield curve in effect at the grarteda

We did not declare any dividends with respe 2012, 2013 or 2014 and do not have any glapsy dividends in the near term. We
therefore use an expected dividend yield of zemuinoption pricing model for awards granted inyears ended December 31, 2012, 201=
2014.

We determine the amount of share-based ensgtion expense based on awards that we ultimestphct to vest, taking into account
estimated forfeitures. U.S. GAAP requires forfeatuito be estimated at the time of grant and reyiedcessary, in subsequent periods if
actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. SHculate the forfeiture rate by reference to dstanical employee turnover rate. If our actual
forfeiture rate is materially different from thetiesate, share-based compensation expense coulctegially lower than what has been
recorded.

92




Table of Contents
Tax Provisions

Significant judgment is required in evalogtour uncertain tax positions and determining awvision for income taxes. FASB
authoritative guidance on accounting for uncenjgintincome taxes requires a two-step approackdognizing and measuring uncertain tax
positions. The first step is to evaluate the tasifpmn for recognition by determining if the weighftavailable evidence indicates that it is more
likely than not that the position will be sustairetaudit, including resolution of related appealtitigation processes, if any. The second stef
is to measure the tax benefit as the largest antbahts more than 50% likely of being realized migettlement.

Although we believe we have adequatelyriekfor our uncertain tax positions, no assurar@ebe given that the final tax outcome of
these matters will not be different. We adjust ¢hesserves in light of changing facts and circumsts, such as the closing of a tax audit or th
refinement of an estimate. To the extent that it fax outcome of these matters is different fitthie amounts recorded, such differences will
impact the provision for income taxes in the peiip@hich such determination is made. The provismrincome taxes includes the impact of
reserve provisions and changes to reserves thabasidered appropriate, as well as the relateéhteest. Our actual Russian taxes may be i
excess of the estimated amount expensed to datecanged as of December 31, 2014, due to ambiguitjieand the evolution of, Russian tax
legislation, varying approaches by regional anallé&x inspectors, and inconsistent rulings onnaci matters at the judicial level. See "Risk
Factors—Risks Related to Doing Business and Invgsti Russia and the Other Countries in which Wer@g—Changes in the Russian tax
system or unpredictable or unforeseen applicati@xisting rules may materially adversely affect business, financial condition and resul
operations."

In addition, significant management judgtrismequired in determining whether deferred tsseds will be realized. A valuation allowal
is recognized to reduce deferred tax assets to misthat are more likely than not to ultimatelyutéized based on our ability to generate
sufficient future taxable income. If actual evedif§er from management's estimates, or to the éxteat these estimates are adjusted in the
future, any changes in the valuation allowance ¢ outerially impact our consolidated financial staénts.

Recognition and Impairment of Goodwill and Intangié Assets

The FASB authoritative guidance requiresougcognize our share in the assets of businessgsred and respective liabilities assumed
based on their fair values. Our estimates of tirevédue of the identified intangible assets ofibesses acquired are based on our expectatior
of the future results of operations of such busiaesThe fair value assigned to identifiable iniialegassets acquired is supported by valuation
that involve the use of a large number of estimatesassumptions provided by management.

We assess the carrying value of goodwisiag from business combinations on an annual pasimore frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that such carrying value nwye recoverable. Other than our annual reviegtors we consider important that could
trigger an impairment review include under-perfoneeof our reporting units compared with our ing¢toudgets or changes in projected
results, changes in the manner of utilization efasset, and negative market conditions or econterids. We determine whether impairment
has occurred by assigning goodwill to the reporting identified in accordance with the authoritatguidance, and comparing the carrying
amount of the reporting unit to the fair value foé reporting unit. Therefore, our judgment as ®ftliure prospects of our business has a
significant impact on our results and financial dition. If these future prospects do not mater@ahs expected or there is a future adverse
change in market conditions, we may be unabledover the carrying amount of an asset, resultiffgture impairment losses.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

Effective January 1, 2014, we adopted tharkcial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") acammstandards update on presentation c
an unrecognized tax benefit when a net operatisg d¢arryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax dredrryforward exists. The adoption of this
update did not have a significant impact on oursctidated financial position, results of operatioresh flows or disclosures.

Effective January 1, 2014, we adopted tA8B accounting standards update on parent's adoguior the cumulative translation
adjustment upon derecognition of certain subsid#or groups of assets within a foreign entityfaroinvestment in a foreign entity. The
adoption of these amendments did not have a mkit@pact on our consolidated balance sheet or testfiloperations.

Effective January 1, 2014, we adopted agting standards updates on presentation of an ognézed tax benefit when a net operating
loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a taxdarearryforward exists. The amendments providelgnce on the financial statement
presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit wheetaperating loss carryforward, a similar tax Jassa tax credit carryforward exists.

Effective January 1, 2014, we adopted FASBounting standards update on parent's accoutirige cumulative translation adjustment
upon derecognition of certain subsidiaries or gsoofpassets within a foreign entity or of an inwestt in a foreign entity. The adoption of
these amendments did not have a material impactiononsolidated balance sheet or results of opesat

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

The functional currency of our Russian agieg subsidiaries, which account for the signifitcanajority of our operations, is the Russian
ruble. Therefore, our reported results of operatiare impacted by fluctuations in exchange ratéisge@xtent that we recognize foreign
exchange gains and losses on monetary assetsailitiéis denominated in currencies other tharrtide, primarily the U.S. dollar. Total U.S.
dollar denominated cash, cash equivalents anddepusits held in Russia amounted to RUR 15,523aniind RUR 6,919 million as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. If ttf& dollar had been stronger/weaker by 15% relatiithe value of the Russian ruble as of
December 31, we would have recognized additionraido exchange gains/losses before tax of RUR 2y@Ridn and RUR 972 million in
2014 and 2013, respectively.

Furthermore, the revenues and expensesrdRssian operating subsidiaries are primarilyod@nated in Russian rubles. However, as is
customary in the Russian real estate market, therityaof our rent expenses, including the leagediar Moscow headquarters, is denominatec
in U.S. dollars. Additionally, a major portion ofiocapital expenditures, primarily servers, netirmgkand engineering equipment imported by
Russian suppliers, can also be materially affebiechanges in the dollar-ruble and euro-ruble emgkaate. In the event of a material
appreciation of the U.S. dollar against the rublesh as that which occured in 2014, the ruble edeint of these U.S. dollar-denominated
expenditures increase and negatively impact ouingetme and cash flows.

In 2011, we entered into two sewasar lease agreements for an aggregate of apprtetinie2,000 additional square meters of office &
located in our headquarters complex in Moscow. pnil&2014, we further extended the existing rermeagents to 2021. The lease of our
Moscow headquarters entails outstanding commitm&Erapproximately RUR 24,000 million as of DecemB#&r 2014. The rent under these
leases is denominated in U.S. dollars, but payiahigbles at the then-current exchange rate quoyetie Central Bank of Russia. The leases
protect the landlord against depreciation of th®.ldollar against the ruble, although we are notgated from any potential appreciation. The
landlord's protection from U.S. dollar depreciatiepresents an
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embedded derivative that must be bifurcated andwatted for separately under U.S. GAAP. At the ehelach period, we re-measure the fair
value of this embedded derivative and record atangh in fair value as foreign exchange gains @eeén the income statement. We estimate
the fair value of this derivative instrument usmgnodel that is sensitive to changes in the U.Bardim Russian ruble exchange rate. If the U.S
dollar had been weaker by 15% relative to the vafitbe Russian ruble as of December 31, 2014, addwvhave recognized additional foreign
exchange losses before tax of RUR 5 million in 20fithe U.S. dollar had been stronger by 15% hedatio the value of the Russian ruble as of
December 31, 2014, we would have recognized additimreign exchange gains before tax of RUR 6iamilin 2014.

The functional currency of our Dutch pareompany and our Dutch and U.S. subsidiaries i&Jt&e dollar. The functional currency of
subsidiaries incorporated in other countries isrépective local currency. The financial statermefthese non-Russian entities have been
translated into rubles using the current rate mitiutnere balance sheet items are translated iblesat the period-end exchange rate and
revenue and expenses are translated using a wetighéeage exchange rate for the relevant period.r@&$ulting translation gains and losse:
the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2@8ldcmded as a foreign translation adjustmentmisxbas part of other comprehensive
income on our consolidated balance sheets. U.&rdwsh, cash equivalents and term deposits cemtire largest portion of our net assets in
the Netherlands. Total U.S. dollar denominated ceath equivalents and term deposits held in thbeédands amounted to RUR 9,406 mill
and RUR 22,143 million as of December 31, 20142018, respectively. If the U.S. dollar had beeorsier/weaker by 15% relative to the
value of the Russian ruble as of December 31, wadMoave recognized additional other comprehengaies/losses of RUR 1,926 million a
RUR 1,153 million in 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Subsequent to December 31, 2014, the Russide remained highly volatile against foreigmreuncies, including the U.S. dollar. The
currency exchange rate as of December 31, 201RW&s56.2584 to $1.00 and, during the period froncddeber 31, 2014 to April 28, 2015,
the currency exchange rate of the Russian rubleeajgted to RUR 51.4690 to $1.00. The lowest r@éehed during this period was
RUR 69.6640 to $1.00 as of February 3, 2015. Thhdst rate reached during this period was RUR 49.63 $1.00 as of April 17, 2015.

Interest Rate Risk

We had cash, cash equivalents and termsitspd RUR 49,171 million and held debt securitéfRUR 3,124 million as of December 31,
2014. We do not believe that we have any matexjabsure to changes in the fair value of our caabh@quivalents, term deposits and debt
securities balances as a result of changes irestteaites. We do not enter into investments faliigaor speculative purposes. Declines in
interest rates, however, will reduce future investtrincome.

In December 2013, we issued and sold $6@dl®n in aggregate principal amount of 1.125%eertible senior notes due December 15,
2018. In January 2014, we issued and sold an addit$90.0 million in aggregate principal amouniLdf25% convertible senior notes due
December 15, 2018. During 2014, we repurchasedetitdd $150 million in aggregate principal amoahthe outstanding notes. We carry the
convertible notes at face value less unamortizedodint on our balance sheet. The fair value ohtlies changes when the market price of oul
shares or interest rates fluctuate.
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Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employes.

The following table sets forth certain infation with respect to each of our executive efficand directors and their respective age and
position as of the date of this Annual Report:

Date of Director or
Expiration of Executive
Current Term Officer

Name Age of Office Since Title
Alfred

Fenaughty 88 2017 200C Chairman and Nc-Executive Directo
Arkady Volozh 51 2017 200C Executive Director and Chief Executive Offic
John Boyntor 49 201t 200C Non-Executive Directo
Esther Dysot 63 201t 200¢ Non-Executive Directo
Elena

Ivashentsev: 48 2017 200C Non-Executive Directo
Rogier Rijnja 52 201¢ 201 Non-Executive Directo
Charles Ryal 47 201¢ 2011 Non-Executive Directo
Alexander

Voloshin 58 201¢ 201C Nonr-Executive Directo
Herman Gre 51 2017 2014 Nonr-Executive Directo
Alexander

Shulgin 37 N/A 201C Chief Operating Office
Gregory

Abovsky 38 N/A 2014 Chief Financial Office

Mr. Fenaughty has been a non-executive director since 2000 acahte the Chairman of our board of directors in 2098.
Mr. Fenaughty is a co-founder, chairman of the Badrdirectors and chief executive officer of Inéif\Wireless, a provider of wireless
networking technology in Russia, as well as a agfter and chairman of the board of the Center tdpFeny Integration, a supplier of IP
telephony systems. From 1993 to 2003, Mr. Fenaughty/a director of CompTek International. From 1863993, he served as president anc
chief executive officer of Information InternatidnBrior to that, Mr. Fenaughty was vice presidemil general manager of the Western
Division of Computer Control. Mr. Fenaughty recelebachelor's degree in engineering from Colurblmizzersity in 1946 and a master's
degree in electrical engineering in 1947.

Mr. Volozh is the principal founder of Yandex and has beenGhief Executive Officer and a director since 20QGerial entrepreneur
with a background in computer science, Mr. VoloaHa@unded several successful IT enterprises, inctuthfiNet Wireless, a Russian provic
of wireless networking technology, and CompTekrmitional, one of the largest distributors of netwand telecom equipment in Russia. In
2000, Arkady left his position as CEO at CompTeletnational to become the CEO of Yandex. Mr. Voleirted working on search in 1989,
which led to him establishing Arkadia Company i®@9a company developing search software. His emfyevements in this field include 1
development of electronic search for use in patétissian classical literature and the Bible. MoloZzh holds a degree in applied mathematic
from the Gubkin Institute of Oil and Gas.

Mr. Boynton has been a non-executive director since 2000. MynBn is the president of Firehouse Capital lagrivately held
investment company with investments in a varietgaly stage companies. He also serves on the $oaskveral non-profit organizations.
Mr. Boynton served as a founder and managing direxftWilson Alan LLC from 2001 through 2006, aseipresident of corporate strategy
and development at Forrester Research from 192@ad, as a strategy consultant with Mercer Managéi@ensulting from 1995 to 1997, &
as co-founder and president of CompTek Internatifsoen 1990 to 1995. Mr. Boynton graduated from ¥#ad College.

Ms. Dyson has been a non-executive director since 2006. MsoDis an active investor and board member irri@tyeof IT, health care
and aerospace start-ups, and also previously stiedooard of WPP Group, a global communicatiomsgamy. She started her career as a fac
checker for Forbes Magazine, and then spent fiegsyas a security analyst on Wall Street. At Newr€C8ecurities,
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Ms. Dyson comprised the sell-side research depattraad worked on the initial public offering ofderal Express, among others. At
Oppenheimer & Co., she followed the nascent softveaud personal computer markets. From 1982 to 260the owner of EDventure
Holdings, she edited the newsletter Release 1.0amnthe annual PC Forum conference. She sold BDreeto CNET in 2004, and reclaimed
the name when she left CNET at the beginning of726{&r Russian interests have included advisorydseats with both IBS Group and
SUP/Live Journal, and investments in the technologypanies AlterGeo, TerraLink, Epam and UCMShim.S., she is on the boards of
23andMe, Meetup, and others. She is on the bodldger] companies WPP Group and Luxoft, based asédw and Kiev. She was an early
investor in Flickr and del.icio.us (sold to Yahgd¥)edstory and Powerset (sold to Microsoft), Brightl (sold to Symantec), and Postini (sold
to Google), among others. She is the author ofédad 2.0: A design for living in the digital ag&997), which has been translated into 18
languages. She has a B.A. in economics from HartJardersity.

Ms. lvashentseva has been a non-executive director since 2000. Wshlentseva is a senior partner at Baring VostgitaléPartners, a
Russian private equity firm. Baring Vostok struetdiand led the initial investment in Yandex in 2@§0nternet Search Investments Limited
(the parent of ru-Net B.V.), in which a Baring Voktfund was the founder and Baring Vostok fundseytagether, the largest shareholder.
Since 2000, Ms. Ivashentseva has been responseitileef investment in Yandex on behalf of Interneti®h Investments Limited. She is also &
member of the board of Avito, Centre for Finandiathnologies, Enforta, ER-Telecom, Family DoctafiNet Wireless Ltd., Ivi.ru and Ozon
and was previously a member of the board of diread CTC Media, Inc., a leading NASDAQ listed Rasstelevision broadcaster, and other
portfolio companies of Baring Vostok funds. Fron®490 1998, Ms. Ivashentseva was a director of BRUSsia, where she led telecom and
media investments of the Sector Capital Fund. Mashientseva received a master's degree in finamcac@ounting from the London Schoo
Economics and a diploma with honors in economiemfNovosibirsk University. She is a charterholdethe CFA Institute.

Mr. Rijnja has been a non-executive director since May 20&3stn independent consultant, and served asrSéom® President of
Human Resources and a member of the executive dbeenait D.E Master Blenders, a Dutch public comdetgd on the Amsterdam Stock
Exchange, from 2011 to February 2014. Prior toijgrD.E Master Blenders, Mr. Rijnja served as hefithe human resources departments at
several international companies, including Maxe08 to 2011), Numico N.V. (2004 to 2008) and Anrazom (2002 to 2004). He was
previously the director of global management dewelent at Reckitt Benckiser PLC from 1998 to 200®] a human resources manager for
Nike Europe from 1996 to 1998. Mr. Rijnja held selgositions at Apple between 1989 and 1996 in Nlatherlands and the United Stat
Mr. Rijnja has a degree in law studies from Leitlmversity in The Netherlands

Mr. Ryan has been a non-executive director since May 201finakce professional with 25 years of experiemckdth the Russian and
international markets, Mr. Ryan co-founded UnitéshRcial Group (UFG) and became its Chairman an® G@EL994. In 1998, Mr. Ryan
initiated the New Technology Group within UFG AsMenagement, which sponsored an early stage temgmaivestment in ru-Net Holdings
whose investments include Yandex. In 2006, Deut8ark acquired 100% of UFG's investment bankingrass, and Mr. Ryan was
appointed chief country officer and CEO of DeutsBla@mk Group in Russia and remained in that positiatil the end of 2008, when he
became chairman of UFG Asset Management. From 20068gh the end of 2010, Mr. Ryan was a consuf@mmDeutsche Bank. Prior to
founding UFG, Mr. Ryan worked as a financial analygh CS First Boston from 1989 to 1991 and asssociate and principal banker with
the European Bank for Reconstruction and Developimeloondon from 1991 to 1994. Mr. Ryan has a degneGovernment from Harvard
University.

Mr. Voloshin has been a non-executive director of Yandex singguat 2010 after serving as an advisor to the comfiar two years.
Mr. Voloshin serves as the Chairman of the BoarBioéctors
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of Uralkali and of Freight One. Prior to joiningraBoard of Directors, Mr. Voloshin served as Chamof the Board of MMC Norilsk Nickel
from 2008 to 2010 and as Chairman of the Boardi#diors of RAO "UES of Russia” from 1999 to 2068om 1999 to 2003, Mr. Voloshin
headed the Russian Presidential AdministratiorarRoi becoming Chief of Staff of the Russian Presidhe worked as Deputy Chief of Staff
from 1998 to 1999, and as Assistant to the ChiStaff from 1997 to 1998. He graduated from the &g Institute of Transport Engineers in
1978 and holds a degree in economics from the Aldia Foreign Trade Academy.

Herman Gref has been a non-executive director since May 20X4Qvef has served since 2007 as the Chief Exes@ificer and
Chairman of the Executive Board of Sherbank of Ruysme of the largest commercial banks in Ru$siam 2000 to 2007, Mr. Gref served as
the Minister for Economic Development of the Rusdt&@deration and has previously served in a numlbgovernment positions at the federal
and regional levels in Russia. Mr. Gref holds ardegn law from Omsk State University, a Ph.D.awlfrom St Petersburg State University
and a Ph.D. in economics. Mr. Gref holds a Citatiod Certificate of Honor from the President of Bessian Federation, the Order for
Distinguished Service of Grade IV and the Stolyidiedal.

Alexander Shulgin was appointed Chief Operating Officer in 2014. Blhulgin joined Yandex as Chief Financial OfficeMiay 2010. A
finance professional with 13 years of experiencea@nFMCG industry, Mr. Shulgin worked in differdirtance positions in Coc@ela Hellenic
from 1997 until 2007. In 2007, he was appointedntiguchief financial officer of Coca-Cola Hellerfrussia. Mr. Shulgin has a degree in
Management from Rostov-on-Don State University.

Gregory Abovsky was appointed Chief Financial Officer in 2014. Mhovsky joined Yandex as Vice President of Inve®efations in
January 2013, taking on the additional role of \izesident of Corporate Development in October 203 Abovsky began his career in the
investment banking division of Morgan Stanley, &ag over 14 years of experience in a variety @frfae and investment management roles i
the media and technology sectors. Mr. Abovsky hal@sA. in Business Economics and Russian Liteeafitom Brown University and an
M.B.A. with High Distinction from Harvard Busine§chool.

Compensation and Share Ownership of Executive Offers and Directors.

The aggregate cash compensation paid oueddn 2014 for members of our senior managenzetdtél of 23 persons), as a group, was
RUR 176 million ($3.1 million).

In May 2011, we granted each of our noneakige directors an option to acquire 28,000 Clashares at the initial public offering price
of $25.00 per share, effective on the closing dfioitial public offering. Such options vest ovefaur-year period. In May 2013, we granted to
a new non- executive director an option to acqe8®00 Class A shares at a price of $27.74 peeshaMay 2014, we granted a new non-
executive director an option to acquire 28,000 €Rshares at a price $33.09 per share.

For information on share ownership andangtiheld by our directors and senior managemesdsplsee "Major Shareholders and Relate
Party Transactions".

Corporate Governance

We have an audit committee, a compensabommittee and a nominating and corporate governeoeenittee. We have adopted a che
for each of these committees.

Audit Committee

Our audit committee consists of Messrs.rRghairperson) and Boynton and Ms. Dyson. Each beersatisfies the "independence”
requirements of the NASDAQ listing standards, and Rd/an
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qualifies as an "audit committee financial expeais'"defined in Item 16A of Form 20-F and as deteeahiby our board of directors. The audit
committee oversees our accounting and financiartey processes and the audits of our consolid@tedcial statements. The audit
committee is responsible for, among other things:

. making recommendations to our board of directegarding the appointment by the shareholdersioirmlependent auditors;

. overseeing the work of the independent audifoduding resolving disagreements between managearel the independent
auditors relating to financial reporting;

. pre-approving all audit and non-audit services péechto be performed by the independent auditors;

. reviewing the independence and quality control pdares of the independent auditors;

. discussing material off-balance sheet transactimmangements and obligations with managementtanahtiependent auditors;
. reviewing and approving all proposed related-pagpsactions;

. discussing the annual audited consolidated andtstgtfinancial statements with management;

. annually reviewing and reassessing the adequacyradudit committee charter;

. meeting separately with the independent auditodistcuss critical accounting policies, recommerudetion internal controls, t

auditor's engagement letter and independence &iteother material written communications betwienindependent auditors
and the management; and

. attending to such other matters as are specifida@lggated to our audit committee by our boardimeftbrs from time to time.
Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee consists of kéeg&oynton (chairperson), Fenaughty and RijnjaldisdIvashentseva. Each member
satisfies the "independence" requirements of th&DAQ listing standards. The compensation comméssists the board of directors in
reviewing and approving or recommending our comagais structure, including all forms of compensatielating to our directors and
management. Members of our management may notlsemrat any committee meeting while the compesrsafi our chief executive officer
is deliberated. Subject to the terms of the rematiwar policy approved by our general meeting ofshalders from time to time, as required
Dutch law, the compensation committee is respoadis, among other things:

. reviewing and making recommendations to the bo&directors with respect to compensation of ourcei®e and non-
executive directors;

. reviewing and approving the compensation, iniclgaquity compensation, change-of-control beneiitd severance
arrangements, of our chief financial officer andtsother members of our management as it deemsjaite;

. overseeing the evaluation of our management;

. reviewing periodically and making recommendatiansur board of directors with respect to any insentompensation and
equity plans, programs or similar arrangements;

. exercising the rights of our board of directorgler any equity plans, except for the right to mehany such plans unless
otherwise expressly authorized to do so; and
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. attending to such other matters as are specifica@lggated to our compensation committee by ourdbofdirectors from time 1
time.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Our nominating and corporate governancenittee consists of Messrs. Boynton (chairpersod)enaughty and Ms. lvashentseva. E
member satisfies the "independence" requiremerttsedNASDAQ listing standards. The nominating aarporate governance committee
assists the board of directors in selecting indigld qualified to become our directors and in driring the composition of the board of
directors and its committees. The nominating anp@@te governance committee is responsible fogranother things:

. recommending to the board of directors person&todminated for election or re-election as direcairany meeting of the
shareholders;

. overseeing the board of directors' annual rewdéits own performance and the performance ofdatamittees; and
. considering, preparing and recommending to therdb of directors a set of corporate governancdaiinies applicable to the
company.

Employment Agreements

Substantially all of our employees are ewyet by our operating subsidiaries. Our employnagmnéements generally contain the minin
statutory notice periods required under Russian Tave employment agreements between our subsiglianié certain senior managers and
other employees contain non-competition and noititation provisions, although we understand thethsprovisions are generally
unenforceable under Russian law.

Employees

The following table indicates the compasitof our workforce as of December 31 each yeadcated:

2011 2012 2013 2014
Russia 3,062 3,41t 4,31z 5,02
Other 25C 34¢€ 59C 59¢
Total 3,31z 3,761 4,90z 5,61¢
2011 2012 2013 2014
Product developmel 1,84: 2,027 2,92¢ 3,32¢
Sales, general and administrat 1,148 135 1,591 1,82¢
Cost of sale: 32t 38C 387 461
Total 3,31z 3,761 4,90z 5,61¢

We also typically employ several hundredtcact workers on a part-time basis, and the nusmbfsuch contract workers generally varies
in line with the numbers of full-time staff.

Our employees are not represented by altgctive bargaining agreements and we have nevagresnced a work stoppage. We believe
our employee relations are good.

Employee Plans

Our Fourth Amended and Restated 2007 Edmityntive Plan (the "2007 Plan") provides for ¢ghant of equity awards in the form of
share options, share appreciation rights, resttistares and

100




Table of Contents

restricted share units (or so-called "deferredeigr The total number of shares available fordsse under the plan is equal to 10% of the
aggregate number of Class A and Class B sharesmndisg from time to time.

Plan administration.  Our board of directors or its compensation catte® administers our 2007 Plan. Although our 2BG¥h sets forth
certain terms and conditions of our equity awaots,board of directors or its compensation committetermines the provisions and terms an
conditions of each grant. These include, amongrdttiegs, the vesting schedule, repurchase prawssiforfeiture provisions, and form of
payment upon exercise.

Eligibility. We may grant equity awards to employees aretdirs of and consultants to our company and lisidiaries.

Exercise price and term of equity awards.  The exercise price of options or measuremeaoé fuf share appreciation rights awards is the
closing price per Class A share on the NASDAQ Gll@mdect Market on the grant date. Restricted shaiteawards have no exercise or
measurement price. Equity awards are generallycesadle up until the tenth anniversary of the gdate so long as the grantee's relationship
with us has not terminated.

Vesting schedule.  The notice of grant specifies the vesting saled\wards generally vest over a four-year periuith 4/ 16ths vesting
on the first anniversary of grant and an additidrabth vesting each quarter thereafter. When a granésebloyment or service is terminated,
the grantee may generally exercise his or her pptibat have vested as of the termination datemitimety days of termination or as
determined by our plan administrator.

ClassAand ClassB Shares.  Outstanding options granted prior to Octobdi®May be exercised, pursuant to their terms amdetims
of the 2007 Plan, as follows:

. In the event that an optionee intends to exeraisoption and immediately sell the shares acdyuive will issue Class A shares
upon such exercise.

. In the event that an optionee intends to exergisgpion and hold the shares acquired for somegef time, we will issue
Class B shares upon such exercise. Such Classr8sshdl be subject to the transfer and conversgiavisions applicable to all
Class B shares.

Equity awards granted since October 2008 are pef Class A shares only, in accordance witlr teems and the terms of the 2007 Plan.

Amendment and Termination.  Our board of directors may at any time ameuadpend or terminate our 2007 Plan. Prior to anj suc
amendment, suspension or termination, our boadire€tors must first make a determination that slogations already granted will not be
adversely affected. Unless terminated earlier, 2007 Plan will continue in effect until October Z0Dur board of directors adopted
amendments to the 2007 plan in November 2011 aaith &g February 2012.

Equity Award Exchange.  In April 2015, we offered certain of our empd@g the opportunity to exchange outstanding shmmeeaiation
rights awards for new restricted share unit awakdsa result of recent economic and market conalitithe value of our Class A shares has
fluctuated significantly in recent periods and vetidwved that restricted share unit awards wouldigdea better incentive for our employees in
these conditions. Each eligible employee was tbeegjiven the opportunity to exchange outstandirages appreciation rights awards for
restricted share unit awards on a two-for-one b@sis share appreciation rights for one restrictledre unit), subject to longer vesting and
exercisability terms. In particular, such replacatrevards will vest over a five-year period, conguawith the four-year vesting term of the
original share appreciation rights awards. A tofal4 employees, including our Chief Operating €dfiand Chief Financial Officer,
participated in the offer, exchanging a total &6B,750 share appreciation rights for a total df,835 restricted share units.

101




Table of Contents
Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Traisactions.

The following table contains informatiomeerning each shareholder known by us to bendfiadan more than five percent of each cl
of our outstanding ordinary shares. Beneficial owhip is determined in accordance with the rulethefSecurities and Exchange Commissiol
and includes voting or investment power with respeour shares.

The number of shares outstanding usedlauleding the percentage for each listed sharematadudes the shares underlying options helc
by such shareholder that are exercisable withide®8& of March 14, 2015. Percentage of beneficialemghip is based on 256,919,259 Class /
shares and 60,860,605 Class B shares outstandofgviesch 14, 2015. All holders of our ordinary ebs including those shareholders listed
below, have the same voting rights with respestith shares. Class A shares have one vote per ahdr€lass B shares have 10 votes per
share.

Shares Beneficially Owned as at March 14, 201

Class A Shares Class B Shares Total Percentage
Number of Number of By Voting By Number of

Name of Beneficial Owner Shares % Shares % Power(1) Shares
Directors and Senior

Management:
Arkady Volozh 0 — 34,459,68  56.62% 39.81% 10.8%
Alfred Fenaughty(2 26,25( * 1,400,00! 2.3(% 1.62% *
John Boynton(3 724,85! * 0 — * *
Esther Dyson(4 186,25( t5 0 — * *
Elena Ivashentseva( 1,682,46 * 13,297,63 21.82%  15.56% 4.71%
Rogier Rijnja(6) 15,25( * 0 — * *
Charles Ryan(7 456,14. * 0 — * *
Alexander Voloshin(8 76,25( * 0 — * *
Herman Gref(9 0 — 0 — — —
Alexander Shulgin(10 142,00( 0 — * *
Gregory Abovsky(11 12,87¢ * 0 — — *
All current directors

and senior

management as a

group (11 persons)

(12) 3,322,33 1.2% 49,157,32 80.7%  57.1¢% 16.51%
Principal Shareholders:
Baring Vostok Private

Equity Funds(13 1,596,76! * 13,297,63 21.82%  15.5:% 4.6%%
Capital Research Glob:

Investors(14 21,269,00 8.28% 0 — 2.4€% 6.6%%
Comgest Global

Investors S.A.S(1- 12,585,48 4.9(% 0 — 1.45% 3.96%
EuroPacific Growth

Fund(16) 16,542,40 6.44% 0 — 1.91% 5.21%
Oppenheimer Funds, Ir

a7 36,481,53 14.2(% 0 — 4.21% 11.48%
Vladimir lvanov 7,495,001 2.92% 5,318,88 8.74% 7.01% 4.05%
Total shares held by

directors,

management and 5%

holders 99,292,52 38.61% 54,476,200 89.51% 74.41% 48.3%
* Represents beneficial ownership of less than oneepeof such class.

Q) Percentage of total voting power represents vatimger with respect to all of our Class A and CBsshares, voting
together as a single class. Each holder of ClasisalBes is entitled to ten votes per Class B shateach holder of
Class A shares is entitled to one vote per Clashake on all matters submitted to our sharehofders vote. The Class
shares and Class B shares vote together as a slagteon all matters submitted to a vote of oaredfolders, exce|
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)

®3)

(4)

®)

(6)

()

(8)

9)

(10)

(11)

as may otherwise be required by Dutch law or oticlas of association. Each Class B share is ctifeat any time by
the holder into one Class A share and one Clasafes

Includes 1,400,000 Class B shares held by the d\Hired Riqueza Fenaughty Revocable Living Trustptirgeficiaries of
which include Mr. Fenaughty or members of his faméind includes 26,250 Class A shares subject tiptian that is
currently exercisable. Excludes options to purciggB0 Class A shares that are not exercisablenéih days after
March 15, 2015.

Includes (a) 291,400 Class A shares held by trtistsheneficiaries of which include Mr. Boyntonmembers of his
family, (b) 325,000 Class A shares held by the MhrBoynton Trust of 2006, (c) 82,200 Class A skdreld by The
Diomedes Foundation, a charitable organization(dhp@6,250 Class A shares subject to an optionishairrently
exercisable. Other than in respect of the shareskyethe John W. Boynton Trust of 2006, Mr. Boymtdisclaims
beneficial ownership of these shares except t@xtent of his pecuniary interest therein. Excluojgons to purchase
1,750 Class A shares that are not exercisablem@didays after March 15, 2015.

Includes 26,250 Class A shares subject to an opiidechby Ms. Dyson that is currently exercisable] axcludes options
to purchase 1,750 Class A shares that are notisabhe within 60 days after March 15, 2015.

Includes shares held by BC&B Holdings B.V. C&B"). Includes 26,250 Class A shares subject togtion held by
BC&B that is currently exercisable, and excludesans to purchase 1,750 Class A shares that arexaotisable within
60 days after March 15, 2015. These options waptgd to BC&B, which holds the options on behalfhaf Baring
Vostok Private Equity Funds. Ms. lvashentsevassraor partner of Baring Vostok Capital Partnemsiteéd, a Cypriot
limited company, which is a sub-adviser to Barimgsibk Capital Partners Limited, a limited liabildtpmpany
incorporated under the laws of and registered iar@sey ("BVCPL") which acts as the investment amvigith respect t
the investment by Baring Vostok Private Equity FaimdBC&B. See note 13. Ms. Ivashentseva discldierseficial
ownership of these shares except to the extergrogbdcuniary interest therein. Also includes 85,C08ss A shares held
by Caldwell Associated, a company controlled by Mashentseva.

Includes 12,250 Class A shares subject toptiomthat is currently exercisable and 3,000 Chasbares held directly by
Mr. Rijnja, and excludes options to purchase 15CE®s A shares that are not exercisable withid&® after March 15,
2015.

Includes 454,392 Class A shares held by trustsheneficiaries of which include Mr. Ryan or membefrtis family and
by Mr. Ryan directly. Includes 26,250 Class A skaebject to an option that is currently exercisahd excludes
options to purchase 1,750 Class A shares thatarexercisable within 60 days after March 15, 2015.

Includes 26,250 Class A shares subject to an opiideth by Mr. Voloshin that is currently exercisatdad excludes
options to purchase 1,750 Class A shares thatarexercisable within 60 days after March 15, 2015.

Excludes options to purchase 28,000 Class A slielesby Mr. Gref that are not exercisable withindd@'s after
March 15, 2015, and excludes our priority sharé] bg Sberbank.

Consists of 142,000 restricted share unid by Mr. Shulgin that are not exercisable withihdays after March 15,
2015.

Consists of 12,878 restricted share units held byAlovsky that are not exercisable within 60 dafter March 15, 201
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(12) Includes options to purchase 200,150 shares thabarcisable within 60 days after March 15, 2@t excludes
restricted share units and options to purchasel28lshares that are not exercisable within 60 dégs March 15, 2015.

(13) Includes 13,297,636 Class B Shares. Includes 262&65 A shares that are subject to an optionighatrrently
exercisable. Excludes options to purchase 1,758s@ashares that are not exercisable within 60 dégs March 15,
2015. BC&B Holdings B.V. ("BC&B") is 100% owned BBC & B Codperatief U.A., a cooperative associatioth
exclusion of liability incorporated under the laofshe Netherlands ("BC&B Coop"). 52.35% of the rgheapital of
BC&B Coop is held by Chouet Nominees Limited ("CHI)L23.89% of the share capital of BC&B Coop ischiey
Baring Vostok Nominees Limited ("BVNL"), 23.76% tife share capital of BC&B Coop is held by Dehusriban
Nominees Limited ("DDNL"). Through their ownerstopBC&B Coop, therefore, CHNL has the right to qohthe
voting and disposition of 1,003,017 Class A share$ 6,961,378 Class B shares held by BC&B; BVNL thasright to
control the voting and disposition of 381,431 ClAsshares and and 3,176,497 Class B shares hadCBB; and DDNL
has the right to control the voting and dispositifr379,420 Class A Shares and 3,159,761 Clasaislneld by BC&B.

(14) The number of shares reported is based sofethie Schedule 13G filed by Capital Research @lbivestors on
February 9, 2015. Capital Research Global Invesscasdivision of Capital Research and Managememgany
("CRMC") and is deemed to be the beneficial owrfahe shares as a result of CRMC acting as invastiedviser to
various investment companies registered under@e8tof the Investment Company Act of 1940.

(15) The number of shares reported is based sofethie Schedule 13G filed by Comgest Global InussB.A.S. on
February 6, 2015.

(16) The number of shares reported is based solely@B&thedule 13G filed by EuroPacific Growth Fund-ebruary 9,
2015.

(17) The number of shares reported is based solely@B¢hedule 13G filed by Oppenheimer Funds, Indzabruary 10,
2015.

Holdings by U.S. Shareholdel

As of March 14, 2015, there was one hotdeecord of Class A shares (Cede & Co., as nomioeBTC) and there were three holders of
record of Class B shares located in the UniteceStabgether holding in the aggregate approxim®@¥% and 2% of our outstanding Class A
and B shares by number, respectively, represemtitite aggregate approximately 31% of our outstagpdhares by voting power.

Related Party Transactions
Shareholders Agreement

Shareholders holding an aggregate of apmaely 72 million Class A and Class B shares, @spnting approximately 66.97% of the
voting power of our outstanding shares, are pattiesshareholders agreement, the principal tefméizch are as follows:

Board composition.  The parties have agreed to vote all of oureshheld by them in favor of electing or re-electihgse persons
nominated by our board of directors for electiomeselection as a director at any general meetiruoshareholders.

Compliance with foreign ownershiplaws.  The parties have agreed to comply with anyiegble laws from time to time in effect that
regulate the owners of Yandex by non-Russian artie
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Amendments to articles of association.  The parties have agreed that they will votdresjany proposal to amend the articles of
association in such a way as to eliminate:

. our multiple class share structure, with differahtioting rights;
. the staggered three-year terms of our directors;
. the provision that our directors may only be rentblig a two-thirds majority of votes cast represemtit least 50% of our

outstanding share capital;
. the authorized preference shares;

. requirements that certain matters, includingarendment of our articles of association, may belyprought to our shareholders
for a vote upon a proposal by our board of dires;tor

. the supermajority requirements for shareholder @mdrof certain significant corporate actions, utthg a legal merger or
demerger of our company or the amendment of oiglestof association;

. the right of our board of directors to approve élseumulation by a party, group of related partiegasties acting in concert of
the legal or beneficial ownership of 25% or monenumber or by voting power, of our outstandingsSlA and Class B shares
(taken together); or

. the rights of the holder of the priority share.

Termand Amendment.  The shareholders agreement will remain in ¢edong as any Class B shares remain outstangrey.
agreement may be terminated and amended, and avigipn thereof waived, with the prior written cemns of parties to the agreement holding
shares representing more thar?66 % of the voting power of the outstanding sharete@pield by parties to the agreement. The agreemid
terminate with respect to any particular shareholg®n its affirmative election if it no longer lislany Class B Shares, as a result of the
transfer of all Class B shares held by it, or thlimtary or mandatory conversion of all Class Brghdeld by it into Class A Shares.

Registration Rights Agreement

We are party to a registration rights agreet with our major shareholders that allows themetjuire us to register Class A shares held
them under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as a@®éifthe "Securities Act"), under certain circumsts.

Demand registration rights.  Shareholders party to the agreement togetHdmigoapproximately 53 million Class A and Classtiares
have the right to require that we register thedusities for sale. Certain other shareholders tligeight to join in a demand registration. We
have the right not to effect a demand registrai@rif we have already effected one demand regisira(b) if the aggregate price, net of
underwriters' discounts or commissions, of all segble securities included in such registratiokess than $7,500,000, (c) if the initiating
shareholders propose to register securities thatbmammediately registered on Form F-3, or (d jarisdiction where we would be required
to qualify to do business or execute a generalemr®s service of process in effecting such a teggisn. We have the right to defer filing of a
registration statement for up to 120 days if ouardoof directors determines in good faith thanfjliof a registration statement would be
detrimental to us, but we cannot exercise suchrdgfieght more than once in any 12-month period.

Piggyback registration rights.  If we propose to file a registration statentfenta public offering of our securities other thatating to an
employee share option, share purchase or siméar @l pursuant to a merger, exchange offer, ofairtransaction, then we must offer holders
of registrable securities an opportunity to inclu¢his registration all or any part of their regable securities. We must use our best effort to
cause the underwriters in any underwritten offetmgermit the
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shareholders who so requested to include theieshar the same terms and conditions as our sesutdtibe registered.

FormF-3registrationrights.  When we are eligible to use Forn8Fene or more shareholders party to the agreehwdding shares wit
an aggregate market value of at least $50,000,808 the right to request that we file a registraitatement on Form F-3. We are not
obligated to file a registration statement on F&#3 if (a) we have already effected two registragion Form F-3 for holders of registrable
securities during the 12-month period precedinggistration request, (b) the aggregate price, hehderwriters' commissions or discounts, of
registrable securities included in such registratioless than $10 million, or (¢) in a jurisdigtizvhere we would be required to qualify to do
business or execute a general consent to servigmoéss in effecting such a registration. We hheeright to defer filing of a registration
statement for up to 120 days if our board of doectletermines in good faith that filing of a réigition statement would be detrimental to us,
but we cannot exercise such deferral right mora threce in any 12-month period.

Expenses of registration.  We will pay all expenses relating to any demanigigyback or F-3 registration, other than undémg
commissions and discounts.

Relationship with Sberbank

Sherbank is a major financial institutiordahe largest savings bank in the Russian Fedetaiipproximately 51% of its voting shares
held by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation.

Priority Share

In September 2009, we issued our priotiigre to Sberbank for its nominal value of €1.00thesholder of our priority share, Sberbank
has the right to approve the accumulation by aypgrbup of related parties or parties acting inaaot, of the legal or beneficial ownership of
shares representing 25% or more, in number or bpgy@ower, of our outstanding Class A and Clash8res (taken together), if our board of
directors has otherwise approved such accumulafishares. In addition, any decision by our bodrdirectors to sell, transfer or otherwise
dispose of, directly and indirectly, all or subdtalty all of our assets to one or more third pestin any transaction or series of related
transactions, including the sale of our principak&an operating subsidiary, is subject to ther@proval of the holder of our priority share.
The priority share does not carry any rights totegthe management or operations of our compamy its economic rights are limited to its
pro rata entitlement to dividends and other distitns. Our articles of association provide thatphiority share may only be held by a party
that is specifically nominated by our board of dicgs for this purpose. The rights of the prioshare would terminate if any law is adopted or
amended in Russia that restricts the ownershipooyRussian parties of internet businesses in Russia

Our board of directors and shareholderseaygal the priority share mechanism with the obyectf strengthening control over our
company's ownership structure and providing trarespzy into changes in share ownership. We belieaethis structure allows us to avoid the
dominance of any single group of investors. In tiddj we believe that this mechanism allows ustt@et appropriate levels of both Russian
and non-Russian investment.

In nominating Sberbank as the party to Whie priority share would be issued, our boardiafctors considered three principal criteria:
the holder had to be controlled by the Russian gowent, the holder had to be public, and the hatdeiild not have interests in the internet or
media sectors that would conflict with the intesesft our business. Our board also considered Sbletbsbe an appropriate holder of the
priority share in light of what our board beliewede its respected and professional management &acause our board views the holder of
the priority share as playing a valuable role intdbuting to the stability of our business and tt@sparency of our
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shareholder base, and because the priority shenescanly an immaterial economic interest in oompany, we issued the priority share for
only nominal consideration.

Yandex.Money Joint Venture

In July 2013, we sold a 75 percent (lesshle) interest in our Yandex.Money business torlsnak for $60 million in cash and entered
into a joint venture arrangement with Sberbanlespect of the future operation of this businesschvbontinues under the Yandex.Money
brand. Our joint venture agreement with Sberbawkipes for standard minority protections and adsEesorporate governance matters such
as veto rights, deadlock mechanisms and rightssifrefusal and co-sale.

Following the sale of the controlling ireet and deconsolidation of Yandex.Money in July30ie retained a nooentrolling interest an
significant influence over Yandex.Money's busin&¥s. continue to use Yandex.Money for payment prsingsand subleases to
Yandex.Money part of its premises. The amount eéneies from subleasing and online payment comnmissi@s RUR 78 million
($1.4 million) and RUR 125 million ($2.2 millionjespectively, for the year ended December 31, 2834f December 31, 2014, the amount
of receivables related to payment processing waR B&million ($0.8 million). We believe that theres of the agreements with
Yandex.Money are comparable to the terms obtaimedm'slength transactions with unrelated similarly siaghtustomers and suppliers of
Company.

Item 8. Financial Information.
See the financial statements beginningagep--1.
Dividends

We do not have any present plan to pay dastiends on our shares in the near term. Anyr&utletermination as to the declaration and
payment of dividends, if any, will be at the dig@e of our board of directors and will depend bart existing conditions, including our
financial condition, operating results, contractustrictions, capital requirements, business gratspand other factors our board of directors
may deem relevant.

If and when we pay dividends in the futuhey will be payable onpari passu basis on the outstanding Class A and Class B sharks
the priority share. Although our Class C sharedechnically entitled to a maximum dividend of €Djfer share when we declare dividends ot
our Class A and Class B shares, we intend to répsecall Class C shares issued upon conversionr @lass B shares promptly following
their issuance such that no dividends would be lgayan our Class C shares. Cash dividends on @uweshif any, will be paid in U.S. dollars.

ltem 9. The Listing.
Markets
Our Class A ordinary shares are curreighgdl on the NASDAQ Global Select Market, undergiimbol "YNDX".
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The following table sets forth the high dod closing sale prices on the NASDAQ Global SeMarket for our Class A ordinary shares
for (1) the three most recent years, (2) the eaeltgr of the two most recent full financial yeamsl any interim period, and (3) the six most
recent months.

High Low
Annual Highs and Lows $ $
2014 44.2; 16.8-
2013 43.1¢ 20.0%
2012 27.3( 16.6¢
Quarterly Highs and Lows
First Quarter 201! 18.4z2 14.1%
Fourth Quarter 201 28.62 16.8:
Third Quarter 201: 35.01 27.8(
Second Quarter 201 35.6¢ 24.0(
First Quarter 201 44.2; 28.7¢
Fourth Quarter 201 43.1¢F 35.5¢
Third Quarter 201. 37.9% 27.4¢
Second Quarter 201 29.2¢ 20.07
First Quarter 201 25.6¢ 22.5¢
Monthly Highs and Lows
March 201t 16.02 14.1%
February 201! 17.01 14.91
January 201! 18.4% 14.8¢
December 201 23.9¢ 16.8-
November 201- 27.81 24.9;
October 201 28.6: 24.4¢

On March 31, 2015, the closing sale prieeghare on the NASDAQ Global Select Market was #3.5

In June 2014, our Class A ordinary sharesevadmitted to trading on Moscow Exchange (MOEX] are currently listed in the Listing A
Level 1, top quotation list on MOEX, under the syghbYNDX".

The following table sets forth the high dow closing sale prices on MOEX for our Class Alioary shares for (1) the each quarter of the
most recent full financial years and any interimiqe, and (3) the six most recent months.

High Low
RUR RUR
Quarterly Highs and Lows
First Quarter 201! 1177 86¢
Fourth Quarter 201 1282 991
Third Quarter 201: 123C 1031
Monthly Highs and Lows
March 201t 100( 86€
February 201! 111¢ 997
January 201! 1177 107¢
December 201 128: 991
November 201- 123¢  118:
October 201+ 1212 99¢

On March 31, 2015, the closing sale prieeghare on Moscow Exchange was RUR893.
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Item 10. Additional Information.
Memorandum and Articles of Association

We incorporate by reference into this ArdriReport the description of our amended articleassociation contained in our F-1 registratior
statement (File No. 333-173766) originally filectkvthe SEC on April 28, 2011, as amended. Ourlastiof association were amended as of
May 21, 2012 and May 22, 2013.

Material Contracts

We issued and sold $690 million in aggregatncipal amount of 1.125% convertible senioresadue 2018, to qualified institutional
buyers in reliance on Rule 144A under the Uniteatest Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in traiesascclosing December 17, 2013, and
January 14, 2014.

In connection with the offering of the ngteve entered into an Indenture, dated DecembetQIA, with the Bank of New York Mellon, a
New York banking corporation, as trustee, whicHudes the terms and conditions upon which the reteso be authenticated, issued
delivered. The notes are convertible into cashshRshares of Yandex or a combination of cashGlads A shares, at our election, based on
an initial conversion rate of 19.4354 Class A sharer US$1,000 principal amount of notes, whiakgsivalent to an initial conversion price
approximately US$51.45 per Class A share, subgeatljustment on the occurrence of certain evemist # June 15, 2018, the notes are
convertible only upon the occurrence of certainnévand during certain periods, and thereafteangttime until the close of business on the
business day immediately preceding the maturitg déthe notes.

The notes bear interest at a rate of 1.1@éP4year, payable semi-annually in arrears on d8rend December 15 of each year, beginning
on June 15, 2014. The notes mature on Decemb@018, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed or denvie accordance with their terms.
The notes are senior unsecured obligations of trapgany and we do not have the right to redeem dbesrprior to maturity, except in
connection with certain changes in tax laws.

The net proceeds from the convertible ffering were approximately US$683 million, aftexdiicting the initial purchasers' discount
and estimated offering expenses.

In 2014 and the first quarter of 2015, wpurchased an aggregate of $177.8 million face atrafithe convertible notes for an aggregate
of $154.0 million in the open market.

Exchange Controls

Under existing laws of the Netherlandsréh@re no exchange controls applicable to the feas persons outside of the Netherlands of
dividends or other distributions with respect topbthe proceeds from the sale of, shares of @ibabmpany.

Taxation
Taxation in the Netherlands
General

The information set out below is a genstahmary of the material Dutch tax consequencesnmection with the acquisition, ownership
and transfer of our Class A shares. The summary doepurport to be a comprehensive descripticalldghe Dutch tax considerations that n
be relevant for a particular holder of our Classhares, who may be subject to special tax treatoredgr any applicable law, and this sumn
is not intended to be applicable in respect otalegories of holders of the Class A shares. Itiquéar, this summary is not applicable in
respect of any holder who is, is
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deemed to be or is treated as a resident of theeahds for Dutch tax purposes nor to a holderdias 5% or more of the nominal paid-in
capital or voting rights in our company.

The summary is based upon the tax lawheNetherlands as in effect on the date of thisuahReport, as well as regulations, rulings
decisions of the Netherlands and its taxing andradluthorities available on or before such dateramvdin effect. All references in this
summary to the Netherlands and Netherlands lawoattee European part of the Kingdom of The Nethattaand its law, respectively, only.
of the foregoing is subject to change, which capgly retroactively and could affect the continuuagidity of this summary. As this is a
general summary, we recommend that investors aebbliders consult with their own tax advisors athDutch or other tax consequences o
the acquisition, ownership and transfer of our €lashares, including, in particular, the applioatto their particular situations of the tax
considerations discussed below.

The following summary does not addresgadkeconsequences arising in any jurisdiction othan the Netherlands in connection with the
acquisition, ownership and transfer of our ClasshAres.

Our company currently takes the view th# a resident of the Netherlands for tax purposetuding for purposes of tax treaties
concluded by the Netherlands, and this summangsomaes. This summary further assumes that thersai€lass A shares will be treated
Dutch tax purposes as the absolute beneficial awoiethose Class A shares and any dividends (asedelbelow) received or realized with
respect to such shares.

Dividend Withholding Tax
General

Dividends paid on the Class A shares toldédr of such shares are generally subject to Dditddend withholding tax at a rate of 15%.
The term "dividends" for this purpose includes, isutot limited to:

. distributions in cash or in kind, deemed and casive distributions, and repayments of paidapital not recognized for Dut
dividend withholding tax purposes;

. liquidation proceeds, proceeds of redemptioshafres or, generally, consideration for the remsetof shares in excess of the
average paid-in capital recognized for Dutch diwdlevithholding tax purposes;

. the par value of shares issued to a shareholdmr orcrease of the par value of shares, as thencagde, to the extent that it
does not appear that a contribution to the capadgnized for Dutch dividend withholding tax puspe was made or will be
made; and

. partial repayment of paiith-capital, recognized for Dutch dividend withhaiditax purposes, if and to the extent that thezena

profits (zuivere winst) , within the meaning of the Dutch Dividend Withhiolg Tax Act 1965 Wet op de dividendbelasting
1965) , unless the general meeting of our shareholdexsdsmlved in advance to make such a repaymentrandied that the
par value of the shares concerned has been reycedorresponding amount by way of an amendmeoutoérticles of
association.

Generally we are responsible for the witbimy of taxes at source and the remittance ofitheunts withheld to the Dutch tax authorities;
the dividend withholding tax will not be for ouramunt.

If we have received a profit distributionr a foreign subsidiary located (a) in a jurisidictwith which the Netherlands has concluded a
treaty for the avoidance of double taxation orifbBonaire, St. Eustatius, Saba, Aruba, CuracastoMaarten, in which subsidiary we hold at
least 25% of the nominal paid-up capital or if thlevant tax treaty therein provides, we hold aste25% of the
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voting rights, which distribution is exempt from ©@h corporate income tax and has been subjectdameagn withholding tax of at least 5%, we
are not required to transfer to the Dutch tax atties the full amount of Dutch dividend withholdjtax in respect of dividends distributed by
our company. The amount that does not have toabsferred to the Dutch tax authorities can genenalt exceed the lesser of (i) 3% of the
portion of the dividends distributed by our comp#mat is subject to Dutch dividend withholding taxid (ii) 3% of the profit distributions our
company received from qualifying foreign subsidiarin the calendar year in which our company dhistes the dividends (up to the momen
such dividend distribution) and the two previoukendar years; further limitations and conditionglstp

The amount of Dutch withholding tax that may retain reduces the amount of dividend withimgidax that we are required to pay to the
Dutch tax authorities, but does not reduce the annoitax we are required to withhold from dividenuhid to a holder of our Class A shares.
Upon request, a holder of our Class A shares wilhbtified by our company of the amount of the Dutéthholding tax that was retained by
us.

Non-residents of the Netherlands (including but not limited to U.S. holders)

The following is a description of the m&éDutch tax consequences to a holder of Claskakes who is not treated as a resident of the
Netherlands for purposes of Dutch taxation (a "-Resident of the Netherlands") and who is consitiérebe a resident of (i) Aruba, Curacao
or St. Maarten under the provisions of the Tax @ortion for the Kingdom of the Netherlandelastingregeling voor het Koninkrijk),

(ii) Bonaire, St.Eustatius or Saba under the piomis of the Tax Arrangement for the country of letherlands Belastingregeling voor het

land Nederland) ; or (iii) a country other than the Netherlands emntthe provisions of a double taxation conventlom Netherlands has
concluded with such country. Such holder may, ddmgnon the terms of and subject to compliance #ithprocedures for claiming benefits
under the Tax Convention for the Kingdom of thehdefands, the Tax Arrangement for the country efNtetherlands or such double taxation
convention, be eligible for a full or partial exetigm from or a reduction or refund of Dutch dividewithholding tax.

Further, entities (i) that are residendimother EU Member State, in a by Ministerial Deappointed State of the EEA i.e. Iceland,
Norway and Liechtenstein, or a country outsideBEREEEA which has an arrangement for the exchangaxohformation with the
Netherlands; and (ii) that are not subject to taxelby reference to profits in such State, in pphlehave the possibility to obtain a full refu
of Dutch dividend withholding tax, provided suchiges would not have been subject to Dutch corfmiacome tax either had they been
resident within the Netherlands, and provided fartihat such entities do not perform a similar fiorcto that of a tax exempt investment
institutions or fiscal investment institutions a$arred to in the Dutch Corporate Income Tax A@9,%nd with respect to entities resident in a
country outside the EU/EEA which has an arrangerfegrthe exchange of tax information with the Netheds, provided such entities hold
their Class A shares as a portfolio investmentsueh shares are not held with a view to the &skabent or maintenance of lasting and direct
economic links between such holder of Class A shanel our company, and these shares do not allclwisalder to effectively participate in
the management or control of our company.

A holder of Class A shares who is consideoebe a resident of the United States and isleatio the benefits of the 1992 Double
Taxation Treaty between the United States and #tbeédlands ("U.S. holder"), as amended most recegtthe Protocol signed March 8, 2004
(the "Treaty") will generally be subject to Dutcividend withholding tax at the rate of 15% unlegstsU.S. holder is an exempt pension trust
as described in article 35 of the Treaty, or am@x}eorganization as described in article 36 of theaty.
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U.S. holders that are exempt pension truséxempt organizations as described in artickeargl 36, respectively, of the Treaty may
qualify for an exemption from Dutch withholding tard may generally claim (i) in the case of an exgpension trust full exemption at source
by timely filing two completed copies of form IB @6SA signed by the U.S. holder accompanied with. fbBn 6166 (as issued by the U.S.
Internal Revenue Service and valid for the relevaxtyear) or (ii) in the case of either an exepgrsion trust or an exempt organization a full
refund by filing through the withholding agent aemtioned in article 9 of the Dutch Dividend Withdiolg Tax Act 1965 (which is generally
the company) one of the following forms signed iy U.S. holder within three years after the enthefcalendar year in which the withholdi
tax was levied:

. if the U.S. holder is an exempt pension trust &sidieed in article 35 of the Treaty: two completegies of Form IB 96 USA
accompanied with U.S. Form 6166 as issued by tBe ldternal Revenue Service valid for the relevartyear and

. if the U.S. holder is an exempt organizatiomescribed in article 36 of the Treaty: two compdetepies of Form IB 95 USA
accompanied with U.S. Form 6166 as issued by tle Mternal Revenue Service, valid for the relevartyear.

Taxes on Income and Capital Gains
General
The description of taxation set out in #estion of this Annual Report is not intendeddoy holder of Class A shares who is:

. an individual for whom the income or capital gadlegived from the Class A shares are attributabkEntiployment activities the
income from which is taxable in the Netherlands; or

. an individual who holds, or is deemed to hol@uistantial Interestaanmerkelijk belang ) in our company (as defined below).

Generally, a holder of Class A shares Ve a substantial interest in our company ("Sulisianterest”) if he holds, alone or together
with his partner, whether directly or indirectliietownership of, or certain other rights over, shaepresenting 5% or more of our total issuec
and outstanding capital (or the issued and outstgrahpital of any class of shares), or rightsaguire shares, whether or not already issued,
that represent at any time 5% or more of our isgled and outstanding capital (or the issued atstanding capital of any class of shares) or
the ownership of, or certain other rights over fippmarticipating certificates that relate to 5%roore of the annual profit and/or to 5% or more
of our liquidation proceeds. A holder of Class A#s will also have a Substantial Interest in amgany if certain relatives of that holder or
of his partner have a Substantial Interest in @mmany. If a holder of Class A shares does not haSabstantial Interest, a deemed Substanti
Interest will be present if (part of) a Substantiérest has been disposed of, or is deemed o hesn disposed of, on a non-recognition basi
Please note that under Dutch tax law an indivigsiabnsidered as a holder of Class A shares ihbdsdeemed to hold an interest in the
Class A shares pursuant to the attribution rulesrtiéle 2.14a of the Dutch Income Tax Act 2001thwespect to property that has been
segregated, for instance in a trust or a foundation

Non-residents of the Netherlands (including, but not limited to, U.S. holders)

A Non-Resident of the Netherlands who hdtisss A shares is generally not subject to Dutcbrne or corporate income tax (other than
dividend withholding tax described above) on thmome and capital gains derived from the Class Aesharovided that:

. such NonResident of the Netherlands does not derive prisbits an enterprise or deemed enterprise, whethanantreprene
(ondernemer) or pursuant to a co-entitlement to the net
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worth of such enterprise (other than as an entngureor a shareholder) which enterprise is, in wlolin part, carried on
through a permanent establishment or a permangrdsentative in the Netherlands or effectively ngaokin the Netherlands
and to which enterprise or part of an enterprisg¢ha case may be, the Class A shares are attlbuiadeemed attributable;

. in the case of a Non-Resident of the Netherlaviiish is an entity, such entity does not have bas&ntial Interest or deemed
Substantial Interest in our company, or if suchdboldoes have such Substantial Interest, it foransgd the assets of an
enterprise or it is not held with the primary pusp@r one of the primary purposes of avoiding ¢vg bf Dutch income tax or
Dutch dividend withholding tax with someone else;

. in the case of a Non-Resident of the Netherlands ilan individual, (a) such individual does natrgaut any activities in the
Netherlands with respect to the Class A sharesstkaded ordinary active asset managemaatraal vermogensbeheer ),
(b) the benefits derived from such Class A sharesiat intended as remuneration for activities guened by a holder of Class
shares or by a person connected to such holdeeastrhy article 3.92b paragraph 5 of the Dutchimedax Act 2001 and
(c) such individual does not derive income or capjains from the Class A shares that are taxableaefits from "other
miscellaneous activities" in the Netherlarjdssultaat uit overige werkzaamheden in Nederland) ;

. in the case of a Non-Resident of the Netherlavitish is an entity, it is neither entitled to ashin the profits of an enterprise
effectively managed in the Netherlands, nor cotletito the net worth of such enterprise, othentmaway of the holding of
securities, to which enterprise the Class A shargmyments in respect of the Class A shares #aiibuable; and

. in the case of a Non-Resident of the Netherlands izlan individual, such individual is not entitleda share in the profits of an
enterprise effectively managed in the Netherlanttgr than by way of the holding of securitiestbrough an employment
contract, to which enterprise the Class A shargmgments in respect of Class A shares are atatiteit

A U.S. holder that is entitled to the bétsedf the Treaty and whose Class A shares arattrithutable to a Dutch enterprise or deemed
enterprise, will generally not be subject to Duikes on any capital gain realized on the dispofssilich Class A shares.

Gift, Estate or Inheritance Taxes

No Dutch gift, estate or inheritance tawdlarise on the transfer of Class A shares by whg gift by, or on the death of, a holder of
Class A shares who is neither resident nor deeméd tesident in the Netherlands, unless in the ofa gift of the Class A shares by an
individual who at the date of the gift was neithesident nor deemed to be resident in the Nethdsléh such individual dies within 180 days
after the date of the gift, while being residentieemed to be resident in the Netherlands; oth@)gift of the Class A shares is made under a
condition precedent and the holder of these shamesident, or is deemed to be resident, in thibdtkands at the time the condition is fulfilli

For purposes of Dutch gift, estate and iitduece taxes, an individual who holds the Dutctiamality will be deemed to be resident in the
Netherlands if he or she has been resident in #thédands at any time during the ten years pragdtiie date of the gift or his or her de¢
Additionally, for purposes of Dutch gift tax, ardimidual not holding the Dutch nationality will lsleemed to be resident in the Netherlands if
he or she has been resident in the Netherlandsydtrae during the twelve months preceding the dathe gift. Applicable tax treaties may
override deemed residency.
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Value-Added Tax

There is no Dutch valsdded tax payable in respect of payments in coratida for the sale of the Class A shares (othan trelue adde
taxes on fees payable in respect of services reshpkfrom Dutch value added tax).

Other Taxes and Duties

There is no Dutch registration tax, capial customs duty, stamp duty or any other sintaumentary tax or duty other than court fees
payable in the Netherlands by a holder of Clasbdes in respect of or in connection with the ekieayudelivery and enforcement by legal
proceedings (including any foreign judgment in ¢berts of the Netherlands) of the Class A shares.

Residence

Other than as set forth above, a hold&lass A shares will not become or be deemed torheeoresident of the Netherlands, nor will a
holder of Class A shares otherwise become sulgdetxation in the Netherlands, solely by reasohaddling the Class A shares.

Taxation in the United States

The following summary of the material Uf€deral income tax consequences of the acquisitnership and disposition of our Class A
shares is based upon current law and does not puopoe a comprehensive discussion of all thectmsiderations that may be relevant to a
decision to purchase our Class A shares. This suynimbased on current provisions of the Interned&hue Code, existing, final, temporary
and proposed United States Treasury Regulatiomsinggtrative rulings and judicial decisions, in ba@ase as available on the date of this
Annual Report. All of the foregoing are subjecttmnge, which change could apply retroactively @ndd affect the tax consequences
described below.

This section summarizes the material U=8efal income tax consequences to U.S. holdedefased below, of Class A shares. This
summary addresses only the U.S. federal incomedagiderations for U.S. holders that hold the Chasbares as capital assets. This summal
does not address all U.S. federal income tax nsatieat may be relevant to a particular U.S. holder,does it address any state, local or
foreign tax matters or matters relating to any WeBeral tax other than the income tBach investor should consult its own professionabi
advisor with respect to the tax consequences of tipeirchase, ownership and disposition of the Class ghares. This summary does not
address tax considerations applicable to a holti€tass A shares that may be subject to speciaiui@s including, without limitation, the
following:

. certain financial institutions;

. insurance companies;

. dealers or traders in securities, currencies, tonal principal contracts;

. tax-exempt entities;

. regulated investment companies;

. persons that hold the Class A shares as part afsa sale, hedge, straddle, conversion, construsdileeor similar transaction;
. persons that hold the Class A shares through pahips or certain other pass-through entities;

. persons that own (or are deemed to own) 10% or wiooear voting shares; and

. persons that have a "functional currency" othen tinve U.S. dollar.
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Further, this summary does not addressnalti’e minimum tax consequences or indirect effect the holders of equity interests in
entities that own our Class A shares. In additibis, discussion does not consider the U.S. taxemuences to non-U.S. holders of Class A
shares.

For the purposes of this summary, a "Udidédr" is a beneficial owner of Class A shares ihafior U.S. federal income tax purposes:

. an individual who is either a citizen or residefth®e United States;

. a corporation, or other entity that is treated asrgoration for U.S. federal income tax purposesated or organized in or unt
the laws of the United States or any state of thitgdd States or the District of Columbia;

. an estate, the income of which is subject to. fe&eral income taxation regardless of its sounce;

. a trust, if a court within the United Statesde to exercise primary supervision over its adstiation and one or more "United
States persons," within the meaning of the InteR®elenue Code, have the authority to control athefsubstantial decisions of
such trust.

If a partnership holds Class A sharestadlreéreatment of a partner will generally dependruthe status of the partner and upon the
activities of the partnership.

We will not seek a ruling from the U.S.dmal Revenue Service ("IRS") with regard to th8.Uederal income tax treatment of an
investment in our Class A shares, and we cannatag®su that that the IRS will agree with the cosns set forth below.

Distributions.  Subject to the discussion unddrdssive Foreign Investment Company Considerations " below, the gross amount of any
distribution (including any amounts withheld in pest of Dutch withholding tax) actually or constiively received by a U.S. holder with
respect to Class A shares will be taxable to ti bolder as a dividend to the extent paid outunfonrrent or accumulated earnings and pr
as determined under U.S. federal income tax priesiistributions in excess of our current andiawglated earnings and profits will be non-
taxable to the U.S. holder to the extent of, antilvei applied against and reduce, the U.S. holdeljigsted tax basis in the Class A shares.
Distributions in excess of our current and accuteal&arnings and profits and such adjusted taxs béligenerally be taxable to the U.S.
holder as capital gain from the sale or exchangeapberty. However, since we do not calculate @iniegs and profits under U.S. federal
income tax principles, it is expected that anyribstion will be reported as a dividend, even #thdistribution would otherwise be treated as a
non-taxable return of capital or as capital gaidarrthe rules described above. The amount of astyilulition of property other than cash will
be the fair market value of that property on thiead distribution. The U.S. holder will not begible for any dividends-received deduction in
respect of the dividend otherwise allowable to coaions.

Under the Internal Revenue Code, qualifisitiends received by certain non-corporate U.&édrs (i.e. , individuals and certain trusts
and estates) currently are subject to a maximunigctax rate of 20%. This reduced income tax mtpplicable to dividends paid by
"qualified foreign corporations” to such non-corerU.S. holders that meet the applicable requingsnécluding a minimum holding period
(generally, at least 61 days during the 121-dajoddreginning 60 days before the ex-dividend daté).believe that we are a qualified foreign
corporation under the Internal Revenue Code. Adnghy, dividends paid by us to non-corporate U.&dbrs with respect to Class A shares
that meet the minimum holding period and other ipents are expected to be treated as "qualifiddahd income." However, dividends
paid by us will not qualify for the 20% U.S. fedeirecome tax rate cap if we are treated, for theyiar in which the dividends are paid or the
preceding tax year, as a "passive foreign investmempany" for U.S. federal income tax purposeslissussed below. Dividends paid by us
that are not treated as qualified dividends wiltddeable at the normal
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(and currently higher) ordinary income tax ratesept to the extent that they are taxable otherifise are a passive foreign investment
company as described below.

Dividends received by a U.S. holder withpect to Class A shares generally will be treagefbeeign source income for the purposes of
calculating that holder's foreign tax credit lintitgéd. Subject to applicable conditions and limitas, and subject to the discussion in the next
two paragraphs, any Dutch income tax withheld etdénds may be deducted from taxable income oiitegtdgainst a U.S. holder's U.S.
federal income tax liability. The limitation on fgn taxes eligible for the U.S. foreign tax crasditalculated separately with respect to spe
classes of income. For this purpose, dividendsibliged by us generally will constitute "passivéegmry income” (but, in the case of some
U.S. holders, may constitute "general categorynmet).

A "United States person,” within the megnafi the Internal Revenue Code, that is an indi@idan estate or a nonexempt trust is gene
subject to a 3.8% surtax on the lesser of (i) thédd States person's "net investment income"Heryear and (ii) the excess of the United
States person's "modified adjusted gross incomeht year over a threshold (which, in the casamoindividual, will be between $125,000
and $250,000, depending on the individual's U $fitiag status). A U.S. holder's net investmerdame generally will include, among other
things, dividends on, and gains from the sale beotaxable disposition of, our Class A sharesesm{with certain exceptions) those dividend:
or gains are derived in the ordinary course ofddror business. Net investment income may be eeldog deductions properly allocable
thereto; however, the U.S. foreign tax credit maybe available to reduce the surtax.

Upon making a distribution to shareholders,may be permitted to retain a portion of the ant® withheld as Dutch dividend
withholding tax. See "—Taxation in the Netherland3ividend Withholding Tax—General." The amount oftBluwithholding tax that we
may retain reduces the amount of dividend withhjdax that we are required to pay to the Dutchetstkorities but does not reduce the
amount of tax we are required to withhold from damds paid to U.S. holders. In these circumstaiicisdjkely that the portion of dividend
withholding tax that we are not required to payht® Dutch tax authorities with respect to dividedddributed to U.S. holders would not
qualify as a creditable tax for U.S. foreign tagdit purposes.

Sale or other disposition of ClassA shares. A U.S. holder will generally recognize gainlass for U.S. federal income tax purposes t
the sale or exchange of Class A shares in an aneguratl to the difference between the U.S. doll&weraf the amount realized from such sale
or exchange and the U.S. holder's tax basis faeti@ass A shares. Subject to the discussion urekssive Foreign Investment Company
Considerations " below, this gain or loss will be capital gainloss and will generally be treated as from souvdgésin the United States.
Capital gain or loss will be long-term capital gainloss if the U.S. holder held the Class A shéoesnore than one year at the time of the sale
or exchange; in general, long-term capital gaiasized by non-corporate U.S. holders are eligibleréduced rates of tax. The deductibility of
losses incurred upon the sale or other dispositfarapital assets is subject to limitations.

Passive foreign investment company considerations. A corporation organized outside the United &tagenerally will be classified as a
passive foreign investment company ("PFIC") for Uesleral income tax purposes in any taxable yearich, after applying the applicable
look-through rules, either: (i) at least 75% ofgt®ss income is passive income, or (ii) at le@8b Df the average gross value of its assets is
attributable to assets that produce passive inaomaee held for the production of passive incomearriving at this calculation, a pro rata
portion of the income and assets of each corparatievhich we own, directly or indirectly, at leasP5% interest by value, must be taken into
account. Passive income for this purpose generallydes dividends, interest, royalties, rents gaiths from commodities and securities
transactions. We believe that we were not a PFiGhi® 2012 and 2013 taxable years. Based on essnodiour gross income and the average
value of our gross assets,
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and on the nature of the active businesses cordibgteur "25% or greater" owned subsidiaries, waalpexpect to be a PFIC in the current
taxable year and do not expect to become one ifoteeeeable future. However, because our statuenfptaxable year will depend on the
composition of our income and assets and the \afloer assets for such year, and because thifast@al determination made annually after
the end of each taxable year, there can be noaassthat we will not be considered a PFIC foraimeent taxable year or any future taxable
year. In particular, the value of our assets magidiermined in large part by reference to the nigkiee of our Class A shares, which nr
fluctuate considerably. If we were a PFIC for aayable year during which a U.S. holder held Clashares, gain recognized by the U.S.
holder on a sale or other disposition (includingexdge) of the Class A shares would be allocatabhaover the U.S. holder's holding period
for the Class A shares. The amounts allocatededatkable year of the sale or other dispositiontarahy year before we became a PFIC w
be taxed as ordinary income. The amount allocatedth other taxable year would be subject to téixeshighest rate in effect for individuals
or corporations, as appropriate, for that taxakl@yand an interest charge would be imposed orethdting tax liability for that taxable year.
Similar rules would apply to the extent any digitibn in respect of Class A shares exceeds 125%tecdiverage of the annual distributions on
Class A shares received by a U.S. holder duringtleeding three years or the holder's holdingopefivhichever is shorter. Elections may be
available that would result in alternative treattsgisuch as a mark-to-market treatment) of the<CAashares. In addition, if we are considerec
a PFIC for the current taxable year or any futasable year, U.S. holders will be required to difemual information returns for such year,
whether or not the U.S. holder disposed of any<hashares or received any distributions in respé@lass A shares during such year.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting.  U.S. holders generally will be subject to imf@tion reporting requirements with
respect to dividends on Class A shares and onrteeeds from the sale, exchange or dispositionagsCA shares that are paid within the
United States or through U.S.-related financiatimtediaries, unless the U.S. holder is an "exeegipient." In addition, certain U.S. holders
who are individuals may be required to report ® RS information relating to their ownership oétGlass A shares, subject to certain
exceptions (including an exception for shares relsh account maintained by a U.S. financial ingitin). U.S. holders may be subject to
backup withholding (currently at 28%) on divideradsl on the proceeds from the sale, exchange ovsitsg of Class A shares that are paid
within the United States or through U.S.-relatedficial intermediaries, unless the U.S. holder iges/a taxpayer identification number and a
duly executed IRS Form W-9 or otherwise establistreexemption. Backup withholding is not an additilctax and the amount of any backup
withholding will be allowed as a credit against &Uholder's U.S. federal income tax liability andy entitle such holder to a refund, provided
that the required information is timely furnishedthe IRS.

Documents on Display

We are subject to the periodic reporting ather informational requirements of the Secwifixchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the
Exchange Act. Under the Exchange Act, we are reduiv file reports and other information with theCS Specifically, we are required to file
annually a Form 20-F no later than four monthsrdfie close of each fiscal year, which is Decen@ierCopies of reports and other
information, when so filed, may be inspected withchiarge and may be obtained at prescribed ratée aublic reference facilities maintained
by the Securities and Exchange Commission at JArgi€llaza, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C420&nd at the regional office of the
Securities and Exchange Commission located atd@ti€enter, 500 West Madison Street, Suite 140@&;aghb, lllinois 60661. The public may
obtain information regarding the Washington, D.GblR Reference Room by calling the Commission-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also
maintains a web site at www.sec.gov that contapsnts, proxy and information statements, and attffermation regarding registrants that
make electronic filings with the SEC using its ED&Aystem. As a foreign
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private issuer, we are exempt from the rules uttteExchange Act prescribing the furnishing andeonof quarterly reports and proxy

statements, and officers, directors and principateholders are exempt from the reporting and swairig profit recovery provisions contain
in Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

ltem 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk.
See "Operating and Financial Review andgprots—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosuresuabtarket Risk."
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PART II.
Item 14. Material Modifications to the Rights ofSecurity Holders and Use of Proceeds.
Not applicable.
Item 15. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

The company's management, with the padiwp of the company's chief executive officer ahef financial officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of the company's disclosure controtsprocedures as of December 31, 2014. The tesolddure controls and procedures,” as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) undeEttaelhange Act, means controls and other proceddr@sompany that are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed bpmpany in the reports that it files or submitger the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the pienids specified in the SEC's rules and formscbsure controls and procedures include
without limitation, controls and procedures desifjt@ensure that information required to be disaliosy a company in the reports that it files
or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulatedcammunicated to the company's management, imuth principal executive and
principal financial officers, as appropriate tooalltimely decisions regarding required disclositanagement recognizes that any controls an
procedures, no matter how well designed and opraée provide only reasonable assurance of acigaheir objectives and management
necessarily applies its judgment in evaluatingahet-benefit relationship of possible controls anacedures. Based on the evaluation of the
company's disclosure controls and procedures Beoémber 31, 2014, the company's chief executifieeofand chief financial officer
concluded that, as of such date, the company'®dise controls and procedures were effective.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finarad Reporting

Our management is responsible for estahlisind maintaining adequate "internal control dirancial reporting," as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Rus rule defines internal control over finanagporting as a process designed by, or
under the supervision of, a company's chief exeeudfficer and chief financial officer and effectied our board of directors, management anc
other personnel, to provide reasonable assurageediag the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles and includes those fediand procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detilrately and fairly reflect the transactions disghositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transadi@nsecorded as necessary to permit preparatifinasfcial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, andréraipts and expenditures of the company are bmadg only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of ¢mepany; and (3) provide reasonable assurance lieggytevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition ef¢bmpany's assets that could have a material efifeihe financial statements.

Management assessed the design and oppedfittiveness of our internal control over finahceporting as of December 31, 2014. This
assessment was performed under the direction grehdsion of our chief executive officer and cHiefncial officer, and based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framéw{@®92) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Girgdions of the Treadway
Commission. Based on that evaluation, we concluldatias of December 31, 2014, our internal comtvel financial reporting was effective.
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No change in the company's internal cordvelr financial reporting occurred during the fispesar ended December 31, 2014 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to erélly affect, the company's internal control ofiesancial reporting.

The effectiveness of our internal contretiofinancial reporting as of December 31, 2014&en audited by ZAO Deloitte & Touche
CIS, our independent registered public accountimg. fTheir report may be found below.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholdéréandex N.V.:

We have audited the internal control ovearicial reporting of Yandex N.V. and subsidiaifge "Company") as of December 31, 2014,
based on criteria established in Internal Contraltegrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committ&&ponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. The Company's managemensg®nsible for maintaining effective internal cohwwaer financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting, included in the accomyag Management's Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibile to express an opinion on the Company's interortrol over financial reporting based
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance withdtandards of the Public Company Accounting Qgiet8oard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigéanternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etastilg and evaluating the design and operatifegtfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre®& considered necessary in the circumstancefeéliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over finangigborting is a process designed by, or underupersision of, the company's principal
executive and principal financial officers, or pErs performing similar functions, and effected by tompany's board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reakpassurance regarding the reliability of financegdorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles. A comgfsainternal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and proceduras(th) pertain to the maintenance of records thatasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of tleetesof the company; (2) provide reasonable asserduat transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial stat@sin accordance with generally accepted acaagiptinciples, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordg@ordance with authorizations of management amedtdirs of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prereatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose, or disposition of the company's as
that could have a material effect on the finansiatements.

Because of the inherent limitations of intd control over financial reporting, includingetpossibility of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatémdue to error or fraud may not be preventetbtacted on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenekthe internal control over financial reportingftdure periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance Withpolicies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintainedalimaterial respects, effective internal contre¢iofinancial reporting as of December 31,
2014, based on the criteria established in InteBaaltrol—Integrated Framework (1992) issued byGbenmittee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance wighstndards of the Public Company Accounting Ogbtd8oard (United States), the
consolidated financial statements of the Compamyf asid for the year ended December 31, 2014 oftmapany and our report dated
April 30, 2015 expressed an unqualified opiniortlorse financial statements and included an exptapaaragraph regarding the translatio
Russian ruble amounts into U.S. dollar amountsgmtesi solely for the convenience of readers irlLthitged States of America.

/s/ ZAO Deloitte & Touche CIS

Moscow, Russia
April 30, 2015
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Item 16A. Audit Committee Financial Expert.

Mr. Ryan qualifies as an "audit committeehcial expert," as defined in Item 16A of FormR2@nd as determined by our board of
directors

Item 16B. Code of Ethics.

We have adopted a written code of ethigdiegble to directors, members of senior managemedtemployees of the company and ar
the company's direct and indirect subsidiaries. €de of ethics is posted on our company website at
http://files.shareholder.com/downloads/YNDX/2922888x0x555143/d62ce4dc-15b3-46b5-8083-caf95620de2f/

Code_of Business_Ethics_and_Conduct.pdf.

Any amendments to our code of ethics wélldisclosed on our website within five businesssdafythe occurrence.
Iltem 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The following table summarizes the feeZA0 Deloitte & Touche CIS, our independent registepublic accounting firm, or its affiliat
billed to us for each of the last two fiscal years.

2013 2014
(RUR in million)
Audit Fees(1 27.1 25.¢
Audit Related Fees(: 7.€ 15.€
Tax Fees(3 0.¢ 1.4
All Other Fees — —
Total Fees 35.¢ 42.¢

(1)  Audit fees for 2013 and 2014 were for professiaavices provided for the review of interim finaalgtatements
and the audit of our consolidated annual finanstalements included in our Annual Reports on FADAfr Dr
services normally provided in connection with staity and regulatory filings or engagements for éhfiscal
years.

(2)  Audit-related fees consist of fees for assuranckeralated services that are reasonably relateuetpérformance
of the audit or review of our financial statemeautsl which are not reported under "Audit Fees".

3) Tax fees consist of fees for tax compliance andatisice services. The tax advice services relataxadvice on
our revised employee incentive pli

Pre-Approval Palicies for Non-Audit Services

In 2011, we established a policy pursuanthich we will not engage our auditors to perfany non-audit services unless the audit
committee pre-approves the service. The audit cdt@enpre-approved 100% of the non-audit servicepeed for us by Deloitte & Touche
during 2014.
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Item 16E. Purchases of Equity Securities by thissuer and Affiliated Purchasers.
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

(d) Maximum Number

(c) Total Number of (or Approximate Dollar
(a) Total Shares Purchased as Value) of Shares that
Number of (b) Average Part of Publicly May Yet Be Purchased
Shares Price Paid per Announced Plans or Under the Plans or
Period Purchased(1) Shares(2) Programs(1) Programs(3)
January - 31, 2014 929,12 $ 41.200: 929,12! 5,397,19.
February 1- 28, 2014 800,00( $ 38.185:; 800,00 4,597,19.
March 1- 31, 2014 1,238,200 $ 31.289( 1,238,20! 3,358,99
April 1 - 30, 2014 1,804,57 $ 27.223: 1,804,57 1,554,471
May 1- 31, 2014 1,186,700 $ 29.177¢ 1,186,70! 367,71
June 1- 30, 2014 367,71 % 33.206: 367,71 0
July 1- 31, 2014 — $ = = 3,000,001
August 1- 31, 2014 2,000 $ 28.400( 2,00( 2,998,001
September - 30, 2014 21,00 $ 30.014: 21,00( 2,977,001
October 1- 31, 2014 616,35! $ 25.348: 616,35! 2,360,64!
November 1- 30, 2014 360,64 $ 25.959¢ 360,64! 2,000,001
December - 31, 2014 — $ — — —
Total 7,326,12! $ 31.285: 7,326,31! 2,000,00t

(1) Asof trade date
(2)  Weighted average per month

(3) On March 11, 2013, we announced that our boardre€irs had authorized a program to repurchage @@ million of
our Class A shares from time to time in open maegtsactions. On December 10, 2013, we annouhegatr board of
directors had authorized an increase in our exjstihmillion share repurchase program by 3 milkbares, to a total of
up to 15 million shares. The program was compléatelline 2014. On July 29, 2014, we announced aiti@ull increase
of the amended repurchase program for an addit®nallion shares

Item 16F. Changes in Registrant's Certifying Acountant
None.
Iltem 16G. Corporate Governance.

The Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, as wetkteted rules subsequently implemented by the $&dtijres foreign private issuers, including
our company, to comply with various corporate goegice practices. In addition, NASDAQ rules provwtaat foreign private issuers may
follow home country practice in lieu of the NASDA®rporate governance standards, subject to cexaigptions and except to the extent tha
such exemptions would be contrary to U.S. federalisties laws. The home country practices followgaur company in lieu of NASDAQ
rules are described below:

. We do not follow NASDAQ's quorum requirements apgile to meetings of shareholders. In accordanttemitch law and
generally accepted business practice, our artaflassociation do not provide quorum requirementsegally applicable to
general meetings of shareholders.

. We do not follow NASDAQ's requirements regardihg provision of proxy statements for general ingstof shareholders.
Dutch law does not have a regulatory regime forsthlitation of proxies and the solicitation obgies is not a generally
accepted business practice
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in the Netherlands. We do intend to provide shddge with an agenda and other relevant documenthé general meeting of
shareholders.

We intend to take all actions necessaryfoto maintain compliance as a foreign privataéssinder the applicable corporate governance
requirements of the Sarbanes Oxley Act, the rullepted by the SEC and NASDAQ's listing standardgsa®Mutch company listed on a
government recognized stock exchange, we are estjtorapply the provisions of the Dutch Corporate’&nance Code as released in 2003
and amended in 2009, or explain any deviation filoenprovisions of such code in our Dutch Annual &tepequired by Dutch law.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Yardé/.:

We have audited the accompanying conseliibalance sheets of Yandex N.V. and subsidiadgether the "Company") as of
December 31, 2013 and 2014, and the related cdasedl statements of income, comprehensive incoasd, ftows and shareholders' equity
each of the three years in the period ended DeceBih@014. These financial statements are theoressipility of the Company's management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on ¢hiésancial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Slgat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet dndbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated finansi@tements present fairly, in all material respeitie financial position of Yandex N.V. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2014thencksults of their operations and their cash $léov each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with acciognprinciples generally accepted in the United&taf America.

We have also audited, in accordance wighstndards of the Public Company Accounting Ogatd8oard (United States), the Compa
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2014 based on the criteria establishédeémal Control—Integrated Framework
(1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Omgitins of the Treadway Commission and our repateeai April 30, 2015, expressed an
unqualified opinion on the Company's internal cohdwer financial reporting.

Our audits also comprehended the translatidRussian ruble amounts into U.S. dollar amoant§ in our opinion, such translations have
been made in conformity with the basis stated iteNb Such U.S. dollar amounts are presented sfaetye convenience of readers in the
United States of America.

/s/ ZAO Deloitte & Touche CIS

Moscow, Russia
April 30, 2015
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YANDEX N.V.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In millions of Russian rubles ("RUR") and U.S. dolars ("$"), except share and per share data)

As of December 31

Notes 2013 2014 2014
RUR RUR $

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel 5 33,39« 17,64 313.€
Marketable securitie 5 87 — —
Term deposit: — 5,86% 104.2
Investments in debt securiti 5 — 3,12« 55.5
Accounts receivable, n 5 2,78¢F 3,70¢ 65.€
Prepaid expense 68¢ 1,55¢ 27.¢
Deferred tax asse 1C 59€ 18C 3.2
Other current asse 5 1,33% 3,73¢ 66.4
Total current asse 38,88: 35,80° 636.5
Property and equipment, r 8 9,72¢ 17,10° 304.1
Intangible assets, n 9 664 2,42¢ 43.1
Goodwill 9 2,91t 8,92( 158.¢
Long-term prepaid expens 1,04z 1,59( 28.1
Restricted cas 5 104 93z 16.€
Term deposits, nc¢-current 15,18( 25,66 456.2
Investments in nc-marketable equity securiti 5 1,25(C 871 15.5
Deferred tax assets, r-current 1C 3 4 0.1
Other nor-current assel 5 1,541 1,60¢ 28.F
TOTAL ASSETS 71,31 94,924 1,687.
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 5 3,71C 5,05:¢ 89.¢
Taxes payabl 1,68¢ 2,93( 52.1
Deferred revenu 1,501 1,80¢ 32.1
Deferred tax liabilities 1C 16 5 0.1
Total current liabilities 6,91¢ 9,79¢ 174.1
Convertible deb 11 16,42¢ 26,32¢ 467.¢
Deferred tax liabilities, nc-current 1C 1,24t 1,587 28.2
Other accrued liabilitie 125 1,48( 26.4
Total liabilities 24,71« 39,18¢ 696.€
Commitments and contingenci 12
Shareholders' equit
Priority share€1 par value; 1 share authorized, issued and odiisiz 13 — — —
Preference shares: €0.01 par value; 2,000,000;801,800,000,001, shares

authorized, nil shares issued and outstan 13 — — —
Ordinary shares: par value (Class A €0.01, Clag6.B0 and Class C €0.09); sha

authorized (Class A: 2,000,000,000 and 1,000,0@0,0tass B: 102,115,140 ai

71,870,411, and Class C: 102,115,140 and 71,870,d44res issued (Class A:

256,998,306 and 267,970,405, Class B: 72,923,4d453/051,348, and Class (

23,110,819 and 8,919,063, respectively); sharetanding (Class A:

250,732,061 and 255,592,322, Class B: 72,923,4453/051,348, and Class (

nil) 13 242 182 3.2
Treasury shares at cost (Class A: 6,266,245 ar87&8283) 13 (6,88¢) (14,179 (252.0
Additional paicin capital 15,70: 16,19: 287.¢
Accumulated other comprehensive incc 2,k 2,04z 1,02 18.2
Retained earning 35,49¢ 52,51¢ 933.t
Total shareholders' equi 46,597 55,73t 990.7
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 71,31. 94,92+ 1,687.

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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YANDEX N.V.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(In millions of Russian rubles and U.S. dollars, esept share and per share data)

Revenue!
Operating costs and
expenses
Cost of revenues(:
Product development(:
Sales, general and
administrative(1,
Depreciation and
amortization
Total operating costs an
expense:
Income from operatior
Interest income, ne
Other income, ne
Net income before
income taxe:
Provision for income taxe
Net income

Net income per Class A al
Class B share
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average numbel
of Class A and Class B
shares outstandir

Basic

Diluted

(1) These balances exclude depreciation and amortizakpenses, which are presented separately, aldénshare-based

Year ended December 31

Notes 2012 2013 2014 2014
RUR RUR RUR $

15 28,76% 39,50: 50,76 902.¢
7,18¢ 10,60¢ 14,33¢ 254.¢
4,274 5,82 8,84: 157.2
4,90( 6,537 7,78: 138.c
2,951 3,69¢ 4,48¢ 79.7
19,31 26,66¢ 35,44 630.(
9,45¢ 12,831 15,32¢ 272.¢
1,002 1,715 85¢€ 15.2
11€ 2,15¢ 6,29¢ 111.€
10,57« 16,71 22,47F 399.t
10 2,35] 3,23¢ 5,45¢ 97.C
8,22¢ 13,47 17,02( 302.5
3 25.2] 41.2¢ 53.3( 0.95
3 24.5( 40.2i 52.2i 0.9¢
3 326,210,994 326,657,77 319,336,78 319,336,78
3 335,690,59 334,571,21 325,610,27 325,610,27

compensation expenses

Cost of revenue
Product developmel

Sales, general and administrat

33
221
122

61
43¢
25¢

101
78C
32¢

1.8
13.€
5.8

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statements.
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YANDEX N.V.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In millions of Russian rubles and U.S. dollars)

Year ended December 31

Notes _ 2012 2013 2014 2014
RUR RUR RUR $
Net income 8,22¢ 13,47 17,02( 302.
Foreign currency translation adjustme
Foreign currency gains / (losses), net of tax (867) 1,027 (1,019 (18.)
Reclassification translation adjustment, net of t
nil 5 — 54 — —
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of ta
nil (867) 1,081 (1,019 (18.))
Total other comprehensive income / (la (867) 1,087 (1,019 (18.))
Comprehensive incorr 7,35¢ 14,55 16,000 284.c

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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YANDEX N.V.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions of Russian rubles and U.S. dollars)

Years ended December 3.

Notes 2012 2013 2014 2014
RUR RUR RUR $
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income 8,22 13,47 17,02( 302.t
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigea by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization of property and eopgpt 2,81 3,58¢ 4,24; 75.4
Amortization of acquisitio-related intangible asse 13¢ 111 24z 4.2
Amortization of debt discount and issuance c — 24 811 14.¢
Sharebased compensation expel 37¢ 754 1,21( 21t
Deferred income taxe 72 (197 11t 2.C
Foreign exchange (gains) / los! 57 (139 (6,559 (116.%
Gain from sale of equity securities/subsidia (239 (2,137 — —
Impairment of investment in equity securit — — 70C 12.¢
Gain from repurchases of convertible d — — (54¢) (9.9
Other 51 (28) 38 0.7
Changes in operating assets and liabilities exotytte effect of
acquisitions
Accounts receivable, n (52€) (966€) (714) (12.9)
Prepaid expenses and other as (929) (1,30)) (3,069 (54.6)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 1,271 1,19 1,817 32.4
Deferred revenu 19t 401 23t 4.2
Assets held for sal (41)) (15€) — —
Liabilities related to assets held for s 421 86 — —
Net cash provided by operating activit 11,52¢ 14,70¢ 15,54¢ 276.%
CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipm (3,989 (4,93¢) (9,67¢ a72.0
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn — — 132 2.8
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acqt 4 — (2,43¢) (6,360 (113.0
Investments in nc-marketable equity securitit 4 (47) (14) (45 (0.§)
Proceeds from sale of equity securi 4 174 2,02: 12C 2.1

Investments in debt securiti —
Proceeds from maturity of debt securil 1,521 4,96¢ 57t 10.2

Investments in term depos (16,58Y) (11,450 (17,157 (304.9
Maturities of term deposii 8,51 11,29( 7,23¢ 128.¢
Loans grante — (27¢ (207) 3.9
Escrow cash depos 4 21¢ 12t (65€) (11.7)
Net cash used in investing activiti (10,19() (710) (28,589 (508.7)
CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITES:

Proceeds from exercise of share opti 361 43¢ 191 3.2
Proceeds from issuance of convertible ¢ 11 — 19,71¢ 2,981 53.C
Repurchases of convertible dt 11 — — (6,419 (114.0
Payment of debt issuance cc 11 — a9 (42) (0.7)
Repurchases of ordinary sha — (8,51%) (8,427  (149.7)
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activi 361 11,46: (11,707  (208.1)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casiaénts (205) 51: 9,001 160.(
Net change in cash and cash equival 1,49¢ 25,96¢ (15,749  (280.0)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 5,93( 7,42¢ 33,39 593.¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe 7,428 33,39« 17,64" 313.¢
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati

Cash paid for income tax: 1,991 2,94¢ 4,54+ 80.¢
Cash paid for acquisitior 4 — 2,481 6,561 116.%
Interest paic — — 307 5.t
Non-cash investing activitie:

Change in accounts payable for property and equip 16 19z 643 11.4
Non-cash consideration from sale of equity secur 4 144 — — —
Nor-cash consideration for purchase of equity secal 4 — 112 — —

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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YANDEX N.V.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(In millions of Russian rubles and U.S. dollars, esept share and per share data)

Priority Share Ordinary Shares
Issued and Issued and
Qutstanding Qutstanding

Accumulated
Treasury  Additional Other
shares at Paid-In Comprehensive Retained
Shares Amount Shares Amount cost Capital Income/(Loss) Earnings  Total
RUR RUR RUR RUR RUR RUR RUR

Balance as o

January 01,

2012 1 — 323,838,73 59t — 12,72¢ 1,82¢ 13,80. 28,95!
Share-based

compensati

expense — — — — — 37¢ — — 37¢€
Share-based

compensati

tax benefits — — — — — 2 — — 2
Exercise of

share

options — — 3,921,35; 1 — 35¢ — — 36C
Class B share

conversior — — — (257) — 151 — — —
Foreign

currency

translation

adjustmen — — — — — — (867) — (867)
Net income — — — — — — — 8,22 8,22
Balance as o

December {

2012 1 — 327,760,08 44E — 13,61° 961 22,02¢ 37,047
Share-based

compensati

expense — — — — — 754 — — 754
Exercise of

share

options

(Note 14) — — 4,494,80. 1 — 43¢ — — 44C
Class B share

conversior — — — (204) — 204 — — —
Repurchases

of shares

(Note 13) — — (8,599,37) — (8,51¢) — — — (8,519
Reissue of

shares for

options

exercisec — — — — 1,632 (1,639 — — —
Issuance of

convertible

debt — — — — — 2,31¢ — — 2,31¢
Foreign

currency

translation

adjustment,

including

reclassificat — — — — — — 1,081 — 1,081
Net income — — — — — — — 13,47¢ 13,47:
Balance as o

December {

2013 1 — 323,655,50 242 (6,88¢€) 15,70 2,04 35,49¢ 46,597

Share-based

compensati

expense — — — — — 1,21( — — 1,21(
Exercise of

share

options

(Note 14) — — 1,434,48 1 — 18¢ — — 18¢
Class B share

conversior — — — (61) — 61 — — —
Repurchases

of shares

(Note 13) — — (7,446,31) — (8,436) — — —  (8,43¢
Reissue of

shares for

options

exercisec — — — — 1,14: (1,149 — — —
Issuance of

convertible

debt — — — — — 442 — — 442
Repurchase ¢




convertible

debt — — — — — (312) — — (312)
Windfall tax

benefit — — — — — 45 — — 45
Foreign

currency

translation

adjustmen — — — — — — (1,019 — (1,019
Net income — — — — — — — 17,02 17,02(
Balance as o

December {

2014 1 — 317,643,67 182 (14,179 16,19. 1,02% 52,561¢ 55,73t
Balance as o

December :

2014, $ — 3.2 (252.0) 287.¢ 18.2 933.t 990.7

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftinsolidated financial statements.
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YANDEX N.V.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2013 AND 204

(in millions of Russian rubles and U.S. dollars, ecept share and per share data)
1. ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

Yandex N.V., together with its consolidasedbsidiaries (together, the "Company"), is anriméeand technology company and operates
Russia's largest internet search engine. The Coyrgamerates substantially all of its revenues famine advertising. Until July 2013, it also
generated revenues from online payment commissions.

Yandex N.V. was incorporated under the laivhe Netherlands in June 2004 and is the holdorgpany of Yandex LLC, incorporated
the Russian Federation in October 2000, and otifesidiaries.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financiakstents have been prepared in conformity with agtiog principles generally accepted in
United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). The accomyag consolidated financial statements differ frima financial statements prepared by
the group's individual legal entities for statutpryrposes in that they reflect certain adjustmenisrecorded in the accounting records of the
group's individual legal entities, which are appraie to present the financial position, result®pérations and cash flows in accordance with
U.S. GAAP. Distributable retained earnings of tr@pany are based on amounts reported in statutouats of individual entities and may
significantly differ from amounts calculated on thesis of U.S. GAAP.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements idelthe accounts of the parent company and théeantitontrols. All intereompany transactio
and balances within the Company have been elimingpen consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financiataments in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires mgament to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts eftsssd liabilities, disclosure of contingent assetd liabilities at the date of the consolidatec
financial statements and amounts of revenues goeihses for the reporting period. Actual resultdataiffer from those estimates. The most
significant estimates relate to fair values of sHaased awards, financial instruments, intangisets and goodwill, useful lives of property
and equipment and intangible assets, income tagesingencies, accounts receivable allowance, mipairment assessments. The Company
bases its estimates on historical experience anddous other assumptions that are believed t@asonable, the results of which form the
basis for making judgments about the carrying v@hfeassets and liabilities.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company'sepicompany is the U.S. dollar. The functionarency of the Company's operating
subsidiaries domiciled in Russia is the Russiateruthe
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YANDEX N.V.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2013 AND 204
(in millions of Russian rubles and U.S. dollars, ecept share and per share data)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont inued)

Company has elected the Russian ruble as its iegantirrency. All balance sheet items are trandlai® Russian rubles based on the
exchange rate on the balance sheet date and resrdwexpenses are translated at weighted avertgeafeexchange. Translation gains and
losses are recorded as currency translation adfum&in other comprehensive income. Foreign exch&nagsaction gains and losses are
included in other income, net in the accompanyimgsolidated statements of income.

Convenience Translation

Translations of amounts from RUR into WiBllars for the convenience of the reader have bemfe at the exchange rate of RUR
56.2584 to $1.00, the prevailing exchange ratef &eoember 31, 2014. No representation is madethiealRUR amounts could have been, or
could be, converted into U.S. dollars at such rate.

Certain Risks and Concentrations

The Company's revenues are principallyvaerifrom online advertising, the market for whisthighly competitive and rapidly changing.
Significant changes in this industry or changessers' internet preferences or advertiser sperihgvior could adversely affect the
Company's financial position and results of opersti

In addition, the Company's principal busmactivities are within the Russian Federatiomnvd.and regulations affecting businesses
operating in the Russian Federation are subjeftetpient changes, which could impact the Compdmasicial position and results of
operations.

The majority of the Company's revenue iected on a prepaid basis; credit terms are ex@io major sales agencies and to larger loyze
clients. Accounts receivable are typically unsedwrd are derived from revenues earned from custolmeated in the Russian Federation.

No individual customer or groups of affitd customers represented more than 10% of the @uoytgrevenues or accounts receivable in
2012, 2013, and 2014.

Financial instruments that potentially ®dbjthe Company to a significant concentrationreflit risk consist, in addition to accounts
receivable, primarily of cash, cash equivalentbtdecurities and term deposits. The primary fafube Company's investment strategy is to
preserve capital and meet liquidity requirements.

The Company's investment policy addredsesavel of credit exposure by working with diffategeographically diversified banking
institutions, subject to their conformity to anasished minimum credit rating for banking relasbips. To manage the risk exposure, the
Company maintains its portfolio of investments waaiety of highly-rated debt instruments issuedibgncial institutions, term deposits and
money market funds.
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YANDEX N.V.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2013 AND 204
(in millions of Russian rubles and U.S. dollars, ecept share and per share data)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont inued)
Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues when tiveces have been rendered, the price is fixed tardenable, persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, and collectability is reasgnabsured. Revenue is recorded net of value adaetMAT").

The Company's principal revenue streamstlaeid respective accounting treatments are digclbslow:
Advertising Revenues

The Company's advertising revenue is géaérfaom serving both text-based and display adissomwn websites and on Yandex ad
network members' websites. Advance payments redéyehe Company from advertisers are recordecfsred revenue on the Company's
consolidated balance sheets and recognized astiathgerevenues in the period services are provided

Advertising sales commissions that are pai@gencies are accounted for as an offset towtemgeand amounted to RUR 2,631, RUR 3,17
and RUR 3,594 ($63.9) in 2012, 2013 and 2014, ciamdy.

In accordance with U.S. GAAP, the Compaepports advertising revenue gross of fees paid ted¥a ad network members, because the
Company is the primary obligor to its advertisard getains collection risk. The Company records fegid to ad network members as traffic
acquisition costs, a component of cost of revenues.

The Company recognizes advertising revdmased on the following principles:
Text-Based Advertising

The Company's Yandex.Direct service oftatgertisers the ability to place text-based ad¥a@amdex and Yandex ad network member
websites targeted to users' search queries or iwetmsitent. The Company recognizes as revenueslhieeged to advertisers as "click-
throughs" occur. A "click-through" occurs each timaser clicks on one of the text-based ads tieadliaplayed next to the search results or on
the content pages of Yandex or Yandex ad networkipees' websites.

Display Advertising

The Company recognizes revenue from dispthsertising on its websites and on Yandex ad négtweember websites as "impressions”
are delivered. An "impression" is delivered wheradrertisement appears in pages viewed by users.

Online Payment Commissions

The Company recognized revenue from orgaygment commissions until the deconsolidation afidéx.Money on July 4, 2013.
Yandex.Money earned commissions from processirgrel@c payment transactions for its customers. @@sion revenues resulting from
processing an electronic payment transaction wesregnized once the transaction was complete.
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YANDEX N.V.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2013 AND 204
(in millions of Russian rubles and U.S. dollars, ecept share and per share data)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont inued)
Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues primarily consists offtcadicquisition costs. Traffic acquisition costsstst of amounts ultimately paid to Yandex ad
network members and to certain other partnerst(fbligion partners") who distribute the Compangslibar and other products. These amo
are primarily based on revenue-sharing arrangenvatiisad network members and distribution partn@raffic acquisition costs are expensed
as incurred. Cost of revenues also includes expassociated with the operation of the Companys ekenters, including personnel costs, 1
utilities and bandwidth costs; as well as contequésition costs.

Product Development Expenses

Product development expenses consist pityrarpersonnel costs incurred for the developnafpnenhancement to and maintenance ¢
Company's search engine and other Company welsitegechnology platforms. Product development esgealso include rent and utilities
attributable to office space occupied by developrsearf.

Advertising and Promotional Expenses

The Company expenses advertising and pionmadtcosts in the period in which they are incdriéor the years ended December 31, 2
2013 and 2014, promotional and advertising expetwtaked approximately RUR 900, RUR 1,708 and RURI1 ($30.9), respectively.

Government Funds Contributions

The Company makes contributions to govemtaigension, medical and social funds on behaitisadmployees. In Russia, the amount
was calculated using a regressive rate (from 30%0% in 2012, 2013 and 2014) based on the annuagbensation of each employee. These
contributions are expensed as incurred.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company grants share options, shaneaiggion rights ("SARs") and restricted share IiiIRSUs") (together, "Share-Based
Awards") to its employees and consultants.

The Company estimates the fair value ofesbations and SARs that are expected to vest ubnglack-Scholederton ("BSM") pricing
model and recognizes the fair value on a strdigbtbasis over the requisite servicing period. aksumptions used in calculating the fair v:
of Share-Based Awards represent the Company'sbgstates, but these estimates involve inhererdrtaiaties and the application of
management judgment. As a result, if factors chamgethe Company uses different assumptions, tingp@oy's share-based compensation
expense could be materially different in the futuineaddition, the Company is required to estimhteexpected pre-vesting award forfeiture
rate, as well as the probability that performarmeditions that affect the vesting of certain awasilsbe achieved, and only recognizes
expense for those shares expected to vest. The &@oyngstimates the forfeiture rate based on higtbexperience of the Company's Share-
Based Awards that are granted
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and cancelled before vesting. If the Company'sadtufeiture rate is materially different from t@mpany's original estimate, the shhesel
compensation expense could be significantly diffefeom what the Company has recorded in the cuperiod. Changes in the estimated
forfeiture rate can have a significant effect opomted share-based compensation expense, as ¢loe @ffidjusting the forfeiture rate for all
current and previously recognized expense for uedeswards is recognized in the period the forfeigstimate is changed.

The Company measures the fair value of R@Uthe fair market values of the underlying star¢he dates of grant.

Cancellation of an award accompanied byctireurrent grant of a replacement award is aceaolfar as a modification of the terms of
cancelled award ("modification awards"). The congagion costs associated with the modification awarg recognized if either the original
vesting condition or the new vesting condition haen achieved. Such compensation costs cannosdéhken the grant-date fair value of the
original award. The incremental compensation costeéasured as the excess of the fair value okfhlacdement award over the fair value of
cancelled award at the cancellation date. Thergfonelation to the modification awards, the Compaecognizes share-based compensation
over the vesting periods of the new awards, wharhgrises, (1) the amortization of the incrementatipn of share-based compensation over
the remaining vesting term and (2) any unrecognaedpensation cost of the original award, usinigezithe original term or the new term,
whichever is higher for each reporting period.

The Company uses the "with and without"rapph in determining the order in which tax atttésuare utilized. As a result, the Company
only recognizes a tax benefit from Share-Based Awar additional paid-in capital, if an incremerttat benefit is realized after all other tax
attributes currently available to the Company hasen utilized.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities ar@geézed for the future tax consequences attribatabtifferences between the financial statemen
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabiliied their respective tax bases. Deferred taxgssetuding tax loss and credit cafigrwards,
and liabilities are measured using enacted tax mtpected to apply to taxable income in the yimanghich those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. The effecled@rred tax assets and liabilities of a changevirates is recognized in income in the perioc
that includes the enactment date. Deferred inc@xexpense represents the change during the paribd deferred tax assets and deferred te
liabilities. The components of the deferred taetsand liabilities are individually classified @agrent and non-current based on the
classification of the underlying balance sheet antor, if unrelated to a balance sheet accouattithing of expected realization. Deferred tax
assets are reduced by a valuation allowance wheheiopinion of management, it is more likely tima that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Uncertain income tax positions are recoguhin the financial statements if it is more likéyan not that they will be sustained on audit by
the tax authorities, including resolution of rethtppeals or litigation processes, if any.
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These tax benefits are measured as theseagnount which is more than 50% likely of beieglized upon ultimate settlement.

The Company recognizes interest and pesaléilated to unrecognized income tax benefitsinvitre income tax expense line in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operatidoued interest and penalties are included withanother accrued liabilities line together
with the unrecognized income tax benefits.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income is defined as thegdamequity during a period from non-owner sourteS. GAAP requires the reporting of
comprehensive income in addition to net income. Q@mensive income of the Company includes net ircand foreign currency translation
adjustments. For the years ended December 31, 2013,and 2014 total comprehensive income incluittealldition to net income, the effect
of translating the financial statements of the Canys legal entities domiciled outside of Russta Russian rubles.

Accumulated other comprehensive incomeldWRR2,042 as of December 31, 2013 and RUR 1,023.2$588 of December 31, 2014 solely
comprises cumulative foreign currency translatidjustments.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments carried on the badastteet include cash and cash equivalents, terosigprestricted cash, investments in debt an
equity securities, accounts receivable, loans tpleyees, accounts payable, accrued liabilitiesamertible debt. The carrying amounts of
cash and cash equivalents, short-term depositsicted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payatgeccrued liabilities approximate their
respective fair values due to the short-term natfitbose instruments. Accordingly, no credit vaima adjustment has been recorded in the
consolidated financial statements for any pericsented.

Term Deposits

Bank deposits are classified dependingheir briginal maturity as (i) cash and cash eqeintd if the original maturities are three months
or less; (ii) current term deposits if the origimahturities are more than three months, but no rii@ne one year; and (iii) non-current term
deposits if the original maturities are more thae gear.

Investments in Debt Securities

As the Company has both the positive ingamt the ability to hold debt securities to mayyrihe Company's investments in debt securitie
are classified as held to maturity and are measamddpresented at amortized cost. The interegerkta investments in debt securities is
reported as a part of interest income in the cathastgld statements of income.

The Company evaluates the investments ghedbly for possible other-than-temporary impairmexdecline of fair value below
amortized costs of debt securities is considereatlagr-than-temporary
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impairment if the Company has the intent to sedlgbcurity or it is more likely than not that then@any will be required to sell the security
before recovery of the entire amortized cost basithose instances, an impairment charge equhktdifference between the fair value and
amortized cost basis is recognized in earningsaRibess of the Company's intent or requiremenglicasdebt security, an impairment is
considered other-thaemporary if the Company does not expect to rectheentire amortized cost basis; in those insswreeredit loss equ
to the difference between the present value ot#ish flows expected to be collected based on aiekliand the amortized cost basis of the
debt security is recognized in earnings.

Investments in Equity Securities

Investments in the stock of entities in evthihe Company can exercise significant influendgedoes not own a majority equity interest or
otherwise control are accounted for using the gquitthod. The Company records its share of thdteestithese companies within the other
income, net, line on the consolidated statemeniisogime. Investments in the non-marketable stodndifies in which the Company can
exercise little or no influence are accounted fing the cost method. Both equity and cost metliodunted investments are included in
investments in non-marketable equity securitiethenconsolidated balance sheets.

The Company's marketable equity securitieclassified as trading and are reported atvédire, with change in value recognized in net
income.

The Company reviews its investments foeotihan-temporary impairment whenever events ongés in business circumstances indicat
that the carrying value of the investment may reofldly recoverable. Investments identified as hg\an indication of impairment are subject
to further analysis to determine if the impairmismvther-than-temporary and this analysis requéstgnating the fair value of the investment.
The determination of fair value of the investmemoilves considering factors such as current econamil market conditions, the operating
performance of the companies including currentiegetrends and forecasted cash flows, and othrapaay and industry specific informatic
Once a decline in fair value is determined to beethan-temporary, an impairment charge is reabtdether income, net and a new cost
basis in the investment is established.

Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable are stated at theiretzable value. The Company provides an allowdoc doubtful accounts based on
management's periodic review for recoverabilitpofounts receivable from customers and other raebkis. The Company evaluates the
collectability of its receivables based upon vasifactors, including the financial condition ang/pent history of major customers, an overall
review of collections experience of other accowamd economic factors or events expected to affreec€Company's future collections.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded ataratepreciated over their useful lives. All calpitxpenditures incurred before property and
equipment are ready for their intended use arga@gd as assets not yet in use.

Depreciation and amortization is computedar the straight-line method using estimated usies as follows:

Estimated useful lives

Servers and network

equipmen 3 years

Infrastructure systerr 3- 10 years

Office furniture and

equipmen 3 years

Buildings 10- 20 years

Leasehold improvemen the shorter of 5 years or the remaining periocheflease terr

Other equipmer 3- 5 years

Purchased technologies ant the shorter of 5 years or the underlying licensmsewith a weighted-
licenses average life of 4.1 yea

Land is not depreciated.
Depreciation of assets included in assetyet in use commences when they are ready fantheded use.
Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of purcleassideration over the Company's share of fairevafithe net assets of acquired businesses.
Goodwill is not subject to amortization but is sgbfor impairment at least annually.

Intangible assets with definite lives amgoatized over their estimated useful lives anderexdd for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate an asset's iwgrvgiue may not be recoverable. The Company cilyramortizes acquired intangible assets
with definite lives using the straight-line methaxd estimated useful lives of assets ranging frad 15.0 years, with a weightederage life
of 7.7 years:

Estimated useful lives

Content and softwai 1.0- 10.0 year:
Customer relationshiy 1.1-15.0 year:
Patents and licens 3.4- 7.1 years
Non-compete agreemer 3.0- 4.0 year:
Trade names and domain nar 7.0- 10.0 year:
Workforce 4.0 years

F-15




Table of Contents

YANDEX N.V.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2013 AND 204
(in millions of Russian rubles and U.S. dollars, ecept share and per share data)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont inued)
Impairment of Long-lived Assets

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment as bétend of each fiscal year. The Company perforosaditative assessment to determine
whether further impairment testing on goodwill ecassary. If the Company believes, as a resul$ gjuialitative assessment, that it is more-
likely-than-not that the fair value of a reportiagit is less than its carrying amount, a quantieaimpairment test is required. Otherwise, no
further testing is required. The quantitative inmpeant test is performed by comparing the carryialy® of each reporting unit's net assets
(including allocated goodwill) to the fair value thibse net assets. If the reporting unit's carrgimpunt is greater than its fair value, then a
second step is performed whereby the portion ofahiesalue that relates to the reporting unit'sdwill is compared to the carrying value of
that goodwill. The Company recognizes a goodwilh&nment charge for the amount by which the cagyialue of goodwill exceeds the fair
value. The Company did not recognize any impairn@sg in respect of goodwill for the years endedddeber 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014
respectively.

The Company evaluates the carrying valdergj-lived assets other than goodwill for impainmnehenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounthefssets may not be recoverable. When sucteardeation is made, management's
estimate of undiscounted cash flows to be genetatdte assets is compared to the carrying valibecéssets to determine whether
impairment is indicated. If impairment is indicatéioe amount of the impairment recognized in thesotidated financial statements is
determined by estimating the fair value of the &sand recording a loss for the amount that theyicey value exceeds the estimated fair value
This fair value is usually determined based omeatied discounted cash flows.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

Effective January 1, 2014, the Company &etbthe Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASBcounting standards update on
presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit wheetaperating loss carryforward, a similar tax Jassa tax credit carryforward exists. The
adoption of this update did not have a signifigengact on the Company's consolidated financialtfimsiresults of operations, cash flows or
disclosures.

Effective January 1, 2014, the Company &stbpASB accounting standards update on paremtsiating for the cumulative translation
adjustment upon derecognition of certain subsid#or groups of assets within a foreign entityfaroinvestment in a foreign entity. The
adoption of these amendments did not have a mhiteipact on the Company's consolidated balancetsiteesults of operations.

Effect of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2014, the FASB issued an accounttandards update on reporting discontinued dpesaéind disclosures of disposals of
components of an entity that changes the criteri@étermining which disposals can be presentetisasntinued operations and modified
related disclosure requirements. Under the newaggié, a discontinued operation is defined as: disposal of a component or group of
components that is disposed of or is classifiededd for sale that
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represents a strategic shift that has or will reameajor effect on an entity's operations and firgmesults or (ii) an acquired business or
nonprofit activity that is classified as held fales on the date of acquisition. The standard sthtgsa strategic shift could include a disposal of
(i) a major geographical area of operations, (iaor line of business, (iii) a major equity medtiovestment, or (iv) other major parts of an
entity. The guidance is effective prospectively fgporting periods beginning on or after Decemtigr2D14 and interim periods within that
year. The Company does not expect the adoptionmi®fipdate to have a material effect on its finansiatements

In May 2014, the FASB issued an accounstagdards update on revenue from contracts wittoess that will replace all current
U.S. GAAP guidance on this topic and eliminatdradustry-specific guidance. The new guidance (oges inconsistencies, and weaknesses
in revenue requirements, (ii) provides a more rbfrasnework for addressing revenue issues, (iiprioves comparability of revenue
recognition practices across entities, industjigssdictions, and capital markets, (iv) providesrmuseful information to users of financial
statements through improved disclosure requiremants (v) simplifies the preparation of financittements by reducing the number of
requirements to which an entity must refer. Theeqminciple is that an entity should recognize rexeto depict the transfer of promised good
or services to customers in an amount that reftbetsonsideration for which the entity expectbéaentitled in exchange for those goods or
services. The guidance is effective for annual mépg periods beginning after December 15, 2018uthiag interim periods within that
reporting period. The Company has not yet selegtednsition method and is currently evaluatingithpact of adopting this new accounting
standard on its financial statements and relatedatures.

In June 2014, the FASB issued an accoustimgdards update on accounting for shmaged payments when the terms of an award pr
that a performance target could be achieved dftergquisite service period that applies to albrépg entities that grant their employees shar
based payments in which the terms of the awardigeahat a performance target that affects vestmdd be achieved after the requisite
service period. That is the case when an emplayekgible to retire or otherwise terminate empleynbefore the end of the period in which &
performance target could be achieved and stillligébée to vest in the award if and when the pemiance target is achieved. The amendments
require that a performance target that affectsrgsind that could be achieved after the requésiteice period to be treated as a performance
condition. A reporting entity should apply existiggidance as it relates to awards with performancelitions that affect vesting to account for
such awards. As such, the performance target simmtlde reflected in estimating the grant datevaiue of the award. This update further
clarifies that compensation cost should be recaghia the period in which it becomes probable thatperformance target will be achieved
and should represent the compensation cost atiblaito the periods for which the requisite servias already been rendered. The adoption ¢
this guidance is effective for reporting periodgibaing on or after December 15, 2015. The Comphgs not expect the adoption of this
update to have a material effect on its finandiatesnents.

In August 2014, the FASB issued an accogrgtandards update on disclosure of uncertaiabiest an entity's ability to continue as a
going concern that requires management to assesstifyis ability to continue as a going concerrifmorporating and expanding upon certain
principles that are
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currently in U.S. auditing standards. Specificalhe amendments (1) provide a definition of thentésubstantial doubt”, (2) require an
evaluation every reporting period including intef@riods, (3) provide principles for considering thitigating effect of management's plans,
(4) require certain disclosures when substantiabtles alleviated as a result of the consideratibmanagement's plans, (5) require an expres:
statement and other disclosures when substantigitd® not alleviated, and (6) require an assestfoea period of one year after the date tha
the financial statements are issued (or availabbetissued). The adoption of this guidance iscéffe for the reporting periods ending after
December 15, 2016. The Company does not expeecidiyation of this update to have a material effectt®financial statements.

In January 2015, the FASB issued an acaogistandards update on extraordinary and unuterakithat eliminates from US GAAP the
concept of extraordinary items. The adoption of thiidance is effective for reporting periods badgig on or after December 15, 2015. The
Company does not expect the adoption of this upddtave a material effect on its financial statetae

In February 2015, the FASB issued an aciogistandards update which significantly changesconsolidation analysis for variable
interest entities required under US GAAP. The adoptf this guidance is effective for reporting ipels beginning on or after December 15,
2015. The Company does not expect the adoptioni®fipdate to have a material effect on its finalhstatements.

In April 2015, the FASB issued an accougptandards update which changes the presentdtissuance costs to a direct deduction fromn
the related debt liability rather than an assee atioption of this guidance is effective for repariperiods beginning on or after December 15
2015 with early adoption permitted. The Companguisently evaluating the impact of adopting thisvreeccounting standard on its financial
statements and related disclosures.

3. NET INCOME PER SHARE

Basic net income per Class A and Classdihary share for the years ended December 31, 213 and 2014 is computed on the basis
of the weighted average number of ordinary shanéstanding using the two class method. Basic reetmire per share is computed using the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstgrtliring the period, including restricted shai@ifuted net income per ordinary share is
computed using the effect of the outstanding SBased Awards calculated using the "treasury stouéthod.

The computation of the diluted net income @lass A share assumes the conversion of Clabsugs, while the diluted net income per
Class B share does not assume the conversion s #i@res. The net income per share amounts asartteefor Class A and Class B shares
because the holders of each class are legallyezhtd equal per share distributions whether thnodigidends or in liquidation. The number of
Share-Based Awards excluded from the diluted rozirire per ordinary share computation, becauseeffeict was anti-dilutive for the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, was 1389 846,000 and 1,558,500, respectively.

The Company's outstanding convertible gebtides for a flexible settlement feature. The @any intends to settle upon conversion the
principal amount of the debt for cash and the
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conversion premium for Class A shares. The corbMertiebt is included in the calculation of dilutegt income per share if its inclusion is
dilutive under the treasury stock method. The cdible debt was anti-dilutive in the years ended¢®uber 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014

The components of basic and diluted nedrime per share were as follows:

Year ended December 31
2012 2013 2014
Class A Class B Class A Class B Class A Class A Class B Class B
RUR RUR RUR RUR RUR $ RUR $

Net income

allocated

for basic 4,56¢ 3,65¢ 9,674 3,80( 13,30( 236.¢ 3,72( 66.1
Reallocation

of net

income as

a result of

conversior

of Class B

to Class A

shares 3,65¢ — 3,80( — 3,72( 66.1 — —
Reallocation

of net

income to

Class B

shares — 22 — 37 — — 32 0.€
Net income

allocated

for diluted 8,22¢ 3,681 13,47 3,837 17,02( 302.5 3,752 66.7
Weighted

average

ordinary

shares

outstandin

basic 181,039,14 145,171,80 234,522,37 92,135,40 249,543,23 249,543,23 69,793,55 69,793,55
Dilutive

effect of:

Conversion

of Class B

to Class A

shares 145,171,80 — 92,135,40 — 69,793,55 69,793,55 — —
Ordinary

Share-

Based

Awards 9,479,64 5,129,20° 7,913,43 3,138,961 6,273,49! 6,273,49! 1,988,80: 1,988,80!
Weighted

average

ordinary

shares

outstandin

diluted 335,690,59 150,301,00 334,571,21 95,274,337 325,610,27 325,610,27 71,782,35 71,782,35

Net income
per share
attributable
to ordinary
shareholde¢
Basic 25.2] 25.2] 41.2F 41.2F 53.3( 0.9t 53.3( 0.9t

Diluted 24.5( 24.5( 40.2i 40.2 52.2i 0.92 52.2i 0.9t

4. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND INVESTMENT TRANSACTION S
Acquisitions in 2014

Kitlocate



In March 2014, the Company completed thuaition of a 100% ownership interest in KitLocatd. ("KitLocate"), the developer of an
energy-efficient geolocation technology for moldkvices, for a cash consideration of up to $1012RR871 at the exchange rate as of the
acquisition date), including $4.0 (RUR 145 at tkelemnge rate as of the acquisition date) paidllrufuon closing of the deal, $2.3 (RUR 84 at
the exchange rate as of the acquisition date) rofeat payments
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on the achievement of certain distribution milessmrand $3.9 (RUR 142 at the exchange rate a® @fcifjuisition date) paid to an escrow
account that will be gradually released during aqokof four years after the completion date to itk ocate's founders subject to their
continued employment. The Company has not recditeedontingent payments related to the continuggl@ment as purchase price
consideration but instead records them as compensatpense on a straight-line basis as the foKitepcate's shareholders completed their
requisite service periods.

Set out below is the condensed balance sifiéétl ocate as of March 12, 2014, reflectingatocation of the purchase price to net asset:
acquired:

March 12, 2014

RUR
ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalel 4
Current assel 1
Intangible assel 59
Goodwill 15€
Total assets 22z
LIABILITIES:

Current liabilities 4
Deferred tax liabilities 15
Net asset 20z
Total purchase consideratior 203

The RUR 158 ($2.8) assigned to goodwilitisibutable to the Russian Search and Portal teblersegment and primarily arises due to au
assembled workforce that does not qualify for sjgarecognition and specific synergies that résoith the distribution capabilities of the

Company. Of the RUR 59 ($1.0) assigned to intaegisisets, RUR 30 ($0.5) relates to pending patetR, 20 ($0.4) relates to software and
RUR 9 ($0.1) to non-compete agreements.

The results of operations of KitLocate thoe period prior to acquisition would not have laathaterial impact on the Company's results of
operations for the years ended December 31, 20d2@4. Accordingly, no pro forma financial infortiwa is presented. The results of
operations of KitLocate did not have a material&tipon the Company's results of operations foy#s December 31, 2014.

Auto.ru

In August 2014, the Company completed ttgussition of a 100% ownership interest in Auta3toup ("Auto.ru”), one of the leading
online auto classifieds businesses in Russia,dsi consideration of $178.4 (RUR 6,428 at the exghaate as of the acquisition date) paid in
full upon closing of the deal, including $14.0 (RBB4 at the exchange rate as of the acquisitios) giaiid into an escrow account. The amour
in escrow will be paid to the sellers in two ingtahts with respect to
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50% of the escrow amount on the date falling 18 tn@after the completion date and with respedi¢arémaining 50% on the date falling
43 months after the completion date, assuming rroanty claims.

Set out below is the condensed balance sifidaito.ru as of August 19, 2014, reflecting alpninary allocation of the purchase price to
net assets acquired:

August 19, 201«

RUR
ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalel 204
Current assel 36
Property and equipme 16
Intangible assel 1,40(C
Goodwill 5,16¢
Total assets 6,82¢
LIABILITIES:

Current liabilities 28
Non-current liabilities 80
Deferred tax liabilities 28¢
Net asset 6,42¢
Total purchase consideration 6,42¢

The completion of the purchase price aliotais subject to completion of the intangibleatssraluation. The RUR 5,168 ($91.9) assig
to goodwill is attributable to the Other reportabgyment and primarily arises due to an assembdekfavce that does not qualify for separate
recognition and specific synergies that result fconvergence with other vertical aggregators deeddy the Company and the Company's
distribution capabilities. Of the RUR 1,400 ($24a8Fpigned to intangible assets, approximately RRBR($16.5) relates to trade names that
be amortized over a period of 10.0 years. The neimgiRUR 474 ($8.4) assigned to intangible assgiresents customer relationships RUR
302 ($5.4), website and applications RUR 138 ($2&#4)l portal content RUR 34 ($0.6).

The results of operations of Auto.ru fog fieriod prior to acquisition would not have hadaterial impact on the Company's results of
operations for the years ended December 31, 20d2@t4. Accordingly, no pro forma financial infortizen is presented. The results of
operations of Auto.ru did not have a material intpacthe Company's results of operations for tree YEecember 31, 2014.

ADFOX

In September 2014, the Company completecduuisition of assets and assumption of liagdittonstituting a business of ADFOX LLC
("ADFOX"), operating an advertising technology dain that
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provides services for planning, managing and amajyadvertising campaigns on the internet, for castsideration of $11.3 (RUR 446 at the
exchange rate as of the acquisition date), $8.5RRB6 at the exchange rate as of the acquisitite) @& which were paid upon closing of the
deal. The amount of $2.8 (RUR 110 at the exchaatgeas of the acquisition date) will be paid toghbers in two tranches on the first and the
second anniversary of the completion closing assgmo warranty claims. The acquisition is accouriteds a business combination.

Set out below is the condensed balance sfi@ddDFOX as of September 30, 2014, reflectingaflacation of the purchase price to net
assets acquired:

September 30, 201

RUR
ASSETS:

Property and equipme 2
Intangible assel 74
Deferred tax asse 74
Goodwill 29¢€
Total assets 44¢€
Net asset 44¢€
Total purchase consideratior 44¢€

The RUR 296 ($5.3) assigned to goodwilitisibutable to the Russian Search and Portal tebler segment and primarily arises due to au
assembled workforce that does not qualify for sgjgarecognition and specific synergies that résoith the application of the acquired
technologies in the Company's business. Of the RUR$1.3) assigned to intangible assets, RUR 5®)$&lates to software and website and
RUR 15 ($0.3) relates to trade names.

The results of operations of ADFOX for fheziod prior to acquisition would not have had aerial impact on the Company's results of
operations for the years ended December 31, 20d2@4. Accordingly, no pro forma financial infortizen is presented. The results of
operations of ADFOX did not have a material imparcthe Company's results of operations for thesyeaded December 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2014.

Other

During the year ended December 31, 20E4Cihimpany completed other acquisitions and purshefSatangible assets for total
consideration of approximately RUR 347 ($6.2). ¢igi@gate, RUR 215 ($3.8) was attributed to intalegiissets, RUR 106 ($1.9) was
attributed to goodwill, and RUR 26 ($0.5) was atited to deferred tax assets. Goodwill is attriblgtao the Russian E-commerce reportable
segment.
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4. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND INVESTMENT TRANSACTION S (Continued)
Acquisition in 2013
KinoPoisk

In October 2013, the Company completedattwpuisition of a 100% ownership interest in KinakdiL C and its subsidiary ("KinoPoisk'
operating the largest and most comprehensive Rutsiguage website dedicated to movies, televigiograms and celebrities, for cash
consideration of $80.0 (RUR 2,577 at the exchaageas of the acquisition date) paid in full uptosing of the deal, including $3.0 (RUR 97
at the exchange rate as of the acquisition daid)ip® an escrow account. The amount in escrowhilpaid to the sellers on the second
anniversary of the completion closing assuming aoranty claims.

Set out below is the condensed balance sifié@noPoisk as of October 14, 2013, reflectimgadlocation of the purchase price to the net
assets acquired:

October 14, 2012

RUR
ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalel 39
Current assel 59
Property and equipme 3
Intangible assel 44C
Goodwill 2,14(
Non-current assel 1
Total assets 2,68
LIABILITIES:

Current liabilities 20
Deferred tax liabilities 85
Net asset 2,571
Total purchase consideratior 2,57

The RUR 2,140 assigned to goodwill is htitable to the Other reportable segment and priynarises due to an assembled workforce
does not qualify for separate recognition and djgesynergies that result from the distribution abiities and market position of the Compa
Of the RUR 440 assigned to intangible assets, appedely RUR 224 relates to trade names and apprabaly RUR 135 relates to portal
content that will be amortized over a period ofdly@ears. The remaining RUR 81 assigned to intaagibsets represents website and
applications (RUR 63), non-compete agreements (R@YRand customer relationships (RUR 4).

The results of operations of KinoPoiskttoe period prior to acquisition would not have laaghaterial impact on the Company's results o
operations for the years ended December 31, 20d2@t3. Accordingly, no pro forma financial infortizen is presented. The results of
operations of KinoPoisk did not have a materialactpn the Company's results of operations foy#ses ended December 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2014.
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4. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND INVESTMENT TRANSACTION S (Continued)
Disposal in 2013
Yandex.Money

In July 2013, the Company completed the sh 75% less one ruble interest in the chaepital of Yandex.Money to Sberbank for a
cash consideration of RUR 1,964 ($59.1 at the exgbaate as of the sale date). A gain on sale aodrdolidation of the subsidiary in the
amount of RUR 2,035 was recognized as other incoete,

The Company retained a non-controllingnesé (25% plus one ruble) and significant influenger Yandex.Money's business as its
electronic money system continues to be one optimeary payment means for the Company's advertisangices. Accordingly,
Yandex.Money's results of operations before the shh 75% less one ruble interest are classifidttimcontinuing operations and the
remaining investment is accounted for under thétgaquethod within Investments in non-marketableiggsecurities.

Yandex.Money's assets held for sale afuditias related to assets held for sale as of Ddsar 31, 2012 and July 4, 2013 (the date of
consisted of the following:

December 31 July 4,

2012 2013

RUR RUR
Assets held for sale
Cash and cash equivalel 1,16¢ 1,19t
Term deposit: 15C 28C
Funds receivable, n 19C 192
Goodwill 37¢ 37¢
Other 14z 12C
Total assets held for sal 2,02¢ 2,16~
Liabilities related to assets held for sali
Funds payable and amounts due to custo 1,59¢ 1,65
Other 23 52
Total liabilities related to assets held for sal 1,61¢ 1,70t

Acquisition in 2012
Seismotech

In July 2012, the Company completed theussitipn of a 25% ownership interest in Seismotecl ("Seismotech"), a Russian-based
geophysical data processing company, for RUR 2&.0dmpany also has a 3-year option to buy anothiér iterest in Seismotech at a fixed
price that is accounted for at fair value (Notemnél 7). The Company exercises significant influemagr Seismotech and accordingly account:
for this investment under the equity method.
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4. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND INVESTMENT TRANSACTION S (Continued)
Disposal in 2012

Face.com

In July 2012, the Company completed the shits ownership interest in Face.com, Inc. (feriy Vizi Information Labs Ltd. ("Vizi
Labs") to a subsidiary of Facebook, Inc. ("Facédiptor cash consideration of RUR 174 and 142,47&ss of Facebook. A gain on sale in
amount of RUR 234 was recognized as other incoete, n

5. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DETAILS
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash

Cash and cash equivalents as of Decemh&03B and 2014 consisted of the following:

2013 2014 2014
RUR RUR $
Cash 2,29: 3,617 64.2
Cash equivalent:
Bank deposit: 16,73( 9,77t  173.t
Investments in money market fun 14,37 4,25 75.€
Total cash and cash equivalent 33,39« 17,64f 313.¢

Non-current restricted cash as of DecerBtheP013 consisted of the cash reserved in a dmstieow account before lapse of the claim
period for warranties received in relation to tlegusition of KinoPoisk (Note 4). Non-current réstied cash as of December 31, 2014
consisted of the cash reserved in a special esacoaunt before lapse of the claim period for waieareceived in relation to the acquisitions
of Auto.ru (Note 4) in the amount of RUR 788 ($)4afd Kitlocate (Note 4) in the amount of RUR 1$2®(1) and other restricted cash of

RUR 25 ($0.5).

Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable as of December 31, 201B2014 consisted of the following:

2013 2014 2014

RUR RUR $
Trade receivable 2,85¢ 3,83t 68.1
Allowance for doubtful accoun (73) (132) (2.9
Total accounts receivable, ne 2,788 3,70 65.€
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5. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DETAILS (Conti nued)
Movements in the allowance for doubtful@auts are as follows:

2012 2013 2014 2014

RUR RUR  RUR $
Balance at the beginning of the per 8¢9 75 73 1.2
Charges to expens 17 21 75 1.2
Utilization 31) (23 (16) (0.9
Balance at the end of the periot 75 73 132 2.2

Other Current Assets

Other current assets as of December 313 2a0d 2014 consisted of the following:

2013 2014 2014

RUR RUR $
Interest receivabl 42 1,811 32.2
VAT reclaimable 704 86¢€ 15.4
Restricted cas — 56E 10.C
Loans to employee — 20t 3.€
Other 20E 28¢ 5.2
Total other current assets 1,33 3,73t 66.4

Restricted cash as of December 31, 2014ist@d of the cash reserved in a special escroauatbefore lapse of the claim period for
warranties received in relation to the acquisittéiKinoPoisk and Kitlocate Ltd. to be releasedhe founders in 2015 in the amount of RUR
169 ($3.0) and RUR 92 ($1.6), respectively (Notark other cash restricted on guarantee and pbsatgrints for RUR 304 ($5.4).

Other Non-current Assets

Other non-current assets as of Decembe2@®l13 and 2014 consisted of the following:

2013 2014 2014

RUR RUR $
Interest receivabl 72¢ 332 5.¢
Loans to employee 447 563 10.C
Loans grante: 24¢ 43C 7.€
VAT reclaimable 11€ 278 4.
Other receivable 4 2 0.1
Total other non-current assets 1,541 1,60t 28.F
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5. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DETAILS (Conti nued)
Investments in Debt Securities
Investments in debt securities as of Dear8lh, 2013 and 2014 consisted of the following:

2013 2014 2014

RUR RUR $
Russian government bon — 567 10.1
Russian corporate bon — 2,651 45.4
Total investments in debt securities — 3,12« 55t

Investments in Equity Securities
Investments in non-marketable equity séesras of December 31, 2013 and 2014 consistdtedbllowing:

2013 2014 2014

RUR RUR $
Yandex.Money (Note 4 583 631 11.7
Seismotech LLC (Note ¢ 36 36 0.€
Blekko Inc 60E — —
Other 26 204 3.7

Total investments in nonmarketable equity securities  1,25( 871 15.F

The Company exercises significant influeager Seismotech and Yandex.Money with 25% ownpritierest in each of these entities
accordingly accounts for these investments undeetiuity method. The Company records its sharbeofdsults of these investees in the
amount of loss of RUR 6 and income of RUR 48 ($@8}he years ended December 31, 2013 and 204dectvely, within the other income,
net line on the consolidated statements of income.

The Company does not exercise significaffiénce over Blekko and accordingly accounts liig investment under the cost method. In
the year ended December 31, 2014, the Companyifiddrtertain adverse external and internal evardiating that the decline in fair value
of its investment in Blekko Inc. is now other-theemporary and recorded an impairment charge of ROR($12.4) within the other income,
net line on the consolidated statements of income.

Marketable securities of RUR 87 as of Deloen81, 2013 were comprised of shares of Facebadived in connection with the sale of
Face.com (Note 4). The securities were sold dW2li4, and as such a balance of nil is recorded Bs@ember 31, 2014.
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5. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DETAILS (Conti nued)
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilitiesfaBecember 31, 2013 and 2014 comprise the foligwi

2013 2014 2014
RUR RUR $
Trade accounts payable and accrued liabil 3,29¢  4,44¢  79.1
Salary and other compensation expenses
payable/accrued to employe 417 604 10.7
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilitie: 3,71C 5,05 89.t

Reclassifications Out of Accumulated Other Comprehesive Income

Reclassifications of losses out of accumedather comprehensive income for the years eBaegmber 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 were ¢
follows:

Location 2012 2013 2014
RUR RUR RUR $

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments,
of tax of nil Other income, ne — 54 —_- -

For the year ended December 31, 2013 dtlagsification resulted from the sale of a 75% ta®e ruble interest in the charter capital of
Yandex.Money (Note 4).

6. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company does not enter into derivadivangements for hedging, trading or speculativegses. However, some of the Company's
contracts have embedded derivatives that are hifedcand accounted for separately from the hoseagents. None of these derivatives are
designated as hedging instruments.

The Company recognizes such derivativeunstnts as either assets or liabilities on the mpamying consolidated balance sheets at fait
value and records changes in the fair value otl#revatives in the accompanying consolidated statgmof income as other income, net.
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6. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair value of derivative instrumentsoa®ecember 31, 2013 and 2014 is as follows:

Balance Sheet Locatior 2013 2014 2014
RUR RUR $

Derivative assets
Equity purchase

contracts Investments in nc-marketable equity securiti 22 8 0.1
Total derivative assets 22 8 0.1
Derivative liabilities:
Foreign exchange

contracts Other accrued liabilitie 9 37 0.7
Total derivative

liabilities 9 37 0.7

The effect of derivative instruments nosideated as hedging instruments on income for gagsyended December 31, 2012, 2013 and
2014 amounted to a loss of RUR 18, a gain of RURr&Ya loss of RUR 7 ($0.1), respectively.

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is an exit price, representimg amount that would be received to sell an asggaid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants. A thieefair value hierarchy is established as a bgisonsidering such assumptions and for in
used in the valuation methodologies in measuring/tdue:

Level 1—observable inputs that reflect gaioprices (unadjusted) in active markets for idehtassets or liabilities;

Level 2—inputs other than quoted pricesuded within Level 1 that are observable for theea®r liability, either directly or
indirectly; and

Level 3—inputs for the asset or liabilihat are not based on observable market data (unvaitde inputs).
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
The fair value of financial assets andiliaés as of December 31, 2013 consisted of tHieang:

Fair value measurement using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RUR RUR RUR RUR
Assets
Cash equivalent:
Bank deposits(1 —  16,73( — 16,73(
Investments in money market fun 14,37: — — 14,37
Term deposits, nc-current —  15,29¢ —  15,29¢
Marketable securities, current( 87 — — 87
Restricted cas 104 — — 104
Loans to employee — 447 — 447
Loans grante: — 27¢ — 27¢
Derivative contracts (Notes 4, 6)( — — 22 22
14,56: 32,75 22 47,331
Liabilities
Convertible deb — 21,64, — 21,64
Derivative contracts(z — 9 — 9
—  21,65¢ —  21,65¢

(1) Bank deposits with original maturities of three rifenor less are included in cash equivalents. Rimplosits with
maturities of more than three months are class#®term deposits.

(2)  Amounts are measured at fair value on a recurrasist
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
The fair value of financial assets andiliaés as of December 31, 2014 consisted of tHieang:

Fair value measurement using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Total
RUR RUR RUR RUR $
Assets
Cash equivalent:
Bank deposits(1 — 9,77t — 9,77t  173.t
Investments in money marl
funds 4,25: — — 4,25: 75.€
Term deposits, currel — 5,86: — 5,865 104.Z
Term deposits, nc-current — 24,77t —  24,77F 440.
Restricted cas 1,49 — 1,497 26.€
Investments in debt securiti — 3,08¢ — 3,08¢ 54.¢
Loans to employee — 76€ — 76€ 13.€
Loans grante: — 522 — 522 9.2
Derivative contracts (Notes 4,
6)(2) — — 8 8 0.1
5,75(  44,79: 8 50,55( 898.
Liabilities
Convertible deb —  25,29¢ —  25,29¢ 449.¢
Contingent consideration(; — — 85 85 i1.g
Derivative contracts(z — 37 — 37 0.7
— 25,33 85 2541¢ 451.

(1) Bank deposits with original maturities of three riftmor less are included in cash equivalents. Riaplosits with
maturities of more than three months are classidgterm deposits.

(2)  Amounts are measured at fair value on a recurrasist

The fair values of the Company's Levelnhficial assets are based on quoted market pridderdifcal underlying securities. The fair
values of the Company's Level 2 financial assetsliabilities are based on quoted prices and markservable data of similar instruments.

There were no transfers of financial asaatsliabilities between the levels of the fairuahierarchy during the years ended Decembe
2012, 2013 and 2014.

The total gains attributable to bank degsoasind investments in money market funds amout@&diR 910, RUR 1,651 and RUR 1,840
($32.7) in 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively. Sambunts are included in interest income in the clitsted statements of income.

The Company had no other financial asseligloilities measured at fair value on a recurrivagis during the years ended December 31,
2012, 2013 and 2014. The Company measures atdlaie nonfinancial assets and liabilities recogniaga result of business combinations.
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

The Company measures the fair value ofdtnaents in debt instruments carried at amortizestl cmwn-current term deposits and
convertible debt for disclosure purposes. The dagrgmounts and fair values of debt securities@nertible debt as of December 31, 2013
and 2014 were as follows:

2013
2014
Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value
RUR RUR RUR $ RUR $

Investment
in debt
securitie: — — 3,12¢ 55.F 3,08¢ 54.¢
Term
deposits,
non-
current 15,18( 15,29¢ 25,66: 456.2 24,77¢ 440.¢
Convertible
debt (16,429 (21,64) (26,329 (467.9 (25,299 (449.6)
Total (1,249 (6,349  2,46: 436  257( 457

The Company did not estimate the fair valfison-marketable equity investments carried at because it did not identify events or
changes in circumstances that might have had #iseyt adverse effect on the fair value of theseestments. Furthermore, the Company
believes it is not practicable to estimate the ¥ailue of these equity investments since quotedketarices are not available and the cost of
obtaining independent valuations appears excessivgidering the materiality of the investmentshte Company.

8. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment, net of accumuldegateciation and amortization, as of December 8132nd 2014 consisted of the following:

2013 2014 2014

RUR RUR $
Servers and network equipme 9,73¢ 14,53( 258.:
Infrastructure systemr 3,40¢ 4,44¢ 79.1
Land and building: 1,172 3,73t 66.4
Office furniture and equipmel 1,00z 1,32% 23.t
Leasehold improvemen 611 68€ 12.2
Other equipmer 64 66 1.2
Assets not yet in us 1,59¢ 2,032 36.1
Purchased technologies and licer 2,46¢ 3,96¢ 70.5
Total 20,06: 30,78¢ 5473
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize (10,337 (13,687 (243.7)
Total property and equipment, net 9,72¢ 17,107 304.1

Assets not yet in use primarily represamputer equipment, infrastructure systems and @bsets under installation, including related
prepayments, and comprise the cost of the assdtsthar
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8. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET (Continued)

direct costs applicable to purchase and installatieasehold improvements in the amount of RURMBRUR 46 ($0.8) are included in assets
not yet in use as of December 31, 2013 and 20%gentively.

Depreciation expenses related to propartiyexjuipment, except for purchased technologiediesmases, for the years ended Decembe
2012, 2013 and 2014 amounted to RUR 2,498, RUR2xH8 RUR 3,480 ($61.9), respectively. Amortizagapenses related to purchased
technologies and licenses for the years ended Deee8i, 2012, 2013 and 2014 amounted to RUR 314&K BR&2 and RUR 762 ($13.5),
respectively.

The accumulated amortization of purchasetiriologies and licenses included in property ajdpbeent was RUR 904 and RUR 1,608
($28.6) as of December 31, 2013 and 2014, resgbgtiZstimated amortization expense over the riegtyfears for purchased technologies
licenses included in property and equipment, neff &ecember 31, 2014 are as follows:

RUR $
For the year ending December 31, 2! 84¢ 15.1
For the year ending December 31, 2! 703 12t
For the year ending December 31, 2! 424 7.t
For the year ending December 31, 2! 234 4.z
For the year ending December 31, 2! 14¢ 2.€
Thereaftel 1 —
Total 2,36( 41.¢

9. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

In 2014, the Company completed severaliass combination transactions, including Kitloc&teto.ru and ADFOX (Note 4), accounted
for under the acquisition method and resulted énrécognition of RUR 5,728 ($101.8) of acquireddysitl. The Company has also revised its
goodwill allocation following the change in operagiand reportable segments (Note 15) and restia¢egrior year disclosure to conform with
current year presentation. As a consequence aftaiege in segments and reporting units, goodwdllleen reallocated between reporting 1
using the relative fair value allocation approabporting units for the Russian Search and Pon@lRussian EEommerce segments have b
determined to be the same level as their respestigments due to the absence of regular reportiagydower level within these segments.
Goodwill allocated to the Media Services operasegment (included in Other) has further been alétto the reporting unit Cinema and TV
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9. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET (Continued)

and goodwill allocated to the Classified Aggregatoperating segment (included in Other) to the mampunit Auto. The changes in the
carrying amount of goodwill are as follows:

Russian
Search and Russian

Portal E-commerce Other Total Total

RUR RUR RUR RUR $
Balance as of January 1, 201 75C — — 75C
Goodwill acquirec — — 2,14C 2,14
Goodwill disposec — — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustm 25 — — 25
Balance as of December 31, 2013 77E — 2,14C 2,91t 51.¢
Goodwill acquirec 454 10€ 5,16¢ 5,72¢ 101.t
Goodwill disposet (75) — — (75) (1.3
Foreign currency translation adjustm 352 — — 352 6.3
Balance as of December 31, 20: 1,50¢ 10€ 7,30¢ 8,92( 158.¢

The Company has not recorded any impairraergoodwill to date.

Intangible assets, net of amortizatiompfaBecember 31, 2013 and 2014 consisted of thevidilg intangible assets primarily acquired as
part of business combinations:

2013 2014
Less: Net Less: Net Net
Accumulated carrying Accumulated carrying carrying
Cost amortization value Cost amortization value value
RUR RUR RUR RUR RUR RUR $
Content and softwa 48¢ (173) 31€ 96& (385) 58C 10.2
Patents and licens: 167 (10€) 61 26¢ (147 12z 2.2
Customer
relationships 71 (18) 53 417 (45) 372 6.6
Contracts with
suppliers 23 (22 1 — — — —
Non-compete
agreement 14 @ 13 26 (8) 18 0.3
Trade names and
domain name 224 4) 22C 1,181 (66) 1,11¢ 19.¢
Workforce — — — 232 (14) 21¢ 3.9
Total intangible
assets 98¢ (324) 664  3,09( (66E) 2,42 43.1

Amortization expenses of intangible asfmtthe years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 andl @8fe RUR 139, RUR 111 and RUR 242
($4.3), respectively.
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9. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET (Continued)

Estimated amortization expense over thé fiex years for intangible assets included indceompanying consolidated balance sheet
December 31, 2014 are as follows:

RUR $
For the year ending December 31, 2! 427 7.€
For the year ending December 31, 2! 408 7.3
For the year ending December 31, 2! 34C 6.C
For the year ending December 31, 2 304 5.4
For the year ending December 31, 2| 222 &
Thereatfte 724 12.¢€
Total 2,428 43.]

10. INCOME TAX

Income taxes are computed in accordandeRuissian Federation and Dutch tax laws. The taxalcbbme of Yandex LLC was subject to
federal and local income tax at a combined nonriata of 20% for 2012, 2013 and 2014. Yandex N.\hderporated in the Netherlands, and
its taxable profits were subject to income taxhatrate of 25% in 2012, 2013 and 2014.

Dividends paid to Yandex N.V. by its Russsubsidiaries are subject to a 5% dividend wittimg) tax, computed in accordance with the
laws of the Russian Federation. Due to the so-dalaticipation exemption, dividends distributedtbg Company's Russian subsidiaries to
Yandex N.V. are exempt from tax in the Netherlands.

Provision for income taxes for the yeardezhDecember 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 consistdwdbiowing:

2012 2013 2014 2014
RUR RUR RUR $

Current provision for income t—Russie (2,287 (3,325 (5,045 (89.9)
Current provision for income t—other 2 (117 (295) (5.2
Deferred income tax (expense)/ benefit:

Russie (598) 17k (25€) (4.6
Deferred income tax (expense)/ benefit

other (14) 22 141 2.5
Total provision for income taxes (2,357) (3,239 (5,455 (97.0)
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

The components of net income before inctares for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012@i4 are as follows:

2012 2013 2014 2014
RUR RUR RUR $

Net income before income ta—Russie  11,35( 15,71¢ 23,397 415.¢

Net income before income ta—other (77€) 997 (918) (16.9)

Total net income before income taxes 10,57¢ 16,71: 22,47% 399.f

A significant majority of the Company's eewies and taxable income is generated in the RuBsideration. Yandex N.V., the Company's
Dutch parent company, has no operations and pilyrgenerates interest income and incurs corporgiereses. Therefore, the Company has
reconciled its effective tax rate to its Russiaiigbry rate instead of to its Dutch statutory fatthe table below. The statutory Russian incom
tax rate reconciled to the Company's effective inedax rate is as follows for the years ended Dées81, 2012, 2013 and 2014:

2012 2013 2014 2014
RUR RUR RUR $
Expected provision at Russian statutory
income tax rate of 20¢ 2,118 3,34 4,49 79.C
Effect of:
Tax on dividend: 13 14 46€ 8.3
Non-deductible sha-based compensatic 75 14€ 22¢ 4.1
Other expenses not deductible for tax purp 18z 83 97 1.7
Difference in foreign tax rate (39) (68) (160 (2.9
Participation exemption on sale of equity
investments — (393) — —
Other 4 (33 78 1.4
Change in valuation allowan: — 147 25C 4.4
Provision for income taxes 2,351 3,23¢ 545F 97.C

Movements in the valuation allowance aréolsws:

2012 2013 2014 2014

RUR RUR  RUR $
Balance at the beginning of the per — — (147 (2.
Charges to expens — (147 (250 (4.9
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — (A7) (0.9
Balance at the end of the periot — (147 4149 (7.9
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

As of December 31, 2013 and 2014, the Compzcluded accruals for unrecognized income tapeffies, including interest and penalties,
totaling RUR 10 and RUR 62 ($1.1), respectivelyaa®mponent of other accrued liabilities, non-entand RUR 15 and RUR 69 ($1.2),
respectively, as a component of accounts payahlleecrued liabilities. RUR 97 ($1.7) of unrecogdizecome tax benefits, if recognized,
would affect the effective tax rate. The interasd penalties recorded as part of the provisionrfoome tax in 2012, 2013 and 2014 resulted ir

benefit of RUR 13, RUR 1 and expense of RUR 305$0espectively. The Company does not anticipigtaificant increases or decreases in
unrecognized income tax benefits over the nextwaveionths.

The Company believes it is more likely ttmant that all recognized income tax benefits wélldustained upon examination. However,
income tax benefits in the amount of RUR 86 ($h&je a reasonable possibility of successfully belrgjlenged by the tax authorities. The

Company does not believe that any of the recogrirzsmme tax benefits have a reasonable possilfisuccessfully being challenged by the
tax authorities within twelve months of Decembey 3114,

A reconciliation of the total amounts ofrecognized income tax benefits is as follows:

2012 2013 2014 2014

RUR RUR  RUR $
Balance at the beginning of the per 97 25 25 0.4
Increases/(decreases) related to prior years te

positions (72 ©)] 69 1.2
Increases related to current year tax posit 2 2 2 —
Settlement: — — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustm (2) 1 1 —
Balance at the end of the periot 25 25 97 1.7
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

Temporary differences between the tax aeganting bases of assets and liabilities givetddée following deferred tax assets and
liabilities as of December 31, 2013 and 2014:

2013 2014 2014

RUR RUR $
Assets/(liabilities) arising from tax effect «
Deferred tax asse
Accrued expense 387 58t 10.4
Net operating loss carryforwa 324 457 8.1
Other 40 48 0.¢
Valuation allowanct (147) (414) (7.4
Total deferred tax asse! 604 67€ 12.C
Deferred tax liability
Convertible debt discoul (802) (1,029 (18.2
Property and equipme (268 (36) (0.6)
Intangible assel (15%) (490 (8.7)
Unremitted earning — (47%) (8.9
Other (42) (60) (1.7
Total deferred tax liability (1,266 (2,089 (37.0
Net deferred tax asset/(liability) (662) (1,409 (25.0
Net deferred tax assets, curr 59¢€ 18C 3.2
Net deferred tax assets, I-current 3 4 0.1
Net deferred tax liabilities, curre (16) (5) (0.7
Net deferred tax liabilities, n-current (1,245 (1,587 (28.2)

As of December 31, 2014, Yandex N.V. hadaperating loss carryforwards ("NOLs") for Duteftome tax purposes of RUR 953
($16.9). These NOLs expire in 2020-2023 tax yeassof December 31, 2014, a benefit of RUR 109 (deated to the Dutch NOLs
described above and RUR 150 ($2.7) related to aéxeeffects would be recorded by the Company ditemhal paid-in capital if and when
realized.

The Company did not provide for dividendhkiolding taxes on the unremitted earnings ofateifyn subsidiaries in 2013 and earlier y:
because they were considered permanently reinvestsitle of the Netherlands. Starting in 2014,Gbenpany began to accrue for a 5%
dividend withholding tax on the portion of the anit year profit of the Company's principal Russigerating subsidiary that is considered not
to be permanently reinvested in Russia. As of D1, 2014, the cumulative amount of unremitithiegs upon which dividend
withholding taxes have not been provided is appnately RUR 44,787 ($796.1). The Company estimétasthe amount of the unrecognized
deferred tax liability related to these earningapproximately RUR 2,239 ($39.8).

The tax years 2013 - 2014 remain openxanenation by the Russian tax authorities with egspo the Company's principal Russian
operating subsidiary, Yandex LLC. The tax years&00014 remain open for examination by the Dugchauthorities with respect to
Yandex N.V.
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11. CONVERTIBLE DEBT

In December 2013, the Company issued altli$§90.0 (RUR 19,719 at the exchange rate aslefdsde) in aggregate principal amoun
1.125% convertible senior notes due December 183 20par. The Company also granted to the irptimthasers a right to purchase up to an
additional $90.0 (RUR 2,981 at the exchange rat# aale date) in aggregate principal amount oésagblely to cover over-allotments. In
January 2014, the Company issued and sold an aalait$90.0 in aggregate principal amount of 1.128#vertible senior notes due
December 15, 2018 (together, the "Notes") at paerést at an annual rate of 1.125% is payable-aamially on June 15 and December 15 of
each year, beginning on June 15, 2014. The Notesamvertible into cash, Class A shares of the Gampr a combination of cash and
Class A shares, at the Company's election, undarrostances described below, based on an initralargion rate of 19.44 Class A shares pel
$1,000 principal amount of Notes (which represanténitial conversion price of approximately $51pEF share), subject to adjustment on the
occurrence of fundamental change as defined iagheement. The Notes are convertible, at the ojgfidhe holder, prior to June 15, 2018, if
i) the last reported sale price of the Class Aahfor at least 20 trading days (whether or noseoutive) during a period of 30 consecutive
trading days is greater than or equal to 130% @fctinversion price on each applicable trading dpgluring a 5 business day period after any
10 consecutive trading day period in which theitrggrice per $1,000 principal amount of notesdach trading day of the measurement
period was less than 98% of the product of therigstrted sale price of our Class A shares anddhgersion rate on each such trading day;
iii) upon the occurrence of specified corporaterggeOn or after June 15, 2018, the Notes can beerted at the option of the holder
regardless of the foregoing circumstances at ang tintil the close of business on the businessmmediately preceding the maturity date of
the Notes. The Company will not have the rightddeem the Notes prior to maturity, except in cotineavith certain changes in tax laws. As
of December 31, 2014, none of the conditions almwhe conversion of the Notes had been met.

The net proceeds to the Company from theeafahe Notes (including over-allotments) wer@rgximately RUR 22,479 ($683.1 at the
exchange rates as of sale date). Debt issuancewest approximately RUR 228 ($4.1), of which RUBR(80.7) was allocated to additional
paidin capital and RUR 190 ($3.4) was allocated to aetbissuance costs and will be amortized as istengpense over the term of the No
As of December 31, 2013 and 2014, unamortized deefessuance cost was RUR 166 and RUR 202 ($3.6).

The Company separately accounts for thslitiaand equity components of the Notes. Theyiag value of the liability component of
RUR 18,972 ($576.7 at the exchange rates as oflatd¢ was initially recognized at the present @alfiits cash flows using a discount rate of
4.84%, the Company's estimated borrowing rateeatittie of the issuance for a similar debt instrimaéthout the conversion feature. Debt
discount is amortized using the effective intemasthod over the period from the origination dateudlgh the stated maturity date. The value of
the equity component of RUR 3,728 ($113.3 at tteharge rates as of sale date) was calculated huctied the fair value of the liability
component from the initial proceeds ascribed tocthrevertible debt instrument as a whole and wasrdsd as a debt discount.

During 2014, the Company repurchased atede$150.0 in aggregate principal amount of thistanding Notes for a cash consideratior
of RUR 6,414 ($114.0) and recorded a gain of RUR 54
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11. CONVERTIBLE DEBT (Continued)
($9.7) on the extinguishment of the debt within dtieer income, net line on the consolidated statesnaf income.

The carrying value of the Notes as of Deoen31, 2013 and 2014 consisted of the following:

2013 2014 2014
RUR RUR $
1.125% Convertible Senior Notes due Decembe
2018 19,63¢ 30,38( 540.C
Unamortized debt discou (3,209 (4,055 (72.])
Total convertible debt 16,42¢ 26,32F 467.¢

The remaining unamortized debt discourROR 4,055 ($72.1) as of December 31, 2014 will ineized over the remaining life of the
Notes, which is approximately 4.0 yee

The Company recognized RUR 25 and RUR 1(822.4) as interest expenses related to the ainaiinterest coupon, amortization of
the debt discount and issuance expenses for thie gaded December 31, 2013 and 2014, respectilieyeffective interest rate on the liabi
component for the period was 5.1%.

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Lease and Other Commitments
In December 2008, the Company signed agemgent for a ten-year lease of office space in E\sin April 2011, the Company entered
into two more lease agreements to increase theobiterented office space located in its headiguarcomplex in Moscow for the remaining
period of the original lease. In April 2014, ther@umany further extended its headquarters complaxrgijga seven-year lease agreement for

additional office space and extending the existarg agreements to 2021.

As of December 31, 2014, future minimursepayments due under the Moscow leases and atheramcellable operating leases for
more than one year are as follows:

Moscow
headquarters Other
Payments due in the years ending December & lease leases Total Total
RUR RUR RUR $
2015 3,46¢ 59C 4,05¢ 72.2
2016 3,557 38¢ 3,94( 70.C
2017 3,681 23¢ 3,92( 69.7
2018 3,97: 134 4,107% 73.C
2019 and thereafte 9,32 7 9,33( 165.¢
Total 24,000 1,35% 25,35! 450.3
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12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

For the purposes of the disclosure abdveeCiompany assumed no changes in the rented spes@al price specified in existing rental
agreements as of the reporting date.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, a0d2014, rent expenses under operating leasdsdapproximately RUR 1,656,
RUR 1,790 and RUR 2,674 ($47.5), respectively.

Additionally, the Company has entered iptiochase commitments for other goods and servicgsequisition of businesses, which total
RUR 4,630 ($82.3) in 2015, RUR 1,969 ($35.0) in@MRUR 825 ($14.7) in 2017, RUR 1,281 ($22.8) int20RUR 748 ($13.3) in 2019 and
RUR 1,248 ($22.2) thereatfter.

Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, the @amy is a party to various legal proceedings, afjest to claims, certain of which relate to
copyright infringement. The Company believes tkatiability, if any, in all such pending litigatio other legal proceedings or other matters
will not have a material effect upon its finanaiaindition, results of operations or the liquidifytibe Company.

Environment and Current Economic Situation

Emerging markets such as Russia are suljelitferent risks than more developed marketsluiging economic, political and social, and
legal and legislative risks. Laws and regulatioffisciing businesses continue to change rapidlytar@nd regulatory frameworks are subje
varying interpretations.

In particular, taxes are subject to revawl investigation by a number of authorities au#eat by law to impose fines and penalties.
Although the Company believes it has provided adezjy for all tax liabilities based on its understang of the tax legislation, the above
factors may create tax risks for the Company. kfitazh to the obligations shown in the lease commeitits section above, approximately
RUR 97 ($1.7) of unrecognized tax benefits havenlveeorded as liabilities, and the Company is uageas to if or when such amounts may
be settled (Note 10). Related to unrecognized ¢aefits, the Company has also recorded a lialfditypotential penalties of RUR 16 ($0.3) «
interest of RUR 18 ($0.3). As of December 31, 2@&bept for the income tax contingencies descréiEve, the Company accrued RUR 185
($3.3) for contingencies related to non-income saxelditionally, the Company has identified possibbntingencies related to non-income
taxes, which are not accrued. Such possible hariedax contingencies could materialize and reghigeCompany to pay additional amounts
of tax. As of December 31, 2014, the Company esémsuch contingencies related to non-income taxbe up to approximately RUR 78
($1.4).

The future economic direction of Russihesavily influenced by the fiscal and monetary pgekcadopted by the government, together witl
developments in the legal, regulatory, and politssavironment.

Additionally, significant uncertainty exdsaround the current geopolitical situation in Utkea The United States, the European Union an
other countries have imposed economic sanctiortedain Russian government officials, other indisits and certain Russian companies in
connection with
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recent developments in Ukraine and Crimea. NeitieiCompany, nor any of its Russian subsidiariestiuer operations or assets, are a targe
of current sanctions. However, there is signifiaamtertainty regarding the extent or timing of @yential further economic or trade sanctic
or the ultimate outcome of the Ukrainian crisis.

In 2014 and early 2015, Russia has expegsignificant economic instability, characteribgdsubstantial depreciation of its currency,
sharp fluctuations of interest rates, a forecadtsdine in gross domestic product in 2015 and epstiecline in the value of shares traded on it
stock exchanges. Any continuing economic and galiiinstability, potentially including continued additional international economic
sanctions, could have negative impact on advegtispending in future periods. Because Russia pesdand exports large volumes of oil and
gas, the Russian economy is particularly sensitivee price of oil and gas on the world market.

13. SHARE CAPITAL

The Company has three authorized classesdofary shares, Class A, Class B and Class C#&(it@1, € 0.10 and €0.09 par value,
respectively. The principal features of the thriesses of ordinary shares are as follows:

. Class A shares, par valu8.@1 per share, entitled to one vote per share CIags A shares share ratably with the Class Best
on a pari passu basis, in any dividends or othstributions.

. Class B shares, par value €0.10 per share, entitlesh votes per share. Class B shares may orthabsferred to qualified
holders. In order to sell a Class B share, it bestonverted into a Class A share.

. Class C shares, par value €0.09 per shareleeitit nine votes per share. The Class C shareméitked to a fixed nominal
amount in the event of a dividend or distributionited to €0.01 per share in any one financial yeany such shares were to be
outstanding on the record date for a dividend datitan. The Class C shares are used for technicabges related to the
conversion of Class B shares into Class A sharesn the periods between conversion and cancatiatill Class C shares are
held by Yandex Conversion Foundation (Stichting #&nConversion). Yandex Conversion Foundation wesrporated under
the laws of the Netherlands in October 2008 forsihle purpose of facilitating the conversion of<SI8 shares into Class A
shares. Yandex Conversion Foundation is manageddmard of directors appointed by the Company.

On September 21, 2009, the Company issurtbety Share to Sberbank. The holder of the RyicGhare has the right to veto the
accumulation of stakes in the Company in exce@25% by a single entity, a group of related pandieparties acting in concert. The holder of
the Priority Share does not have any rights taarfte operating decisions of the Company norestitled to a seat on the Company's Board.
Transfer of the Priority Share requires the approféhe Board. The Priority Share has been pumthdyy Sberbank at its par value af#d is
entitled to a normal pro rata dividend distribution
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The Company's articles of association aigba special class of preference shares as adbam anti-takeover defense. The Company's
Board has the irrevocable authority for a periofive years to issue preference shares and guginisrio subscribe for preference shares up to
the Company's authorized share capital from tintérte. This authority may be renewed by a resofutibthe general meeting of shareholders
for a subsequent period of up to five years. Tlefguence shares, if issued, would be entitleddeive preferential dividends at a rate of 12-
month EURIBOR plus 200 basis points on the amoaitt fhereon, prior and in preference to distribngian respect of ordinary shares. No
preference shares have been issued.

The share capital as of each balance staetis as follows (EUR in millions):

December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Shares EUR RUR Shares EUR RUR

Authorized: 4,204,230,28 2,143,740,82
Priority

share 1 1
Preference

shares 2,000,000,00 1,000,000,00
Class A

ordinary

shares 2,000,000,00 1,000,000,00
Class B

ordinary

shares 102,115,14 71,870,41
Class C

ordinary

shares 102,115,14 71,870,41
Issued anc

fully

paid: 353,032,57 € 11.¢ 33t 338,940,81 € 9.7 23C
Priority

share 1 — — 1 — —
Preference

shares — — — — — —
Class A

ordinary

shares 256,998,30
Class B

ordinary

shares 72,923,44 7.
Class C

ordinary

shares 23,110,81 2.1 91 8,919,06: 0.8 47

N
n

10€ 267,970,40 2.7 11z

(¢6)

13¢€ 62,051,34 6.2 71

Treasury Class C shares are not disclosedeh due to the technical nature of this clashafes.

The Company repurchases its Class A sliamestime to time in part to reduce the dilutivéeets of its Share-Based Awards to
employees of the Company.

In March 2013, the Company's Board of Qiivex authorized a program to repurchase up to D2)00 Class A shares from time to time
open market transactions. In December 2013, thep@agis Board of Directors authorized an increagherexisting program by 3,000,000
shares. In July 2014, the Company's Board of Dorschuthorized a further repurchase of up to 3@@shares in effect through December
2015.



For the year ended December 31, 2013, tmpany repurchased 8,599,377 Class A shares aeaage price of $30.70 per share for a
total amount of RUR 8,518. Out of these shares®132 were used to satisfy the Company's obligatiorder Share-Based Awards. For the
year ended December 31, 2014, the Company repwaa446,319 Class A shares at an average pri881o49 per share for a total amoun
RUR 8,423 ($149.7). Out of these shares 1,334,48% wsed to satisfy the Company's obligations uStiareBased Awards. Treasury stocl
accounted for under the cost method.
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Employee Equity Incentive Plan

The Company has granted Share-Based Avwamsiployees of the Company pursuant to its Em@@&teare Option Plan (the "2001
Plan") and the Forth Amended and Restated 200 ¥bgentive Plan (the "2007 Plan®).

On January 29, 2001, the Supervisory Boaandex Technologies Ltd. ("YTL"), the former pat of the Company, approved the 2001
Plan, which provided for the issuance of up to 88,292 options to employees of the Company to @msetordinary shares in YTL. On
February 7, 2007, the Company's Board adopted@é Plan and subsequently amended it on Octob&00¥,, October 14, 2008,

November 10, 2011, February 10, 2012, and July2@43. A share option issued under the 2007 Platiesnthe holder to purchase an ordin
share at a specified exercise price. SARs issuddrithe 2007 Plan entitle the holder to receivaraber of Class A shares determined by
reference to appreciation from and after the daggant in the fair market value of a Class A sharer the measurement price. RSUs awarde
under the 2007 Plan entitle the holder to receifreel number of Class A shares at no cost uporsdhisfaction of certain time-based vesting
criteria. The holders of RSUs have no rights tad#imds or dividends equivalent. The 2007 Plan giewifor the issuance of Share-Based
Awards to employees, officers, advisors and coaststof the Company and members of the Board oftrapany to acquire or, in regard to
SARs, to benefit from the appreciation of ordinaimares representing in the aggregate a maximur@%fdf the issued share capital of the
Company. In connection with a capital restructuriatjoutstanding share options granted to eligdgloyees under the 2001 Plan were
cancelled and replaced with new grants of optiordeuthe 2007 Plan. The Company recorded no addittmmpensation cost as a result of
this cancellation and replacement because the tefthe replacement awards are substantially theesa

Under the 2007 Plan, the award exercisaeasurement price per share is set at the "faikeha&alue” and denominated in U.S. dollars
the date the Share-Based Awards are granted bydimpany's Board. For purposes of the 2007 Plaiv,ifarket value” means (A) at any time
when the Company's shares are not publicly tratthedprice per share most recently determined bytwed to be the fair market value; and
(B) at any time when the shares are publicly trai@ih the case of RSUs, the closing price pexsSIA Share (as adjusted to account for the
ratio of shares to depositary shares, if necessaryfie date of such determination; and (ii) ina¢hee of Options and Share Appreciation
Rights, the average closing price per Class A Stewadjusted to account for the ratio of ClasshAr8s to such depositary shares, if neces
on the 20 trading days immediately following theéedaf determination. Share-Based Awards granteeutig 2007 Plan generally vest over a
four-year period. Approximately 25% of the Shares@&hAwards vest after one year, with the remaiSihgre-Based Awards vesting in equal
amounts on the last day of each quarter over tl@fimg three years. If a grantee ceases to bdigible participant within three months
following the consummation of a change of contretduse of termination by the grantee for good reasdecause of termination by the
Company for any reason other than for cause, theeSBased Award(s) held by such grantee shall bedally vested and immediately
exercisable. The maximum term of a Share-Based éd\geanted under the 2007 Plan may not exceed &ns.y€he 2007 Plan expires at
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midnight on October 11, 2017. After its expiration, further grants can be made under the 2007 RIathe vesting and effectiveness of Share
Based Awards previously granted will remain unagdc

In October 2012, the Company offered noeeetive employees of the Company an opportunigxtthange their SARs and options for
RSUs based on an exchange ratio of 2:1. The repktieRSUs have the same vesting schedule as $tgx$ARs or existing options. A to
of 692,855 awards were exchanged in connection thithoffer. The exchange was accounted for asdifioation of the award in 2012 and
this did not have a material impact on the finalneaults.

The Company estimates the fair value ofeslbations and SARs using the BSM pricing modek Weighted average assumptions used i
the BSM pricing model for grants made in the yearding December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 were lasvil

2012 2013 2014
Dividend yield — — —
Expected annual volatilit 54% 49% 38%
Risk-free interest rat 0.78% 1.77% 1.85%
Expected life of the awards (yea 5.51-7.0z 5.44-7.0¢ 5.52-7.04
Weighted-average grant date fair value o

awards (per shari $10.1: $15.9: $10.7-

The Company used the following assumptiortke BSM pricing model when valuing its Share-8h#&wards:

. Expected forfeitures. This assumption is estimated using historicaldseof the number of awards forfeited prior to irgstand
adjusted as appropriate for exceptional circum&snidistorically, as the Company typically onlymped Share-Based Awards
to senior employees who had been with the Compamngtfleast one year, and the turnover rate fon smeployees was minimi
the Company estimated expected forfeitures to &ignificant. In 2012, as less senior employees bégde involved in the
program, the Company calculated the forfeiture bgteeference to the historical employee turnoade.r

. Expected volatility. For 2012 and 2013 grants, the Company used luataolatility of the Company's own shares. Foi20
grants, the Company used future volatility of then{pany's shares implied by the Company's convertibbt prices (Note 11)
and cross-checked with the historical volatilitytioé shares.

. Expected term. The expected term of awards granted has beeulatdd following the "simplified" method, using haf the
sum of the contractual and vesting terms, becdwes€bmpany has no historical pattern of exercigéfE®nt to estimate the
expected term on a more reliable basis.

. Dividendyield. This assumption is measured as the average aredidividend estimated to be paid by the Compamy the

expected life of the award as a percentage oftitheesprice at the grant date. The Company did eciade any dividends with
respect to 2012, 2013 or 2014. Currently, the Compuibnes not have any plans to pay dividends im#s term. Because
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optionees were generally compensated for dividandsthe Company has no plans to pay cash dividerttie near term, it ust
an expected dividend yield of zero in its optioitiolg model for awards granted in the years endeceimber 31, 2012, 2013
and 2014.

. Fair value of ordinary shares. The Company estimated the fair value of its aadirshares using the closing price of its ordir
shares on the NASDAQ Global Select Market on ttte dagrant.

. Risk-freeinterest rate. The Company used the risk-free interest rateschan the US Treasury yield curve in effect atgrant
date.

The following table summarizes awards atgtifor the Company under the 2007 Plan:

Options SARs RSUs
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average exercise average exercise average exercise
Quantity price per share Quantity price per share Quantity price per share
Outstanding
as of
January 1,
2014 6,019,39. $ 5.1 1,612,66: $ 26.7% 2,897,10: —
Granted 28,00( 33.0¢ 880,00( 29.4¢ 1,458,62! —
Exercisec  (1,067,33) 45; (39,100 20.9¢  (333,95) —
Forfeited (11,316) 5.3C (21,85() 31.8¢ (115,539 —
Cancellec — — — — (168) —
Outstanding
as of
December
2014 4,968,74. $ 541 243171 $ 27.77 3,906,06! —
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14. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

The following table summarizes informatedpout outstanding and exercisable awards und&0dé Plan as of December 31, 2014:

Awards Outstanding Awards Exercisable
Average Average

Remaining Aggregate Remaining Aggregate

Type of Number Contractual Intrinsic Number Contractual Intrinsic

Exercise Price ($) award outstanding Life (in years) Value exercisable  Life (in years) Value
0.83 Option 455,00( 0.5C $ 7.8 455,00( 0.5C $ 7.8
2.16 Option 568,76¢ 1.5€ 9.C 568,76¢ 1.5€ 9.C
2.74 Option 501,30( 2.37 7.€ 501,30( 2.37 7.€
3.40 Option 404,35( 3.0¢ 5.8 404,35( 3.0¢ 5.8
3.43 Option 212,82( 4.41 3.1 212,82( 4.41 3.1
3.51 Option 723,31: 4.8¢ 10.t 723,31: 4.8¢ 10.5
4.16 Option 674,85¢ 5.4z 9.3 671,73: 5.4z 9.3
8.77 Option  1,204,33! 5.8t 11.C 1,179,333 5.8¢ 10.¢
25.00 Option 168,00( 6.4C — 147,00( 6.4C —
27.74 Option 28,00( 8.3¢ — 7,00( 8.3¢ —
33.09 Option 28,00( 9.4C — — — —
Total Options 4,968,74 4.0¢ 64.z 4,870,61' 4.01 64.C
16.95 SARs 9,374 6.97 — 7,031 6.97 —
18.44 SARs — — — — — —
19.00 SARs 302,50( 7.57 — 118,12! 7.57 —
20.99 SARs 78,59( 6.92 — 55,37¢ 6.92 —
21.05 SARs 368,75( 7.8¢ — 168,75( 7.8¢ —
23.19 SARs 20,00( 7.1¢ — 13,75( 7.1¢ —
23.21 SARs 150,00( 9.8¢ — — — —
23.29 SARs 37,50( 7.8¢ — 9,37¢ 7.8¢ —
29.94 SARs 550,00( 9.5t — — — —
30.08 SARs — — — — — —
32.85 SARs 600,00( 8.57 — 187,50( 8.57 —
33.09 SARs 180,00( 9.4( — — — —
38.99 SARs 135,00( 8.8¢ — 35,93¢ 8.8¢ —
Total SARs 2,431,71 8.64 — 595,84 7.9¢ —
— RSU 3,906,06! 8.6C 70.2 949,31: 7.8 17.C
11,306,52 6.6z $ 134.¢ 6,415,777 49t $ 81c
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14. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

The following table summarizes informatedpout non-vested share awards under the 2007 Plan:

Options SARs RSUs
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Grant Grant Grant
Date Fair Date Fair Date Fair
Quantity Value Quantity Value Quantity Value
Non-vested as o
January 1, 2014 812,75( $ 5.67 143495 $ 1354/ 2,470,26; $ 25.8¢
Granted 28,00( 13.21 880,00( 10.6¢ 1,458,62! 29.3¢
Vested (731,310 5.2/ (457,240 13.3¢  (856,59) 25.1¢
Forfeited (11,316) 3.2¢ (21,85() 15.6: (115,53 26.6¢
Non-vested as o
December 31, 2014 98,12« $ 1131 1,83586 $ 12.1¢ 2,956,75 $ 27.7i

At December 31, 2014, there was RUR 4,882 @) of unamortized share-based compensatiomsrpelated to unvested share options
RSUs and SARs which is expected to be recognized @weighted average period of 2.73 years. Thepgaosnexpects that all but an
insignificant portion of options and SARs outstarggivill vest and therefore has not applied a foufei rate in estimating the total awards
expected to vest. The Company expects 2,484,84df@)956,758 RSUs to vest after December 31, 20&4he extent the actual forfeiture
rate is different from the Company's estimate, stimrsed compensation related to these awardsendifferent from our expectations.

Ex-Plan Options

In January 2009, the Company hired ceftaimer sales and product development employeeseafiddelling LLC ("Mediaselling™). The
Company granted some of these former Mediasellngl@yees performandeased options to purchase an aggregate of 378,288 & share

The following table summarizes activity fbese ex-plan options:

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Quantity Price

Outstanding as of December 31, 201 19,30( € 0.01
Exercisec (15,600 0.01
Cancellec — —
Outstanding as of December 31, 201 3,70C € 0.01

There were no unvested ex-plan sharesmgptis of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014.

As of December 31, 2014, these ex-plarpogthave a remaining contractual life of 4.37 ye2y800 outstanding ex-plan options have ar
intrinsic value of RUR 4 ($0.1).
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14. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)
At December 31, 2014, there was no unazesttshare-based compensation expense relatedestadwex-plan options.
Ex-plan RSUs

In November 2011, the Company acquired SBBvare Group and subsequently granted 25,000 R&s@me of the former SPB
Software employees. Although these RSUs were gilaexeplan, they have the same vesting provisior&hase-Based Awards granted under
the 2007 Plan. As of December 31, 2014, these @xfRISUs had a remaining contractual life of 6.94ry€18,282 of these RSUs had an
intrinsic value of RUR 18 ($0.3); 13,032 exercigagk-plan RSUs had an intrinsic value of RUR 130rhese RSUs had a grant date fair
value of $0.01 per share, resulting in unamorteteste-based compensation expense of RUR 5 ($@tlistbxpected to be recognized over a
1.00 year period.

Share-Based Compensation Expense

The Company recognized share-based comjiemsxpense of RUR 376, RUR 754 and RUR 1,210.8Zbr the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively Cldrepany recognized RUR 4, RUR 9 and RUR 20 ($8./4¢lated tax benefits for the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 ctaspe.

15. INFORMATION ABOUT SEGMENTS, REVENUES & GEOGRAPH IC AREAS

Prior to 2014, the Company operated asglesioperating segment. The Company's chief operaticision maker ("CODM") reviewed
financial information on a consolidated basis fargoses of allocating resources and assessingcfalgerformance. The Company's COD)
the management committee consisting of a grouppfanagers made up of its CEO and a group ofitéstdeports. During 2014, the
Company revised its organizational structure sepayaeveral focus areas in product lines and ggages. As a result, financial information
that the Company's CODM regularly reviews for pwgmof allocating resources and assessing perfeerdranged. Therefore, beginning
2014, the Company started to report its finanasfgrmance based on the following reportable segsn®ussian Search and Portal, Russian
E-commerce. The results of the Company's remainiegating segments, including its Turkish and Uk@inbperations, Media Services, Ti
Classified Aggregators and Data Factory, that domeet the quantitative thresholds for disclosare,included in Other category. The
accounting policies of the segments are the sartteoae described in the summary of significant antiag policies. Prior periods were
restated to conform with the current year presantat
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15. INFORMATION ABOUT SEGMENTS, REVENUES & GEOGRAPH IC AREAS (Continued)

The measures of the segment's profits @sgkk that are used by CODM to assess segmentrpanice and decide how to allocate
resources are presented below. Each segment's assetapital expenditures are not reviewed by>th®M.

2012 2013 2014 2014
RUR RUR RUR $
Russian Search and Port
Revenues from external custom 25,53t 34,90¢ 45,30 805.:
Intersegment revenui 29z 38¢ 511 9.1
Depreciation and amortizatic (2,669 (3,279 (3,80¢) (67.7)
Adjusted operating inconr 8,57¢ 12,351 16,39 291.
Russian l-commerce
Revenues from external custom 2,081 2,907 3,13( 55.€
Intersegment revenu: — — — —
Depreciation and amortizatic (33 (38) (38) (0.7)
Adjusted operating inconr 1,66t 2,27¢ 1,93¢ 34.t
Other:
Revenues from external custom 1,15( 1,68¢ 2,33¢ 41.t
Intersegment revenu — — — —
Depreciation and amortizatic (249 (37¢) (63¢) (11.9
Adjusted operating inconr (414 (1,039 (1,799 (32.0
Eliminations:
Revenues from external custom — — — —
Intersegment revenur (292) (38¢) (517) (9.1

Depreciation and amortizatic

Adjusted operating inconr — — — —
Total:

Revenues from external customer 28,767 39,50: 50,767 902.¢

Intersegment revenues — — — —

Depreciation and amortization (2,950 (3,69%) (4,489 (79.9)

Adjusted operating income 9,83( 13,59/ 16,53: 293.¢

The reconciliation between adjusted opegaithicome and net income is as follows:

2012 2013 2014 2014
RUR RUR RUR $

Adjusted operating inconr 9,83( 13,59/ 16,53: 293.¢
Less shal-based compensation expel (376 (754) (1,210 (21.5
Add interest income, n 1,002 1,717 85¢€ 15.2
Add other income, ne 11¢ 2,15¢ 6,29¢ 111.¢
Less provision for income tax (2,350 (3,239 (5,455 (97.0
Net income 8,22: 13,47¢ 17,02( 302.%
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15. INFORMATION ABOUT SEGMENTS, REVENUES & GEOGRAPH IC AREAS (Continued)

The Company's revenues consist of theatig:

2012 2013 2014 2014
RUR RUR RUR $
Advertising revenue(1
Text-based advertising
Yandex website 20,61( 27,58¢ 35,22¢ 626.:
Yandex ad network websit: 4,89¢ 7,888 1141( 202.t
Total tex-based advertisin 25,50¢ 35,46¢ 46,63t 829.(
Display advertising 2,597 3,37¢ 3,50¢ 62.4
Total advertising revent 28,10C 38,84¢ 50,147 891.
Online payment commissiol 552 394 — —
Other revenue 11F 26C 62C 11.C
Total revenues 28,767 39,50z 50,767 902./

(1) The Company records revenue net of VAT, commissamsdiscounts. Because it is impractical to track
commissions and discounts for text-based advegtigmenues generated on Yandex websites and oa tifidise
Yandex ad network members separately, the Compasalfocated commissions and discounts between its
Yandex websites and the Yandex ad network webgitgsortionately to their respective gross revenue
contributions

Revenues by geography are based on tlegoéitidress of the advertiser. The following teddés forth revenues and long-lived assets
other than financial instruments and deferred &sets by geographic area:

2012 2013 2014 2014
RUR RUR RUR $
Revenues
Russis 27,30 36,81¢ 46,24: 822.(
Rest of the worlc 1,467 2,68¢ 4 52¢ 80.4
Total revenues 28,767 39,50z 50,767 902.¢
Long-lived assets, ne
Russis 8,447 11,99¢ 21,11¢ 375.
Finland — 63€ 6,481 115.Z
us 1,04: 841 1,00z 17.¢
Rest of the worlc 40¢ 98¢ 1,722 30.¢€
Total long-lived assets, ne 9,89¢ 14,46¢ 30,32, 539.(
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16. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has in place a registrationtsiggreement with its major shareholders thatallthem to require the Company to register
Class A shares held by them under the U.S. Seesidict of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Aatijler certain circumstances. In such
circumstances, the Company is obliged to pay alkeses, other than underwriting commissions arabdigs, relating to any such registrat
Pursuant to this agreement, in March 2013, the Gmypvas required to effect a registration andpinnection therewith, shareholders publ
offered an aggregate of 26,679,386 Class A sharelsding 2,425,399 additional Class A shares solduant to an over-allotment option
granted to the underwriters at a price of $22.#5spare. Yandex did not receive any proceeds flasndffering. The expenses incurred by the
Company related to this offering in the amount &fAR28 were treated as related party transactianthéoyear ended December 31, 2013. The
underwriters of the offering fully reimbursed ther@pany for these expenses.

Following the sale of the controlling irest and deconsolidation of Yandex.Money in July®(ote 4), the Company retained a non-
controlling interest and significant influence o&andex.Money's business. The Company continuasddyandex.Money for payment
processing and to sublease to Yandex.Money pats pfemises. The amount of revenues from sublgagas RUR 34 and RUR 78 ($1.4) for
the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, resgectThe amount of fees for online payment consiaiss was RUR 56 and RUR 125
($2.2) for the years ended December 31, 2013 afhd,28spectively. As of December 31, 2013 and 2filamount of receivables related to
payment processing was RUR 6 and RUR 46 ($0.8)emiwely. The Company believes that the term$efagreements with Yandex.Money
are comparable to the terms obtained in arm'stemnghsactions with unrelated similarly situatedtomers and suppliers of the Company.

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In January 2015, the Company completecdugiisition of assets and assumption of liabilitiesstituting the business of RosTaxi
("RosTaxi"), operator of a taxi fleet managemergl&ation, for a cash consideration of up to RUR $$8.9), including a deferred payment of
up to RUR 380 ($6.8), subject to successful tecinitegration and client base transition, andrtiogent consideration of up to RUR 500
($8.9) payable in the Company's ordinary shareemi#ipg on the number of qualifying taxi trips oe third anniversary of the closing. The
acquisition was accounted for as a business cotiddmda he preliminary allocation of purchase prioeassets acquired is as follows. RUR 114
($2.0) was attributed to intangible assets, RUR (&240) was attributed to goodwill, and RUR 77 &wvas attributed to deferred tax assets.
Gooduwill is attributable to the Other reportablgreent. The Company has not recorded the contirgmrgideration of up to RUR 500 ($8.9)
related to the number of qualifying taxi trips asghase price consideration but instead records tiecompensation expense on a strdight-
basis as the sellers complete their requisite semériods. The results of operations of RosTaxile period prior to acquisition would not
have had a material impact on the Company's restitiperations for the years ended December 313 26dl 2014.

In February 2015, the Company granted Ri®Usirchase an aggregate of up to 347,816 Clasm#es to its employees, respectively,
pursuant to the 2007 Plan.

F-52




Table of Contents

YANDEX N.V.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2013 AND 204
(in millions of Russian rubles and U.S. dollars, ecept share and per share data)
17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued)

In April 2015, the Company offered employeé the Company an opportunity to exchange up863,750 of their SARs for RSUs based
on an exchange ratio of 2:1. The vesting of repteer@ RSUs will be extended by 12 months beyonabtlggnal vesting schedule of the
exchanged SARs. In addition, no exercise of theaogment RSUs will be permitted until April 10, Z0TThe exchange was completed with al
1,663,750 SARs being exchanged.

In March and April 2015, the Company refnaged and retired an additional $30.1 in aggragé@teipal amount of its outstanding Notes.

Subsequent to December 31, 2014, the Russide remained highly volatile against foreigmreuncies, including the U.S. dollar. The
currency exchange rate as of December 31, 201RW&s56.2584 to $1.00 and, during the period froncddeber 31, 2014 to April 28, 2015,
the currency exchange rate of the Russian rubleeajgted to RUR 51.4690 to $1.00. The lowest r@éehed during this period was
RUR 69.6640 to $1.00 as of February 3, 2015. Thhdst rate reached during this period was RUR 49.63 $1.00 as of April 17, 2015.
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PART III.

ltem 17. Financial Statements

See "ltem 18. Financial Statements."

Item 18. Financial Statements.

See the financial statements beginningageg--1.

ltem 19. Exhibits.

Exhibit
Number

Description of Document

1.2

4.1

7.1

7.2

8.1

12.1

12.2

13.1

15.1

101

Amended Articles of Association of the Company, aded as of May 21, 201

Indenture dated as of December 17, 2013 betwee@dh®any, and The Bank of New Y
Mellon, as trustee (incorporated by reference 102813 Annual Report on Form 20-F (file
no. 00:-35173) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cossion on April 4, 2014’

Amended and Restated Shareholders Agreement (imetiga by reference to Exhibit 10.1
from our Registration Statement on Form F-1 (fite 833-173766) filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on April 28, 20

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agree(ertrporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 from our Registration Statement onrfét-1 (file no. 333-173766) filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Aprik23,1)

Sale and Purchase Agreement relating to the sdlpanchase of the entire share capital of
Immerbereit AG, dated 11 June 2014 (incorporateceisrence to Exhibit 99.2 to our
form €-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiardune 16, 201«

Principal Subsidiarie

Certification by Principal Executive Officer Pursiido Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

Certification by Principal Financial Officer Pursudo Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

Certification by Principal Executive Officer andifuipal Financial Officer Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

Consent of ZAO Deloitte & Touche CIS, IndependeagiRtered Public Accounting Fir

The following financial information formatted in ¢é@hsible Business Reporting Language
(XBRL): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of Ddoen31, 2013 and 2014,

(ii) Consolidated Statements of Income for the ¥damded December 31, 2012, 2013 and
2014, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Compreheniitcome for the Years Ended
December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, (iv) Consolid&tatements of Cash Flows for the
Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 dn3d@idated Statements of
Shareholders' Equity for the Years Ended DecembgP@12, 2013 and 2014, and (vi) Nc
to Consolidated Financial Stateme
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EXHIBIT 1.2

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

Definitions .
Article 1.

1.

In the Articles of Association the following wordsd expressions shall have the meaning herebynassig them:

a.

“ Affiliate " means, with respect to an Initial Qualified Haldleat is not a natural person: (a) a natural pemsdegal entity that,
directly, or indirectly through one or more intemhgies, controls, is controlled by, or is undemeoon control with, such Initial
Qualified Holder (a ‘Direct Affiliate "); (b) subject to the limitations set forth in the fibuparagraph of this definition, any dir
or indirect beneficial holder (as of the tenth @&y ctober two thousand and eight) of the secritieother membership interests
of (x) any Initial Qualified Holder or (y) any parthat was (as of the tenth day of October two #amd and eight) a Direct
Affiliate of such Initial Qualified Holder, in eaatase to the extent of its pro rata beneficialrggein the Class B Ordinary Sha
held directly or indirectly by such Initial Quakiil Holder or Direct Affiliate as of the tenth dayQ@ctober two thousand and ei
(a “ Qualified Beneficial Holder "), (c) any legal entity that is under common invesnt control with, or acts solely as bare
nominee holder on behalf of, such Initial Qualifiddlder, any Direct Affiliate or any Qualified Befi@al Holder, and (d) where
such Initial Qualified Holder is an estate or tdarming vehicle (including a trust, corporation gattnership) any direct or
indirect beneficiary thereof (as of the tenth d&potober two thousand and eight) to the exteritsgbro rata beneficial interest
the Class B Ordinary Shares held by such Initizdliad Holder as of the tenth day of October tlousand and eight.

The term “control” shall mean the ownership, dikgor indirectly, of shares possessing more théip fiercent (50%) of the
voting power of a legal entity, or having the powercontrol the management or elect a majority efimhers to the board of
directors or equivalent decisionaking body of such legal entity; provided that, farposes of clause (a) of the first paragrag
this definition, all voting power held by entitisader common control (including investment funddemcommon investment
control) shall be aggregated together and attribtdgeeach other such entity under common contiraihfe purpose of determinit
the voting power percentage of each such entity.

The term “investment control” shall mean, with resjpto any person, the possession, directly oréetly (whether through the
ownership of voting securities, by contract or owvise), of the sole and exclusive power to direatause the direction of the
voting or disposition of all securities held by Buzerson. Two entities shall be considered torfteucommon investment
control if they are subject to investment contrplthe same party.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, (X) in no event $ladimited partner of (or comparable passive itoem) any entity be deemed
to be an Affiliate of such entity pursuant to clesigb) and (c) of the first paragraph of this d&bin; (y) a party shall cease to
qualify as an Affiliate for purposes of clause ¢a}he first paragraph of this definition if it c&ss to control, be controlled by, or
be under common control with, such Initial Qualifidolder; and (z) a party shall cease to qualifpag\ffiliate for purposes of
clause (c) of the first paragraph of this definitibit ceases to be under common investment cbwiith, or to act as bare
nominee for, such Initial Qualified Holder, Dire&ffiliate or Qualified Beneficial Holder. For thevoidance of doubt, any entity
incorporated, formed, organized, created or acduafter the tenth day of October two thousand agidt shall itself be eligible
to meet the definition of Affiliate for purposesrbef;

“ Affiliated Party " means: with respect to any party, any other rmtoerson or legal entity that (a) directly, orinedtly
through one or more intermediaries, controls, igtdled by, or is under common control with suetrtp (and/or, in the case of
any Initial Qualified Holder, any Affiliate of sudnitial Qualified Holder), (b) is acting in condewvith such party (and/or, in the
case of any Initial Qualified Holder, any Affiliat# such Initial Qualified Holder) pursuant to aiwng agreement or other formal
arrangement with respect to the acquisition, digieosor voting of Shares (other than the Sharetidd\greement) or (c) is a
pledgee of Ordinary Shares held by such party ¢anolf the case of any Initial Qualified Holder yahffiliate of such Initial
Qualified Holder) that is entitled to exercise thating rights pertaining to such Ordinary SharEsr purposes hereof, the term “
control " shall have the meaning set forth in the defimitaf Affiliate;

“ Articles of Association” means: the articles of association of the Compartheir current form and as amended from time to
time;

“ Book 2" means: Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code;

“ Board of Directors ” means: the body of persons/individual person@itmlling the management of the Company’s busines:
consisting of Executive Directors and Non-Execufieectors as referred to in Article 12;

“ Class A Ordinary Shares” means: class A ordinary shares in the capitdhefCompany;
“ Class B Ordinary Shares’ means: class B ordinary shares in the capitéhefCompany;
“ Class C Ordinary Shares’ means: class C ordinary shares in the capitdi@Company;
“ Company” means: the corporate legal entity governed bgeh&rticles of Association;

“ Conversion Foundation” means: Stichting Yandex Conversion, a foundatmmorporated under Dutch law with statutory sea
in The Hague and its business office at Schiphall®aard 165, 1118 BG Schiphol (the Netherlands);
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“ Direct Affiliate ” has the meaning giving to such term in the d&tiniof Affiliate;

“ Excess Share$ means: any Ordinary Shares held or to be acduiresubscribed for in excess of the applicable €naimp
Cap;

“ Executive Director” means: a member of the Board of Directors bejmgointed as executive directouivoerend
bestuurder ) and as such entrusted with the responsibilityttierday-to-day management of the Company;

“ General Meeting” means: the members constituting the general mgeéind also: meetings of that body of members;

“ Initial Qualified Holder " means, in relation to any Class B Ordinary Shéagthe person holding such Class B Ordinary
Share pursuant to the conversion into Class B @rgiBhares of ordinary shares in the capital oGbmpany on the tenth day
October two thousand eight and (b) any party tres arecord holder of Internet Search Investmemged (“ ISIL ), a
Bermuda company, as of the twenty-sixth day of Aigwo thousand and eight and has Class B Ordifhayes distributed to it

by ISIL prior to the execution of this Deed proaréd such party’s beneficial indirect interesttie Company on the twenty-sixth
day of August two thousand and eight;

“ Meeting of holders of Class A Ordinary Share$ means: the meeting of holders of Class A Ordiringres;
“ Meeting of holders of Class B Ordinary Share$ means: the meeting of holders of Class B Ordirstngres;
“ Meeting of holders of Class C Ordinary Share$ means: the meeting of holders of Class C Ordirgirgres;
“ Meeting of holders of Preference Sharesmeans: the meeting of holders of Preference Share

“ Meeting of the holder of the Priority Share” means: the meeting of the holder of the Prio8hare;

“ Non-Executive Director” means: a member of the Board of the Directoroappd as non-executive directaniét-uitvoerend
bestuurder ) not being entrusted with the responsibility floe day-to-day management of the Company;

“ Non-Qualified B Holder ” with respect to any Class B Ordinary Share, meangone who is not a Qualified B Holder of suct
Class B Ordinary Share or ceases to be a Qualfigldlder of such Class B Ordinary Share (includiiog the avoidance of
doubt, a legal holder of a Class B Ordinary Shlaa¢ has Transferred such Class B Ordinary Shae tthn to a Permitted

Transferee);
“ Ordinary Shares” means: Class A Ordinary Shares, Class B Ordifdngres and Class C Ordinary Shares;

“ Ownership Cap” means: the lesser of (a) twenty-five percen®2®f the voting rights pertaining to the issuedssl A
Ordinary Shares and Class B Ordinary Shares (tedgzther) of the Company from time to time or (b)
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aa.

bb.

twenty-five percent (25%) of the number of issudals€ A Ordinary Shares and Class B Ordinary Shgaksn together) from
time to time.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, (x) in the eventtthath the Board of Directors and the Priority hapgroved a holding of
Excess Shares by a party as a result of a Triggé&went pursuant to the terms of the Articles o$d@ation, the Ownership Cap
in respect of such party, together with its Affiéid Parties, shall, following the date of such appl, be increased by the number
of Excess Shares so approved; and (y) in the efart increase in a Shareholder’s proportionateassltip or voting interest
occurring solely as a result of changes in theeshapital structure of the Company (including, withlimitation, share splits,
capital reorganisations, share dividends, shanercbpses, conversions of Class B Ordinary Shanesipgnt to the terms of
Article 4B, and similar events or transactionsg @wnership Cap in respect of such Shareholdeethieg with its Affiliated
Parties, shall, following the date of such evestjdzreased by the number of Excess Shares ragfitim such event;

“ Permitted Transferee” in relation to any Class B Ordinary Share heldanyinitial Qualified Holder means:

0] such Initial Qualified Holder (as transferee of &lgss B Ordinary Share retransferred to suchalmualified Holder
from its Permitted Transferee);

(i) with respect to any such Initial Qualified Holdkat is a natural person, any estate or tax planwvehicle (including a
trust, corporation and partnership), the benefiesaof which include such Initial Qualified Holdand/or members of the
immediate family of such Initial Qualified Holdgatovided that such Initial Qualified Holder retaifssibject to any
community or spousal property laws) sole voting disghositive power over such Class B Ordinary Sheand provided
further that the Transfer to such estate or tarmtay vehicle does not involve payment of any cdestion (other than
the interest in such trust, corporation, partngrsiniother estate or tax planning vehicle); and

(iii) with respect to any such Initial Qualified Holdkat is not a natural person, any Affiliate of slichial Qualified
Holder; provided however that any such party tlegtses to be an Affiliate shall cease to be a Peuitransferee.

For purposes of the definition of “Triggering Evergach reference to “Class B Ordinary Shareshifbregoing definition (and
in the definition of each term used therein) shaldeemed to be a reference to “Ordinary Shares”;

“ Potential Acquiror " has the meaning set forth in paragraph 11 ofchetiC;
“ Preference Share$ means: preference shares in the capital of thegamy;
“ Priority " means: the corporate bodwigaan ) constituted by the Meeting of holder of the RtijoBhare;
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CC.

dd.

ee.

ff.

9g.
hh.

Ii-

“ Priority Share " means: the priority share in the capital of thenpany;

“ Qualified B Holder " means, in relation to any Class B Ordinary Shtire:Company, the Initial Qualified Holder of such
Class B Ordinary Share and any Permitted Transthexeof, in each case provided that (i) such pehss become a party to,
and is not in material continuing breach of, thargholders Agreement and (ii) such Class B Ordisdngre has not been
Transferred (including by way of a transfer of tbgal holder thereof), other than to a Permitteah&feree;

“ Qualified Beneficial Holder " has the meaning giving to such term in the dé&bniof Affiliate;
“ Shares” means: Ordinary Shares, the Priority Share amdfeifence Shares;
“ Shareholder(s)” means: any holder(s) of Shares;

“ Shareholders Agreement means: the shareholders agreement among therhalfil©rdinary Shares and the Conversion
Foundation, dated as of the fourteenth day of Gattlio thousand eight, as amended from time to timaecordance with the
terms thereof;

“ Subsidiary(ies)” means: (a) subsidiary(iespéchter maatschappij(en) ) as defined in section 24a of Book 2; and

“ Transfer " when used in relation to an Ordinary Share, meanyg direct or indirect sale, assignment, transfeter general or
specific title (algemene of bijzonderetitel ), conveyance, grant of any form of security ins¢ ether than as explicitly provided
this definition), or other transfer or dispositiohan Ordinary Share or any legal or beneficiatiiest therein, whether or not for
value and whether voluntary or involuntary or bergion of law. A “Transfer” of an Ordinary Shate$ also include, without
limitation, the transfer of, or entering into a dimg agreement with respect to, voting control aOrdinary Share by proxy or
otherwise; provided, however, that the followingiinot be considered a “Transfer” of an Ordinahaf: (a) the granting of a
power of attorney to persons designated by thedofDirectors of the Company in connection withi@ts to be taken at a
General Meeting of Shareholders; (b) entering theoShareholders Agreement or any amendment thémafolely with respect
to Class B Ordinary Shares, the entering into ogradment, solely by and among a Qualified B Holdet @ane or more of its
Permitted Transferees, of a binding agreement r@gpect to voting control over a Class B Ordinamar®; or (d) solely with
respect to Class B Ordinary Shares, the pledgdasis@® Ordinary Shares by a Qualified B Holder tireites a mere security
interest in such shares pursuant to a bona fidtedoandebtedness transaction so long as the @B Holder continues to
exercise voting control over such pledged shanesjigled, however, that a foreclosure on such Orglisdares or other similar
action by the pledgee shall constitute a “Transféfdn Ordinary Share; and
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kk.

“ Triggering Event ” means: any direct or indirect Transfer of Ordin&hares after the twenty-sixth day of August two
thousand and nine (other than to a Permitted Teamsfof such Ordinary Shares) or acquisition of&héncluding by Transfer
or subscription and, for the avoidance of doubg assult of a change of control of, or a merganusiness combination
involving, one or more legal or beneficial ownefa®hare). For the avoidance of doubt, the tengg€ring Event excludes
changes in proportionate ownership or voting irgeoecurring solely as a result of changes in Hagescapital structure of the
Company (including, without limitation, share splitapital reorganisations, share dividends, stegmerchases, conversions of
Class B Ordinary Shares pursuant to the terms tél&rdB, and similar events or transactions).

2. The expressions “written” and “in writing” usedtimese Articles of Association mean: communicatieest by post, telefax, e-mail or
by any other means of telecommunication capabteaobmitting written text, unless Dutch statutawIprescribes otherwise.

Name and Reqistered Office

Avrticle 2.

1. The Company is a limited liability company andritame isiYandex N.V.

2. The Company has its registered officeAimsterdam (the Netherlands).

The Company may have branch offices elsewhere caiside of the Netherlands.

Objects.
Article 3.
1. The objects for which the Company is established ar

a. either alone or jointly with others to acquire atispose of participations or other interests inieeadorporate, companies and
enterprises, to collaborate with and to manage bodies corporate, companies or enterprises;

b. to acquire, manage, turn to account, encumber mpdsk of any property - including intellectual peaty rights - and to invest
capital,

C. to supply or procure the supply of money loanstipalarly - but not exclusively loans to bodies corporate and companies v
are Subsidiaries and/or affiliates of the Companiynavhich the Company holds any interest - als thiibject to the provision in
paragraph 2 of this Article - , as well as to dimwo procure the drawing of money loans;

d. to enter into agreements whereby the Company gsaaisrity, commits itself as guarantor or severglyle co-debtor, or
declares itself jointly or severally liable with far others, particularly - but not exclusivelyo-the benefit of bodies corporate
companies as referred to above under c;

e. to do all such things as are incidental or condritivthe above objects or any of them.
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2. The Company may not grant security, give price gugges, commit itself in any other way or decléseli jointly or severally liable
with or for others with a view to enabling thirdrpes to take or acquire Shares.

Capital .
Avrticle 4 .

1. The authorised capital of the Company is thirtyeehmillion six hundred fifty-five thousand threenllned seventy-nine euro and ten
eurocent (EUR 33,655,379.10) , divided into:

a. one billion one hundred forty-three million sevambred forty thousand eight hundred twenty-two43,740,822) Ordinary
Shares of which are;

i) one billion (1,000,000,000) Class A Ordinary Shaeaxh with a par value of one eurocent (EUR 0.01);

i) seventy one million eight hundred seventy thoudandhundred eleven (71,870,411) Class B OrdindnrgrSs, each with a
par value of ten eurocent (EUR 0.10);

iii) seventy one million eight hundred seventy thoudand hundred eleven (71,870,411) Class C Ordindur&s, each with a
par value of nine eurocent (EUR 0.09);

b. one billion and one (1,000,000,001) Preference &harach with a par value of one eurocent (EUR)0=0H
C. one (1) Priority Share, with a par value of oneoglHUR 1.00).

Transfer and conversion of Class B Ordinary Shares

Article 4A

1. Class B Ordinary Shares may only be Transferrdd) fermitted Transferees, (ii) to the Conversiaufdation for the purpose of
conversion pursuant to Articles 4A and 4B and faithe Company. Any other purported Transfer 6fass B Ordinary Share shall be
null and void.

2. Class B Ordinary Shares can be converted into @a@8sdinary Shares with due observance of thischatiln order to cause the

Class B Ordinary Shares to be converted into Glda®sdinary Shares, such Class B Ordinary Shares beusansferred to the
Conversion Foundation.

3. Upon execution of the transfer instrument purst@nthich the Class B Ordinary Shares are transidoehe Conversion Foundation,
each Class B Ordinary Share is automatically caadento one (1) Class A Ordinary Share and on€(a3s C Ordinary Share. Unless
the Company shall be a party to the transfer ins#nt, the Conversion Foundation shall forthwithifgaghe Company in writing of the
conversion of Class B Ordinary Shares as desciibdte preceding sentence. The transferor shedive a Class A Ordinary Share
from the Conversion Foundation in exchange for é2lelss B Ordinary Share transferred to the ConeerBbundation.

4, The Board of Directors shall forthwith register auch conversion of Shares in the register of $twdders and equally in any
applicable company register.

5. The Company shall at all times reserve and keejed@ out of its authorized but unissued capgalely for the purpose of effecting
the conversion of Class B Ordinary




Shares, such number of Class A Ordinary Share€tss C Ordinary Shares as shall from time to tiasufficient to effect the
conversion of all outstanding Class B Ordinary 8kanto Class A Ordinary Shares and Class C Ornglifhares.

The Company may, from time to time, establish suulities and procedures relating to the conversidhe Class B Ordinary Shares
into Class A Ordinary Shares and Class C Ordinagr& and the general administration of this sbapéal structure as it may deem
necessary or advisable, and may request that lsobdéZlass B Ordinary Shares furnish affidavitethrer proof to the Company as it
deems necessary to verify the legal and benefigialership of Class B Ordinary Shares and the “@adlB Holder” status of any such
holder, and to confirm that Class B Ordinary Sharesnot held by a Non-Qualified B Holder.

Qualified shareholding of Class B Ordinary Shares

Article 4B .

1.

2.

Only a Qualified B Holder may hold Class B Ordin&lyares.

If at any time a Class B Ordinary Share is heldiliyon-Qualified B Holder, such Non-Qualified B Hefdshall, without prejudice to
the stipulations of paragraph 4 of this Articlet be entitled to any dividend and/or voting rigatsached to the Class B Ordinary Share:
held by such Non-Qualified B Holder.

If at any time a Class B Ordinary Share is helagliyon-Qualified B Holder, such Non-Qualified B Hetdthe “Transferor”) shall
notify the Company of this fact by written notidb€ “Notice”) within three (3) days after the oc@nce of the event pursuant to which
the Transferor is obliged to serve the Notice.h&t time of the Notice the relevant NQualified B Holder is obliged to offer his Clas:
Ordinary Shares to the Conversion Foundation (@iéet”), through which such Class B Ordinary Shaaes converted into Class A
Ordinary Shares and Class C Ordinary Shares wighotbgservance of Article 4A. The Transferor shatkiee an equal number of
Class A Ordinary Shares from the Conversion Fouodan exchange for such Class B Ordinary Shares.

If the Transferor fails to:
a. give the Notice and or make the Offer within thertg@rovided in this Article; or
b. transfer the relevant Class B Ordinary SharesddCtbnversion Foundation within three (3) days efiotice,

the Company is irrevocably empowered and authotisedfer and transfer the relevant Class B Ordir&tnares to the Conversion
Foundation and to accept the Class A Ordinary Sharexchange for such Class B Ordinary Shareddtivery to the Transferor.

If the Conversion Foundation fails to accept thferefd Class B Ordinary Shares from the Transfeithimvthree (3) months after
receipt of the Offer, then the Transferor’'s divideand voting rights attached to its Class B Ordjir&inares shall revive.

Each and every Qualified B Holder shall cease ta Raialified B Holder if and when ninety-five pemt€95%) or more of all issued
and outstanding Class A Ordinary




Shares and Class B Ordinary Shares (by numbenm takether) are Class A Ordinary Shares.

7. Each Class B Ordinary Share held by a natural petfsat is a Qualified B Holder, or by its PermitfBansferees, shall, following the
death of such Qualified B Holder, be deemed toddd hy a Non-Qualified B Holder.

Qualified shareholding of Ordinary Shares.

Article 4C.

1. No Ordinary Share may be held as a result of agérigg Event by a Shareholder if, as a result ohstriggering Event, such
Shareholder or any other party (in each case tegeilth its Affiliated Parties), would hold, legaland/or beneficially, Excess Shares,
unless such holding of Excess Shares is approvéathythe Board of Directors and the Priority parsito paragraph 10 of this
Article 4C. If the Shares (a) are admitted to tngddn a regulated market or multilateral tradingjlfty or an exchange system of a non-
member state that is comparable to a regulatedenharkmultilateral trading facility (including, fahe purposes hereof, The Nasdaq
Global Market) and (b) are included in a systent thecilitates the (trading and) settlement of Skdnecluding, for the purposes hereof,
the system operated by The Depository Trust Comjpamg/or are held by a nominee for such purposetu@ing, for the purposes
hereof, Cede & Co.) that may qualify as the legddiér of the Shares, the provisions of this Arti¢{@ applymutatis mutandis to the
parties holding an interest in the Shares throwgh system or nominee. The term “Shareholder” dlmttonstrued accordingly for the
purposes of this Clause 4C.

2. The qualified shareholding restriction set forttparagraph 1 above shall not apply to:

a. Any custodian (bank) or nominee acting to faciéitttte (trading and) settlement of the Shares listedregulated market or
multilateral trading facility or an exchange ort&ys of a non-member state that is comparable ¢égalated market or
multilateral trading facility (including, for purges hereof, The Nasdaq Global Market) and any imezg bank or banks acting
as underwriter(s) in connection with a public offgrof Class A Ordinary Shares, in their capacgysach.

b. Any Shareholder that acts as a bare nominee hofdelass A Ordinary Shares on behalf of the berafifwlder(s) thereof;
provided that (subject to the final clause of thibparagraph b):

0] immediately following receipt of any information lsych bare nominee with respect to any potentieffected change
in beneficial ownership of any Shares held byritiiding a change in the identity of any benefibialder or a change in
the number of shares beneficially held) that haslted or would result in a beneficial holder onosé behalf such bare
nominee holds Shares beneficially owning (togettié its Affiliated Parties) Excess Shares, sucteb@minee shall
notify the Board of Directors of all details actyatnown to such bare nominee relating to such gban
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3.

4,

(i) such bare nominee provides to the Board of Directwithin five (5) business days of any requesit fipom time to
time, a written statement disclosing the identitgach beneficial holder of Shares legally heldsmame that, together
with its Affiliated Parties, holds Excess Sharew] the percentage holding of each such benefioldlen, specifying the
rights of such beneficial holder with respect te tloting or disposition of such Shares, in eacle tashe extent actually
known by such bare nominee; and

(iii) promptly after such bare nominee becomes awarkifimy following a notification from the Board ofif@ctors to the
bare nominee) that a beneficial holder on whosalbshch bare nominee holds Shares beneficiallysoftogether with
its Affiliated Parties) Excess Shares, such baminee distributes to such beneficial holder a nunab&hares equal to
the number of Excess Shares beneficially held loh feneficial holder and its Affiliated Parties;

provided, however, that (x) such bare nominee stwlbe required by the provisions of this subpaply b to disclose any
information or take any action that it is not peted to disclose or take pursuant to applicable wmtract or internal complian
policy; and (y) no notification to the Board shiadl required in respect of information otherwisedfiadile to the Board pursuant
paragraphs (i) and (ii) of this subparagraph b ih&imely disclosed to the United States Secuwwiéied Exchange Commission on
Schedule 13D or Schedule 13G in accordance witlappécable rules of the United States Securities Exchange Commissio

C. The Conversion Foundation.
Any Transfer or acquisition of Class B Ordinary &dsain violation of paragraph 1 of this Articlenisll and void.

If at any time the legal and/or beneficial holdirajsa Shareholder or any other party (in each tagether with its Affiliated Parties),
exceeds the applicable Ownership Cap as a resalfafjgering Event and such holding of Excess &hbhas not been approved by t
the Board of Directors and the Priority pursuarpaoagraph 10 of this Article (and is not otherwégempted by paragraph 2 above),
Shareholder of the relevant Excess Shares is ab(iy& and to the extent the Excess Shares aas<CA Ordinary Shares, to sell the
Excess Shares in the public market or otherwiskimfive (5) business days after a Triggering Evand (ii) (a) if and to the extent the
Excess Shares are Class B Ordinary Shares anaahsfér or acquisition of such Class B Ordinaryr8fas held not to be null and vt
as provided for in paragraph 3, or (b) the Shadsgvdiails to sell the Excess Shares in accordaiiiteclause (i) of if this paragraph 4
within the five (5)-business day period, to offack Excess Shares to the Board of Directors widnn(10) business days after the
Triggering Event.

10

If a Shareholder, within ten (10) business daysratTriggering Event, fails to comply with the ighltion of paragraph 4 of this

Article to offer the Excess Shares to the BoarBioéctors, (i) such Shareholder shall be deemdtht@ offered such Excess Shares to
the Board of Directors, and (ii) the Board of Dias will be irrevocably authorised, with the rigiftsubstitution, to perform such acts
and transactions on behalf of such Shareholdeeasdd necessary to comply with the provisionsisfAlnticle, including but not
limited to the sale and transfer of such Excesse3ha accordance with the terms of this Article 4C

During the period in which a Shareholder has nigctiated the transfer of Excess Shares in accoedaith this Article 4C and either
the Board of Directors or the Priority have not mgmed the holding of Excess Shares by the Sharehti@éreof pursuant to paragraph
10 of this Article, such Shareholder will not beitded to any dividend and/or voting rights attadhe the Excess Shares.

The Board of Directors is authorised to (i) nom@ane or more purchasers or substitute purchaséish|, in each case, may include
the Company) that are willing to buy the Excessr&haffered in accordance with paragraph 4 or papdg5 of this Article, against
payment in cash; or (ii) sell the Excess Sharekdrpublic market through a broker or placemenhgdered and instructed by the Bo
of Directors for this purpose. If (a) the Boardifectors fails to nominate one or more purchagarsubstitute purchasers) in
accordance with the terms and conditions of thisgraph within three (3) months from the date ef @tleemed) offer hereunder, or
(b) the party or parties so nominated by the Badidirectors fail to accept the offer within thré2 months from the date of the
(deemed) offer hereunder, or (c) the Board of Daexfails to sell the Excess Shares in the puhbeket within three (3) months from
the date of the (deemed) offer hereunder, the rexpgnts of this Article shall not apply to the ofifgg Shareholder until such
Shareholder acquires (or is deemed to acquireponore (additional) Ordinary Shares.

The purchase price for any Ordinary Shares offaredtcordance with paragraph 4 or paragraph 5SigfAtticle in the event of the
nomination of one or more purchasers pursuantaase (i) of paragraph 7, shall be the fair marledtier of such Shares on the date of
the (deemed) offer. Such fair market value shatiétermined as follows: (i) if the Shares are atidito trading on a regulated market
or multilateral trading facility, as referred toanticle 1:1 of the Financial Supervision AdlEt financieel toezicht ) or an exchange or
system of a non-member state that is comparatdedgulated market or multilateral trading faciliitycluding, for purposes hereof, The
Nasdaq Global Market), the reported closing sailgepsn such exchange or system on such date (daghrading date immediately
prior to such date), or (ii) if no Shares of then@@any are then admitted to such trading, the fairket value of such Share as
conclusively determined by an internationally reqilé and independent third party appraiser appifotethis purpose by the Board of
Directors. In the event of a public market salespant to clause (ii) of paragraph 7, the purclpame shall be such price or prices
obtained in good faith by a placement
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agent engaged by the Board of Directors or in aterigth brokers transaction(s) in the public mafkdieing expressly acknowledged
that such sales may take place at any time or tduaag the three (3)-month period described atamatthat the sale prices of the
Excess Shares so sold may vary). The Board otfoire is irrevocably authorised, with the rightsabstitution, to perform such acts
and transactions on behalf of the selling Sharefrad the Board of Directors may deem necessagrorenient to effect the sale and
transfer of such Excess Shares in accordance éttetms of this Article 4C.

For the purpose of enabling the Board of Directoradequately perform its duties under this Arfielach Shareholder is obliged to
inform the Board of Directors within ten (10) dayfsany Triggering Event that results in such Shalegr (or, to the knowledge of such
Shareholder, any beneficial holder(s) on whose Ibsbah Shareholder is holding Shares), togethén its (or such beneficial party’s)
Affiliated Parties, exceeding a legal and/or beriafiholding threshold of five percent (5%), tengamnt (10%), fifteen percent (15%),
twenty percent (20%), twenty-five percent (25%ijtorty percent (30%) of either the voting righttaghed to the issued Class A
Ordinary Shares and the Class B Ordinary Sharker{teogether) or the number of issued Class A @rgishares and the Class B
Ordinary Shares (taken together). In the eventatihareholder (or, to the knowledge of such Sluddeh any beneficial holder(s) on
whose behalf such Shareholder is holding Shamggtter with its (or such beneficial party’s) Afiled Parties, acquires legal and/or
beneficial ownership of Excess Shares, such Shialethshall, together with the foregoing notificatjomotify the Board of Directors of
the price or prices paid for the purchase of suateEs Shares. Failing compliance with the obligesti@id down in this paragraph, such
Shareholder will not be entitled to any dividendl/m voting rights attached to any of his Sharesinrcase of a bare nominee holder of
Shares on behalf of the beneficial holder(s) thierémthe Shares held on behalf of such beneftuidder(s). Without limiting the
foregoing, each Shareholder shall, within five §G§iness days of notice from the Board of Diregtoesidentify to the Board of
Directors in writing any beneficial holder of Sharegistered in the name of such Shareholder iassxof any of the foregoing
thresholds, and (y) if so requested, shall furaifidavits or such other proof to the Board of Rim@s as the Board of Directors
reasonably deems necessary to verify the legababeéheficial ownership of such Shares. For purpad the preceding sentence,
“beneficial ownership” may be determined in accomawith Rule 13d-3 under the United States SeeariExchange Act of 1934, as
amended. Notwithstanding, the provisions of thisageaph 9, no notification to the Board shall bguieed in respect of information
otherwise notifiable to the Board hereunder théinigly disclosed to the United States Securitie Bxchange Commission on
Schedule 13D or Schedule 13G in accordance witlapipéicable rules of the United States Securitrebs Bxchange Commission. This
paragraph 9 shall not apply to any custodian (bankjominee acting to facilitate the (trading aséftlement of the Shares listed at a
regulated market or multilateral trading facility o
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10.

11.

an exchange or system of a non-member state thatriparable to a regulated market or multilateeading facility (including, for
purposes hereof, The Nasdaq Global Market).

Any person seeking to acquire legal and/or beradfmivnership together with its Affiliated PartielsExcess Shares by acquisition or
subscription or as a result of another Triggeringri (a “Potential Acquiror "), whether in one or more transactions, may se&k p
approval first by the Board of Directors and sulsstly (upon approval by the Board of Directorsprawal by the Priority of such
acquisition, subscription or holding as result mbter Triggering Event by submitting a notificatiim writing to the Board of Directors
at the registered office of the Company (with ayctipthe Chairman of the Board of Directors at sadtress and/or email address as
may be identified from time to time for such purpas the investor relations section of the Compamgbsite at www.yandex.ru)
setting forth (i) the terms and conditions of spcbposed acquisition(s), subscription(s) or othéggering Event(s), including the
identity of the transferring party(ies) and thepgased purchase or subscription price, if applicalilea detailed description of the
identity of the Potential Acquiror, including therisdiction of incorporation or residence of thed®ial Acquiror and the identity and
jurisdiction of incorporation or residence of ed@pal and/or beneficial holder of more than fiveqaat (5%) of the ownership interests
in such Potential Acquiror; and (iii) a detailedsdeption of the Potential Acquiror’s intentionstivirespect to its shareholding in the
Company and any further potential acquisitionsitdu®s. Within twenty (20) business days of iteigtoof such notification, the Board
of Directors shall (x) decide on its approval dection in relation to the proposed acquisitiorEatess Shares by the Potential Acquiro
and (y) inform the Potential Acquiror of its decisi Subsequently, provided that the Board of Diechas approved the proposed
acquisition of Excess Shares by the Potential Aoguihe Board of Directors shall provide a copyha information package submitted
by the Potential Acquiror to the Board of Directdagether with its approval thereof and its recamdation thereon, to the Priority.
The Priority shall then have twenty (20) businesgsdfollowing its receipt of the notification frothe Board of Directors to deliver a
written notification to the Board of Directors egthapproving or rejecting the holding of Excessr&bas a result of such acquisition,
subscription or other Triggering Event. The Boaf®irectors shall provide a copy of such notifioatto the Proposed Acquiror within
three (3) business days of its receipt thereathénevent that either the Board of Directors orRhierity fails to timely deliver a
notification setting forth its approval or rejectiof the proposed holding of Excess Shares, it bleadleemed to have withheld its
approval thereof.

In the event that any law or regulation of the Rars$ederation is adopted or amended to imposeitation or restriction on the
ownership of internet businesses in Russia by nessian parties in a manner that is directly apple#o the Company and/or its
business, then, immediately upon the effectivenéssich change ilaw or regulation, the provisions of this Articl€ 4the provisions ¢
Article
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14B and the provision of Article 28.4, includingethpproval rights of the Priority Share hereunder thereunder, shall terminate and

thereafter be of no further force or effect; pr@dchowever, that the foregoing provision shallagmly in case of any law or regulation
that applies to the Company only by virtue of aotnity undertaken by the Company or any membatsogroup that is ancillary to the
operation of its internet business.

Qualified shareholding of the Priority Share.

Avrticle 4D .

1. The Priority Share may only be held by a party thapecifically nominated by the Board of Direstéor this purpose. Any transfer of
the Priority Share is subject to prior written apgal of the Board of Directors, acting by simplejomidy.

2. Any transfer of the Priority Share in violationpdragraph 1 of this Article is null and void.

3. If and so long as the Priority Share is not helditparty that meets the criteria laid down in peaph 1 of this Article, the voting rights,
dividend rights and other rights pertaining to Eherity Share (including, without limitation, tle@proval rights hereunder) may not be
exercised.

4, Until the moment that the Priority Share is issubd,provisions laid down in these Articles relgtto the Priority Share, the Priority or

the Meeting of Priority Share shall be of no effect

Shares. Usufruct and pledge of Shares

Article 5.

1. All Shares shall be registered Shares. No shatiicates shall be issued. The Board of Directoesymumber the Shares in a manner
determined at its sole discretion.

2. Shares may be encumbered with usufruct. At thetioreaf the right of usufruct in respect of Clas©O#dinary Shares it may be
provided that the right to vote pertaining to tHass A Ordinary Shares shall vest in the usufrugtuehe voting rights pertaining to the
Priority Share, the Class B Ordinary Shares andCthses C Ordinary Shares may not be transferredusufructuary.

3. Ordinary Shares and Preference Shares may be pledgeecurity. At the creation of the pledge ipees of Class A Ordinary Shares it
may be provided that the right to vote shall vasthie pledgee. The voting rights pertaining to@hess B Ordinary Shares, the Class C
Ordinary Shares and the Preference Shares maenmrsferred to a pledgee.

4, The Priority Share may not be pledged

Addresses. Notices and announcements. Reqister dfa®eholders.

Avrticle 6.

1. Shareholders, pledgees and usufructuaries of Sharstssupply their addresses, including their e-addresses (if any), to the
Company in writing.

14




Notices, announcements and generally all commuoitaintended for the persons referred to in pagyr of this Article are to be
sent in writing to the addresses they have suppliede Company.

The Board of Directors shall keep a register inclitshall be recorded all particulars as prescrifyeldw or, if applicable, the rules and
regulations of the stock exchange at which Shaesisted concerning shareholders, usufructuamespéedgees. In the register shall
also be recorded each and any release from liagilanted in respect of monies unpaid and not gik¢a on Shares.

The register of Shareholders shall be updatedyataetimes.

The Board of Directors shall be entitled to keqgag of the register of Shareholders outside thiad&tands if such is required for the
compliance with foreign legalization or the ruleslaegulations of the stock exchange at which tier&s are listed.

Issue of Shares

Avrticle 7.

1.

Upon receipt of a written proposal of the Boardakctors to this effect, the General Meeting Hespgower to resolve to issue Shares
and to determine the price of issue and the otlrerd of issue, which terms may include paymentharés in a foreign currency. Upon
receipt of a written proposal of the Board of Dimgs to this effect the General Meeting may trangfeaforesaid power to the Board of
Directors for a period not exceeding five yearsctBdesignation shall specify the number of Shdrasrhay be issued and may also
include the price (range) at which such Shares Ipeaigsued. The designation may be extended, from tib time, for periods not
exceeding five years. Unless such designation gesvotherwise, it may not be withdrawn.

Within eight (8) days following a resolution by t&neral Meeting to issue Shares or to designatthenbody of the Company, the
Company shall file the full text of such resolutiatnthe office of the Commercial Register with whtbe Company is registered. Within
eight (8) days after each issue of Shares, the @oynghall report the same to the office of said @antial Register.

The provisions of paragraph 1 and 2 of this Artathall apply mutatis mutandis to the granting ghts to subscribe for Shares, but not
to the issue of Shares to a person exercisingvagquay acquired right to subscribe for Shares.

The Company or its Subsidiaries cannot subscrib&Hiares.

When Ordinary Shares are subscribed for, the amafutheir par value must be paid at the same tintk & addition, if the Ordinary
Share is subscribed at a higher amount, the difeerdetween such amounts must be paid. It mayfeedghat part of the amount to be
paid on the Preference Shares - such part notceeexthree fourths (3/4) of the par value - mayaieamnpaid until the Company shall
make a call in respect of the monies unpaid orPtleéerence Shares. Such arrangement may only bedagrior to the resolution to
issue Preference Shares and shall require theadprbthe body of the Company which has the paweesolve to issue at the time of
making such agreement.
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6.

7.

Calls upon the Shareholders in respect of any nsamigaid on their Shares shall be made by the Bafddirectors by virtue of a
resolution of the General Meeting.

The body of the Company which has the power tolvesto issue Shares may resolve that payment oreSishall be made by some
other means than payment in cash or paymentsaregh (non-euro) currency.

Pre-emptive right at issue of Shares

Avrticle 8.

1.

At the issue of any new Ordinary Shares, the sintutghts of pre-emption as laid down in Book 2llapply. At the issue of
Preference Shares, including those against cotitsibbin kind, each holder of Preference Shared $laak a pre-emptive rigipro rata

to the total number of Preference Shares held tyas a portion of the total number of the issuati@rtstanding Preference Shares on
the date of the resolution to issue the Prefer&maees. The pre-emption right of a holder of Pesfee Shares in respect of an issue of
Preference Shares may not be limited. No pre-empigits shall apply in respect of the issue ofRhierity Share.

Upon receipt of a written proposal of the Boardakctors to this effect, the General Meeting magtetime in respect of one partict
issue of Ordinary Shares, resolve to limit or tolede the pre-emptive right of subscription for elinary Shares, provided that such
resolution is passed at the same time as the tasoto issue the Ordinary Shares.

If at a General Meeting at which a proposal totiatiexclude the pre-emptive right to subscribeGodinary Shares comes up for
discussion and less than one half of the issueitbtéprepresented, a resolution to limit or extigdithe pre-emptive right may only be
adopted by at least two-thirds of the votes cast.

Any proposal to limit or exclude the pesaptive right must contain a written explanationhaf reasons for the proposal and the choi
the proposed price (or price range or formula fierdetermination of such price, including by refieesto the market price of such
Ordinary Shares as of a future date or datessakis

Upon receipt of a written proposal of the Boardakctors to this effect, the General Meeting casoive that the premptive right ma
also be limited or excluded by the Board of Direstdor a period not exceeding five years.

Such designation may be renewed for subsequemdseniot exceeding five years each.
Unless the terms of the designation provide othsawit cannot be revoked.

Within eight (8) days following a resolution by tfieneral Meeting to limit or exclude the pre-emgtiight or to designate the Board of
Directors, the Company shall file the full textsafch resolution at the office of the Commercial iRieg.

A share issue at which Shareholders may exergise-amptive right and the period during which g&gtit is to be exercised shall be
announced by the Company to all Shareholders afdleeant class of Shares either in writing or lgullic announcement in a
newspaper taking into account the rules and reignsbf the stock exchange at which Shares aelligthe pre-emptive right may be
exercised
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during the period to be determined by the bodyhef@ompany authorised to issue Shares, that peribd at least two weeks from the
day following the date of despatch of the annoure#m

4, The provisions of the preceding paragraphs ofAhile shall applymutatis mutandis to the granting of rights to take Shares.

Transfer of Shares. Exercise of Shareholdés rights .

Article 9.

1. If Shares of any class are admitted or are reas$preapected - on relatively short notice - to benétted to trading on a regulated
market or multilateral trading facility, as refedrto in article 1:1 of the Financial SupervisiontAdVet financieel toezicht ) or a system
of a non-member state that is comparable to a ategiimarket or multilateral trading facility, tharsfer of a registered Ordinary Share
or Preference Share or of a limited riglseperkt recht ) thereto shall require an instrument intendedstah purpose and, save when
Company itself is a party to such legal act, thittem acknowledgement by the Company of the transfé@e acknowledgement shall be
made in the instrument or by a dated statemeri@imistrument or on a copy or extract thereof noeimig the acknowledgement signed
as a true copy thereof by a civil-law notary or ttasferor.

Service of such instrument of transfer, copy orastton the Company shall be deemed to constitidie acknowledgement.

2. The transfer of the Priority Share requires a nattaleed executed by and in front of a notary pcad in the Netherlands to which e:
transferor and each transferee are a party.

3. Following a transfer referred to in paragraph paragraph 2 of this Article, the rights attacheth®s Shares concerned may not be
exercised until the instrument of transfer has tsmred upon the Company or until the Company bksavledged the transaction in
writing or has been deemed to have acknowledgéul tsansaction. The provision in the preceding saeeshall not apply if the
Company itself has been a party to the transaction.

Acquisition by the Company of its own Shares

Article 10.
1. Any acquisition by the Company of partly-paid Stzareits own capital shall be null and void.
2. Provided that the General Meeting has given thedo&Directors authorisation for this purpose, @@mpany may acquire fully paid-

up Shares provided that:

(@ the Company’s equity capital, reduced by the adiiisprice, is not less than the sum of the issaied paid-up capital and the
reserves to be maintained pursuant to the laweAtticles of Association;

(b) following the transaction contemplated, at lea® msued share in the capital of the Company resraitstanding and is not
held by the Company; and

(c) in case the Company is admitted to trading on alaégd market or multilateral trading facility, @serred to in article 1:1 of the
Financial Supervision Act\(Vet
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financieel toezicht ) or a system from a non-member state that is cambp@to a regulated market or multilateral tradimgjlity,
the par value of the Shares to be acquired, alrbaltlyby the Company or already held by the Com@angledgee or which are
held by Subsidiaries, does not exceed fifty per¢gdo) of the issued capital of the Company.

The factor deciding whether the acquisition isd/alhall be the amount of the equity of the Compasmghown in its most recently
adopted balance sheet, reduced by the acquisitioa @f Shares in the capital of the Company andpayments from profit or reserves
to others which may have become due by the Compadyts Subsidiaries after the balance sheet date.

If more than six months of a financial year havegeal without the annual accounts having been adlopie acquisition of own Shares
under paragraph 2 of this Article shall not be geted until such time as such most recent annuadatts have been so adopted.

The authorisation of the General Meeting, refeteeith paragraph 2 of this Article, which shall baig for a maximum of eighteen
months (18) only, must specify how many Sharegparmitted to be acquired, the manner in which thay be acquired and the
permitted upper and lower limits of the price.

The preceding paragraphs of this Article shallagmtly in respect of (i) Shares which the Company aeguire gratuitously or by
universal succession and (ii) Shares that arallist@ stock exchange which are acquired for thpgse of distribution of such Shares
employees of the Company and/or its Subsidiariesyaunt to an employee option plan.

Any acquisition of Shares made in breach of theigions of paragraph 2 of this Article shall belrand void.

Shares owned by the Company shall not bear angletid rights unless rights of usufruct are creatagspect of such Shares prior to
the acquisition by the Company, in which case thiddr of usufruct shall be entitled to any dividerh the underlying Shares. Shares
owned by the Company or its Subsidiaries shalbeair any voting rights unless rights of usufructenereated in respect of such Share
prior to the acquisition of such Shares by the Camypor its Subsidiaries respectively.

Reduction of capital.

Article 11.

1.

Upon receipt of a written proposal of the Boardakctors to this effect, the General Meeting masoive to reduce the issued capital
by a cancellation of Shares or by a reduction efghr value of the Shares by amendment of thel@stiaf Association. Such resolution
to reduce the issued capital of the Company mulétate the Shares to which it relates and provssfonits implementation must be
included.

A resolution to cancel Shares may only relate ®hares held by the Company, or ii) to all the 8baf a particular class, in respect of
which the Articles of Association provide that s@me may be cancelled against repayment of theirgbae.
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3. As provided in clause (ii) of paragraph 2 of thidiéle 11, Class C Ordinary Shares may be canceliginst repayment of their par
value.

4, If the General Meeting resolves to reduce the phrevof the Shares by amendment of the Article&ssbciation - regardless whether
this is done without redemption or against pargglayment on the Shares or upon release from figatibn to pay up the Sharesuch
reduction must be made pro rata on all Sharegafticular class.

5. A resolution for reduction of capital shall requirenajority of at least two thirds of the votestcddess than one half of the issued
capital is represented at the relevant meetinghaféholders.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS.

Composition and Remuneration.

Article 12.

1 The business and affairs of the Company shall heaged by a Board of Directors consisting of no thas eight (8) members and no
more than twelve (12) members including at least @) Executive Director and at least two (2) Noteéutive Directors.

2. Only individuals shall be eligible for appointmexst Executive Director or Non-Executive Director.

3. The Executive Directors and the Non-Executive Doexshall be appointed by the General Meetingforaximum period of three

(3) years, provided however, that, unless suclctiirdhas resigned at an earlier date, a Directalt shase to hold office on the date of
the first General Meeting held in the third yedldwing the year in which he was appointed Direcfirectors shall be immediately
eligible for re-appointment at the General Meetigvhich they cease to hold office.

4 The Board of Directors shall have the power to apfoom its members a Chief Executive Officer drain its Non-Executive
Directors a Chairman of the Board.

5 The General Meeting shall adopt general guidelinesspect of the remuneration of the members®Bibard of Directors and of the
person(s) referred to in paragraph 3 of Articlgth® “Remuneration Policy”).

6. With due observation to the Remuneration Policg,Bloard of Directors may establish a remuneratiortfe members of the Board of
Directors in respect of the performance of thetighu It being understood that, in accordance tiéhprinciple laid down in Article 13
paragraph 5, Executive Directors shall not paréitggn the decision making process relating ta¢ineuneration of Executive Directors.

7. Directors may be suspended and/or removed fromeoHy the General Meeting at any time, such resolwequiring a majority of two
thirds (2/3) of the votes cast in a meeting, regméng at least fifty percent (50%) of the issuad autstanding capital of the Company.
The Director concerned shall be given the oppotyuni account for his conduct at the General Megtior that purpose he may have
himself assisted by a legal adviser.

19




Decisionmaking by the Board of Directors. Directors ceasing to hold office or being unable to act

Article 13.

1. If the Board of Directors consists of several mermapresolutions of the Board of Directors shalluieg an absolute majority of the
votes cast in a meeting where at least the majofitgembers of the Board of Directors is presemnepresented. Each Director shall
have one vote. If the voting for and against a psapis equally divided, another vote shall be malkso demanded by any Director.

2. The Board of Directors shall draw up board ruledeal with matters that concern the Board of Destnternally.

The rules of the Board of Directors miaier aliainclude an allocation of tasks among the membetkeBoard of Directors and shall
contain provisions concerning the matter in whiaketings of the Board of Directors are called arld.hehe rules of the Board of
Directors may stipulate that certain resolutionshef Board of Directors may validly be passed bg onmore Directors, provided that
the relevant resolutions are within the scope efttsk(s) allocated to this or these particulae€ivr(s).

3. In the event that one or more Directors shall céa$mld office or be unable to act, the otheresnaining Directors or the only other or
remaining Director shall be temporarily entrustdthwthe management of the Company.

In the event that all Directors or the sole Directioall cease to hold office or be unable to &&t,rhanagement of the Company shall be
temporarily entrusted to the person designated betdesignated for that purpose by the Generatiivee

The provisions of the Articles of Association comdrg the Board of Directors and the Director(g)isidually shall apply mutatis
mutandis to the person referred to in this pardgr&prthermore, that person shall be required lcadaeneral Meeting as soon as
possible, which General Meeting may decide on gpoatment of one or several new Directors.

4, The Board of Directors may pass resolutions inimgitprovided that all members of the Board of Biogs have been consulted on the
proposed resolution(s) and none of the membetseoBbard of Directors have objected against thi:fof resolution. A resolution in
writing by the Board of Directors requires a simpigjority of the members of the Board of Directors.

5. Any Director with a conflict of interest in respeaaftthe Company and/or its business shall reframfparticipating in the decision
making process of the Board of Directors in thidipalar matter. If as a direct result of the fooegy, no resolution can be adopted by
the Board of Directors, such resolution will be pafore the General Meeting and subsequently tie@eMeeting can resolve on the
matter.

Decision by the Board of Directors subject to appreal by the General Meeting

Article 14 A.

Decisions of the Board of Directors involving a nraghange in the Company’s identity or charactersabject to the approval of the General
Meeting, including:

a. the transfer of the enterprise or practically thele enterprise of the Company to third parties;
20
b. to enter or to terminate longstanding joint versuséthe Company or a Subsidiary with another leggaity or company or as fully liak

partner in a limited partnership or a general gasghip if this joint venture or termination of suglpint venture is of a major
significance to the Company;

C. to acquire or dispose of a participation in theitzhjpf a company worth at least one third of theoant of the Company’s assets
according to the balance sheet with explanatorgsititereto, or if the Company prepares a conselidadlance sheet according to such
consolidated balance sheet with explanatory natesrding to the last adopted annual account oCiipany, by the Company or a
Subsidiary.

Decision by the Board of Directors subject to appreal by the Priority

Article 14B.

Any decision of the Board of Directors to transd#iror substantially all of the assets of the Compt one or more third parties, including the
sale of its subsidiary: OOO Yandex, a company asgahunder the laws of the Russian Federationylifest to the prior approval of the
Priority; provided that no approval shall be regdiin connection with any corporate reorganisatibthe Company’s group so long as the
business operations of the group continue to bewded by one or more Russian companies that meetlgt or indirectly, wholly owned by
the Company.

Duties and powers of the Directors




Article 15.

1. The Executive Directors shall be entrusted with egpponsible for the day to day management of trafzany.

2. The Board of Directors may install committees cstiisg of members of the Board of Directors, andianagement of the Company
and/or its Subsidiaries.

3. The Board of Directors may designate certain tasksfunctions to the committees referred to inptevious paragraph of this Article.

4, The Board of Directors may appoint a company satydb assist the Board of Directors. The compatyetary will be admitted to

meetings of the Board of Directors and the Gerdesgting.

Representation.

Article 16.

1. The Board of Directors shall represent the Compahg. power to represent the Company shall alsoimessich Executive Director
individually.

2. If an Executive Director performs any transactiomiprivate capacity to which transaction the Comypaso is a party, or if an

Executive Director, acting in his private capac@gnducts any legal action against the Companyr ¢tiae as referred to in Section 1!
Book 2, each other Executive Director shall hawepgbwer to represent the Company.

3. The Board of Directors may grant power of attorfaysignature to one or several persons and may aiftrevoke such power of
attorney.
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Indemnity and Insurance.

Article 17.

1.

To the extent permissible by law, the Company shdkmnify and hold harmless:

a. each member of the Board of Directors, both formembers and members currently in office;

b. each person who is or was serving as an officéreCompany;

C. each person who is or was serving as a proxy holdére Company;

d. each person who is or was a member of the boasdpervisory board or officer of other companiesanporations, partnershij

joint ventures, trusts or other enterprises byueidf their functional responsibilities with ther@pany and or its Subsidiaries,

(each of them, for the purpose of this Article grdy “indemnified person”), against any and abilities, claims, judgments, fines and
penalties (“claims”) incurred by the indemnifiedrgen as a result of any threatened, pending or atpaction, investigation or other
proceeding, whether civil, criminal or administvati(each, a “legal action”), brought by any partyes than the Company itself or any
Subsidiaries, in relation to acts or omissionsrinetated to his capacity as an indemnified person.

Claims will include derivative actions brought oghalf of the Company or any Subsidiaries agairestrtdemnified person and claims
by the Company (or any Subsidiaries) itself fonteirsement for claims by third parties on the gobtirat the indemnified person was
jointly liable toward that third party in additido the Company.

The indemnified person will not be indemnified with/spect to claims insofar as they relate to theimgin fact of personal profits,
advantages or compensation to which he was nollyezy#titled, or if the indemnified person shalMeabeen adjudged to be liable for
willful misconduct (opzet ) or intentional recklessnesséwuste roekel oosheid ).

Any expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ &eklitigation costs) (collectively, “expenses”timred by the indemnified person in
connection with any legal action shall be settledeimbursed by the Company, but only upon recgfigt written undertaking by that
indemnified person that he shall repay such exeisecompetent court in an irrevocable judgmexs tietermined that he is not
entitled to be indemnified. Expenses shall be dektménclude any tax liability which the indemnifiperson may be subject to as a
result of his indemnification.

Also in case of a legal action against the inderadiperson by the Company itself or any Subsidgribe Company will settle or
reimburse to the indemnified person his reasonatideneys’ fees and litigation costs, but only upeceipt of a written undertaking by
that indemnified person that he shall repay sueb #nd costs if a competent court in an irrevocjaldlgment has resolved the legal
action in favor of the Company or the relevant $dibsy(s) rather than the indemnified person.

Expenses incurred by the indemnified person in eotion with any legal action will also be settladeimbursed by the Company in
advance of the final disposition of such actiort,dnly upon receipt of a written undertaking byttimaemnified person that he shall
repay such expenses if a competent court in andcable judgment has determined that he is noflemtio be indemnified.
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Such expenses incurred by indemnified persons reaptadvanced upon such terms and conditions @&otirel of Directors decides.

7. The indemnified person shall not admit any perséinahcial liability vis-a-vis third parties, nonter into any settlement agreement,
without the Company’s prior written authorization.

The Company and the indemnified person shall Useasonable endeavors to cooperate with a viexgteeing on the defense of any
claims, but in the event that the Company andrnidemnified person would fail to reach such agre¢nika indemnified person shall
comply with all reasonable directions given by @@mpany, in order to be entitled to the indemnaptemplated by this Article.

8. The indemnity contemplated by this Article shalt apply to the extent claims and expenses are rgisell by insurers.

9. The Company will provide for and bear the costagguate insurance covering claims against the inderd person, unless such
insurance cannot be obtained at reasonable terms.

10.  This Article can be amended without the consenhefindemnified persons as such. However, the imitgrprovided herein shall
nevertheless continue to apply to claims and/oeegps incurred in relation to the acts or omissignthe indemnified person during:
periods in which this clause was in effect.

11.  Atits discretion, the Board of Directors may halve Company indemnify other members of the manageteam, not being members
of the Board of Directors, or other employees, eéaatase of the Company or of a Subsidiary, contgar® the indemnification
provided herein for the benefit of other indemrdfjgersons.

GENERAL MEETING .

Notice and venue of the General Meeting.

Article 18.

1. Without prejudice to the provisions of Article Z5eneral Meetings shall be held as frequently a8t@d of Directors may wish. The
power to call the General Meeting shall vest inBloard of Directors, in each Executive Directoriindually and/or the Chairman of t
Board of Directors.

2. The Board of Directors may determine a registratiate for the purpose of registration of Sharehsleho can attend the relevant
Meeting and in order to establish the number oésab be exercised at such General Meeting. IntbasBoard of Directors resolves to
set a registration date for a General Meeting,&tmgreholder who wishes to attend such General hgetust inform the Board of
Directors of its intent to attend the General MagtiAt the same time the registration date detezmthe number of votes that a
Shareholder may cast in the General Meeting. Tbees#id registration date may not be set lesstthanty-eight (28) days prior to the
date of the relevant General Meeting. Should thar8of Directors resolve not to set a registratlate, then all parties that can prove tc
hold Shares on the day of the General Meeting ritapéthe General Meeting and such Shareholdetist®hable exercise votes on the
basis of their Shares held on the day
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of the General Meeting.
3. The Board of Directors must call a General Meeting:

(@ if one or several Shareholders jointly represendingast one tenth of the issued capital so reqoedBoard of Directors, that
request to specify the subjects to be discussedated upon;

(b) within three months after the Board of Directors bansidered it plausible that the equity capitahe Company has decreased
to an amount equal to or less than one-half optid and called up part of the capital.

If the General Meeting is not held within six weelfger the request referred to under (a), the eppts themselves may call the General
Meeting - with due observance of the applicablevigions of the law and the Articles of Associatiomithout for that purpose requiring
authorisation from the President of the Districu@oThe provisions of paragraph 2 of this Artiskeall applymutatis mutandisto the
procedure of calling a General Meeting referrethttihe preceding sentence.

4. Any Shareholder(s) who hold at least one hundrédtt00) of the issued capital of the Company or @hares with a value of at least
fifty million euro (EUR 50,000,000.00) may propagams for the agenda of the General Meeting. Stech for the agenda should
together with an explanation be submitted to tharBaf Directors at least sixty (60) days priothe day of the General Meeting at
which it shall be addressed. The Board of Directdglisinclude such items for the agenda in an egumahner as items on the agenda
proposed by the Board of Directors.

5. Notice of the General Meeting must be given to egithreholder. The term of notice must be at leéftisen (15) clear days before the
day on which the meeting is held. Notice shall beg by means of letters, specifying the subjextse discussed at the meeting. The
notice should also contain information on a fornegjistration date (if applicable) for the registvatof Shareholders who can attend the
relevant Meeting and in order to establish the nemab votes to be exercised at such General Meeting

6. General Meetings shall be held in The Hague, Ardster Rotterdam, Utrecht or at Schiphol Airporthie municipality of
Haarlemmermeer. Entirely without prejudice to theviisions of paragraph 5 of this Article, any regmn passed at a General Meeting
held elsewhere - in or outside the NetherlandsaH §le valid only if the requirements of notice sat in paragraph 3 of this Article have
been complied with and the entire issued and cudgtg share capital is represented.

Admittance to and chairmanship of the General Meefig .

Article 19.

1. The Shareholders are entitled to admittance t@&#meral Meeting. The Directors of the Company alsoentitled to admittance, with
the exception of any Director who has been suspkratel admittance shall further be granted to arggn whom the chairman of the
meeting concerned has invited to attend the GeMsgating or any part of that meeting.
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2.

5.

If a Shareholder wishes to attend a General Medtyngroxy, he must issue a written power of attgrfoe that purpose, which power
attorney must be presented to the chairman of #neting concerned.

The General Meeting shall be presided over by tha@r@an of the Board. In case the Chairman of tbar@ is not available the Board
of Directors shall appoint the chairman of the Gah®leeting.

Unless a notarial record of the business transatdte meeting is drawn up, or unless the chairmmiaself wishes to keep minutes of
the meeting, the chairman shall designate a persarged with keeping the minutes.

The minutes shall be adopted by the General Meatitige same meeting or at a subsequent meetiegidence of which the minutes
shall be signed by the chairman and the secrefaheaneeting at which the minutes were adopted.

The Chairman of the General Meeting decides oisglies regarding admittance to the meeting, vaimthe order of the meeting.

Voting rights. Decisionmaking .

Avrticle 20.

1.

Each Class A Ordinary Share and each Preferenage 8aaies the right to cast one (1) vote. Eacls€@ Ordinary Share carries the
right to cast nine (9) votes.

Each Class B Ordinary Share carries the right b tean (10) votes. The Priority Share carries itjletito cast one hundred (100) votes.

In determining the extent to which the Shareholdest votes, are present or are represented, extast to which the share capital is
represented the Shares in respect of which no woégsbe cast shall not be taken into account.

Unless the Articles of Association stipulate a &rmajority, all resolutions of the General Meetstmll be passed by an absolute
majority of the votes cast.

Blank votes and invalid votes shall not be coursgdotes.

Votes on business matters - including proposals@ming the suspension, dismissal or removal afqres - shall be taken by voice or
acclamation, but votes on the election of persbial be taken by secret ballot, unless the chairdenides on a different method of
voting and none of the persons present at the ngeebject to such different method of voting.

If at the election of persons the voting for andiagt the proposal is equally divided, another abigll be taken at the same meeting; if
then again the votes are equally divided, therthout prejudice to the provision in the followingrmgence of this paragraph - such
person shall not be elected.

If at an election of persons the vote is taken betwmore than two candidates and none of the catedideceive the absolute majorit
votes, another vote - where necessary after arinntete - shall be taken between the two candglateo have received the largest
number of votes in their favour.

If the voting for and against any other proposahtlas first referred to in this paragraph is equdiltided, that proposal shall be reject
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7. The General Meeting may resolve to allow a Shadsgrdb attend and participate in the General Mgdiinelectronic means of
communication, if and to the extent the identityttef thus attending Shareholder can be verifiethbyChairman of the Meeting.
Electronic votes submitted to the Board of Diresteithin twenty-eight (28) days of the General Megshall be considered to be
issued at the General Meeting, provided the mefiosromunication allows the Chairman of the Meetiogerify the identity of the
voting Shareholder.

Shareholders proxy. Shares belonging to any community of propest or joint estate .

Article 21.

1. In respect of any or all of his Shares a Sharemaidgy give one or several persons written poweatifrney to exercise any or all of 1
rights attached to those Shares. Such power ahatfanay not be given in respect of one and theesainare to more than one person
simultaneously. The powers referred to in this geaph may also vest in usufructuaries and pledgk€sass A Ordinary Shares. The
Board of Directors may invoke certain rules onrdgistration of proxies as referred to in this gaaph.

2. Joint owners of any community of property or jadstate comprising Shares or a limited right to &hanay only exercise their rights
giving one or several persons written power ofragg to exercise said rights. If power of attorigeygiven to several persons, such
power of attorney must specify in respect of whicimber of Shares each proxy is authorised to esesthie rights attached thereto.

Decisionmaking outside a meeting

Article 22.

Unless statutory provisions provide otherwise, @gplution which Shareholders entitled to vote gass at a General Meeting may also be
passed by them outside a meeting, provided thgtahexpress themselves in writing in favor of ireposal concerned. The persons who
passed a resolution outside a meeting shall imrteddienform the Board of Directors of that resoturti

Meetings of holders of Class A Ordinary Shares, méiags of holders of Class B Ordinary Shares, meetas of holders of Class C
Ordinary Shares and meetings of the holder of the fority Share.

Avrticle 23.

1. Meetings of holders of a particular class of Ordyn@hares shall be convened by the Board of Dirsectdeetings of the holder of the
Priority Share may be convened by the holder oftherity Share.

2. The convocation shall take place not later thatherfifth (5t ) day prior to the day on which theetiag shall take place.
3. Notwithstanding the possibility for the holdersanfy specific class of Shares to agree to conveneating elsewhere and
notwithstanding the option to pass resolutionsiiting in accordance with Article 22, any meetiriialt be held in the Netherlands at

the place notified in convocation.
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4,

5.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Priority may approvdecline to approve any Transfer, subscriptionolding of Excess Shares
hereunder in writing and without a meeting.

Articles 18 through 22 shall applgutatis mutandis, to any meeting referred to in this Article.

Meeting of holders of Preference Shares.

Article 24.

1. Meetings of holders of Preference Shares shalbbhgened by the Board of Directors or by a holdevrod or more of the Preference
Shares.

2. The convocation shall take place not later thatherfifth (5t ) day prior to the day on which theetiag shall take place.

3. Notwithstanding the possibility for the holdersRyeference Shares to agree to convene a meetawghelse and notwithstanding the
option to pass resolutions in writing in accordanith Article 22, any meeting shall be held in tHetherlands at the place notified in
convocation.

4, In all other respects Articles 18 through 22 shalply mutatis mutandis .

Financial Year. Annual accounts.

Article 25.

1.

2.

The financial year of the Company shall be equahéocalendar year.

Each year within five months after the end of tlmpany’s financial year, save where this term iemated by a maximum of six
months by the General Meeting on account of spegi@imstances, the Board of Directors shall dravannual accounts and an annual
report on that financial year. To these documeinddl §e added the particulars referred to in Secd®2, sub-section 1, of Book 2.
However, if the provisions of Section 403 of Book&ve been applied to the Company and if and textent that the General Meeting
does not decide otherwise:

a. the obligation to draw up the annual report; and

b. the obligation to add to the annual accounts thtiqodars referred to in Section 392 of Book 2 shat apply.

If the Company qualifies as a legal entity in therts of Section 396 sub-section 1 or Section 387ssation 1 of Book 2 the Company
shall not be required to make an annual reportssrtby law the Company must establish a works cboncinless no later than six

months from the start of the financial year conedrthe General Meeting has resolved otherwise.

The annual accounts shall be signed by all Dirsctbthe signatures of one or more of the Direstme missing, this and the reason fo
such absence shall be stated.

The Board of Directors shall ensure that the anagabunts and, if required, the annual report hadpaarticulars added by virtue of
Section 392 of Book 2 shall be available at thecefbf the Company as soon as possible but nattlaa@ as from the date of notice
calling the General Meeting intended for the distwrs and approval thereof. Said documents shatiea to the inspection of the
Shareholders
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at the office of the Company and copies thereof bwgbtained by them free of charge.

Annual General Meeting. Approval of annual accounts

Article 26.

1. Each year at least one General Meeting shall b Hedt meeting to be held within six (6) montheafthe end of the Company’s last
expired financial year.

2. The annual accounts shall be adopted by the GeMerting.

Profits and losses

Article 27.

1. The distributable profit of the Company shall béhet disposal of the General Meeting. The Boaricéctors determines the amoun
the profit of the Company that shall be allocatethe profit reserves and the amount of profit kmdé for distribution.

2. The Company may distribute profit only if and te tbxtent that its equity exceeds the sum of the ad called-up part of the issued
capital and the reserves which must be maintaigedrhue of the law.

3. If and when the Board of Directors proposes tocaite or distribute a profit, first of all the hotdeof Preference Shares shall be entitlec
to an amount equal to the 12-month European InéekBDffered Rate per first day of the financialyeithe Company in relation to
which the relevant dividend entitlement is calcethtincreased with two hundred (200) basis pooftthe issued and paid-up capital of
the Preference Shares. The holders of OrdinaryeSteard the Priority Share shall be entitled passpdo the remainder profits of the
Company after any distribution is made pursuathédfirst sentence of this paragraphg rata to the total number of Class A Ordinary
Shares, Class B Ordinary Shares, Class C OrdirtzaeS and/or the Priority Share held, albeit thatholders of Class C Ordinary
Shares shall be entitled to a maximum amount ofeamecent (EUR 0.01) per Class C Ordinary Sharebtlte profit in any one
financial year.

4. Dividends may be paid only after approval and aidopdf the annual accounts which show that theyjustfied.

5. For the purposes of determining the allocationrofifs, any Shares held by the Company (exceptlarwise provided in paragraph 7
of Article 10), and any Shares of which the Comphay a usufruct, shall not be taken into account.

6. The Board of Directors may resolve to declare intafividends out of the profits realised in theremt financial year. Dividend
payments as referred to in this paragraph may ke roaly if the provision in paragraph 2 of thisiéle has been met as evidenced by
an interim statement of assets and liabilitieseéesrred to in Section 105 subsection 4 of Book 2.

7. Any distributions made from the Company reserved| §le made only at the proposal of the Board efirectors and with due
observance of the provisions of paragraph 3 ofAhile.
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8.

9.

10.

Unless the General Meeting sets a different temthfat purpose, dividends shall be made payableimihirty (30) days after they are
declared.

The Board of Directors may resolve that dividendssatisfied in whole or in part by the distributiof assets or the issue of Shares.

Any deficit may be set off against the statutoryerees only if and to the extent permitted by law.

Amendment of Articles of Association. Merger. Demager. Division.

Article 28.

1.

Upon receipt of a written proposal of the Boardakctors to this effect, the General Meeting magolve to amend the Articles of
Association, to conclude a legal merger or demengén dissolve the Company in the terms of Parft Book 2.

For the adoption of a resolution to amend the Aesiof Association, to conclude a legal mergeramerger, in the terms of Part 7 of
Book 2, or to dissolve the Company, a two/third8)najority of the votes cast in the General Megis required.

For the adoption of a resolution to amend the Aetiof Association in which (a) the rights, inclagibut not limited to the calculation
of entitlement to any profits, of holders of Cl#s®rdinary Shares are taken away/affected, inclyidhnat not limited to any change in
the dividend or liquidation entitilement of the held of Class B Ordinary Shares or Class C OrdiBaares; (b) the definitions of
“Affiliate”, “Initial Qualified Holder”, “Non-Qualified B Holder”, “Permitted Transferee”, “Qualifid®l Holder” or “Transfer” are
changed; (c) any amendment is made to Article 4icke 4B or this Article 28; or (d) the numberaiithorized Class B Ordinary
Shares is to be increased,; the prior approvaleMhbeting of holders of Class A Ordinary Sharegdiired, which resolution requires a
three/fourth (3/4) majority of the votes cast atlsmeeting.

For the adoption of a resolution to amend the Aetiof Association in which the rights of the Pitipare affected (including but not
limited to the number of Priority Shares includadhie authorized capital of the Company), the pajgproval of the Priority is required.

For the adoption of a resolution to amend the fgtiof Association in which the rights of the Prefece Shares are affected (including
but not limited to the number of Preference Sharelsided in the authorized capital of the Compattyg,prior approval of the Meeting
of holders of Preference Shares is required.

Winding up and liguidation .

Article 29.

1. The General Meeting shall have the power to resimweind up the Company, provided with due obseceanf the requirement laid
down in Article 28.

2. Unless otherwise resolved by the General Meetingntess otherwise provided by law, the Directorthef Company shall be the
liquidators of the Company.

3. The surplus assets remaining after (i) all the Camyfs liabilities have been satisfied, (i) all fitgeserves and other dividend

entitlements have been distributed, shall be
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divided among the holders of the Ordinary Sharegata to the total number of Class A Ordinary Sharess€B Ordinary Shares
and/or Class C Ordinary Shares they hold, albeitttie holders of Class C Ordinary Shares shabdled to a maximum amount of
one eurocent (EUR 0.01) per Class C Ordinary Share.

After completion of the liquidation the books, red® and other data-carriers of the dissolved Compghall for a period of seven years
remain in the custody of the person whom the ligtads have appointed for that purpose in writing.

30




SUBSIDIARIES OF YANDEX N.V.

Exhibit 8.1

Name of Subsidiary(1) Jurisdiction of Organization
Yandex LLC Russis

GIS Technology LLC Russia

Yandex.Probki LLC2) Russis

Yandex.Ukraine LLC Ukraine

Yandex DC LLC Russia

SPB Software Lt Hong Kong

Yandex Europe A( Switzerland

Yandex Europe B.V
Yandex Inc.

SPB Software Inc
Yandex Zurich AC
Yandex Reklamcilik Hizmetleri S
YandexBel LLC(2)
Yandex.Technology Gmb
Kinopoisk LLC

Yandex Oy

Yandex Auto.ru AC
KitLocate Ltd.

(1) Directly or indirectly held

(2) Y andex N.V. owns a 99.99% interest

The Netherland
Delaware, US£
Nevada, US#
Switzerland
Turkey
Belarus
Germany
Russis

Finland
Switzerland
Israel




Exhibit 12.1

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002

I, Arkady Volozh, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 2ff-Fandex N.V. (the “Company”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorny untrue statement of a material fact or dmnéttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the Company as of, and for, the pisrjgresented in this report;

4. The Company’s other certifying officer and | a@sponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iatednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoidge designed under our supervisiol
ensure that material information relating to therany, including its consolidated subsidiariesn&le known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financgdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentédsingport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Canys internal control over financial reporting tleecurred during the period covered by the
annual report that has materially affected, oe@sonably likely to materially affect, the Companiyiternal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The Company’s other certifying officer and | balisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatigrterhal control over financial reporting,
to the Company’s auditors and the audit commitfabeCompany’s board of directors (or personsgrering the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cébotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Compamysity to record, process, summarize and repoaricial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedyumanagement or other employees who have a sagmiifiole in the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: April 30, 2015

By: /S/ARKADY VOLOZH
Name: Arkady Volozh
Title:  Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 12.2

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002

I, Greg Abovsky , certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 2ff-Fandex N.V. (the “Company”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dmnéttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the Company as of, and for, the pisrjgresented in this report;

4. The Company’s other certifying officer and | a@sponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iatednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoidge designed under our supervisiol
ensure that material information relating to therany, including its consolidated subsidiariesn&le known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financgdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentédsingport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Canys internal control over financial reporting tleecurred during the period covered by the
annual report that has materially affected, oe@sonably likely to materially affect, the Companiyiternal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The Company’s other certifying officer and | balisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatigrterhal control over financial reporting,
to the Company’s auditors and the audit commitfabeCompany’s board of directors (or personsgrering the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cébotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Compamysity to record, process, summarize and repoaricial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedyumanagement or other employees who have a sagmiifiole in the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: April 30, 2015

By: /S/ GREG ABOVSKY
Name: Greg Abovsky
Title: Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 13.1

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer and Chef Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectiori350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 20fF¥andex N.V. (the “Company”) for the year endedcBmber 31, 2014, as filed with the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on thehdatof (the “Report”), the undersigned Arkady \@ilpas Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, and Greg Abovsky, as Chief Financial @ffiaf the Company, each hereby certifies, purstmh8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptec
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002, that to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExafeAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faplgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: April 30, 2015

By: /s/ Arkady Voloztk
Name: Arkady Volozh
Title:  Chief Executive Officer

By: /s/ Greg Abovsky

Name: Greg Abovsky
Title:  Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 15.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement No. 333-177622 on Form S-8Nmd333-187184 on Form F-3 of our
reports dated April 30, 2015, relating to the cdidsded financial statements of Yandex N.V. andsidibries (the “Company”) (which report
expresses an unqualified opinion on the financ&ksents and includes an explanatory paragrapirirgj to translations of Russian ruble
amounts into U.S. dollar amounts presented sotelyhfe convenience of the readers in the UniteteStaf America ) and the effectiveness of

the Company’s internal control over financial repay appearing in this Annual Report on Form 20tkhe Company for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

/s/ ZAO Deloitte & Touche CI!

Moscow, Russii
April 30, 2015




